INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.



Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

Molecular and cellular biology of proprotein convertases:

Analysis of carboxy-terminal domain function

by

Isabelle De Bie

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

© Isabelle De Bie, 1997

Department of Medicine Division of Experimental Medicine McGill University Montréal, Québec



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-36969-2

Canadä

Acknowledgments

I wish to express my gratitude to Dr. Nabil G. Seidah, my thesis supervisor, for his scientific insight, support and advice throughout the course of my training.

I am most grateful to Dr. Hugues Bennett, Dr. Guy Boileau and Dr. Yogsuh Patel for providing their time, knowledge, and guidance during my apprenticeship. Their enthusiasm and encouragements challenged me to improve and surpass myself in every aspect of my work.

I thank for their assistance all members of the Chrétien-Seidah-Lazure laboratories, especially Dr. Mieczyslaw Marcinkiewicz and Jwadiga Marcinkiewicz, Dr. Claude Lazure and Dr. Ajoy Bazak, Dr. Robert Day and Xue-Wen Yuen, Josée Hamelin, Jim Rochemont and Maya Mamarbassi, Dr. Michel Chrétien, Suzanne Benjannet, Diane Savaria, Odette Théberge and Annie Lemieux, as well as Dr. Majambu Mbikay and Andrew Chen. I am also grateful to Mrs. Sylvie Emond for her reliable assistance in all secretarial matters and her everlasting sense of humor, and to Christian Charbonneau for sharing his invaluable knowledge of photographic proceedings. The following funding agencies granted the financial support essential to the realization of this work: Fonds pour la formation des Chercheurs et l'Aide à la Recherche, Protein Engineering Network Centres of Excellence of Canada, and Medical Research Council of Canada.

J'adresse mes plus sincères remerciements à ma famille et mes amis pour m'avoir soutenue et encouragée durant toute la durée de ces études, et plus particulièrement à Yves qui a su, par sa patience et son affection, me communiquer la confiance et l'inspiration qui me manquaient parfois.

I especially wish to thank Drs. Florence Vollenweider, J. Scott Munzer and Andrea Laslop for their unfailing friendship. Their fellowship was a most invaluable gift to me during the years we worked together in Dr. Seidah's laboratory.

Je dédie ce manuscrit à mes parents, sans l'aide et le soutient de qui je n'aurai pu mener à bien de si longues études. Je leur suis profondément reconnaissante de m'avoir légué leur persévérance et leur courage. Cet ouvrage est le fruit de leurs enseignements, de leurs encouragements et de leur amour.

À mes parents, avec toute ma tendresse

Abstract

The convertases are a recently discovered family of mammalian serine proteases related in structure to the bacterial subtilisins and to the yeast enzyme kexin. These proteases share with the subtilisins the presence within their protein structure of a signal peptide, a prosegment, and a conserved catalytic region. However, they also possess additional P and COOH-terminal domains, which are not observed in subtilisins, but are present in their eucaryotic yeast counterpart, kexin. While the function of the P domain has been investigated, that of the COOH-terminal domain, excepting transmembrane and cytosolic tail structures of some convertases, remains unresolved.

In the present manuscript, the convertases' COOH-terminal domain function was investigated through the studies of two models of multiple convertase isoforms. These isoforms, which arise through differential splicing, are structurally identical, except within their COOH-terminal region. Studies by protein overexpression in cultured mammalian cells of multiple Drosophila furin isoforms and analysis of the cleavage products generated by these enzymes in coexpression with different substrates to demonstrate that structural modifications of the permitted COOH-terminal domain do not affect the cleavage specificity of the adjoined protease. However, particular COOH-terminal assemblages may affect the processing efficiency displayed by these enzymes. Further cellular localization studies by immunofluorescence and electron microscopy of two PC5 isoforms demonstrated that specific structural motives present in the COOH-terminal domain of these proteins are indeed implicated in the subcellular localization of these endoproteases, a fact which may ultimately affect their cleavage efficiency and substrate selectivity.

In conclusion, in some convertases' COOH-terminal domains, distinctive structural motives are involved in the sorting of these endoproteases to the appropriate subcellular compartment(s), and likely influence the trafficking of these proteins through the secretory pathway.

Sommaire

Les convertases constituent une famille de sérine protéases des mammifères, apparentées par leur structure aux subtilisines bactériennes et à l'enzyme de levure kexine. Ces endoprotéases possèdent, tout comme les subtilisines, un peptide signal. un segment pro et une région catalytique. Par contre, elles présentent également deux domaines supplémentaires, nommés domaines P et C-terminal, qui sont absents chez les subtilisines mais se retrouvent chez l'enzyme de levure kexine. Alors que la fonction du domaine P a été étudiée, celle du domaine C-terminal, à l'exception des régions transmembranaire et cytoplasmique de certaines convertases, demeure peu connue.

Dans le présent ouvrage, la fonction du domaine C-terminal des convertases fut étudiée à travers deux modèles de multiple isoformes. Ces isoformes, qui sont engendrées par un épissage alternatif, sont traduites en des enzymes identiques, sauf par la structure de leur région C-terminale. Des études par biosynthèse et radioimmunoétalonnage, par le biais de la surexpression de ces isoformes des convertases dans un système de cellules en culture, ont permis de déterminer que les modifications structurales du domaine C-terminal n'affectaient pas la spécificité de clivage de ces enzymes. Par contre, ces mêmes modifications peuvent jouer un rôle dans l'efficacité de clivage déployée par ces endoprotéases. Des études de localisation intracellulaire par immunofluorescence et microscopie électronique ont ensuite démontré que certains motifs de la région C-terminale uniques à chacune des isoformes de la convertase PC5 étaient impliqués dans la localisation subcellulaire distincte de chacune de ces protéines.

En conclusion, la présence du domaine C-terminal chez les convertases semble être une adaptation particulière de ces protéines de mammifères par-devant les subtilisines, permettant à ces protéases de naviguer à travers l'appareil de sécrétion, et d'atteindre le compartiment d'activité approprié à leur fonction spécifique.

Preface

This thesis is submitted to the McGill University Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research. Two options are admissible to candidates for the format of thesis submission. The first is the conventional composition format, while the second is in the form of published or submitted papers. The present work is following the second format, according to the guidelines of the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research.

Candidates have the option of including, as part of the thesis, the text of one or more papers submitted or to be submitted for publication, or the clearly-duplicated text of one or more published papers. These texts must be bound as an integral part of the thesis.

If this option is chosen, connecting texts that provide logical bridges between the different papers are mandatory. The thesis must be written in such a way that it is more than a mere collection of manuscripts; in other words, results of a series of papers must be integrated.

The thesis must conform to the other requirements of the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation". The thesis must include: a Table of Contents, an abstract in English and French, an introduction which clearly states the rationale and objectives of the study, a review of the literature, a final conclusion and summary, and a thorough bibliography or reference list.

Additional material must be provided where appropriate (e.g. in appendices) and in sufficient detail to allow a clear and precise judgment to be made of the importance and originality of the research reported in the thesis.

In the case of manuscripts co-authored by the candidate and others, the candidate is required to make an explicit statement in the thesis as to who contributed to such work and to what extent. Supervisors must attest to the accuracy of such statements at the doctoral oral defense. Since the task of the examiners is made more difficult in these cases, it is in the candidate's interest to make perfectly clear the responsibilities of all the authors of the co-authored papers.

Two publications are presented in chapters C and D respectively. The one presented in chapter C is entitled "Processing specificity and biosynthesis of the Drosophila melanogaster convertases dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X and dfurin2", by Isabelle De Bie, Diane Savaria, Anton J.M. Roebroek, Robert Day, Claude Lazure, Wim J.M. Van de Ven and Nabil G. Seidah, and has been published in the Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1995; 270:1020-1028. The second paper, which constitutes chapter D, is entitled "The isoforms of proprotein convertase PC5 are sorted to different subcellular compartments", by Isabelle De Bie, Mieczyslaw Marcinkiewicz, Daniela Malide, Claude Lazure, Kazuhisa Nakayama, Moïse Bendayan, and Nabil G. Seidah, and has appeared in the Journal of Cell Biology 1996; 135:1261-1275.

The contribution of the co-authors to these publications is gratefully acknowledged:

Dr. Wim Van de Ven, director of the Laboratory for Molecular Oncology, Center for Human Genetics, University of Leuven, Belgium, and Dr. Anton Roebroek, provided the cDNAs and specific antibodies to the four Drosophila furin analogs which they had cloned and isolated. Dr. Kazuhisa Nakayama of the Institute of Biological Sciences and Gene Experiment Center, University of Tsukuba, Japan, provided the cDNA to the B isoform of PC5 which he isolated. Dr. Moïse Bendayan of the Department of Anatomy, Université de Montréal, and Dr. Daniela Malide, a postdoctoral fellow in Dr. Bendayan's laboratory, performed the electron microscopic detection of PC5 in the pancreatic A cells, a key experiment is the determination of the cellular localization of PC5. Dr. Mieczyslaw Marcinkiewicz, assistant professor at the J.A. De Sève Laboratory of Molecular Neuroendocrinology, granted his extensive expertise and knowledge of immunofluorescence microscopy to the determination of the cellular localization of the PC5 isoforms in transfected AtT-20 cells. Dr. Claude Lazure. director of the Neuropeptides Structure and Metabolism Laboratory at the Clinical Research Institute of Montréal, performed the amino acid sequence analysis of both dfurin1 and PC5-A products by microsequencing, and unequivocally identified the protein forms being studied. Dr. Robert Day, associate investigator to Dr. Nabil G. Seidah, provided the recombinant vaccinia virus of dynorphin and assisted with the isolation procedures and characterization of the dynorphin products, a molecule he has extensively studied. Diane Savaria, a skillful cell culture technician in the Laboratory of Molecular Neuroendocrinology, isolated and purified the four recombinant vaccinia viruses expressing the Drosophila furin analogues, and provided assistance for cell culture procedures.

Dr. Nabil G. Seidah, director of the J.A. De Sève Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, acted as thesis supervisor. Fulfillment of this work could not have been possible without his insight, counseling and advice.

Both papers presented in this thesis have for theme the functional definition of the COOH-terminal domain of convertases, a family of recently discovered endoproteases (for reviews see Van de Ven et al., 1993; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Rouillé et al., 1995; Seidah et al., 1996). Contrary to the other structurally defined regions of the convertases, such as the pro, catalytic and P domains, the COOH-terminal segment displays the least homology of amino acid sequence among the members of this family of enzymes (see Figure 1).





Figure 1:

Schematic representation of the mammalian members of the convertase family, with yeast kexin and bacterial subtilisin as comparison.

Functions have been assigned to all the other structural domains of the convertases, but no evident purpose has been defined for the COOH-terminal region, excepting the transmembrane anchor and cytosolic tail of some convertases. Our objective was to determine the role of this structurally variable domain in convertases, a segment which, incidentally, is absent in the related bacterial subtilisins.

The working hypothesis was that the COOH-terminal domain could either affect :

The cleavage specificity or cleavage site recognition of the enzyme; or
The cellular localization of the convertase, and therefore the substrateenzyme combination of these endoproteases.

Initial studies accomplished with truncated forms of the convertase furin demonstrated that the COOH-terminal domain could be completely removed without affecting the processing capability of the enzyme in ex vivo coexpression experiments (Hatsuzawa et al., 1992). However, they The cleavage efficiency or processing kinetics of the different forms of furin on the substrates tested were not examined. Other investigations, this time of PC2 COOH-terminally deleted forms (Shennan Taylor and Docherty, 1994), provided evidence that the COOH-terminal domain of this convertase is not essential to the membrane-association and possible sorting of this protein to the regulated secretory pathway. However, recent studies of furin-PC2 chimeras (Creemers et al., 1996) contradict these results by demonstrating that the presence of the P and COOH-terminal domains of PC2 can redirect furin chimeras towards the regulated secretory pathway. Similarly, experiments with truncated forms of the convertase PC1 yielded contradictory results with regards to the role of the COOH-terminal domain in the sorting of this convertase to secretory granules (Zhou, Paquet and Mains, 1995; Zhou et al., 1995).

In our investigations, we undertook to answer both aspects of the potential function of the COOH-terminal domain by two related approaches:

First, the possible influence of the COOH-terminal domain on the convertases cleavage specificity was examined. This was achieved by the study of three isoforms of a Drosophila furin analog (Roebroek et al., 1993) which differ solely by the structure of their COOH-terminal domain (see Figure 2). These enzymes, as well as a the product of a second furin-like Drosophila gene (Roebroek et al., 1992, 1995), were coexpressed with three prototype substrates each exhibiting a distinct cleavage site pattern (Bresnahan et al., 1992). Enzymes and substrates were cloned into a recombinant vaccinia virus overexpression system. The recombinant viruses were used to infect several types of cultured mammalian cells. The protein products of both substrates and enzymes were analyzed by biosynthesis, immunoprecipitation and SDS-PAGE, or by radioimmunoassay. Dfurin1 protein forms were also defined by NH₂-terminal amino acid sequencing. The results obtained from these studies demonstrated that:

1.- In coexpression studies, the three dfurin1 isoforms, as well as dfurin2, were capable of cleaving three different substrates each exhibiting a distinct cleavage sequence recognition site, and to process these precursors into peptide products similar to those generated by mammalian furin. All forms of dfurins demonstrated an identical cleavage specificity towards the three categories of substrates tested.

2.- Conversely, the dfurins did not display the same potency of cleavage towards these three different substrates. The range of cleavage efficacy among the dfurins seemed to correlate the extent of proregion removal, although this was not invariably the case for each enzyme.

- X -





Figure 2:

Schematic representation of the three dfurin1 isoforms as well as the product of the *Dfur2* gene, with mammalian furin as comparison.

3.- The two dfurin enzymes endowed with a cysteine-rich COOH-terminal region, a motif also observed in mammalian furin, PACE4 and PC5, demonstrated a capacity to lose their prosegment in earlier compartments of the secretory pathway, as assessed by transport block studies.

4.- In all cell types tested, the membrane-bound dfurins underwent shedding of their transmembrane domain. In LoVo cells, a constitutive human cell type devoid of active furin, this shedding was an early event and was not due to the action of a protease highly dependent on calcium.

5.- While both pro- and zymogen-cleaved forms of the dfurins were released in the media in constitutive cell types, in cells possessing a regulated secretory pathway, only dfurin forms which had lost their prosegment were detectable extracellularly. In addition, the forms possessing cysteine-rich repeats seemed to accumulate in the media of these previous cells, while no notable difference could be observed among the dfurins in constitutively secreting cells.

The technical steps of this work consisted in:

- Transfer of the four dfurins cDNAs to vaccinia virus expression vectors by selection of the proper DNA restriction enzyme cleavage sites, ligation of vector and insert, amplification and purification of the new constructs. - Transfer of the cDNA constructs to wild-type vaccinia virus to create expressing the recombinant viruses proteins of interest. - Expression of the recombinant proteins by infection of cultured cells. - Analysis of the protein products, either by radiolabeling of infected biosynthesis, specific immunoprecipitation, cells. separation bv SDS-PAGE, and fluorogenic detection on film; or gel chromatographic separation of the products obtained by infection, and radioimmunoassay of the fractions.

The dfurin1 products were additionally characterized by microsequencing of radiolabeled proteins to determine their NH₂-terminal amino acid sequence. This required the isolation and purification of the radiolabeled products by immunoprecipitation, SDS-PAGE, elution from the gel, and microsequencing of the purified protein.

Analysis of the dfurin model permitted to conclude that structural modifications of the COOH-terminal region of the convertases do not affect the cleavage specificity of these enzymes. However, changes within this segment appear to influence the efficiency of proregion removal, and by consequence, substrate cleavage efficacy. This could reflect a different rate of progression along the secretory pathway for these proteins, which in turn could be considered in the light of the interaction of the COOH-terminal domain with the cellular sorting machinery.

In the continuity of this work, a study of two PC5 isoforms, which also displayed structural differences solely in their COOH-terminal domain (see Figure 3), was undertaken, and aimed this time at defining if the variations in COOH-terminal domain structure could affect the cellular residence and traffic of these convertases. For these studies, an overexpression system by stable transfection was preferred to the recombinant vaccinia virus method. Vaccinia virus infection has been demonstrated to alter not only host cell protein synthesis but also the cytoskeleton of infected cells (Bablanian, 1984; Schneider, 1987; Cudmore et al., 1995). While this fact has little potential impact on coexpression studies where cleavage specificities of enzymes are examined, it could, however, impair protein traffic by diminishing the physiological levels of some sorting factors. The infection method was thus judged unsuited to the achievement of sorting studies.



Figure 3:

Schematic representation of mammalian proprotein convertase isoforms PC5-A and PC5-B, as well as a PC5-A Δ mutant construct lacking the COOH-terminal region unique to PC5-A.

The possible influence of the COOH-terminal domain on the subcellular sorting of convertases was examined through the investigation of two mouse PC5 isoforms named PC5-A and PC5-B, which differ exclusively by the composition of this structural region (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993a,b). PC5-B is predicted to be membrane-anchored, while PC5-A is expected to be a soluble protein. A truncated form of PC5-A lacking the COOH-terminal region unique to this isoform was also constructed to analyze the potential differences in biosynthesis and sorting between this form and the wild-type PC5-A (see Figure 3). These three convertases were overexpressed by stable transfection in AtT-20 cells, a cell type possessing both constitutive and regulated secretory pathways. The biosynthetic transformations and subcellular localization of each protein form was examined by biosynthesis, immunoprecipitation and SDS-PAGE, as well as by immunofluorescence microscopy. In addition, PC5-A products were characterized by amino acid analysis and sequencing, and electron microscopic studies of pancreatic A cells were performed to determine the compartment of residence of PC5 in a physiological model. These studies demonstrated that:

1.- Both PC5-A and PC5-B, when expressed in AtT-20 cells, were detected in several molecular forms. Three forms of PC5-A were observed, which were determined to be proPC5-A, zymogen-cleaved PC5-A and a COOH-terminally truncated form of PC5-A. For PC5-B, two forms were detected, one membrane bound and one soluble, this last one released in the medium probably as a result of cleavage NH₂-terminal to the transmembrane domain. Sulfation studies demonstrated that both PC5-B forms reach the TGN. Only PC5-A and not proPC5-A was observed to be sulfated.

- xv -

2.- The soluble forms of PC5-A and PC5-B were shown to leave the cell through different secretory pathways. Studies of stimulated protein exocytosis revealed that PC5-A was stored in the secretory granules of AtT-20 cells and could be released upon stimulation with cAMP, while the secretion of the soluble form of PC5-B was not affected by this treatment.

3.- The subcellular localization of PC5-A and PC5-B in transfected AtT-20 cells was determined by double immunofluorescence studies in combination with specific secretory pathway markers. PC5-A was found to predominate in the secretory granules and Golgi of AtT-20 cells, while PC5-B exhibited colocalization with TGN38, a marker of the TGN.

In contrast to wild type PC5-A, the mutant PC5-A Δ lacking the COOH-terminal region unique to PC5-A could only be detected throughout the Golgi region, and not in secretory granules. Stimulation of secretion studies agreed with these results, since the release of PC5-A Δ was not significantly increased in the presence of cAMP, indicating that this protein does not accumulated in the secretory granules of AtT-20 cells.

4.- In pancreatic A cells, electron microscopic studies demonstrated that PC5 immunoreactivity is detectable within the granules of these cells. PC5 was observed to colocalize with both glucagon and PC2 within this organelle.

The technical steps of this work consisted in:

- Creation of a mutant PC5-A cDNA, using PCR to insert a stop codon at the end of the region common to both PC5-A and PC5-B isoforms. - Transfection of AtT-20 cells with constitutive eucaryotic expression vectors containing the inserts of either PC5-A, PC5-A Δ or PC5-B. Isolation of several stably transfected clones for each cell line. Analysis of protein expression levels in these clones by Western blotting and immunoprecipitation.

— Analysis of the protein products by radiolabeling of transfected cells, biosynthesis in several different conditions, using either chemical agents like Brefeldin A or 8Br-cAMP, or temperature block, followed by specific immunoprecipitation, separation by SDS-PAGE, and fluorogenic detection on film. The PC5-A products were additionally characterized by microsequencing of the radiolabeled products to determine their NH₂-terminal amino acid sequence. Kinetics of basal release were determined for each PC5 forms by quantitation at multiple time points of the proteins accumulated in the media. This was performed by biosynthesis and immunoprecipitation, followed by SDS-PAGE, fluorogenic detection, and scanning analysis of the films with the Macintosh NIH Image 1.55f program.

— The subcellular distribution of PC5 proteins in transfected cells was determined by double immunofluorescence labeling with specific markers of the secretory pathway.

— The distribution of PC5 in pancreatic A cells was determined by electron microscopy. Double labeling studies were performed to demonstrate the colocalization of PC5 with either PC2 or glucagon in the secretory granules of the pancreatic A cells.

Analysis of the PC5 model allowed us to conclude that structural modifications of the COOH-terminal region of the convertases are implicated in the determination of their subcellular localization and progression along the secretory pathway. The COOH-terminal region unique to PC5-A seems to be involved in the sorting of this protein to the secretory granules, while other signals may be responsible for the Golgi localization of PC5-B.

- xvii -

The fact that two isoforms issued from the same convertase gene can be redirected to different subcellular compartments through the structural modification of their COOH-terminal domain can ultimately result in the formation of distinct enzyme-substrate pairs. Indeed, the intracellular site and duration of contact between an enzyme and its substrate, as well as the cleavage efficacy of the convertase, will vary according to their subcellular localization and residence time within a particular compartment.

In conclusion, the studies presented in this thesis demonstrate that variations in the structure of the COOH-terminal region of convertases do not affect their cleavage site recognition, but can influence their subcellular localization.

Presentation of this manuscript proceeds as follows:

Chapters A and B constitute a comprehensive review of the most recent literature pertinent to this thesis. Chapter A covers the relevant aspects of protein biosynthesis, trafficking and sorting along the secretory pathway, while Chapter B reviews the subject of proprotein convertases, from their discovery to the most recent reports.

Chapters C and D present an abstract, introduction, materials and methods, discussion and reference sections for each publication. These publications treat different aspects of the same theme, the potential function of the COOH-terminal region in the convertases. Chapter C deals with the possible impact of this domain on the cleavage site recognition of the isoforms of the Drosophila furin homologues, while Chapter D examines the role of this region in directing the sorting of two PC5 isoforms to the distinct subcellular compartments.

A general conclusion is provided in Chapter E. This thesis concludes with claims to original research.

- xviii -

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	i
Abstract	iii
Sommaire	iv
Preface	V
Introduction	1
Chapter A. Biosynthesis and transport of secretory and membrane proteins	2
A.1 Alternative splicing and protein diversity	3
A.2 Translation and translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum A.2.1 ER retention signals	4 9
 A.3 Transport through the Golgi apparatus A.3.1 Residence signals in Golgi proteins A.3.2 Sorting within the <i>trans</i>-Golgi Network 	10 18 19
A.4 Regulated secretion A.4.1 Secretory granules sorting signals	26 28
A.5 Post-translational proteolytic maturation	34
References	38
Chapter B. Proprotein convertases	60
B.1 Discovery of the proprotein convertases	61
B.2 Structure of the members of the convertase family	64
B.3 Tissue and cellular distribution	76
B.4 Cleavage specificities	81
B.5 Sorting signals	92
References	95

Chapter C. Processing specificity and biosynthesis of 115 the Drosophila melanogaster convertases dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X and dfurin2

Abstract	116
Introduction	116
Materials and Methods	117
Results	118
Discussion	121
References	124

Chapter D. The isoforms of proprotein convertase PC5 are 130 sorted to different subcellular compartments

131
131
132
133
137
143

Chapter E. General conclusion and claims to original research 149

General conclusion	150
Claims to original research	158

Figure 1:

Schematic representation of the mammalian members of the convertase family, with yeast kexin and bacterial subtilisin as comparison.

Figure 2:

Schematic representation of the three dfurin1 isoforms as well as the product of the *Dfur2* gene, with mammalian furin as comparison.

Figure 3:

Schematic representation of mammalian proprotein convertase isoforms PC5-A and PC5-B, as well as PC5-A Δ mutant construct lacking the $\chi i v$ COOH-terminal region unique to PC5-A.

Figure A-1:

Schematic representation of secretory pathway, with *cis*-Golgi Network (CGN), *trans*-Golgi Network (TGN), constitutive vesicles, secretory granules, endosomes, lysosomes, and biosynthetic transformations taking place in each of these compartments.

Figure A-2:

a) COPI- and COPII-mediated sorting events at the level of the Golgi and ER (adapted from Salama and Schekman, 1995; Aridor and Balch, 1996).
b) Vesicle formation and transport mediated by SNARE complex assembly, targeting and disassembly (adapted from Rothman and Orci, 1992; Rothman, 1994; Bennett, 1995; Schekman and Orci, 1996).

Figure A-3:

Sorting events in polarized cells (adapted from Matter and Mellman, 1994). 23

XI

8

viii

Figure A-4:

Sorting events at the level of the *cis*-Golgi Network and *trans*-Golgi Network, as well as recycling within endosomes.

Figure B-1:	*****
Schematic representation of the mammalian members of the convertase	
family, with yeast kexin and bacterial subtilisin as comparison.	62
Figure B-2:	
Dendogram representing the phylogenic tree of the mammalian convertases	
(according to Seidah et al., 1996c).	68
Figure B-3:	
Differential processing of POMC by PC1 and PC2 (according to Benjannet et	
al., 1991; Halban and Irminger, 1994).	8 9
Figure C-1:	
Alignment of Drosophila and mammalian prohormone convertases.	117
Figure C-2:	******
Analysis of proteolytic processing of pro-m7B2 by the dfurins.	118
Figure C-3 (A) and (B):	
Analysis of proteolytic processing of mPOMC by the dfurins.	119
Figure C-4 (A) and (B):	
Analysis of proteolytic processing of pro-rdynorphin by the dfurins.	120
Figure C-5 (A) and (B):	
Biosynthesis of Dfur1 and Dfur2 encoded proteins in LoVo and BSC40 cells.	121
Figure C-6 (A), (B), and (C):	
(A) Pulse-chase analysis of dfurin1 and dfurin1-CRR.	
(B) Biosynthesis of dfurins in presence of tunicamycin.	
(C) Biosynthesis of dfurins in presence of ionophore A23187.	121

Figure C-7 (A) and (B):	
(A) Comparative biosynthesis of Dfur1 and Dfur2 encoded proteins at 37 and	
20°C.	
(B) Biosynthesis of dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2 in presence of	
brefeldin A.	122
Figure C-8 (A) and (B):	
Biosynthesis of Dfur1 and Dfur2 encoded proteins in GH4C1 and AtT-20	
cells.	122
Figure D-1:	
Schematic representation of mammalian proprotein convertase isoforms	
PC5-A and PC5-B.	133
Figure D-2:	
Sulfate-labeling of PC5-A- and PC5-B-encoded proteins.	134
Figure D-3:	
Endoproteolytic transformations of PC5-A.	134
Figure D-4:	
Microsequencing of PC5-A 126 and 117 kD products.	135
Figure D-5:	
(a) Biosynthesis of PC5-A in the presence of brefeldin A.	
(b) Effect of 20°C temperature blockade on PC5-A processing.	135
Figure D-6:	
(a) Analysis of PC5-B transformations by pulse-chase.	
(b) Biosynthesis of PC5-B in presence of brefeldin A.	136
	· _

Dimension D. Z.	
Figure D-7:	
(a) Comparative basal and cAMP-stimulated release of sulfate-labeled PC5-A-	
and PC5-B-encoded proteins: PC5-A is stored in secretory granules while	
PC5-B shed form is released through the constitutive pathway.	
(b) Comparative basal and cAMP-stimulated release of methionine-labeled	
PC5-A-encoded proteins: both intact and COOH-terminally truncated	
products are stored in secretory granules.	136
Figure D-8:	
(a) Analysis of PC5-AA transformations by pulse-chase.	
(b) Comparative basal and cAMP-stimulated release of sulfate-labeled PC5-A-,	
PC5-B- and PC5-A Δ -encoded proteins.	137
Figure D-9:	
Secretion kinetics of PC5 proteins.	138
Figure D-10:	
PC5-A colocalizes with the secretory granules and Golgi apparatus marker	
ACTH, while PC5-B colocalizes with the TGN marker TGN38.	139
Figure D-11:	
Electron microscopy immunocytochemical detection of PC5 and PC2 in	
pancreatic glucagon-secreting cells.	141
Figure D-12:	
(a) Alignment of amino acid sequences showing homology between PC5-A,	
PACE4-A, Chromogranin B, Chromogranin A and POMC.	
(b) Alignment of PC5-B cytosolic tail sequence with those of furin, kexin,	

Tabl	les
------	-----

Table A-I:	
ER-specific modifications.	7
Table A-II:	
ER localization signals.	10
Table A-III:	
Golgi-specific modifications.	13
Table A-IV:	
Summary of know sorting signals within the exocytic pathway.	32
Table A-V:	
Post-translational proteolytic modifications of polypeptides.	37
Table B-I:	
Chromosomal location of convertase genes (according to Seidah, Chrétien	
and Day, 1994; Mbikay et al., 1995; Seidah et al., 1996c).	64
Table B-II:	
Percentage sequence identity of the catalytic domains of the convertases	
human PC1 (hPC1), human PC2 (hPC2), rat PC4 (rPC4), human furin (hfurin),	
human PACE4 (hPACE4), rat PC5, (rPC5), rat PC7 (rPC7), and yeast kexin	
(ykexin). (according to Seidah et al., 1994, 1996c).	67
Table B-III:	
Comparison of the RGD motif in convertases of several species.	71
Table B-IV:	
Structural features observed within the convertases COOH-terminal	
Structural readures observed within the convertases coord terminal	75
domain.	75
	75
domain.	75
domain. Table B-V:	75
domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban	75
domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban and Irminger, 1994; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Beaubien et al., 1995;	75
domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban	75 80
domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban and Irminger, 1994; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Beaubien et al., 1995;	
domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban and Irminger, 1994; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Beaubien et al., 1995; Dong et al., 1995; Day and Dong, 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c).	
domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban and Irminger, 1994; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Beaubien et al., 1995; Dong et al., 1995; Day and Dong, 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c). Table B-VI:	
domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban and Irminger, 1994; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Beaubien et al., 1995; Dong et al., 1995; Day and Dong, 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c). Table B-VI: Examples of polypeptide precursor types cleaved by members of the	80
<pre>domain. Table B-V: Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-] (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban and Irminger, 1994; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Beaubien et al., 1995; Dong et al., 1995; Day and Dong, 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c). Table B-VI: Examples of polypeptide precursor types cleaved by members of the convertase family. {(B)= basic amino acid.}</pre>	80

List of abbreviations

aa	amino acid	CRR	cysteine-rich region
Arf	ADP-ribosylation factor	dfurin	Drosophila furin
ACTH	adrenocorticotropin hormone	D	dalton; kD, kilo dalton
ACTH*	glycosylated adrenocorticotropin hormone	DME	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
ADP	adenosine diphosphate	DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
		DPP	decapentaplegic protein
AP	adaptor protein	EndoH	endoglycosidase H
ATP	adenosine triphosphate	EDTA	ethylenediaminetetracetic acid
bp	base pair; kbp, kilo base pair	EM	electron microscopy
BiP	Immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein	END	endorphin
8Br-	8Bromo-cyclic adenosine	ER	endoplasmic reticulum
cAMP	monophosphate	ERGIC	endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi intermediate compartment
BFA	brefeldin A	Fc	Immunoglobulin G fragment, crystalline
BSA	bovine serum albumin	FCS	fetal calf serum
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic		
	acid	FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
°C	degree Celsius	g	gram(s); mg, milligram (s); µg, microgram(s)
Ca2+	calcium	Glc	glucose
Cg	chromogranin	GlcNac	N-acetylglucosamine
Ci	curie(s); µCi, microcurie(s)	GDP	guanosine diphosphate
CB	cathepsin B	GPI	glycosylphosphatidylinositol
CGN	<i>cis</i> -Golgi Network	GTP	guanosine triphosphate
CKII	casein kinase II	h	hour(s)
CNS	central nervous system	hfur	human furin
COOH- terminal	carboxy-terminal	${}^{3}\mathbf{H}$	tritiated
COP	coat protein	HVEM	high voltage electron microscopy
CPE	carboxypeptidase E	HSP	heat shock protein
СРН	carboxypeptidase H	Ig	immunoglobulin

IGF	insulin-like growth factor	PC	proprotein convertase
I	liter(s); ml; microliter(s); µl, microliter(s)	PCR	polymerase chain reaction; RT-PCR, reverse-transcriptase PCR
LDL	low density lipoprotein	PDI	protein disulfide isomerase
LPH	lipotropin hormone	PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
[³⁵ S]met	[³⁵ S]methionine	POMC	proopiomelanocortin
min	minute(s)	rdynorphin	rat dynorphin
m7B2	mouse 7B2	RIA	radioimmunoassay
mPC1	mouse PC1	RNA	ribonucleic acid; hnRNA, heteronuclear RNA; mRNA, messenger RNA
mPC2	mouse PC2	sRNP	small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particle
mPC5	mouse PC5	SD	standard deviation
Μ	molar; mM, micromolar;µm, micromolar	SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
Man	mannose	SNAP	soluble NSF attachment protein
Mr	relative molecular mass	SNARE	soluble NSF attachment protein receptor
MDBK	Madin-Darby bovine kidney	SRP	signal recognition particle
MDCK	Madin-Darby canine kidney	Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
MHC	major histocompatibility complex	TGN	trans-Golgi Network
MSH	melanocyte-stimulating hormone		•
NH ₂ -	amino terminal	TMD	transmembrane domain
terminal	X7 .4 .4	TRITC	tetramethylrhodamine isothiocyanate
NEM	N-ethyl maleimide	vol	volume
NSF	N-ethyl maleimide-sensitive fusion factor	vWF	von Willebrand factor
pfu	plaque forming unit	VIP36	36 kD vesicular integral membrane
PACE	paired basic amino acid	NICNI	protein
DAGE	cleaving enzyme	VSV	vesicular stomatitis virus
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	VV	vaccinia virus
PAM	peptidylglycine alpha-amidating monooxygenase	wt	wild type
PBS	phosphate buffered saline	Y-XX-Ø	tyrosine-aa-aa-hydrophobic aa
100	phosphate buttered same		

•

Introduction

In eucaryotes, many proteins are initially synthesized as inactive polypeptide precursors which require proteolytic cleavage to acquire their bioactivity. These proteins include several neuropeptides and peptide hormones, as well as growth factors and their receptors. Insight on the enzymes accomplishing the maturation of these proteins is fundamental to the understanding of the production of biological peptides and the regulation of their activity.

A family of endoproteases implicated in the processing of some of these polypeptide precursors has recently been identified. These enzymes, called proprotein convertases (PCs), are involved in several crucial physiological and pathological cellular processes, such as the processing of protein precursors into regulatory polypeptides in a tissue and cell-specific manner, and the cleavage of viral envelope glycoproteins. However, little is yet known about the functional regulation of these proteases.

In this manuscript, I describe how the biosynthesis, cellular localization and activity of some of these proteinases can be affected by variations within a precise structural region of convertase proteins, the COOH-terminal sequence. This is achieved through the biosynthetic analysis of the multiple products generated by differential splicing of two members of the convertase gene family, *Dfur1* and *PCSK5*. These studies demonstrate that, in the case of the Drosophila furin analogs, the COOH-terminal domain of the convertases is not involved in defining cleavage site specificity. However, studies with the isoforms of convertase PC5 illustrate that variations of the COOH-terminal sequence can affect both the cellular localization and exocytosis of these enzymes.

These investigations demonstrate that sequence modifications of the convertases' COOH-terminal domain resulting from alternative splicing of their precursor hnRNA, a phenomena observed for several members of this endoprotease family, can be implicated in the determination of their subcellular localization.

CHAPTER A

Biosynthesis and transport of secretory and membrane proteins

A.1 Alternative splicing and protein diversity

Different cell types performing specific functions within a tissue or organism synthesize particular sets of proteins. Several mechanisms exist to ensure this cell type-specific protein expression. One of these mechanisms is the processing of primary heteronuclear RNA (hnRNA) transcripts. Excision of introns and splicing of mRNA precursors not only affects the message encoded by these molecules, but also their transport out of the nucleus, stability in the cytoplasm, as well as efficiency of translation (Maniatis, 1991; Newman, 1994; Sharp, 1994).

For a number of eucaryotic genes, primary hnRNAs can be spliced in several alternative fashions, thus generating multiple transcripts. This eventually leads to the production of different proteins issued from a single gene. In many cases, splicing can be cell-type specific or regulated. Different cells (or a single cell) can thus synthesize different protein isoforms in response to specific cues. Introns are spliced out of hnRNA precursors by the precise recognition of intron-exon junctions in primary RNA transcripts. These sequences are conserved in all eucaryotes and consist of a particular structural motif which begins with the consensus sequence AGGU at the 5' exon-intron junction site, and ends with CAGG at the 3' intron-exon junction site (Hodges and Bernstein, 1994). This motif is recognized by a group of small nuclear RNAs and proteins called sRNPs (small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particles) which in turn assembles with the precursor mRNA to form a spliceosome complex. Spliceosomes catalyze the excision of introns and thus carry out splicing of mRNA precursors (Sharp, 1994). Examples of secretory and membrane-bound proteins encoded by multiple mRNAs include growth hormone (Moore et al., 1982), calcitonin (Amara et al., 1982), enkephalin and dynorphin (Garrett et al., 1989), and the convertases PACE4 (Kiefer et al., 1991), dfurin1 (Roebroek et al. 1993), PC4 (Seidah et al., 1992; Mbikay et al., 1994), and PC5 (Nakagawa et al. 1993a,b; Seidah et al., 1994; Mbikay et al., 1995).

A.2 Translation and translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum

In eucaryotes, once an mRNA has been modified to its final form by processing, addition of a 5' end cap and 3' end poly A tail, it is transported out of the nucleus. In the cytosol, translation is initiated by association with ribosomes. The nascent proteins emerging from ribosomes contain topogenic signals which determine their sorting to distinct cellular compartments. For proteins transported through the secretory pathway, a specific leader sequence permits anchoring of ribosomes to receptors at the surface of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane, and subsequent translocation into this compartment. This NH₂-terminal peptide signal interacts with a cytosolic signal recognition particle (SRP), which targets the ribosome to the surface of the rough ER by interacting with a specific SRP receptor, and subsequently allows the entry of the protein into the lumen of this organelle through a protein translocation pore, called translocon (Walter and Blobel, 1982; Millman and Andrews, 1997).

Signal sequences range in length from 15 to 70 amino acids, and the amino terminal side of the signal contains at least one positively charged residue. The core of the signal peptide consist of a stretch of hydrophobic amino acids, typically 15 to 20 residues long (von Heijne, 1990; Zheng and Gierasch, 1996). Some proteins contain and internal stop transfer sequence instead of an amino terminal signal peptide, while others contain no typical signals and are still translocated into the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum through an alternative or salvage pathway (Ng et al., 1996).

For most secretory pathway proteins, transport to the ER lumen occurs cotranslationally, during polypeptide chain elongation. After the signal peptide has guided the protein to the ER membrane, it stays associated with the translocon, behaving as a start-transfer signal, while the remainder of the protein is threaded through the membrane.

Once the carboxy-terminal end of the protein has migrated through the membrane, the signal peptide is discharged from the translocation pore and is rapidly cleaved by a signal peptidase, while the rest of the protein is released in the lumen of the ER. For proteins which remain anchored to the membrane, the translocation process is stopped at one point during synthesis by an hydrophobic segment within the polypeptide chain. This peptide region acts as a stop-transfer signal and maintains the protein in the lipid bilayer by forming an alpha-helical membrane-spanning domain (Mothes et al., 1997).

It is in the ER that proteins become N-glycosylated by the transfer of an initial [glucose]₃-[mannose]₉-[N-acetylglucosamine]₂ oligosaccharide core to an asparagine residue within the sequence Asn-X-Ser/Thr, from a glycolipid containing dolichol phosphate carrier (Lennarz, 1987). This oligosaccharide structure is trimmed of its glucose moieties in the ER, then further modified while the protein is transported through the Golgi apparatus (Kornfeld and Kornfeld, 1985). Inhibitors of N-glycosylation such as tunicamycin, can block the addition of N-acetylglucosamine to dolichol phosphate, the first step in the formation of the core oligosaccharide. When N-glycan addition to proteins is prevented, the majority of non-glycosylated forms are retained in the ER were they aggregate (Olden et al., 1982). This in turn can result in an increased degradation of glycoproteins in the ER (Weintraub et al., 1985; Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1988; Amara, Lederkremer, and Lodish, 1989; Bonifacino and Lippincott-Schwartz, 1991; Stafford and Bonifacino, 1991; Bonifacino, 1996; Kopito, 1997).

Proteins attain their tertiary configuration in the ER by interacting with resident protein chaperones. Chaperones assist protein folding and ensure protein assembly, as well as the proper formation of secondary structures encoded by the amino acid chain, such as alpha helices,
beta pleated sheets and beta turns. There are several classes of chaperones present in the ER: class I includes the immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein BiP, which is part of the heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) family. Class I chaperones interact with hydrophobic patches on the nascent protein to permit the partial folding of polypeptide precursors and prevent their aggregation (Landry and Gierasch, 1991; Buchner, 1996). Class II chaperones comprise two lectin-like proteins, membrane-bound calnexin (Ou et al., 1993; Ware et al., 1995) and soluble calreticulin (Nauseef et al., 1995; Peterson et al., 1995), which recognize carbohydrate portions of proteins and ensure the final folding of glycoproteins before they can be exported from the ER (Fielder and Simons, 1995; Hebert, Foellmer, and Helenius, 1995). If the protein is not properly folded, glucose will be added back to the N-linked oligosaccharide. Proteins which retain a glucose moiety remain bound to calnexin and are unable to exit this compartment. When the protein has ultimately reached its proper conformation, glucosylation ceases, and rapid trimming of the remaining glucose moieties permits migration out of the ER (Bergeron et al., 1994; Hammond and Helenius, 1995; Williams, 1995). Thus, glycosylation can play an important role in the proper folding of glycoproteins. Finally, some ER enzymes also assist in this process. Protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) ensures the correct formation of disulfide bonds, while prolyl and lysyl hydroxylases perform the hydroxylation of prolines and lysines, and peptidyl-prolyl isomerases catalyze the cis/trans isomerization of X-Pro bonds (Gething and Sambrook, 1992; Helenius, Marquart, and Braakman, 1992; Martin and Hartl, 1994; Hendrick and Hartl, 1995; Buchner, 1996).

Some proteins also acquire in the ER a covalently attached glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor at their COOH-terminal end, and thus become capable of binding to the exterior of the plasma membrane (Ferguson, 1992; Takeda, and Kinoshita, 1995).

б

This complex system of folding assistance by chaperones and enzymes ensures that only correctly folded and modified proteins proceed from the ER to the Golgi apparatus, and ultimately leave the early biosynthetic compartments. For many proteins, an additional chaperonelike system is incorporated within their structure. These proteins are synthesized as larger precursors, which possess an internal proregion, usually as an additional NH₂-terminal sequence. Pro segments can perform multiple functions, ranging from targeting signals to protease inhibitors. Most importantly, they can play a critical role in the proper folding and processing of polypeptide precursors. Most proteases, for example subtilisins, as well as other proteins, have evolved a folding mechanism dependent on the presence of a prosegment. Propeptide segments facilitate the rate of folding of their associated mature domains by stabilizing their partially folded state and lowering the energy barrier between unfolded and folded states. They are then cleaved once folding is complete, to prevent catalysis of the reverse reaction (Baker, Shiau, and Agard, 1993; Sinde and Inouve, 1995).

Table A-I: ER-specific modifications

- 1. Signal peptide cleavage
- 2. Chaperone-assisted folding
- 3. Addition of N-linked oligosaccharides
- 4. Disulfide bonds formation
- 5. Hydroxylation of proline or lysine residues
- 6. Oligomerization
- 7. Addition of GPI anchor

Post-translational modifications:



Figure A-1:

Schematic representation of secretory pathway, with *cis*-Golgi Network (CGN), *trans*-Golgi Network (TGN), constitutive vesicles, secretory granules, endosomes, lysosomes, and biosynthetic transformations taking place in each of these compartments.

A.2.1 ER retention signals

While proteins which have attained their proper conformation are released from the early secretory pathway, ER resident proteins recycle back to this latter compartment from Golgi saccules. Specific signals ensure that these proteins are maintained predominantly in the proper section of the secretory pathway.

Several types of retrieval signals have been characterized for ER resident proteins. First, a carboxy terminal tetrapeptide KDEL is found in many lumenal proteins, such as BiP and PDI. Proteins exhibiting this motif are capable of escaping the ER, but can be retrieved, sometimes all the way from the *trans*-Golgi Network (Misenböck and Rothman, 1995), and are returned to their compartment of residence by interaction with a sorting receptor (Munro and Pelham, 1987; Lewis and Pelham, 1990; Lewis, Sweet, and Pelham, 1990; Semenza et al., 1990; Vaux, Tooze, and Fueller, 1990; Tang et al., 1993).

Some ER integral membrane proteins also maintain themselves in this compartment through a retrieval system. These membrane-bound proteins, usually exhibiting a type I topology (transmembrane domain at the COOH-terminus of the molecule), have within their COOH-terminal cytosolic tail a retrieval signal consisting of two lysines (KKXX or KXKXX, where X can be any amino acid) (Jackson, Nilsson, and Peterson, 1993). A similar signal (RKPRRE) is present within the COOH-terminal cytosolic tail of calnexin (Bergeron et al., 1994). Deletion of this segment causes the redistribution of calnexin towards the Golgi and cell surface (Rajagopalan, Xu, and Brenner, 1994). For some type II proteins (transmembrane domain at the NH₂-terminus of the molecule), this signal is replaced by two arginines (RR), which must be found within the first five amino-terminal residues of the protein (Schutze, Peterson, and Jackson, 1994).

Table A-II: ER localization signals

- 1. NH₂-terminal signal peptide
- 2. COOH-terminal KDEL
- 3. Cytosolic tail KKXX or KXKXX
- 4. Cytosolic NH₂-terminal segment **RR**

A.3 Transport through the Golgi apparatus

Proteins exit the endoplasmic reticulum and are transported to the Golgi apparatus, an organelle composed of multiple cisternae or stacks. Small vesicles permit the transit of proteins from the ER to the Golgi and between the different Golgi laminae. The Golgi complex consists of three functional regions, the cis, medial and trans portions, in which distinct biochemical transformations of proteins take place, including elongation and modification of oligosaccharides (Farquhar, 1985) (see Figure A-1). Each Golgi cisterna has two distinct surfaces: an entry or cis face, and an exit or trans face. The cis- and trans-most cisternae of the Golgi are adjoined to special compartments composed of interconnected tubuloreticular complexes, called the *cis*-Golgi and *trans*-Golgi Networks.

Transport vesicles leaving the ER first enter a vesicular tubular cluster, also called sorting exosomes, salvage or ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC). These vesiculo-tubular extensions are thought to be connected to the *cis*-Golgi Network (Balch et al., 1994; Harter and Wieland, 1996), although they are sometimes considered as an organelle structurally distinct from the Golgi apparatus (Saraste and Kuismanen, 1984; Schweizer et al., 1990; Hauri and Schweizer, 1992). This vesiculo-

tubular network exhibits transitional elements which are contiguous with the ER and the *cis* Golgi stacks (Hauri and Schweizer, 1992; Mellman and Simons, 1992; Rothman and Orci, 1992; Balch et al., 1994; Aridor and Balch, 1996). Proteins which recycle back to the ER are thought to be sorted from those which continue along the secretory pathway in this compartment and/or the *cis*-Golgi Network (Hsu et al., 1991; Saraste and Svensson, 1991; Pelham 1995). Temperature blocks of 15°C prevent proteins from leaving the salvage compartment (Saraste and Kuismanen, 1984; Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1990; Schweizer et al., 1990) after their exit from the ER. A marker of this compartment, ERGIC-53, has been suggested to perform a function similar to those of calnexin and calreticulin in the quality control of protein folding, in that it behaves as a lectin with a specific affinity for mannose sugars (Arar et al., 1995; Itin et al., 1996; Ponnembalam and Banting, 1996).

Proteins leave the intermediate compartment to enter the cis-Golgi Network (CGN). Biochemically, the CGN is defined as the compartment where the first step of phosphorylation of mannose residues in lysosomal enzymes occurs (Lazarino and Gabel, 1988). Retrieval of ER resident proteins from the CGN indicates that transfer of proteins can occur in either directions between these two organelles. Receptors for ER retention signals are not only found in the CGN but at all levels of the Golgi apparatus, as far as the trans-Golgi Network (Misenböck and Rothman, 1995), suggesting that the recycling pathway extends all the way to the later Golgi compartments. This recycling pathway is affected by the drug Brefeldin A (BFA), which causes the diffusion of Golgi stacks into the ER and redistribution of Golgi enzymes in this later compartment. BFA prevents assembly of the coat proteins necessary for the formation of budding vesicles, blocking the forward vesicular transport while leaving the backward microtubule-dependent transport intact (Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1989, 1990, 1991; Pelham, 1991;

Klausner, Donaldson, and Lippincott-Schwartz, 1992; Robinson and Kreis, 1992). In contrast, components of the *trans*-Golgi Network (TGN) do not redistribute to the ER, but intermix with the endosomal recycling system. Thus, BFA inhibits the forward movement of proteins beyond the mixed ER/Golgi system.

N-linked oligosaccharide moieties which have been added to proteins in the ER are modified as the glycoproteins travel along the Golgi apparatus. Glycoproteins can undergo several different types of modifications and achieve three different types of structures: high-mannose, complex, or hybrid (Kornfeld and Kornfeld, 1985). High-mannose oligosaccharides contain two N-acetylglucosamines and several mannose residues, while complex oligosaccharides can contain more than two N-acetylglucosamines, a variable number of galactose and sialic acid residues, and sometimes fucose. After the removal of five mannose residues by mannosidases I and II in the early Golgi compartments, the core N-acetylglucosamines as well as all subsequent structures in the glycosylation pathway become resistant to the attack of a specific endoglycosidase, named Endoglycosidase H (EndoH). This enzyme is thus used to differentiate glycoprotein transformations as proteins travel along the secretory pathway.

The different oligosaccharide transformations are performed by various mannosidases, glycosidases and glycosyltransferases. These enzymes are enriched in specific Golgi compartments in the order in which they act, permitting sequential processing of oligosaccharides (Dunphy and Rothman, 1985; Roth, 1991). Proteins thus undergo several rounds of trimming and modifications as they pass through the different Golgi cisternae. They can also undergo addition of O-linked sugars in the Golgi by the action of glycosyl transferase enzymes (Jentoft, 1990), or addition of sulfate groups on tyrosine residues or sialic acid components of oligossacharides, a transformation performed by

sulfotransferases specifically located within the trans Golgi cisternae and the TGN (Baeuerle and Huttner, 1987; Hart, 1992). Some additional modifications such as endoproteolysis, exoproteolysis, COOH-terminal amidation, NH₂-terminal acetylation, phosphorylation, and pyroglutaminyl formation are also performed in this compartment (Bennett, 1985; Eipper et al., 1987; Mains et al., 1990; Pohl et al., 1991; Lasa-Benito et al., 1996; Lasa, Marin and Pinna, 1997; Vegh and Varro, 1997).

After undergoing some or all of these modifications within the Golgi apparatus, proteins reach the TGN. In this last compartment, they are sorted and segregated to leave in transport vesicles towards either the cell surface, endosomes/lysosomes or secretory granules. It has been suggested that the TGN is composed of functionally distinct subdomains, with each domain housing different types of modifying enzymes, such as sially transferases and sulfo transferases, or each involved in the segregation of proteins in different types of transport vesicles destined for secretory granules, the plasma membrane or the endosomal/lysosomal system (Ladinsky et al., 1994) (see Figure A-1).

Table A-III: Golgi-specific modifications

- 1. N-linked oligosaccharide modifications:
- Trimming of mannoses
- Addition of N-acetylglucosamine, galactose, sialic acid and fucose
- 2. O-linked glycosylation
- 3. Sulfation
- 4. Phosphorylation
- 5. COOH-terminal amidation
- 6. Endoproteolysis
- 7. Exoproteolysis
- 8. Pyroglutaminyl formation

Vesicles carrying proteins between the ER-Golgi systems are precisely targeted from one organelle to the other. The cytosolic surface of these vesicles is covered by a set of coat protein subunits, α -, β -, β -, γ -, δ -, ε -, and ζ -COPs (for coat proteins), which form a protein complex named coatamer (Waters, Serafini, and Rothman, 1991; Rothman and Orci, 1992, 1996; Kreis and Pepperkok, 1994; Rothman, 1994; Schekman and Orci, 1996). Retrograde transport towards the ER is mediated by COPI coatamer-coated vesicles, which is required for the Golgi retrieval of specific ER-resident proteins exhibiting the KKXX retrieval motif (see Figure A-2 (a)) (Cosson and Letourneur, 1994; Letourneur et al. 1994). The anterograde budding is handled by ER-derived COPI and COPII transport vesicles, two distinct populations of ER-derived transport vesicles (Orci et al., 1991a, 1994; Waters, Seraphini, and Rothman, 1991; Hicke, Yoshihisa, and Rothman, 1992; Bednarek et al., 1995; Salama and Schekman, 1995; Schekman and Orci, 1996). COPI is also involved in intra-Golgi transport, while no such role could so far be attributed to COPII (see Figure A-2 (a)) (Waters, Serafini, and Rothman, 1991; Kuge et al., 1994). It has been suggested that in mammalian cells, COPII permits sorting and concentration of proteins upon export from the ER, while COPI directs retrieval from the intermediate compartment to recycle resident proteins back to the ER (Aridor and Balch, 1996). Brefeldin A, which prevents coat assembly, affects the membrane attachment of the β -COP subunit to Golgi membranes (Donaldson et al., 1990). This results from its action on factor, the another cytosolic small GTP-binding protein Arf (ADP-ribosylation factor), which provides binding sites for coatamer on membranes (Donaldson and Klausner, 1994; Elazar et al., 1994; Boman and Kahn, 1995). Animal cells exhibit several different Arf proteins with distinct cellular distributions (Cavenagh et al., 1996), but only the role of Arf1 has so far been well characterized (Kahn et al., 1991). BFA blocks Arf binding to Golgi, therefore preventing coatamer assembly and budding of coated vesicles. This in turn causes the release of Arf and coatamer from Golgi membranes and collapse of Golgi cisternae into one another (Orci et al., 1991b).



Figure A-2:

a) COPI- and COPII-mediated sorting events at the level of the Golgi and ER (adapted from Salama and Schekman, 1995; Aridor and Balch. 1996). Protein export from the ER is mediated by COPII coat complex. Cargo is subsequently delivered to the sorting exosomes, where COPI will execute the retrieval of KKXX-containing proteins to the ER. Anterograde transport of proteins to the Golgi requires segregation from ER-recycling proteins and association of additional membrane components with COPI.

b) Vesicle formation and transport mediated by SNARE complex assembly, targeting and disassembly (adapted from Rothman and Orci, 1992; Rothman, 1994; Bennett, 1995; Schekman and Orci, 1996; Goda, 1997). Vesicle formation is initiated by recruitment of coat proteins to the membrane surface by ARF. GTP hydrolysis is thought to cause a conformational switch between a membrane-bound and soluble form of ARF, inducing the release of vesicles. Targeting of vesicles to the appropriate compartment is thought to require the recognition of the vesicle v-SNARE with the target membrane t-SNARE, as well as the binding of cytosolic SNAPs and NSF. See text for details.

While Arf provides binding sites for coatamer and initiates budding, coatamer binding and assembly drives vesicle budding. It is thought that coated vesicles fuse with their target membrane following ATP hydrolysis by Arf, causing the release of the coatamer from vesicles. Fusion is assisted by the N-ethyl maleimide (NEM)-sensitive fusion factor (NSF) and several other cytosolic components. These soluble NSF attachment proteins (SNAPs), recognize specific vesicular receptors called v-SNAREs (vesicle-associated SNAP receptor). Three SNAPs isoforms have so far been isolated. While the α and γ isoforms are ubiquitous, β -SNAP is specific to brain (Rothman, 1994). It is thought that vesicles locate their specific targets by the pairing of complementary receptors, a v-SNARE for the transport vesicle and a t-SNARE (target membrane associated-SNAP receptor) for the target compartment (see Figure A-2 (b)) (Söllner et al., 1993; Bennett and Scheller, 1994; Pevsner and Scheller, 1994; Rothman, 1994; Rothman and Warren, 1994; Banfield, Lewis, and Pelham, 1995; Bennett, 1995; Mellman, 1995; Lewis and Pelham, 1996; Goda, 1997), but homotypic vacuolar fusion has also been reported (Nichols et al., 1997).

A family of rab proteins has also been implicated in vesicle targeting and fusion (Zerial and Stenmark, 1993; Rothman and Söllner, 1997; Lupashin and Waters, 1997). The different members of this family of small monomeric ras-like GTPases are specific in their membrane localization (Novick and Brennwald, 1993; Pfeffer, 1994; Tavitian, 1994). The association of rab proteins with their proper intracellular membrane target is mediated by a signal present within the COOH-terminal hypervariable domain (Chavrier et al., 1991). Rab proteins assist in the precise delivery of transport vesicles to target membranes (Rothman, 1994). A member of this family has recently been described to function as timer for endocytic membrane fusion (Rybin et al., 1996).

Heterotrimeric G-proteins are also involved in the regulation of different transport steps of vesicular traffic, although their function is not as precisely defined as those of Arf and rab proteins (Melançon et al., 1987; Balch, 1990; Barr, Leyte, and Huttner, 1992; Bomsel and Mostov, 1992; Leyte et al., 1992; Pfeffer, 1992; Schwaninger et al., 1992; Melançon, 1993; Ohashi and Huttner, 1994).

A.3.1 Residence signals in Golgi proteins

In contrast to known ER-resident proteins which return to this compartment in view of the presence of a recycling signal, most Golgi glycosylation enzymes possess genuine retention signals. These integral membrane proteins exhibit a type II topology, with their uncleaved signal peptide acting as a transmembrane anchor. No cytosolic sorting domains have been detected in these proteins. The presence of a single short transmembrane domain of about 17 amino acids, and part of its flanking regions, is sufficient to promote Golgi localization (Machamer, 1991, 1993; Munro, 1991, 1995; Nilsson et al., 1993, 1994; Nilsson and Warren, 1994). The mechanisms suggested for the retention of Golgi membrane proteins comprise aggregation through the membrane anchoring and lumenal domains, also called kin-protein aggregation 1993; Pelham, 1995), localization (Machamer, determined by transmembrane domain length (Munro, 1995), and bilayer-mediated sorting (Pelham and Munro, 1993). Medial Golgi enzymes have been shown to associate with each other in vivo and form oligomers (Nilsson et al., 1993), a fact which supports the aggregation sorting mechanism. However, another hypothesis suggests that the transmembrane domains of these proteins act as sorting signals by mediating a lipid-based segregation due to their unique amino acid composition and physical properties (Munro, 1991; Bretscher and Munro, 1993). The length of the transmembrane anchor would permit a lipid-based partitioning of proteins, dependent on membrane thickness, composition and rigidity, which would follow a putative cholesterol gradient across the Golgi stacks (Bretscher and Munro, 1993; Nilsson and Warren, 1994; Munro, 1995; Simons and Ikonen, 1997). The transmembrane anchor length of the different Golgi enzymes would thus determine their partitioning across the Golgi cisternae. These two proposed mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and could well be complementary in mediating the retention of Golgi membrane proteins (Munro, 1995).

A.3.2 Sorting within the trans-Golgi Network

The trans-Golgi Network, like the cis-Golgi Network, is a specialized compartment where proteins undergo sorting to attain their organelles of residence (Orci et al., 1987). Proteins being sorted in the TGN can access several possible destinations: the lysosomes, the plasma membrane, or the secretory granules, in the specialized cells which contain these organelles. As for the CGN, restrictive temperatures, this time close to 20°C, can prevent the progression of proteins beyond the TGN (Matlin and Simons, 1983; Saraste and Kuismanen, 1984; Griffiths and Simons, 1986). Contrary to Golgi enzymes, TGN resident proteins are not retained in this section, but instead cycle between this compartment and other subcellular regions. Two examples of proteins which are retrieved from the plasma membrane to the TGN are TGN38, an integral membrane protein specified to reside in this organelle (Bos, Wraight, and Stanley, 1993; Humphrey et al., 1993; Wong and Hong, 1993; Ponnambalam et al., 1994; Wilde et al., 1994), and the processing enzyme furin, also a membrane-bound protein (Bosshart et al., 1994; Chapman and Munro, 1994; Mollov et al., 1994; Jones et al., 1995; Schäfer et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995; Voorhees et al., 1995). These proteins were demonstrated to have TGN-localization signals within their cytosolic tail, which resemble the internalization signals of membrane receptors. TGN38 and furin exhibit a tyrosine-based motif, consisting of the tetrapeptide Y-XX- \emptyset (\emptyset ⁼ hydrophobic amino acid). This motif is both necessary and sufficient to retrieve integral membrane proteins from the cell surface to the TGN (Trowbridge, Collawn, and Hopkins, 1993). Mutation or deletion of this signal results in loss of TGN-localization and in the accumulation of TGN38 and furin at the cell surface. In addition to the tyrosine-based motif, furin displays a di-leucine pattern, a motif which has been characterized to act as an internalization signal in other proteins than furin (Johnson and Kornfeld, 1992), and a cluster of acidic amino acids which can be phosphorylated at serines residues by a caseine kinase II (CK-II)-like enzyme. This last motif plays an important

modulatory role in the retrieval of furin to the TGN (Jones et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995). Recently, a putative Golgi-endosome sorting receptor has been cloned (Petersen et al., 1997), which presents homology to the lysosomal sorting receptors. Although this protein presents several interesting features, including a potential casein kinase II phosphorylation site, dileucine signal and tyrosine based motif, as well as an NH₂-terminal furin cleavage site, its expression pattern is restricted to certain tissues, and its exact function has not yet been established.

Soluble enzymes destined to reside in lysosomes which exit the TGN are tagged with mannose-6-phosphate residues added to N-linked oligossacharides. This signal is recognized by two specific receptors localized in the TGN (von Figura, 1991). These receptors are involved in packaging lysosomal enzymes in clathrin-coated vesicles which are late endosomes. targeted to the and then to lysosomes. Mannose-6-phosphate receptors dissociate from their cargo due to the lower pH in late endosomes, and are recycled back to the TGN (Méresse et al., 1993).

Lysosomal membrane-bound proteins (such as the mannose-6phosphate receptors) are sorted to this compartment due to the presence of signals within their cytoplasmic tails (Peters et al., 1990; Johnson and Kornfeld, 1992; Lehman et al., 1992; Mathews, Martinie and Fambrough, 1993), which also permit the recycling of these proteins from the plasma membrane or the TGN to the lysosomes. This signal can consist of a tyrosine-based motif surrounded by polar or basic residues on either side of the tyrosine (Luzio and Banting, 1993), or of adjacent leucine and/or isoleucine residues (Johnson and Kornfeld, 1992; Letourneur and Klausner, 1992). The targeting of proteins to post-Golgi compartments by these two signals has recently been demonstrated to depend on two distinct and saturable sorting mechanisms (Marks et al., 1996).

The recycling of proteins from the plasma membrane is performed through endocytosis of clathrin-coated pits. Clathrin-coated vesicles are only found to bud from the plasma membrane or TGN, and both

populations or vesicles can be involved in endocytosis. Clathrin-coats, consisting of basket-like triskelion structures formed by heavy and light clathrin chains, assemble on TGN or plasma membranes by interacting with protein complexes called adaptors. Three adaptor protein complexes (AP) have been identified. While, AP2 is associated with the plasma, AP1 is coupled with the TGN (Robinson, 1987, 1994; Ahle et al., 1988; Hunziker, Simmen and Honing, 1996; Mallet and Brodsky, 1996; Traub et al., 1996; Rapoport et al., 1997). The recently discovered AP3 adaptor is ubiquitously distributed and is not associated with clathrin, but seems to be linked to lysosomes (Dell'Angelica, 1997; Simpson et al., 1996, 1997). These adaptor complexes are heterotetramers composed of two proteins called adaptins (α and β for the plasma membrane and β' and γ for the TGN; μ 3 and β 3B). Another cytosolic component, called dynamin, facilitates the formation of coated vesicles through a GTP-GDP cycle (Hesrkovits et al., 1993; Van der Bliek et al., 1993).

Several internalization signals towards endosomes have been determined in membrane-bound receptors such as those of transferrin or low-density lipoprotein. These signals consist of a short stretch of 4 to 6 amino acids forming a tight turn (Collawn et al., 1990; Trowbridge, 1991; Gruenberg and Maxfield, 1995). Mannose-6-phosphate receptors on the other hand require the presence of a tyrosine or aromatic residue within this short amino acid cluster (Canfield et al., 1991). A novel endocytosis signal was also recently described, which resembles the KKXX ER-retrieval signal (Itin et al., 1995).

Proteins which are endocytosed are sent to the early endosomes, from which they can recycle either towards the cell surface, the TGN, or lysosomes. The clathrin-coated pits and AP2 adaptor complex proteins which perform internalization consist of a distinct population from those mediating transport between the Golgi and early endosomes, called AP1 (Trowbridge, Collawn and Hopkins, 1993; Robinson, 1994). However, tyrosine-based cytoplasmic signals which mediate recycling of integral membrane proteins in the endocytic or secretory pathway both interact with clathrin-associated proteins (Ohno et al., 1995). Other components

such as rab proteins, Arf, heterotrimeric G proteins and phosphoinositides, are also involved in the recycling of proteins through endosomes (Gruenberg and Maxfield, 1995; De Camilli et al., 1996; Kearns, et al., 1997; Martin, 1997).

In unpolarized cells, proteins without specific sorting motives are believed to be delivered by default from the TGN to the cell surface through the constitutive pathway. These proteins are released from the TGN in a steady stream, called constitutive or "bulk flow" secretion. In polarized epithelia, proteins can be released towards two different membrane surfaces which exhibit distinct cell-surface components: the apical and basolateral membranes (see Figure A-3). The apical surface is usually responsible for the epithelial-specific functions of the cell, such as nutrient absorption. In contrast, the basolateral surface membrane usually resembles that of nonpolarized cells, and is involved in the fundamental processes such as cell-surface attachment and growth. Proteins destined to reach the apical or basolateral membranes are synthesized in the ER and transported to the TGN, but are then directed to distinct cell surfaces. Additionally, proteins can be exchanged between these two surfaces by a process of internalization and endocytosis to the opposite surface, called transcytosis. During this process, apical and basolateral proteins are sorted in two distinct endosome populations. Incidentally, work with viral glycoproteins recently demonstrated that constitutively released proteins can be sorted in different vesicles in the TGN, both in polarized and non-polarized cells (Much et al., 1996). This suggests that non-polarized cells are capable of discriminating between constitutively secreted proteins before export from the TGN, implying that these cells may have the necessary machinery to differentiate apical and basolateral signals, but have not undergone transformation towards polarization.



Contrary to unpolarized cells, transport of proteins to the apical and basolateral surfaces in epithelial cells seems to rely on selective targeting mediated by specific signals instead of bulk flow delivery. One such signal is the glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor (Lisanti et al., 1989; Lisanti and Rodriguez-Boulan, 1990; Simon and Ikonen, 1997). GPI-linked proteins are enriched in the apical membrane of several epithelial cell types, and their sorting to this surface may occur by a mechanism similar to that of Golgi-membrane proteins, by selective aggregation and interaction with glycosphingolipids of the apical surface (Brown, Crise, and Rose, 1989; Simons and Wandinger-Ness, 1990; Brown and Rose, 1992; Matter and Mellman, 1994; Simons and Ikonen, 1997).

N-glycans have also been suggested to play a role as potential sorting signals of glycoproteins in epithelial cells, mostly in apical membrane sorting (Rodriguez-Boulan and Powell, 1992; Fiedler and Simons, 1995; Scheiffele, Peränen, and Simons, 1995; Ponnambalam and Banting, 1996). Additionally, a lectin-like protein isolated from purified apical vesicle populations from MDCK cells called VIP36 was suggested to play a role in the apical sorting of O-glycosylated proteins (Fiedler et al., 1994; Fiedler and Simons, 1995, 1996).

Two types of basolateral targeting motives have so far been described. The first type is a tyrosine-based signal similar to the rapid endocytosis signals of some surface receptors such as that of the LDL receptor (Brewer and Roth, 1991; Hunziker et al., 1991; Mostov et al., 1992). Similarly, deletion or mutation of a di-leucine signal in the Fc receptor causes the surface expression of this protein in MDCK to shift from basolateral to apical (Hunziker et al., 1991; Matter, Yamamoto, and Mellman, 1994), demonstrating that presence of this signal is essential for targeting to the basolateral membrane.

Another type of basolateral sorting signal was uncovered from studies of the polymeric IgA receptor (Casanova, Apodaca, and Mostov, 1991; Matlin, 1992; Mostov et al., 1992). A 17 amino acid region within the cytosolic tail of this protein bears its targeting signal to the basolateral surface.

Recently, the intracellular loop of the glucose transporter isoforms GLUT1 and GLUT5 was demonstrated to play a pivotal role in the apical/basolateral sorting of these twoproteins in the polarized CaCo2 cell line ((Inukai et al., 1997).

So far, only one signal has been positively identified as being necessary for transcytosis. The phosphorylation of a particular serine residue in the cytosolic tail of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor signals the transport of this protein to the apical surface (Casanova et al., 1990; Casanova, Apodaca, and Mostov, 1991).

Neuronal cells also display polarity by the division of their membrane in axons and dendrites. In these cells, GPI-anchored proteins such as Thy-1 are found only in axons, while viral glycoproteins, such as those of the vesicular stomatitis virus, are detected over the cell body and dendrites (Dotti and Simons, 1990; Dotti, Parton, and Simons, 1991).

Neuronal cells and some endocrine cells exhibit an additional level of complexity, by storing non-peptide neurotransmitters in synaptic vesicles. These vesicles form a regulated pathway distinct from that of secretory granules (Kelly, 1991, 1993a,b; Bennett and Scheller, 1993; Mundigl and De Camilli, 1994; Pesvner and Scheller, 1994; Südhof, 1995), and originate from a compartment continous with the plasma membrane and devoid of transferrin receptor (Schmidt, Hannah, and Huttner, 1997).

A.4 Regulated secretion

Apart from neuronal cells and some endocrine cells which display a specialized secretory pathway for non-peptide neurotransmitters, two routes exist for the release of protein products (Burgess and Kelly, 1987). All cell types possess a constitutive release pathway which, as was discussed earlier, is not subject to external stimuli regulation and permits the unrestrained flow of proteins towards the cell surface. Constitutive vesicles are small and do not possess a clathrin coat. The release of their content is not dependent on intracellular calcium concentration changes. Growth factors and integral membrane receptors follow this route to the cell surface. However, some cells, such as endocrine cells, possess another exocytosis pathway (Gumbiner and Kelly, 1982; Burgess and Kelly, 1987; Rivas and Moore, 1989). This path is called regulated, since the products conveyed through it do not flow freely towards the surface, but instead are selectively stored and accumulated into secretory granules, from which they are released upon stimulation. Regulated pathway secretion can be modulated by secretagogues such as hormones or glucose, to immediately release the granule protein stores upon reception of the appropriate physiological signal. When external stimuli provoke a transient increase in the intracellular calcium concentration, fusion of the secretory granules with the cell membrane occurs, ultimately causing the rapid discharge of their content in the extracellular space.

Some cells exhibit multiple types of secretory granules, with respect to their content. For example, the acidophilic cells of bovine pituitary have been observed to store three proteins, namely growth hormone, prolactin and secretogranin II, in three distinct kinds of secretory granules (Hashimoto et al., 1987). Another example is seen in the marine mollusk *Aplysia californica*, where distinct peptide products

arising from the proteolytic processing of a unique polypeptide precursor, the egg-laying hormone, are packed into different secretory granules which end up in opposite parts of the cell (Fisher et al., 1988; Jung and Scheller, 1991).

The membrane of secretory vesicles holds several specific proteins. Some are needed for the docking and fusion of the granules, while others are proton pumps and vacuolar ATPases which are necessary to establish and maintain the proper pH gradient across the granule membrane. Regulated secretory granules, unlike constitutive vesicles, are initially covered with a clathrin coat as they leave the TGN. At this stage, they are called immature secretory vesicles. During an enlargement process which is thought to occur through the fusion of several granules, condensation of their content and progressive acidification (Tooze and Huttner, 1990; Tooze et al., 1991; Grimes and Kelly, 1992), regulated secretory vesicles shed their clathrin coat, fuse together and become large and dense.

Although it is generally assumed that the TGN is the last "sorting station" before proteins are conveyed to the cell surface (Orci et al., 1987) either through constitutive or regulated vesicles, it has been suggested that the immature granule could also act as a sorting compartment (Arvan and Castle, 1987, 1992; Von Zastrow and Castle, 1987). During granule maturation, some constituents are excluded from the dense core of the mature granule and are released through a post-granular "constitutive-like" pathway (Arvan et al., 1991; Matsuuchi and Kelly, 1991; Kuliawat and Arvan, 1992, 1994). In normal cells, sorting of vesicular contents through this path accounts for no more than 10% of granule content. In tumor-derived cell lines however, secretion through this route can add to as much as 50% of proteins released from granules (Moore, Gumbiner, and Kelly, 1983; Matsuuchi and Kelly, 1991; Milgram, Eipper and Mains, 1994).

A.4.1 Secretory granules sorting signals

What is the molecular basis for the sorting of proteins to secretory granules? The mechanism by which proteins are selectively targeted to this path as they leave the TGN has not yet been conclusively established. While constitutively secreted proteins are thought to leave the cell by a non-selective bulk flow mechanism, peptides destined to reach secretory granules tend to aggregate in a calcium- and pH-dependent manner (Kelly, 1985; Chanat and Huttner, 1991; Ma et al., 1995). Accordingly, two mechanisms have been proposed for the sorting of proteins to secretory vesicles (Chidgey, 1993): a passive aggregation-mediated mechanism (Burgess and Kelly, 1987), and an active receptor-mediated system (Kelly, 1985). In aggregation-mediated sorting, proteins destined to the regulated secretory pathway form aggregates in the TGN which exclude other proteins destined to the constitutive pathway. It was recently demonstrated that certain prohormones aggregate in the mildly acidic conditions thought to reproduce those of the secretory granules (Colomer, Kicska, and Rindler, 1996). In the receptor-mediated sorting mechanism, specific signals present on the regulated secretory proteins are recognized by receptors which promote targeting to the regulated pathway. From the following, it will appear that these two mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and may function together.

A three-dimensional structure obtained upon comparison of different sequences, consisting mostly of relatively short NH₂-terminal stretches of polypeptide chains implicated in protein sorting to the regulated pathway, was postulated to act as a sorting signal (Kizer and Tropsha, 1991). For proteins in which the sorting signal resides in the NH₂-terminal segment, it is predicted that an alpha helical hydrophobic region will behave as the targeting motif (Gorr and Darling, 1995).

However, no definite and universal structural pattern has yet been conclusively established for the sorting of regulated secretory proteins. Some proteins exhibit sorting signals within their proregions. This is the case for several prohormones, such as POMC (Chevrier et al., 1993; Cool et al., 1995) and prosomatostatin (Sevarino et al., 1989; Stoller and Shields, 1989; Sevarino and Stork, 1991), which present several targeting signals within these regions. Secretory granule targeted membrane-bound proteins possess sorting information either within their cytosolic tail, as is the case for P-selectin (Disdier et al., 1992; Koedam et al., 1992; Subramaniam, Koedam, and Wagner, 1993; Norcott, Solari, and Cutler, 1996), or within their lumenal domain, as is seen for the amidating enzyme PAM (Milgram, Mains, and Eipper 1993, 1996). Other proteins require the presence of a particular structural motif, such as chromogranin B, the sorting of which is dependent on a unique disulfide loop (Chanat et al., 1993; Chanat, Weiss, and Huttner, 1994), while parotid-proline-rich proteins depend on their proline-rich domain for storage into secretory granules (Stahl et al., 1996). Most of these proteins, when transferred to a regulated cell type in which they are not normally expressed, will find their way to the secretory granules (Burgess, Craik, and Kelly, 1985; Moore and Kelly, 1987; Gombau and Schleef, 1994), although this is not always the case (Seethaler et al., 1991). Others, like pro-van Willebrand factor, will induce the production of the proper organelle of storage. Pro-vWF, when expressed in AtT-20 cells, does not enter ACTH-containing granules but instead induces the formation of a novel organelle with the morphological characteristics of Weibel-Palade bodies (Wagner et al., 1991). These organelles do not appear if the NH₂-terminal propeptide of vWF is deleted.

The multitude of sorting signals so far uncovered for proteins destined to the regulated secretory pathway makes the possibility of a receptor-mediated sorting mechanism less likely, although some

candidate receptor proteins have been proposed (Chung et al., 1989; Cool et al., 1997). Either an expansive number of different receptors would be necessary to sort each type of secretory protein, or if only a few receptors were indeed involved, the affinity of these receptors would need to be very broad to accommodate the multitude of targeting structures observed among secretory granule-sorted proteins. However, a recent report has claimed to have uncovered such a regulated secretory pathway receptor (Cool et al., 1997). This receptor is the membrane-associated form of carboxypeptidase E, an enzyme involved in the removal of COOHterminal basic amino acids from cleaved polypeptides. Down regulation of CPE expression using antisense RNA caused missorting of POMC to the constitutive pathway of Neuro-2a cells. In addition, Cpefat/Cpefat mice in which this gene has undergone a point mutation resulting in the rapid degradation of this protein, exhibit constitutive release of the POMC precursor in the pituitary. While the effect of decreased CPE expression on POMC missorting was demonstrated, it still remains to be established that CPE can act as a common sorting receptor towards other secretory granule targeted proteins.

A family of proteins have been show to be consistently associated with secretory granules. These acidic proteins, called granins, are calcium-binding proteins found in secretory granules of neuroendocrine cells, which tend to aggregate in the appropriate pH conditions (Huttner, Gerdes, and Rosa, 1991; Scammel, 1993; Huttner and Natori, 1995; Ozawa and Takawa, 1995). A role has been suggested for the members of the granin family in assisting the sorting of peptide hormones, by the formation of specific aggregates in the TGN. The granins initiate their aggregation in TGN (Gerdes et al., 1989; Chanat and Huttner, 1991) and the aggregates formed exclude various constitutive proteins. The granins, which are widely distributed, could nucleate an aggregation process

which would include the proteins destined for granules but would exclude constitutively secreted proteins (Tooze et al., 1993). Indeed, chromogranin B has been demonstrated to promote the sorting of POMC-derived products to secretory granules (Natori and Huttner, 1996). Additionally, the granins could be important for the interaction of granule content with the membrane during budding, as it has been demonstrated that chromogranin B strongly binds to membranes (Pimplikar and Huttner, 1992). The granins could therefore be considered as the soluble "receptors" of secretory granule proteins, which promote the aggregation and condensation process leading to sorting.

Whether aggregation- or receptor-mediated, sorting to secretory granules is pH-dependent (Moore, Gumbiner, and Kelly, 1983) and seems to require clathrin (Tooze and Tooze, 1986), although in this latter instance, the localization of proteins which travel through the constitutive pathway of yeast has also been demonstrated to be dependent on the presence of clathrin (Payne and Schekman, 1989; Seeger and Payne, 1992).

Table A-IV: Summary of know sorting signals within the exocytic pathway

میں میں بروارد صبح جماع کی است کی مانچ بالامنی امن کا نہم -	
ER	Soluble proteins and type II membrane proteins COOH-terminal KDEL
	<u>Type I membrane proteins</u> Cytoplasmic tail KKXX or KXKXX
	<u>Type II membrane proteins</u> Cytoplasmic tail RR
Golgi	<u>Type II (and possibly type I) membrane proteins</u> Transmembrane domain
TGN	<u>Type I membrane proteins</u> Cytoplasmic Y-XX-Ø, cluster of acidic amino acids, Di-leucine signal
Lysosome	<u>Soluble enzymes</u> Mannose-6-phosphate residues
	<u>Type I membrane proteins</u> Cytoplasmic tyrosine-containing sequence, Di-leucine signal
Apical surface	GPI anchor
Basolateral surface	N-glycans
	<u>Type I membrane proteins</u> Short cytoplasmic sequence resembling endocytic signal
Endoc y tosis	Type I and II membrane proteins Cytoplasmic β -turn with an essential tyrosine residue
Secretory granules	N-terminal hydrophobic alpha-helix
	Proline-rich region
	Disulfide bond and more



Rough Endoplasmic Reticulum

Figure A-4:

Sorting events at the level of the *cis*-Golgi Network and *trans*-Golgi Network, as well as recycling within endosomes.

A.5 Post-translational proteolytic maturation

Apart form the removal of the NH₂-terminal signal peptide in the endoplasmic reticulum, proteins traveling through the secretory pathway can undergo other proteolytic transformations which are initiated in the TGN and/or granules, and can even, in certain circumstances, continue in the extracellular space. For some proteins, removal of the signal peptide in the endoplasmic reticulum is the only necessary proteolytic transformation, which yields the final and mature active product. However, some other polypeptides, like prohormones, exist as intermediate inactive precursor species. These precursors require additional proteolytic conversions to yield the mature active peptides or protein.

Precursor polypeptides can undergo several late posttranslational modifications (Bennett et al., 1993). Production of a mature and active peptide usually requires that several sequential enzymatic steps are performed on the precursor polypeptide: 1) endoproteolysis at paired (or sometimes single) basic amino acids, 2) removal of the exposed basic amino acids by action of a carboxypeptidase, 3) amidation of COOH-terminal glycine residue by the α -amidating enzyme PAM, and/or acetylation of the NH₂-terminal amino acid by N-acetyl transferase, and 4) formation of NH₂-terminal pyroglutamic acid from glutamine. These modifications are usually essential for the peptides to acquire their bioactivity (see Table A-V).

For most precursor proteins, endoproteolysis occurs at basic amino acid residues which often constitute a pair. These cleavage signals have recently been demonstrated to be recognized by a family of endoproteases called proprotein convertases (PCs), which will be the discussed in detail in chapter B.

All possible pairs of basic amino acids, and sometimes monobasic amino acids, mostly arginine (Benoit, Ling, and Esch, 1987; Devi, 1991; Nakayama et al., 1992), can be cleaved at their COOH-terminal end to yield product peptides. However, proteolysis occurs most frequently at KR pairs, followed by RR and RK sequences, with relatively few cleavages at KK pairs. The recognition of these basic amino acid pairs is dependent on the primary sequence as well as on the secondary conformation of the precursor polypeptide in which they are included. It has been suggested that pairs of basic amino acids which are recognized by endopeptidases are present within a stretch of amino acid sequence predicted to form a β -turn or random coil (Rholam, Nicolas, and Cohen, 1986; Gomez et al., 1989; Harris, 1989; Paolillo et al., 1992; Brakch et al., 1993), or an omega loop (Bek and Berry, 1990). Immediate upstream and downstream amino acids can sometimes have a crucial impact on the choice of cleavage site (Watanabe et al., 1992; Bresnahan et al., 1992; Watanabe, Murakami and Nakayama, 1993; Rholam et al., 1995; Ledgerwood et al., 1996). It is also important to note that proteases mediating these processing steps are dependent on the presence of calcium and on appropriate pH conditions. Thus, the selection of a cleavage site relies not only on the physical properties of the substrate but also on those of the enzyme, and on the potential modifications undergone by these proteins under certain pH and/or calcium conditions.

Following the endoproteolytic cleavage of peptide precursors at monobasic or dibasic sites, the exposed COOH-terminal basic amino acids are removed by the action of a carboxypeptidase, such as carboxypeptidase E (CPE) also called carboxypeptidase H (CPH) (Fricker, 1991; Fricker et al., 1991). Carboxypeptidases remove the terminal basic amino acid residues without further degradation of the peptide product. The soluble CPE is present within the secretory granules of many

neuroendocrine tissues, including adrenal medulla and pituitary, while members of the carboxypeptidase family. other such as carboxypeptidase M (Tan et al., 1989), are membrane-bound and could be involved in the processing of precursors traversing the constitutive secretory pathway. The importance of carboxypeptidase actions in the generation of bioactive peptides have recently been demonstrated in a transgenic model of obesity and hyperglycemia, the Cpefat mouse (Naggert et al., 1995). In these mice, CPE is modified by a point mutation in a highly conserved region. The peptide processing efficiency of this enzyme is consecutively decreased by 60 to 90% in pancreatic islets, and this ultimately results in high levels of circulating diargynyl COOH-terminally extended insulin, which demonstrates a greatly reduced bioactivity.

The acetylation of NH₂-terminal amino acids by acetyl transferases can selectively increase or decrease peptide biological activity. For example, peptides derived from POMC can be acetylated at two sites: at the NH₂-terminal serine of α MSH, and at the NH₂-terminal tyrosine of β endorphin (Bennett, 1985; Mains et al., 1983). The analgesic properties of acetylated β endorphin are greatly reduced (Akil, Young, and Watson, 1981), while the potency of diacetylated α MSH is enhanced five-fold (Rudman et al., 1983). Additionally, an N-acetyl group can confer protection against the degradative action of aminopeptidases.

Many bioactive peptide hormones are α -amidated at their COOH-terminus. This transformation, which is performed by peptidylglycine alpha-amidating monooxygenase by the conversion of COOH-glycine residues into COOH-terminal amides (Eipper, Stoffers,

and Mains, 1992; Eipper et al., 1993), is often essential to the bioactivity and stability of these peptides.

Finally, glutaminyl cyclase formation of promotes the the cyclization pyroglutamate by of an NH₂-glutamine. This transformation can also provide some protection against aminopeptidase degradation (Pohl et al., 1991).

Table A-V: Post-translational proteolytic modifications of polypeptides

1. Endoproteolysis

2. Exoproteolysis: by Carboxypeptidases

3) NH₂ and COOH-termini modifications by:

--- a) COOH-terminal Peptidylglycine alpha-amidating monooxygenase

--- b) N-Acetyl transferase

— c) N-Glutaminyl cyclase

REFERENCES

Ahle, S., A. Mann, U. Eichelsbacher, and E. Ungewickell. 1988. Structural relationships between clathrin assembly proteins from the Golgi and the plasma membrane. *EMBO J.* 7:919-929.

Akil, H., E. Young, and S.J. Watson. 1981. Opiate binding properties of naturally occurring N- and C-terminus modified beta-endorphins *Peptides*. 2:289-292.

Amara, J.F., G. Lederkremer, and H.F. Lodish. 1989. Intracellular degradation of unassembled asialoglycoprotein receptor subunit: a pre-Golgi, non-lysosomal endoproteolytic cleavage. J. Cell Biol. 109:3315-3324.

Amara, S.G., V. Jonas, M.G. Rosenfeld, E.S. Ong, and R.M. Evans. 1982. Alternative RNA processing in calcitonin gene expression generates mRNAs encoding different polypeptide precursors. *Nature*. 298:240-244.

Arar, C., V. Carpentier, J.P. Le Caer, M. Monsigny, A. Legrand, and A.C. Roche. 1995. ERGIC-53, a membrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi intermediate compartment, is identical to MR60, an intracellular mannose-specific lectin of myelomonocytic cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270:3551-3553.

Aridor, M., and W.E. Balch. 1996. Principles of selective transport: coat complexes hold the key. *Trends Cell Biol.* 6:315-320.

Arvan, P., and J.D. Castle. 1987. Phasic release of newly synthesized secretory proteins in the unstimulated rat exocrine pancreas. J. Cell Biol. 104:243-252.

Arvan, P., and J.D. Castle. 1992. Protein sorting and secretion granule formation in regulated secretory cells. *Trends in Cell Biol.* 2:327-331.

Arvan, P., R. Kuliawat, D. Prabakaran, A.-M. Zavacki, D. Elahi, S. Wang, and D. Pilkey. 1991. Protein discharge from immature secretory granules displays both regulated and constitutive characteristics. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266:14171-14174.

Bablanian, R. 1984. Poxvirus cytopathogenicity: effects on cellular macromolecular synthesis. Compr. Virol. 19:391-429.

Baeuerle, P.A., and W.B. Huttner. 1987. Tyrosine sulfation is a *trans*-Golgi-specific protein modification. J. Cell Biol. 105:2655-2664.

Baker, D., A.K. Shiau, and D.A. Agard. 1993. The role of pro regions in protein folding. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 5:966-970.

Balch, W.E. 1990. Small GTP-binding proteins in vesicular transport. Trends Biochem. Sci. 15:473-477.

Balch, W.E., J.M. McCaffery, H. Plutner, and M.G. Farqhar. 1994. Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein is sorted and concentrated during export from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell.* 76:841-852.

Banfield, D.K., M.J. Lewis, and H.R.B. Pelham. 1995. A SNARE-like protein required for traffic through the Golgi complex. *Nature*. 375:806-809.

Barr, F.A., A. Leyte, and W.B. Huttner. 1992. Trimeric G proteins and vesicle formation. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2:91-94.

Bednarek, S.Y., M. Ravazzola, M. Hosobuchi, M. Amherdt, A. Perrelet, R. Schekman, and L. Orci. 1995. COPI and COPII-coated vesicles bud directly from the endoplasmic reticulum in yeast. *Cell*. 83:1183-1196.

Bek, E., and R. Berry. 1990. Prohormonal cleavage sites are associated with omega loops. *Biochemistry*. 29:178-183.

Bennett, H.P.J. 1985. Peptide hormone biosynthesis—Recent developments. *Recent Results in Cancer Research*. 99:34-45.

Bennett, H.P.J., A.F. Bradbury, W.B. Huttner, and D.G. Smyth. 1993. Processing of pro-peptides: glycosylation, phosphorylation, sulfation, acetylation and amidation. *In* Mechanisms of intracellular trafficking and processing of proproteins. Y. Peng Loh (ed.), CRC press, Boca Raton, FL., pp. 251-288.

Bennett, M.K. 1995. SNAREs and the specificity of transport vesicle targeting. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 7:581-586.

Bennett, M.K., and R.H. Scheller. 1993. The molecular machinery for secretion is conserved from yeast to neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 90:2559-2563.

Bennett, M.K., and R.H. Scheller. 1994. A molecular description of synaptic vesicle membrane trafficking. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 63:63-100.

Benoit, R., N. Ling, and F. Esch. 1987. A new prosomatostatin-derived peptide reveals a patters for prohormone cleavage at monobasic sites. *Science*. 238:1126-1129.

Bergeron, J.J., M.B. Brenner, D.Y. Thomas, and D.B. Williams. 1994. Calnexin: a membrane-bound chaperone of the endoplasmic reticulum. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:124-128.

Boman, A.L., and R.A. Kahn. 1995. Arf proteins: the membrane traffic police? *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20:147-150.

Bomsel, M., and K. Mostov. 1992. Role of heterotrimeric G proteins in membrane traffic. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 3:1317-1328.

Bonifacino, J.S. 1996. Reversal of fortune for nascent proteins. Nature. 384:405-406.

Bonifacino, J.S., and J. Lippincott-Schwartz. 1991. Degradation of proteins within the endoplasmic reticulum. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 3:592-600.

Bos, K., C. Wraight, and K.K. Stanley. 1993. TGN38 is maintained in the *trans*-Golgi Network by a tyrosine-containing motif in the cytoplasmic domain. *EMBO J.* 12:2219-2228.

Bosshart, H., J. Humphrey, E. Deignan, J. Davidson, J. Drazba, L. Yuan, V. Oorschot, P.J. Peters, and J. Bonifacino. 1994. The cytoplasmic domain mediates localization of furin to the *trans*-Golgi Network en route to the endosomal/lysosomal system. J. Cell Biol. 126:1157-1172.

Brakch, N., M. Rholam, H. Bousetta, and P. Cohen. 1993. Role of the β -turn in proteolytic processing of peptide hormone precursors at dibasic sites. *Biochemistry*. 32:4925-4930.

Bresnahan, P.A., J.S. Hayflick, S.S. Molloy, and G. Thomas. 1992. Endoproteolysis of growth factors and other nonendocrine precursor proteins. *In* Mechanisms of intracellular trafficking and processing of proproteins. Y. Peng Loh (ed.), CRC press, Boca Raton, FL., pp. 225-250.

Bretscher, M.S., and S. Munro. 1993. Cholesterol and the Golgi apparatus. Science. 261:1280-1281.

Brewer, C.B., and M.G. Roth. 1991. A single amino acid change in the cytoplasmic domain alters the polarized delivery of influenza virus hemagglutinin. *J. Cell Biol.* 114:413-421.

Brown, D.A., and J.K. Rose. 1992. Sorting of GPI-linked proteins to glycolipid-enriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical surface. *Cell.* 68:533-544.

Brown, D.A., B. Crise, and J.K. Rose. 1989. Mechanism of membrane anchoring affects polarized expression of two proteins in MDCK cells. *Science*. 245:1499-1501.

Buchner, J. 1996. Supervising the fold: functional principles of molecular chaperones. *FASEB J.* 10:10-19.

Burgess, T.L., and R.B. Kelly. 1987. Constitutive and regulated secretion of proteins. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 3:243-293.

Burgess, T.L., C.S. Craik, and R.B. Kelly. 1985. The exocrine protein trypsinogen is targeted into the secretory granules of an endocrine cell line: studies by gene transfer. *J. Cell Biol.* 101:639-645.

Canfield, W.M., K.F. Johnson, R.D. Ye, W. Gregory, and S. Kornfeld. 1991. Localization of the signal for rapid internalization of the bovine cation-independent mannose-6-phosphate/IGF-II receptor to amino acids 24 to 29 of the cytoplasmic tail. J. Biol. Chem. 266:5682-5688.

Casanova, J.E., G. Apodaca, and K.E. Mostov. 1991. An autonomous signal for basolateral sorting in the cytoplasmic domain of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor. *Cell*. 66:65-75.

Casanova, J.E., P.P. Breitfeld, S.A. Ross, and K.E. Mostov. 1990. Phosphorylation of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor required for its efficient transcytosis. *Science*. 248:742-745.

Cavenagh, M.M., J.A. Whitney, K. Carroll, C.-J. Zhang, A.L. Boman, A.G. Rosenwald, I. Mellman, and R.A. Khan. 1996. Intracellular distribution of Arf proteins in mammalian cells. Arf6 is uniquely localized to the plasma membrane. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:21767-21774.

Chanat, E., and W.B. Huttner. 1991. Milieu-induced, selective aggregation of regulated secretory proteins in the *trans*-Golgi network. J. Cell Biol. 6:1505-1519.

Chanat, E., U. Weiss, and W.B. Huttner. 1994. The disulfide bond in chromogranin B, which is essential for its sorting to secretory granules, is not required for its aggregation in the *trans*-Golgi Network. *FEBS Lett.* 351:225-230.

Chanat, E., U. Weiss, W.B. Huttner, and S.A. Tooze. 1993. Reduction of the disulfide bond in chromogranin B (secretogranin I) in the *trans*-Golgi Network causes its missorting to the constitutive secretory pathway. *EMBO J.* 12:2159-2168.

Chapman, R.E., and S. Munro. 1994. Retrieval of TGN proteins from the cell surface requires endosomal acidification. *EMBO J.* 13:2305-2312.

Chavrier, P., J.P. Gorvel, E. Stelzer, K. Simons, J. Gruenberg, and M. Zerial. 1991. Hypervariable C-terminal domain of Rab proteins acts as a targeting signal. *Nature*. 353:769-772.

Chevrier, D., H. Fournier, C. Nault, M. Zollinger, P. Crine, and G. Boileau. 1993. Targeting of proopiomelanocortin to the regulated secretory pathway may involve cooperation between different protein domains. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 94:213-221.

Chidgey, M.A.J. 1993. Protein targeting to dense-core secretory granules. *Bioessays*. 15:317-321.

Chung, K.-N., P. Walter, G.W. Aponte, and H.-P. Moore. 1989. Molecular sorting in the secretory pathway. *Science*. 243:192-197.

Collawn, J.F., M. Stangel, L.A. Kuhn, V. Esekogwu, S.Q. Jing, I.S. Trowbridge, and J.A. Tanner. 1990. Transferrin receptor internalization sequence YXRF implicates a tight turn as the structural recognition motif for endocytosis. *Cell.* 63:1061-1072.

Colomer, V., G.A. Kicska, and M.J. Rindler. 1996. Secretory granule content proteins and the lumenal domains of granule membrane proteins aggregate in vitro in mildly acidic pH. J. Biol. Chem. 271:48-55.

Cool, D.R., M. Fenger, C.R. Snell, and Y.P. Loh. 1995. Identification of the sorting signal motif within proopiomelanocortin for the regulated secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 270:8723-8729.

Cool, D.R., E. Normant, F.-S. Shen, H.-C. Chen, L. Pannell, Y. Zhang, and Y.P. Loh. 1997. Carboxypeptidase E is a regulated secretory pathway sorting receptor: genetic obliteration leads to endocrine disorders in Cpe^{fat} mice. *Cell.* 88:73-83.

Cosson, P., and F. Letourneur. 1994. Coatamer interaction with di-lysine endoplasmic reticulum retention motifs. *Science* 263:1629-1631.
Creemers, J.W.M., E.F. Usac, N.A. Bright, J.-W. Van de Loo, E. Jansen, W.J.M. Van de Ven, and J.C. Hutton. 1996. Identification of a transferable sorting domain for the regulated pathway in the prohormone convertase PC2. J. Biol. Chem. 271:25284-25291.

Cudmore, S., P. Cossart, G. Griffiths, and M. Way. 1995. Actin-based motility of vaccinia virus. *Nature*. 378:636-638.

De Camilli, P., S.D. Emr, P.S. McPherson, and P. Novick. 1996. Phosphoinositides as regulators in membrane traffic. *Science*. 271:1533-1539.

Dell'Angelica, E., H. Ohno, C.E. Ooi, E. Rabinovich, K.W. Roche and J.S. Bonifacino. 1997. AP-3: an adaptor-like protein complex with ubiquitous expression. *EMBO J.* 16:917-928.

Devi, L. 1991. Consensus sequence for processing of peptide precursors at monobasic sites. *FEBS. Lett.* 280:189-194.

Disdier, M., J.H. Morrissey, R.D. Fugate, D.F. Bainton, and R.P. McEver. 1992. Cytoplasmic domain of P-selectin (CD62) contains the signal for sorting into the regulated secretory pathway. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 3:309-321.

Donaldson, J.G. and R.D. Klausner. 1994. Arf: a key regulatory switch in membrane traffic and organelle structure. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 6:527-532.

Donaldson, J.G., J. Lippincott-Schwartz, G.S. Bloom, T.E. Kreis, and R.D. Klausner. 1990. Dissociation of the 110 kDa peripheral membrane protein from the Golgi apparatus is an early event in brefeldin A action. J. Cell Biol. 111:2295-2306.

Dotti, C.G., and K. Simons. 1990. Polarized sorting of viral glycoproteins to the axons and dendrites of hippocampal neurons in culture. *Cell.* 62:63-72.

Dotti, C.G., R.G. Parton, and K. Simons. 1991. Polarized sorting of glypiated proteins in hippocampal neurons. *Nature*. 349:158-161.

Dunphy, W.G., and J.E. Rothman. 1985. Compartmental organization of the Golgi stacks. *Cell*. 42:13-21.

Eipper, B.A., V. May, E.I. Cullen, S.M. Sato, A.S.N. Murthy, and R.E. Mains. 1987. Cotranslational and posttranslational processing in the production of bioactive peptides. *In* Psychopharmacology: The third generation of progress. H.Y. Meltzer (ed.), Raven Press, N.Y., pp. 385-400.

Eipper, B.A., D.A. Stoffers, and R.E. Mains. 1992. The biosynthesis of neuropeptides: peptide α -amidation. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 15:57-85.

Eipper, B.A., S.L. Milgram, E.J. Husten, H.-Y. Yun, and R.E. Mains. 1993. Peptidylglycine α -amidating monooxygenase: a multifunctional protein with catalytic, processing and routing domains. *Pro. Sci.* 2:489-497.

Elazar, Z., L. Orci, J. Ostermann, M. Amherdt, G. Tanigawa, and J.E. Rothman. 1994. ADP-ribosylation factor and coatamer couple fusion to vesicle budding. *J. Cell Biol.* 124:415-424.

Farqhar, M.G. 1985. Progress in unraveling pathways of Golgi traffic. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 1:447-488.

Ferguson, MAJ. 1992. Glycosyl-phosphoinositol membrane anchors: the tale of a tail. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 20:243-256.

Fiedler, K., and K. Simons. 1995. The role of N-glycans in the secretory pathway. *Cell.* 81:309-312.

Fiedler, K., and K. Simons. 1996. Characterization of VIP36, an animal lectin homologous to leguminous lectins. J. Cell Sci. 109:271-276.

Fiedler, K., R.G. Parton, R. Kellner, T. Etzold, and K. Simons. 1994. VIP36, a novel component of glycolipid rafts and exocytic carrier vesicles in epithelial cells. *EMBO J.* 13:1729-1740.

Fisher, J.M., W. Sossin, R. Newcomb, and R.H. Scheller. 1988. Multiple neuropeptides derived from a common precursor are differentially packaged and transported. *Cell*. 54:813-822.

Fricker, L.D. 1991. Peptide processing exopeptidases: amino- and carboxypeptidases involved with peptide biosynthesis. *In* Peptide biosynthesis and processing. L.D. Fricker, (ed.), CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL., pp. 199-228.

Fricker, L.D., B. Das, R.S. Klein, D. Greene, and Y.-K. Jung. 1991. Regulation of carboxypeptidase E (enkephalin convertase). *NIDA Res. Monograph.* 111:171-187.

Garrett, J.E., M.W. Collard, and J.O. Douglass. 1989. Translational control of germ cell-expressed mRNA imposed by alternative splicing: opioid peptide gene expression in rat testis. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 9:4381-4389.

Gerdes, H.-H., P. Rosa, E. Phillips, P.A. Bauerle, R. Frank, P. Argos, and W.B. Huttner. 1989. The primary structure of human secretogranin II, a widespread tyrosine-sulfated secretory granule protein that exhibits low pH- and calcium-induced aggregation. J. Biol. Chem. 264:12009-12015.

Gething, M.-J., and J. Sambrook. 1992. Protein folding in the cell. Nature. 355:33-45.

Goda, Y. 1997. SNAREs and regulated vesicle exocytosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 94:769-772.

Gombau, L., and R.R. Schleef. 1994. Processing of type I plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1) into the regulated secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 269:3875-3880.

Gomez, S., G. Boileau, L. Zollinger, C. Nault, M. Rholam, and P. Cohen. 1989. Site-specific mutagenesis identifies amino acid residues critical in prohormone processing. *EMBO J.* 8:2911-2916.

Gorr, S.U., and D.S. Darling. 1995. An N-terminal hydrophobic peak is the sorting signal of regulated secretory proteins. *FEBS Lett.* 361:8-12.

Griffiths, G., and K. Simons. 1986. The *trans*-Golgi Network: sorting at the exit site of the Golgi complex. *Science*. 234:438-443.

Grimes, M., and R.B. Kelly. 1992. Intermediates in the constitutive and regulated pathways released in vitro from semi-intact cells. J. Cell Biol. 117:539-549.

Gruenberg, J. and F.R. Maxfield. 1995. Membrane transport in the endocytic pathway. Cur. Op. Cell Biol. 7:552-563.

Gumbiner, B., and R.B. Kelly. 1982. Two distinct intracellular pathways transport secretory and membrane glycoproteins to the surface of pituitary tumor cells. *Cell*. 28:51-59.

Hammond, C., and A. Helenius. 1995. Quality control in the secretory pathway. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 7:523-529.

Harris, R.B. 1989. Processing of pro-hormones precursor proteins. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 275:315-333.

Hart, G.W. 1992. Glycosylation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 4:1017-1023.

Harter, C., and W. Wieland 1996. The secretory pathway: mechanisms of protein sorting and transport. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta.* 1286:75-93.

Hashimoto, S., G. Fumagalli, A. Zanini, and J. Meldolesi. 1987. Sorting of three secretory proteins to distinct secretory granules in acidophilic cells of cow anterior pituitary. *J. Cell Biol.* 105:1579-1586.

Hatsuzawa, K., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1992. Molecular and enzymatic properties of furin, a Kex2-like endoprotease involved in precursor cleavage at Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg sites. J. Biochem. 111:296-301.

Hauri, H.-P., and A. Schweizer. 1992. The endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi intermediate compartment. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 4:600-608.

Hebert, D.N., B. Foellmer, and A. Helenius. 1995. Glucose trimming and reglucosylation determine glycoprotein association with calnexin in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell*. 81:425-433.

Helenius, A., T. Marquart, and I. Braakman. 1992. The endoplasmic reticulum as a protein folding compartment. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2:227-231.

Hendrick, J.P., and Hartl, F.-U. 1995. The role of molecular chaperones in protein folding. *FASEB J.* 9:1559-1569.

Hesrkovits, J.S., C.C. Burgess, R.A. Obar, and R.B. Vallee. 1993. Effects of mutant rat dynamin on endocytosis. J. Cell Biol. 122:565-578.

Hicke, L., T. Yoshihisa, and R. Schekman. 1992. Sec23p and a novel 105 kDa protein function as a multimeric complex to promote vesicle budding and protein transport from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 3:667-676.

Hodges, D., and S.I. Bernstein. 1994. Genetic and biochemical analysis of alternative RNA splicing. Adv. Gen. 31:207-281.

Humphrey, J.S., P.J. Peters, L.C. Yuan, and J.S. Bonifacino. 1993. Localization of TGN38 to the *trans*-Golgi Network: involvement of a cytoplasmic tyrosine-containing sequence. *J. Cell Biol.* 120:1123-1135.

Hunziker, W., C. Harter, K. Matter, and I. Mellman. 1991. Basolateral sorting in MDCK cells requires a distinct cytoplasmic domain determinant. *Cell*. 66:907-920.

Hunziker, W., T. Simmen, and S. Honing. 1996. Trafficking of lysosomal membrane proteins in polarized epithelial cells. *Nephrologie*. 17:347-350.

Huttner, W.B., and S. Natori. 1995. Helper proteins for neuroendocrine secretion. *Curr. Biol.* 5:242-245.

Huttner, W.B., H.-H. Gerdes, and P. Rosa. 1991. Regulated Secretion. The granin (chromogranin/secretogranin) family. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 16:27-30.

Hsu, V.W., L.C. Yuan, J.G. Nuchtern, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, G.J. Hammerling, and R.D. Klausner. 1991. A recycling pathway between the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus for retention of unassembled MHC class I molecules. *Nature*. 352:441-444.

Inukai, K., K. Takata, T. Asano, H. Katagiri, H. Ishihara, M. Nakazaki, Y. Fukushima, Y. Yazaki, M. Kikuchi, and Y. Oka. 1997. Targeting of GLUT1-GLUT5 chimeric proteins in the polarized cell line CaCo2. *Mol. Endocrin.* 11:442-449.

Itin, C., F. Kappeler, A.D. Linstedt, and H.-P., Hauri. 1995. A novel endocytosis signal related to the KKXX ER-retrieval signal. *EMBO J.* 14:2250-2256.

Itin, C., A.C. Roche, M. Monsigny, and H.-P., Hauri. 1996. ERGIC-53 is a functional mannose-selective and calcium-dependent human homologue of leguminous lectins. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 7:483-493.

Jackson, M.R., T. Nilsson, and P.A. Peterson. 1993. Retrieval of transmembrane proteins to the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Cell Biol. 121:317-333.

Jentoft, N. 1990. Why are proteins O-glycosylated? Trends Biochem. Sci. 15:291-294.

Johnson, K.F., and S. Kornfeld. 1992. The cytoplasmic tail of the mannose-6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor-II receptor has two signals for lysosomal enzyme sorting in the Golgi. J. Cell Biol. 119:249-257.

Jones, B.G., L. Thomas, S.S. Molloy, C.D. Thulin, M.D. Fry, K.A. Walsh, and G. Thomas. 1995. Intracellular trafficking of furin is modulated by the phosphorylation state of a casein kinase II site in its cytoplasmic tail. *EMBO J.* 14:5869-5883.

Jung, L.J., and R.H. Scheller. 1991. Peptide processing and targeting in the neuronal secretory pathway. *Science*. 251:1330-1335.

Kahn, R.A., F.G. Kern, J. Clark, E.P. Gelmann, and C. Rulka. 1991. Human ADP-ribosylation factors. A functionally conserved family of GTP-binding proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 266:2606-2614.

Kearns, B.G., T.P. McGee, P. Mayinger, A. Gedvilaite, S.E. Phillips, S. Kagiwada, and V.A. Bankaitis. 1997. Essential role for diacylglycerol in protein transport from the yeast Golgi complex. *Nature*. 387:101-105.

Kelly, R.B. 1985. Pathways of protein secretion in eucaryotes. Science. 230:25-32.

Kelly, R.B. 1991. Secretory granule and synaptic vesicle formation. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 3:654-660.

Kelly, R.B. 1993a. Storage and release of neurotransmitters. Cell. (suppl.) 72:43-53.

Kelly, R.B. 1993b. Much ado about docking. Curr. Biol. 3:474-476.

Kiefer, M.C., J.E. Tucker, R. Joh, K.E. Landsberg, D. Saltman, and P.J. Barr. 1991. Identification of a second human subtilisin-like protease gene in the *fes/fps* region of chromosome 15. *DNA Cell Biol*. 10:757-769.

Kizer, J.S., and A. Tropsha. 1991. A motif found in propeptides and prohormones that may target them to secretory vesicles. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 174:586-592.

Klausner, R.D., J.G. Donaldson, and J. Lippincott-Schwartz. 1992. Brefeldin A: Insights into the control of membrane traffic and organelle structure. J. Cell Biol. 116:1071-1080.

Koedam, J.A., E.M. Cramer, E. Briend, B. Furie, B.C. Furie, and D.D. Wagner. 1992. P-selectin, a granule membrane protein of platelets and endothelial cells, follows the regulated secretory pathway in AtT-20 cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 116:617-25.

Kornfeld, R., and S. Kornfeld. 1985. Assembly of asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 54:631-664.

Kreis, T.E., and R. Pepperkok. 1994. Coat proteins in intracellular membrane transport. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 6:533-537.

Kuge, O., C. Dascher, L. Orci, T. Rowe, M. Amherdt, H. Plutner, M. Ravazzola, G. Tanigawa, J.E. Rothman, and W.E. Balch. 1994. Sarl promotes vesicle budding from the endoplasmic reticulum but not Golgi compartments. J. Cell Biol. 125:51-65.

Kuliawat, R., and P. Arvan. 1992. Protein targeting via the "constitutive-like" secretory pathway in isolated pancreatic islets: passive sorting in the immature granule compartment. J. Cell Biol. 118:521-529.

Kuliawat, R., and P. Arvan. 1994. Distinct molecular mechanisms for protein sorting within immature secretory granules of pancreatic β -cells. J. Cell Biol. 126:77-86.

Kopito, R.R. 1997. ER quality control: the cytoplasmic connection. Cell. 88:427-430.

Ladinsky, M.S., J.R. Kremer, P.S. Furcinitti, J.R. McIntosh, and K.E. Howell. 1994. HVEM tomography of the *trans*-Golgi Network: structural insights and identification of a lace-like vesicle coat. J. Cell Biol. 127:29-38.

Landry, S.J., and L.M. Gierasch. 1991. Recognition of nascent polypeptides for targeting and folding. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 16:159-163.

Lasa-Benito, M., O. Marin, F. Meggio, and L.A. Pinna. 1996. Golgi apparatus mammary gland casein kinase: monitoring by a specific peptide substrate and definition of specificity determinants. *FEBS Lett.* 382:149-152.

Lasa, M., O. Marin, and L.A. Pinna. 1997. Rat liver Golgi apparatus contains a protein kinase similar to the casein kinase of lactating mammary gland. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 243:719-725.

Lazzarino, D.A, and C.A. Gabel. 1988. Biosynthesis of the mannose 6-phosphate recognition marker in transport-impaired mouse lymphoma cells. Demonstration of a two-step phosphorylation. *J Biol. Chem.* 263:10118-10126.

Ledgerwood, E.C., S.O. Brennan, N.P. Birch and P.M. George. 1996. The specificity of the neuroendocrine convertase PC3 is determined by residues NH2- and COOH-terminal to the cleavage site. *Biochem. Mol. Biol. Intl.* 39:1167-1176.

Lehmann, L.E., W. Eberle, S. Krull, V. Prill, B. Schmidt, C. Sander, K. von Figura, and C. Peters. 1992. The internalization signal in the cytoplasmic tail of lysosomal acid phosphatase consists of the hexapeptide PGYRHV. *EMBO J.* 11:4391-4399.

Lennarz, W.J. 1987. Protein glycosylation in the endoplasmic reticulum: current topological issues. *Biochemistry*. 26:7206-7210.

Letourneur, F., and R.D. Klausner. 1992. A novel di-leucine motif and a tyrosine-based motif independently mediate lysosomal targeting and endocytosis of CD3 chains. *Cell*. 69:1143-1157.

Letourneur, F., E.C. Gaynor, S. Hennecke, C. Demoliere, R. Duden, S.D. Emr, H. Riezman, and P. Cosson. 1994. Coatamer is essential for retrieval of dilysine-tagged proteins to the ER. *Cell*. 79:1199-1207.

Lewis, M.J., and H.R. Pelham. 1990. A human homologue of the yeast HDEL receptor. *Nature*. 348:162-163.

Lewis, M.J., and H.R. Pelham. 1996. SNARE-mediated retrograde traffic from the Golgi complex to the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell*. 85:205-215.

Lewis, M.J., D.J. Sweet, and H.R. Pelham. 1990. The ERD2 gene determines the specificity of the lumenal ER protein retention system. *Cell*. 61:1359-1363.

Leyte, A., F.A. Barr, R.H. Kelhenbach, and W.B. Huttner. 1992. Multiple trimeric G-proteins on the *trans*-Golgi Network exert stimulatory and inhibitory effects on secretory vesicle formation. *EMBO J.* 11:4795-4804.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., J.S. Bonifacino, L.C. Yuan, and R.D. Klausner. 1988. Degradation from the endoplasmic reticulum: disposing of newly synthesized proteins. *Cell*. 54:209-220.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., L.C. Yuan, J.S. Bonifacino, and R.D. Klausner. 1989. Rapid redistribution of Golgi proteins into the ER in cells treated with brefeldin A: evidence for membrane cycling from Golgi to ER. *Cell*. 56:801-813.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., J.G. Donaldson, A. Schweizer, E.G. Berger, H.-P. Hauri, L.C. Yuan, and R.D. Klausner. 1990. Microtubule-dependent retrograde transport of proteins into the ER in the presence of brefeldin A suggests an ER recycling pathway. *Cell.* 60:821-836.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., L. Yuan, C. Tipper, M. Amherdt, L. Orci, and R.D. Klausner. 1991. Brefeldin A's effects on endosomes, lysosomes, and the TGN suggest a general mechanism for regulating organelle structure and membrane traffic. *Cell*. 67:601-616.

Lisanti, M.P., and E. Rodriguez-Boulan. 1990. Glycophospholipid membrane anchoring provides clues to the mechanism of protein sorting in epithelial cells. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 15:113-118.

Lisanti, M.P., I.W. Caras, M.A. Davitz, and E. Rodriguez-Boulan. 1989. A glycophospholipid membrane anchor acts as an apical targeting signal in epithelial cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 109:2145-2156.

Lupashin, V.V., and G. Waters. 1997. t-SNARE activation through transient interaction with a Rab-like guanosine triphosphatase. *Science*. 276:1255-1258.

Lusson, J., D. Vieau, J. Hamelin, R. Day, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1993. cDNA structure of the mouse and rat subtilisin/kexin-like PC5: a candidate proprotein convertase expressed in endocrine and nonendocrine cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 90:6691-6695.

Luzio, J.P., and G. Banting. 1993. Eukaryotic membrane traffic: retrieval and retention mechanisms to achieve organelle residence. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 18:395-398.

Ma, Y.H., P. Lores, J. Wang, J. Jami, and G.M. Grodsky. 1995. Constitutive (pro)insulin release from pancreas of transgenic mice expressing monomeric insulin. *Endocrinology*. 136:2622-2630.

Machamer, C.E. 1991. Golgi retention signals: do membranes hold the key? *Trends Cell Biol.* 1:141-144.

Machamer, C.E. 1993. Targeting and retention of Golgi membrane proteins. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 5:606-612.

Mains, R.E., B.A. Eipper, C.C. Glembotski, and R.M. Dores. 1983. Strategies for the biosynthesis of bioactive peptides. *Trends Neurosci.* 6:229-235.

Mains, R.E., I.M. Dickerson, V. May, D.A. Stoffers, S.N. Perkins, L. Ouafik, E.J. Husten, and B.A. Eipper. 1990. Cellular and molecular aspects of peptide hormone biosynthesis. *Front. Neuroendocr.* 11:52-89.

Mallet, W.G., and F.M. Brodsky. 1996. A membrane-associated protein complex with selective binding to the clathrin coat adaptor AP1. J. Cell Sci. 109:3059-3068.

Maniatis, T. 1991. Mechanisms of alternative pre-mRNA splicing. Science. 251:33-34.

Marks, M.S., L. Woodruff, H. Ohno, and J.S. Bonifacino. 1996. Protein targeting by Tyrosine- and Di-leucine-based signals: evidence for distinct saturable components. *J Cell Biol*. 135:341-354.

Martin, J., and F.-U. Hartl. 1994. Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. *Bioessays.* 16:689-692.

Martin, T.F.J. 1997. Greasing the Golgi budding machine. Nature. 387:21-22.

Mathews, P.M., J.B. Martinie, and D.M. Fambrough. 1992. The pathway and targeting for delivery of the integral membrane glycoprotein LEP100 to lysosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 118:1027-1040.

Matlin, K.S. 1992. W(h)ither default? Sorting and polarization in epithelial cells. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 4:623-628.

Matlin, K.S., and K. Simons. 1983. Reduced temperature prevents transfer of a membrane glycoprotein to the cell surface but does not prevent terminal glycosylation. *Cell*. 34:233-243.

Matsuuchi, L., and R.B. Kelly. 1991. Constitutive and basal secretion from the endocrine cell line AtT-20. J. Cell Biol. 112:843-852.

Matter, K., and I. Mellman. 1994. Mechanisms of cell polarity: sorting and transport in epithelial cells. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 6:545-554.

Matter, K., E.M. Yamamoto, and I. Mellman. 1994. Structural requirements and sequence motifs for the polarized sorting and endocytosis of LDL and Fc receptors in MDCK cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 126:991-1004.

Mbikay, M., M.I. Raffin-Sanson, H. Tadros, F. Sirois, N.G. Seidah, and M. Chrétien. 1994. Structure of the gene for the testis-specific proprotein convertase 4 and its alternative messenger RNA isoforms. *Genomics.* 20:231-237.

Mbikay, M., N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and E.M. Simpson. 1995. Chromosomal assignment of the genes for proprotein convertases PC4, PC5, and PACE4 in mouse and human. *Genomics.* 26:123-129.

Melançon, P. 1993. G whizz. Curr. Biol. 3:230-233.

Melançon, P., B.S. Glick, V, Malhotra, P.J. Weldman, T. Serafini, M.L. Gleason, L. Orci, and J.E. Rothman. 1987. Involvement of GTP-binding "G" proteins in transport through the Golgi stacks. *Cell*. 51:1053-1062.

Mellman, I. 1995. Enigma variations: protein mediators of membrane fusion. Cell. 82:869-872.

Mellman, I., and K. Simons. 1992. The Golgi complex: in vitro veritas? Cell. 68:829-840.

Méresse, S., U. Bauer, T. Ludwig, F. Mauxion, A. Schmidt, and B. Hoflack. 1993. Bases moléculaires du transport vers les lysosomes. *Médecine/sciences* 2:148-156.

Milgram, S.L., R.E. Mains, and B.A. Eipper. 1993. COOH-terminal signals mediate the trafficking of a peptide processing enzyme in endocrine cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 121:23-36.

Milgram, S., B.A. Eipper, and R.E. Mains. 1994. Differential trafficking of soluble and integral membrane secretory granule-associated proteins. J. Cell Biol. 124:33-41.

Milgram, S.L., R.E. Mains, and B.A. Eipper. 1996. Identification of routing determinants in the cytosolic domain of a secretory granule-associated integral membrane protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:17526-17535.

Millman, J.S., and D.W. Andrews. 1997. Switching the model: a concerted mechanism for GTPases in protein targeting. *Cell*. 89:673-676.

Miesenböck, G., and J.E. Rothman. 1995. The capacity to retrieve escaped ER proteins extends to the *trans*-most cisterna of the Golgi stack. J. Cell Biol. 129:309-319.

Molloy, S.S., L. Thomas, J.K. VanSlyke, P.E. Stenberg, and G. Thomas. 1994. Intracellular trafficking and activation of the furin proprotein convertase: localization to the TGN and recycling from the cell surface. *EMBO J.* 13:18-33.

Moore, H.-P., and R.B. Kelly. 1985. Secretory protein targeting in a pituitary cell line: differential transport of foreign secretory proteins to distinct secretory pathway. J. Cell Biol. 10:1773-1781.

Moore, H.-P., B. Gumbiner, and R.B. Kelly. 1983. Chloroquine diverts ACTH from a regulated to a constitutive pathway in AtT-20 cells. *Nature*. 302:434-436.

Moore, D.D., M.D. Walker, D.J. Diamond, M.A. Conkling, and H.M. Goodman. 1982. Structure, expression and evolution of growth hormone gene. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.* 38:197-225.

Mostov, K., G. Apodaca, B. Aroeti, and C. Okamoto. 1992. Plasma membrane protein sorting in polarized epithelial cells. J. Cell Biol. 116:577-583.

Mothes, W., S.U. Heinrich, R. Graf, I. Nilsson, G. von Heijne, J. Brunner, and T.A. Rapoport. 1997. Molecular mechanism of membrane protein integration into the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell*. 89:523-533.

Much, A., H. Xu, D. Shields, and E. Rodriguez-Boulan. 1996. Transport of vesicular stomatitis virus G protein to the cell surface is signal mediated in polarized and non-polarized cells. J. Cell Biol. 133:543-558.

Mundigl, O., and P. De Camilli. 1994. Formation of synaptic vesicles. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 6:561-567.

Munro, S. 1991. Sequences within and adjacent to the transmembrane segment of α -2,6-sialyltransferase specify Golgi retention. *EMBO J.* 10:3577-3588.

Munro, S. 1995. An investigation of the role of transmembrane domains in Golgi protein retention. *EMBO J.* 14:4695-4704.

Munro, S., and H.R.B. Pelham. 1987. A C-terminal signal prevents secretion of lumenal ER proteins. *Cell.* 48:899-907.

Naggert, J.K., L.D. Fricker, O. Varleimov, P.M. Nishina, Y. Rouillé, D.F. Steiner, R.J. Carroll, B.J. Paigen, and E.H. Leiter. 1995. Hyperproinsulinemia in obese *fat/fat* mice is associated carboxypeptidase E mutation which reduces enzyme activity. *Nature Genet*. 10:135-142.

Nakagawa, T., M. Hosaka, S. Torii, T. Watanabe, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993a. Identification of a new member of the mammalian Kex2-like processing endoprotease family: its striking structural similarity to PACE4. J. Biochem. 113:132-135.

Nakagawa, T., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993b. Identification of an isoform with an extremely large Cys-rich region of PC6, a Kex2-like processing endoprotease. *FEBS Lett*. 327:165-171.

Nakayama, K., T. Watanabe, T. Nakagawa, W.-S. Kim, M. Nagahama, M. Hosaka, K. Hatsuzawa, K. Kondoh-Hashiba, and K. Murakami. 1992. Consensus sequence for precursor processing at monoarginyl site. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:16335-16340.

Natori, S. ,and W.B. Huttner. 1996. Chromogranin B (secretogranin I) promotes sorting to the regulated secretory pathway of processing intermediates derived from a peptide hormone precursor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:4431-4436.

Nauseef, W.M., S.J. McCormick, and R.A. Clark. 1995. Calreticulin functions as a molecular chaperone in the biosynthesis of myeloperoxidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:4741-4747.

Newman, A.J. 1994. Pre-mRNA splicing. Curr. Op. Gen. Dev. 4:298-304.

Ng, D.T.W., J.D. Brown, and P. Walter. 1996. Signal sequences specify the targeting route to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. J. Cell Biol. 134:269-278.

Nichols, B.J., C. Ungermann, H.R.B. Pelham, W.T. Wickner, and A. Haas. 1997. Homotypic vacuolar fusion mediated by t- and v- SNAREs. *Nature*. 387:199-202.

Nilsson, T., and G. Warren. 1994. Retention and retrieval in the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 6:517-521.

Nilsson, T., M. Pypaert, M.H. Hoe, P. Slusarewicz, E.G. Berger, and G. Warren. 1993. Overlapping distribution of two glcosyltransferases in the Golgi apparatus of HeLa cells. J. Cell Biol. 120:5-13.

Nilsson, T., M.H. Hoe, P. Slusarewicz, C. Rabouille, R. Watson, F. Hunte, G. Watzele, E.G. Berger, and G. Warren. 1994. Kin recognition between *medial* Golgi enzymes in HeLa cells. *EMBO J.* 13:562-574.

Norcott, J.P., R. Solari, and D.F. Cutler. 1996. Targeting of P-selectin to two regulated secretory organelles in PC12 cells. J. Cell Biol. 134:1229-1240.

Novick, P., and P. Brennwald. 1993. Friends and family: the role of the rab GTPases in vesicular traffic. *Cell.* 75:597-601.

Ohashi, M., and W.B. Huttner. 1994. An elevation of cytosolic protein phosphorylation modulates trimeric G-protein regulation of secretory granule formation form the *trans*-Golgi Network. J. Biol. Chem. 269:24897-24905.

Ohno, H., J. Stewart, M.-C. Fournier, H. Bosshart, I. Rhee, S. Miyatake, T. Saito, A. Gallusser, T. Kirchhausen, and J.S. Bonifacino. 1995. Interaction of tyrosine-based sorting signals with clathrin-associated proteins. *Science*. 269:1872-1875.

Olden, K., J.B. Parent, and S.L. White. 1982. Carbohydrate moieties of glycoproteins. A re-evaluation of their function. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta*. 650:209-232.

Orci, L., M. Ravazzola, M. Amherdt, A. Perrelet, S.K. Powell, D.L. Quinn, and H.-P.H. Moore. 1987. The *trans*-most cisternae of the Golgi complex: a compartment for sorting of secretory and plasma membrane proteins. *Cell*. 51:1039-1051.

Orci, L., M. Ravazzola, P. Meda, C. Holcomb, H.-P.H. Moore, L. Hicke, and R. Schekman. 1991a. Mammalian Sec23p homologue is restricted to the endoplasmic reticulum transitional cytoplasm. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:8611-8615.

Orci, L., M. Tagaya, M. Amherdt, A. Perrelet, J.G. Donaldson, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, R.D. Klausner, and J.E. Rothman. 1991b. Brefeldin A, a drug that blocks secretion, prevents the assembly of non-clathrin-coated buds on Golgi cisternae. *Cell*. 64:1183-1195.

Orci, L., A. Perrelet, M. Ravazzola, M. Amherdt, J.E. Rothman, and R. Schekman. 1994. Coatamer-rich endoplasmic reticulum. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 91:11924-11928.

Ou, W.-J., P.H. Cameron, D.Y. Thomas, and J.J.M. Bergeron. 1993. Association of folding intermediates of glycoproteins with calnexin during protein maturation. *Nature*. 364:771-776.

Ozawa, H., and K. Takawa. 1995. The granin family —its role in sorting and secretory granule formation. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 20:415-420.

Paolillo, L., M. Simonetti, N. Brakch, G. D'Auria, M. Saviano, M. Dettin, M. Rholam, A. Scatturin, C. Di Bello, and P. Cohen. 1992. Evidence for the presence of a secondary structure at the dibasic processing site of prohormone: the pro-ocytocin model. *EMBO J.* 11:2399-2405.

Payne, G.S., and R. Schekman. 1989. Clathrin: a role in the intracellular retention of a Golgi membrane protein. *Science*. 245:1358-1365.

Pelham, H.R.B. 1991. Multiple targets for Brefeldin A. Cell. 67:449-451.

Pelham, H.R.B. 1995. Sorting and retrieval between the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 7:530-535.

Pelham, H.R.B., and S. Munro. 1993. Sorting of membrane proteins in the secretory pathway. Cell. 75:603-605.

Peters, C., M. Braun, B. Weber, M. Wendland, B. Schmidt, R. Pohlmann, A. Waheed, and K. von Figura. 1990. Targeting of a lysosomal membrane protein: a tyrosine-containing endocytosis signal in the cytoplasmic tail of lysosomal acid phosphatase is necessary and sufficient for targeting to lysosomes. *EMBO J.* 9:3497-3506.

Petersen, C.M., M.S. Nielsen, S. Nykjaer, L. Jacobsen, N. Tommerup, H.H. Rasmussen, H. Roigaard, J. Gliemann, P. Madsen, and S.K. Moestrup. 1997. Molecular identification of a novel candidate sorting receptor purified from human brain by receptor-associated protein affinity chromatography. J. Biol. Chem. 272:3599-3605.

Peterson, J.R., A. Ora, P.N. Van, and A. Helenius. 1995. Transient, lectin-like association of calreticulin with folding intermediates of cellular and viral glycoproteins. *Mol. Biol. Cell*. 6:1173-1184.

Pevsner, J., and R.H. Scheller. 1994. Mechanisms of vesicle docking and fusion: insights from the nervous system. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 6:555-560.

Pfeffer, S.R. 1992. GTP-binding proteins in intracellular transport. Trends Cell Biol. 2:41-46.

Pfeffer, S.R. 1994. Rab GTPases: master regulators of membrane trafficking. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 6:522-526.

Pimplikar, S.W., and W.B. Huttner. 1992. Chromogranin B (secretogranin I), a secretory protein of the regulated pathway, is also present in a tightly membrane-associated form in PC12 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 267:4110-4118.

Pohl, T., M. Zimmer, K. Mugele, and J. Spiess. 1991. Primary structure and functional expression of a glutaminyl cyclase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:10059-10063.

Ponnambalam, S., and G. Banting. 1996. Protein secretion: sorting sweet sorting. *Curr. Biol.* 6:1076-1078.

Ponnambalam, S., C. Rabouille, J.P. Luzio, T. Nilsson, and G. Warren. 1994. The TGN38 glycoprotein contains two non-overlapping signals that mediate localization to the *trans*-Golgi Network. J. Cell Biol. 125:253-268.

Rajagopalan, S., Y. Xu, and M.B. Brenner. 1994. Retention of unassembled components of integral membrane proteins by calnexin. *Science*. 263:387-390.

Rivas, R.J., and H.-P. Moore. 1989. Spatial segregation of the regulated and constitutive secretory pathways. J. Cell Biol. 109:51-60.

Rholam, M., P. Nicolas, and P. Cohen. 1986. Precursors for peptide hormones share common secondary structures forming features at the proteolytic processing sites. *FEBS Lett.* 207:1-6.

Rholam, M., N. Brakch, D. Germain, D.Y. Thomas, C. Fahy, H. Bousetta, G. Boileau, and P. Cohen. 1995. Role of amino acid sequences flanking dibasic cleavage sites in precursor proteolytic processing. The importance of the first residue C-terminal of the cleavage site. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 227:707-714.

Robinson, M.S. 1987. 100-kD coated vesicle proteins: molecular heterogeneity and intracellular distribution studied with monoclonal antibodies. J. Cell Biol. 104:887-895.

Robinson, M.S. 1994. The role of clathrin, adaptors and dynamin in endocytosis. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 6:538-544.

Robinson, M.S., and T.E. Kreis. 1992. Recruitment of coat proteins onto Golgi membranes in intact and permeabilized cells: effects of Brefeldin A and G proteins activators. *Cell.* 69:129-138.

Rodriguez-Boulan, E., and S.K. Powell. 1992. Polarity of epithelial and neuronal cells. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 8:395-427.

Roebroek, A.J.M., J.W.M. Creemers, I.G.L. Pauli, U. Kurzik-Dumke, M. Rentrop, E.A.F. Gateff, J.A.M. Leunissen, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1992. Cloning and functional expression of Dfurin2, a subtilisin-like proprotein processing enzyme of *Drosophila melanogaster* with multiple repeats of a cysteine motif. J. Biol. Chem. 267:17208-17215.

Roebroek, A.J.M., J.W.M. Creemers, I.G.L. Pauli, T. Bogaert, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1993. Generation of structural and functional diversity in furin-like proteins in *Drosophila melanogaster* by alternative splicing of the *Dfur1* gene. *EMBO J.* 12:1853-1870.

Roebroek, A.J.M., T.A.Y. Ayoubi, J.W.M. Creemers, I.G.L. Pauli, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1995. The Dfur2 gene of *Drosophila melanogaster*: genetic organization, expression during embryogenesis, and proprotein processing activity of its translational product Dfurin2. *DNA Cell Biol.* 14:223-234.

Rapoport, I., M. Miyazaki, W. Bol, B. Duckworth, L.C. Cantley, S. Shoelson, and T. Kirchhausen 1997. Localization of glucosylation sites in the Golgi apparatus using immunolabeling and cytochemistry. *EMBO. J.* 16:2240-2250.

Roth, J. 1991. Localization of glucosylation sites in the Golgi apparatus using immunolabeling and cytochemistry. J. Electron Microsc. Tech. 17:121-131.

Rothman, J.E. 1994. Mechanisms of intracellular protein transport. Nature. 372:55-63.

Rothman, J.E., and L. Orci. 1992. Molecular dissection of the secretory pathway. *Nature*. 355:409-415.

Rothman, J.E., and L. Orci. 1996. Budding vesicles in living cells. Sci. Am. 274:70-75.

Rothman, J.E., and T.H. Söllner. 1997. Throttles and dampers: controlling the engine of membrane fusion. *Science*. 276:1212-1213.

Rothman, J.E., and G. Warren. 1994. Implication of the SNARE hypothesis for intracellular membrane topology and dynamics. *Curr. Biol.* 4:220-233.

Rouillé, Y., S.J. Duguay, K. Lund, M. Furuta, Q. Gong, G. Lipkind, A.A. Oliva Jr., S.J. Chan, and D.F. Steiner. 1995. Proteolytic processing mechanisms in the biosynthesis of neuroendocrine peptides: the subtilisin-like proprotein convertases. *Front. Neuroendocr.* 16:322-361.

Rudman, D., B.M. Hollins, M.H. Kutner, S.D. Moffitt, and M.J. Lynn. 1983. Three types of α -melanocyte stimulating hormone: bioactivities and half-lives. *Am. J. Phys.* 244:E47-E54.

Rybin, V., O. Ullrich, M. Rubino, K. Alexandrov, I. Simon, M.C. Seabra, R. Goody, and M. Zerial. 1996. GTPase activity of Rab5 acts as a timer for endocytic membrane fusion. *Nature*. 383:266-269.

Salama, N.R., and R.W. Schekman. 1995. The role of coat proteins in the biosynthesis of secretory proteins. *Curr. Op. Cell Biol.* 7:536-543.

Saraste, J., and E. Kuismanen. 1984. Pre- and post-Golgi vacuoles operate in the transport of Semliki forest virus membrane glycoproteins to the cell surface. *Cell*. 38:535-549.

Saraste, J., and K. Svensson. 1991. Distribution of the intermediate elements operating in ER to Golgi transport. J. Cell Sci. 100:415-430.

Scammell, J.G. 1993. Granins: Markers of the regulated secretory pathway. *Trends Endocrinol. Metabol.* 4:14-18.

Schäfer, W., A. Stroh, S. Berghöfer, J. Seiler, M. Vey, M.-L. Kruse, H.F. Kern, H.-D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1995. Two independent targeting signals in the cytoplasmic domain determine *trans*-Golgi Network localization and endosomal trafficking of the proprotein convertase furin. *EMBO J.* 14:2424-2435.

Scheiffele, P., J. Peränen, and K. Simons. 1995. N-glycans as apical sorting signals in epithelial cells. *Nature*. 378:96-98.

Schekman, R., and L. Orci. 1996. Coat proteins and vesicle budding. Science. 271:1526-1533.

Schneider, R.J., and T. Shenk. 1987. Impact of virus infection on host cell protein synthesis. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 56:317-332.

Schutze, M.P., P.A. Peterson, and M.R. Jackson. 1994. An N-terminal double-arginine motif maintains type II membrane proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *EMBO J.* 13:1696-1705.

Schmidt, A., M.J. Hannah, and W.B. Huttner. 1997. Synaptic-like microvesicles of neuroendocrine cells originate from a novel compartment that is continous with the plasma membrane and devoid of transferrin receptor. J. Cell Biol. 137:445-458.

Schwaninger, R., H. Plutner, G.M. Bokoch, and W.E. Balch. 1992. Multiple GTP-binding proteins regulate vesicular transport from the ER to Golgi membranes. J. Cell Biol. 119:1077-1096.

Schweizer, A., J.A.M. Franssen, K. Matter, T.E. Kreiss, L. Ginsel, H.-P. Hauri. 1990. Identification of an intermediate compartment involved in protein transport from endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi apparatus. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 53:185-196.

Seeger, M., and G.S. Payne. 1992. Selective and immediate effects of clathrin heavy chain mutations on Golgi membrane protein retention in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *J Cell Biol*. 118:531-540.

Seethaler, G., M. Chaminade, R. Vlasak, M. Ericsson, G. Griffiths, O. Toffoletto, J. Rossier, H.G. Stunnenberg, and G. Kreil. 1991. Targeting of frog prodermophin to the regulated secretory pathway by fusion to proenkephalin. J. Cell Biol. 114:1125-1133.

Seidah, N.G., R. Day, J. Hamelin, A. Gaspar, M.W. Collard, and M. Chrétien. 1992. Testicular expression of PC4 in the rat: molecular diversity of a novel germ cell-specific Kex2/Subtilisin-like proprotein convertase. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 6:1559-1570.

Seidah, N.G., M. Chrétien, and R. Day. 1994. The family of subtilisin/kexin like proprotein and pro-hormone convertases: divergent or shared functions. *Biochimie*. 76:197-209.

Seidah, N.G., J. Hamelin, M. Mamarbachi, W. Dong, H. Tadros, M. Mbikay, M. Chrétien, and R. Day. 1996. cDNA structure, tissue distribution and chromosomal localization of rat PC7: a novel mammalian proprotein convertase closest to yeast kexin-like proteinases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:3388-3393.

Semenza, J.C., K.G. Hardwick, N. Dean, and H.R. Pelham. 1990. ERD2, a yeast gene required for the receptor mediated retrieval of lumenal ER proteins from the secretory pathway. *Cell*. 61:1349-1357.

Sevarino, K.A., and P. Stork. 1991. Multiple preprosomatostatin sorting signals mediate secretion via discrete cAMP- and tetradecanoylphorbolacetate-responsive pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266:18507-18513.

Sevarino, K.A., P. Stork, R. Ventimiglia, G. Mandel, and R.H. Goodman. 1989. Amino-terminal sequences of prosomatostatin direct intracellular targeting but not processing specificity. *Cell.* 57:11-19.

Sharp, P.A. 1994. Split genes and RNA splicing. Cell. 77:805-815.

Shennan, K.I.J., N.A. Taylor, and K. Docherty. 1994. Calcium- and pH-dependent aggregation and membrane association of the precursor of the prohormone convertase PC2. J. Biol. Chem. 269:18646-18650.

Simons, K., and E. Ikonen. 1997. Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature. 387:569-572.

Simons, K., and A. Wandinger-Ness. 1990. Polarized sorting in epithelia. Cell. 62:207-210.

Simpson, F., N.A. Bright, M.A. West, L.S. Newman, R.B. Darnell, and M.S. Robinson. 1996. A novel adaptor-related protein complex. J. Cell Biol. 133:749-760.

Simpson, F., A.A. Peden, L. Christopoulou, and M.S. Robinson. 1997. Characterization of the adaptor-related protein complex, AP3. J. Cell Biol. 137:835-845.

Sinde, U., and M. Inouye (eds.). 1995. Propeptide mediated protein folding. R.G. Landes, Georgetown, Austin, TX.

Söllner, T., S.W. Whiteheart, M. Brunner, H. Erdjument-Bromage, S. Geromanos, P. Tempst, and J.E. Rothman. 1993. SNAP receptors implicated in vesicle targeting and fusion. *Nature*. 362:318-324.

Stafford, F.J., and J.S. Bonifacino. 1991. A permeabilized cell system identifies the endoplasmic reticulum as a site of protein degradation. J. Cell Biol. 115:1225-1236.

Stahl, L.E., R.L. Wright, J.D. Castle, and A.M. Castle. 1996. The unique proline-rich domain of parotid proline-rich proteins functions in secretory sorting. *J. Cell Sci.* 109:1637-1645.

Stoller, T.J., and D. Shields. 1989. The propeptide of preprosomatostatin mediates intracellular transport and secretion of alpha-globin from mammalian cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 108:1647-1655.

Subramaniam, M., J.A. Koedam, and D.D. Wagner. 1993. Divergent fates of P- and E-selectins after their expression on the plasma membrane. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 4:791-801.

Südhof, T.C., 1995. The synaptic vesicle cycle: a cascade of protein-protein interactions. *Nature*. 375:645-653.

Takahashi, S., T. Nakagawa, T. Banno, T. Watanabe, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1995. Localization of furin to the *trans*-Golgi Network and recycling from the cell surface involves Ser and Tyr residues within the cytoplasmic domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:28397-28401.

Takeda, J., and T. Kinoshita. 1995. GPI-anchor biosynthesis. Trends Biochem. Sci. 20:367-371.

Tan, F., S.J. Chan, D.F. Steiner, J.W. Schilling, and R.A. Skidgel. 1989. Molecular cloning and sequencing of the cDNA for human membrane-bound carboxypeptidase M: comparison with carboxypeptidases A, B, H, and N. J. Biol. Chem. 264:13165-13170.

Tang, B.L., S.H. Wong, X.L. Qi, S.H. Low, and W. Hong. 1993. Molecular cloning, characterization subcellular localization and dynamics of p23, the mammalian KDEL receptor. *J. Cell Biol.* 120:325-328.

Tavitian, A. 1994. Cellular traffic and markers of subcellular compartments. Nouv. Rev. Fr. Hematol. (suppl.) 36:S29-S32.

Tooze, J., and S.A. Tooze. 1986. Clathrin-coated vesicular transport of secretory proteins during the formation of ACTH-containing secretory granules in AtT-20 cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 103:839-850.

Tooze, S., and W.B. Huttner. 1990. Cell-free protein sorting to the regulated and constitutive secretory pathway. *Cell.* 60:837-847.

Tooze, S.A., T. Flatmark, J. Tooze, and W. B. Huttner. 1991. Characterization of the immature secretory granule, an intermediate in granule biogenesis. *J. Cell Biol.* 115:1491-1503.

Tooze, S.A., E. Chanat, J. Tooze, and W. B. Huttner. 1993. Secretory granule formation. In Mechanisms of intracellular trafficking and processing of proproteins. Y. Peng Loh (ed.), CRC press, Boca Raton, FL., pp. 157-177.

Traub, L.M., S.I. Bannykh, J.E. Rodel, M. Aridor. W.E. Balch, and S. Kornfeld. 1996. AP-2-containing clathrin coats assemble on mature lysosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 135:1801-1814.

Trowbridge, I.S. 1991. Endocytosis and signals for internalization. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 3:634-641.

Trowbridge, I.S., J.F. Collawn, and C.R. Hopkins. 1993. Signal-dependent membrane protein trafficking in the endocytic pathway. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* 9:129-161.

Van de Ven, W.J.M., A.J.M. Roebroek, and H.J.P. Van Duijnhoven. 1993. Structure and function of eukaryotic proprotein processing enzymes of the subtilisin family of serine proteases. Cr. Rev. Oncog. 4:115-136.

Van der Bliek, A.M., T.E. Redelmeier, H. Damke, E.J. Tisdale, E.M. Meyerowitz, and S. Schmid. 1993. Mutations in human dynamin block and intermediate stage in coated vesicle function. J. Cell Biol. 122:553-563.

Vaux, D., J. Tooze, and S. Fuller. 1990. Identification by anti-idiotype antibodies of an intracellular membrane protein that recognizes a mammalian endoplasmic reticulum retention signal. *Nature*. 345:495-502.

Vegh, M., and A Varro. 1997. Phosphorylation of gastrin-related peptides: physiological casein kinase like enzyme in Golgi membranes from bovine adrenal chromaffin cells and GH3 cells. *Reg. Pept.* 68:37-43.

von Figura, K. 1991. Molecular recognition and targeting of lysosomal proteins. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 3:642-646.

von Heijne, G. 1990. Protein targeting signals. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 2:604-608.

Von Zastrow, M., and J.D. Castle. 1987. Protein sorting among two distinct export pathways occurs from the content of maturing exocrine storage granules. J. Cell Biol. 105:2675-2684.

Voorhees, P., E. Deignan, E. van Donselaar, J. Humphrey, M.S. Marks, P.J. Peters, and J.S. Bonifacino. 1995. An acidic sequence within the cytoplasmic domain of furin functions as a determinant of *trans*-Golgi Network localization and internalization from the cell surface. *EMBO J.* 14:4961-4975.

Wagner, D.D., S. Saffaripour, R. Bonfanti, J.E. Sadler, E.M. Cramer, B. Chapman, and T.N. Mayadas. 1991. Induction of specific storage organelles by von Willebrand factor propolypeptide. *Cell*. 64:403-413.

Walter, P., and G. Blobel. 1982. Signal recognition particle contains a 7S RNA essential for protein translocation across the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nature*. 299:691-698.

Ware, F.E., A. Vassilakos, P.A. Peterson, M.R. Jackson, M.A. Lehrman, and D.B. Williams. 1995. The molecular chaperone calnexin binds Glc₁Man₉GlcNac₂ oligosaccharide as an initial step in recognizing unfolded glycoproteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:4697-4704.

Watanabe, T., T. Nakagawa, J. Ikemizu, M. Nagahama, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1992. Sequence requirements for precursor cleavage within the constitutive secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 267:8270-8274.

Watanabe, T., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993. Positional and additive effects of basic amino acids on processing of precursor proteins within the constitutive secretory pathway. *FEBS Lett.* 320:215-218.

Waters, M.G., T. Serafini, and J.E. Rothman. 1991. "Coatamer": a cytosolic protein complex containing subunits of non-clathrin-coated Golgi transport vesicles. *Nature*. 349:248-251.

Weintraub, B.D., B.S. Stannard, J.A. Magner, C. Ronin, T. Taylor, L. Joshi, R.B. Constant, M.M. Menezes-Ferreira, P. Petrick, and N. Gesundheit. 1985. Glycosylation and post-translational processing of thyroid-stimulating hormone: clinical implications. *Rec. Prog. Horm. Res.* 41:577-606.

Wilde, A., C. Dempsey, and G. Banting. 1994. The tyrosine-containing internalization motif in the cytoplasmic domain of TGN38/41 lies within a nascent helix. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:7131-7136.

Williams, D.B. 1995. Calnexin: a molecular chaperone with a taste for carbohydrate. *Biochem. Cell Biol.* 73:123-132.

Wong, S.H., and W. Hong. 1993. The SXYQRL sequence in the cytoplasmic domain of TGN38 plays a major role in the trans-Golgi Network localization. J. Biol. Chem. 268:22853-22862.

Zerial, M., and H. Stenmark. 1993. Rab GTPases in vesicular transport. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 5:613-620.

Zheng, N., and L.M. Gierasch. 1996. Signal sequences: the same yet different. Cell. 86:849-852.

Zhou, A., L. Paquet and R.E. Mains. 1995. Structural elements which direct specific processing of different mammalian subtilisin-like prohormone convertases. J. Biol. Chem. 270:21509-21516.

Zhou, Y., C. Rovere, P. Kitabgi, and I. Lindberg. 1995. Mutational analysis of PC1 (SPC3) in PC12 cells. 66-kDa PC1 is fully functional. J. Biol. Chem. 270:24702-24706.

Chapter B

Proprotein convertases

B.1 Discovery of the proprotein convertases (PCs)

Proteolytic transformation of polypeptide precursors was first described about thirty years ago, following the studies of two precursor hormones, proinsulin (Steiner, 1967; Steiner et al., 1967; Steiner and Oyer, 1969) and POMC (Chrétien and Li, 1967). The enzymes performing this processing step, however, were only recently identified. The discovery of a yeast enzyme, named kexin, was the breakthrough which uncovered the first member of this endoprotease family in eucaryotes (Julius et al., 1984) (see Figure B-1). The product of the *KEX2* gene is responsible for the cleavage of the α -mating factor polypeptide precursor at multiple pairs of basic amino acids, releasing four identical copies of the mature hormone. Kexin, a calcium-dependent serine proteinase, is structurally related to bacterial subtilisins (Fuller et al., 1988, 1989), particularly by the conservation of the catalytic Asp/His/Ser triad accomplishing the enzyme's charge-transfer relay (see Figure B-1).

In 1989, the quest for the mammalian counterparts of kexin was concluded, when computer database searches established sequence identity between kexin and the product of the c-fes/fps oncogene, called furin (Roebroek et al., 1986; Van de Ouweland et al., 1990). Alignment of the sequences of furin and kexin demonstrated a high degree of homology in certain segments, especially in the regions adjoining the catalytic triad. Based on the concept of sequence conservation around the active site residues of serine proteinases, the amplification of mRNA by the polymerase chain reaction (reverse-transcriptase PCR or RT-PCR) permitted the isolation of two other mammalian homologues of kexin, named PC1 (also called PC3) (Seidah et al., 1990, 1991a,b; Smeekens et al., 1991) and PC2 (Seidah et al., 1990; Smeekens and Steiner, 1990), soon followed by those of PACE4 (Kiefer et al., 1991), PC4 (Nakayama et al., 1992a; Seidah et al., 1992), PC5 (also called PC6) (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993), and more recently PC7 (also called PC8, SPC7, or LPC) (Bruzzaniti et al., 1996; Meerabux et al., 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c) (see Figure B-1).



Figure B-1:

Schematic representation of the mammalian members of the convertase family, with yeast kexin and bacterial subtilisin as comparison.

Apart from furin and PACE4, each convertase has a unique chromosomal localization (see Table B-I). The general exon-intron organization sustains very little variations among convertase genes, suggesting that these proteases may have evolved from a common ancestral origin. However, each member of the family has a unique promoter region, which may hint at a specific regulation of the expression and transcription of each convertase.

While the mouse PC7 gene (Pcsk7) is located on chromosome 9 (Seidah et al., 1996c), in human, this member of the convertase family has been assigned to chromosome 11, at a translocation breakpoint occurring in lymphomas (Meerabux et al., 1996). No information is yet available on the promoter region of PC7.

Both furin and PACE4 are localized on chromosome 7 in mouse (Mbikay et al., 1995) (chromosome 15 in human (Roebroek et al., 1986; Barr et al., 1991; Kiefer et al., 1991)). While the promoter region of PACE4 has not yet been investigated, that of furin has been characterized (Ayoubi et al., 1994). The expression of furin is driven by alternative promoters containing SP1 elements and combinations of regulated TATA-containing and house-keeping GC-rich regions. Their differential use may modulate furin expression levels, as well as the production of multiple mRNA forms differing at their 5' non-coding regions.

Neither promoter regions of PC1 (Ftouhi et al., 1994; Hanabusa et al., 1994; Jansen et al., 1995), PC2 (Ohagi et al., 1992) nor PC4 (Mbikay et al., 1994) possess TATA-containing segments. Except for that of the human PC1, these convertases' promoters are quite GC-rich. All contain multiple transcription initiation sites. The human PC1 promoter contains two cAMP-response elements, which may mediate the cAMP-mediated hormonal transcriptional regulation of the PC1 gene (Jansen et al., 1995).

Convertase	human chromosomal location	mouse chromosomal location.	
PC1	5q15-q21	13[C1-C3]	
PC2	20p11.1-p11.2	2[F3-H2]	
PC4	19	10	
furin	15q25-q26.1	7[D1-E2]	
PACE4	15	7	
PC5	9	19	
PC7	11	9	

Table B-I:

Chromosomal location of convertases genes. (according to Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; Mbikay et al., 1995; Seidah et al., 1996c).

B.2 Structure of the members of the convertase family

The members of the convertase family share substantial structural homology. All convertases possess a signal peptide or pre region, which permits entry into the secretory pathway and is cleaved cotranslationally as these proteins are being threaded through the ER membrane. This segment is followed by a propeptide of about 80 to 105 amino acid residues, which ends with the established cleavage motif -R-X-K/R-R \downarrow . The prosegment must be removed to permit the activation of the cognate convertase. For PC1 (Goodman and Gorman, 1994), PC2 (Matthews et al., 1994), furin (Leduc et al., 1992), and kexin (Germain et al., 1992a), prosegment cleavage is an autocatalytic process, which could be intermolecular for PC2, while it is intramolecular for PC1, furin, and kexin. Except for PC2, proregion cleavage of the convertases is an early event, which takes place in the endoplasmic reticulum (Wilcox et al., 1991; Benjannet et al., 1993; Molloy et al., 1994; Creemers et al., 1995). Mammalian members of the convertase family exhibit two potential

cleavage sites composed of paired or multiple basic amino acids at the junction of the pro and catalytic regions. Even kexin shows two KR pairs at this position, one of which is the authentic proregion cleavage site. Only PC7 possesses a single multibasic site. In the case of the convertases furin and PC7, the proregion has been established to act as a specific inhibitor of the respective convertase (Anderson et al., 1995,1 997; Zhong, Munzer, and Seidah, in preparation). The prosegment is believed to remain bound to the catalytic region of the convertase, until the convertase's compartment of residence is attained. It has been suggested that (auto)cleavage of the second paired basic amino acid site of the furin prosegment could contribute to detach this peptide from the convertase, and permit full activation of the protease when it attains the TGN, its compartment of activity (Anderson et al., 1995, 1997).

While PC1, furin and kexin undergo proregion cleavage in the ER, PC2 is so far the only known convertase for which this processing step takes place in the TGN (Guest et al., 1992 Benjannet et al., 1993; Shen, Seidah and Lindberg, 1993). This cleavage is believed to be an intermolecular autocatalytic event, as studies with an active site mutant PC2 demonstrated that this mutated PC2 could still undergo proregion cleavage in the presence of wild type PC2 (Matthews et al., 1994). PC2 is also unique in the fact that it is the only known convertase for which this process is regulated by a specific binding protein, which remains affixed to the convertase until it attains the proper compartment of zymogen cleavage. This binding protein, called 7B2 (Hsi et al., 1982; Seidah et al., 1983), is a secretory granule component of neuroendocrine cells (Mbikay et al., 1989; Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993b). 7B2 was described as a specific intracellular binding protein of the convertase PC2, which interacts temporarily with this convertase in the secretory pathway (Braks and Martens, 1994; Benjannet et al., 1995a). 7B2 is a bifunctional molecule, which facilitates the maturation of proPC2 in neuroendocrine cells through its NH₂-terminal domain, and is necessary for the generation of enzymatic

activity (Benjannet et al., 1995a; Braks and Martens, 1995; Zhu and Lindberg, 1995). However, 7B2 can also act as a potent inhibitor of PC2 through its COOH-terminal region (Martens et al., 1994; van Horssen et al., 1995). The dissociation of 7B2 and PC2 is not dependent on proPC2 maturation (Braks, van Horssen, and Martens, 1996), but an internal cleavage of the 31 amino acids COOH-terminal segment of 7B2 followed by removal of the dilysine pair by CPE is believed to neutralize the inhibitory effect of this binding protein on PC2 by promoting the detachment of the two proteins (Zhu et al., 1996).

The catalytic domain of the convertases, a segment of about 240 amino acids, is the region where the highest homology of structure is observed among the mammalian members of this family. This resemblance is particularly strong between PC5 and PACE4, which share 74% identity of the catalytic region (see Table B-I). PC2 shows the least homology to the other mammalian members, especially since it is the only convertase with an aspartic acid residue instead of an asparagine within the oxyanion hole region responsible for the stabilization the oxyanion transition state. It has been suggested that this substitution at the oxyanion hole could permit PC2 to acquire a narrower and more discriminate substrate specificity (Brenner, Bevan and Fuller, 1993; Seidah, Day and Chrétien, 1993). Coexpression studies employing a PC2 mutant in which the Asp was replaced by an Asn did not demonstrate differences in kinetics of proregion cleavage or substrate cleavage, with regards to the substrate chosen, POMC, although the oxyanion hole-mutant PC2 was no longer secreted (Zhou, Paquet and Mains, 1995). However, the specific substrate selectivity of the wild-type and mutated PC2 were not investigated. Recently, the PC2 oxyanion hole Asp residue was demonstrated to be essential for the binding of proPC2 to pro7B2 within the ER (Benjannet et al., 1995b). For furin, substitution of the Asn by an Ala blocks substrate processing but not furin proregion removal, and does not significantly affect the

subcellular distribution of this enzyme (Creemers et al., 1993b, 1995), while substitution of the Asn for Asp in kexin resulted in reduced catalytic activity, but unchanged proregion cleavage (Brenner, Bevan and Fuller, 1993). This oxyanion hole-mutated kexin was shed to the same extend as wild-type kexin from the cells in which they were expressed, demonstrating that it is not retained in the ER, where it could still undergo proregion cleavage, but would not have access to its substrates (Brenner, Bevan and Fuller, 1993).

Apart from the conserved catalytic triad and the important oxyanion asparagine (aspartic acid for PC2), the convertases present a conserved cysteine within their catalytic site, four residues downstream of the histidine residue. This cysteine is presumed to function as a free thiol group, a fact which would explain the inhibitory effects of heavy metals such as zinc or mercury on the convertase enzymes (Jean et al., 1993).

Convertase	hPC1	hPC2	rPC4	hfurin	hPACE4	rPC5	rPC7
hPC1							
hPC2	54%						
rPC4	58%	55%					
hfurin	62%	56%	68%				
hPACE4	62%	51%	61%	68%			
rPC5	59%	51%	62%	67%	74%		
rPC7	45%	43%	44%	47%	50%	48%	
ykexin	46%	45%	45%	45%	45%	44%	43%

Table B-II:

Percentage sequence identity of the catalytic domains of the convertases human PC1 (hPC1), human PC2 (hPC2), rat PC4 (rPC4), human furin (hfurin), human PACE4 (hPACE4), rat PC5, (rPC5), rat PC7 (rPC7), and yeast kexin (ykexin) (according to Seidah et al., 1994, 1996c).



Figure B-2:

Dendogram representing the phylogenic tree of the mammalian convertases (according to Seidah et al., 1996c).

Phylogenically, PC7 is the mammalian convertase most homologous to kexin, while the pairs PC1/PC2, PACE4/PC5 and furin/PC4 form equivalence subclasses of their own (Seidah et al., 1996c) (see Figure B-2). It has been suggested that PC7 may be the ancestral mammalian convertase, as it appears to be the closest in structure to yeast kexin.

Following the conserved subtilisin-like catalytic region, all members of the convertase family share the presence of a P domain (also called homo B), a segment which, as for the COOH-terminal domain, is absent from the related bacterial subtilisin enzymes (see Figure B-1). It has been suggested that this segment could play an important role in the proper folding of the convertases. Truncation studies with both kexin and furin demonstrated that this region is essential for enzymatic activity (Fuller, Brake and Thorner, 1989; Wilcox and Fuller, 1991; Hatsuzawa et al., 1992). Recent studies with the furin-defective LoVo cell line demonstrated that a single point mutation within the P domain of this convertase can prevent autocatalytic prosegment cleavage, and ultimately result in processing deficiency (Takahashi et al., 1993, 1995b). Deletion of the P domain in kexin also blocks proregion cleavage; and prevents transformation of the zymogen into the active enzyme (Fuller et al., 1991; Gluschankof and Fuller, 1994).

It is within the P domain that a conserved R-**RGD**-L motif is observed. This motif has been established to act as a recognition signal for integrins in several extracellular matrix proteins involved in cell surface adhesion (Ruoslahti and Pierschbachel, 1986; Blobel and White, 1992; Gan et al., 1993). It was suggested that this motif could play a similar role in the convertase enzymes (Seidah, Day and Chrétien, 1993). Of all the known mammalian members of the convertase family, only PC7 exhibits a slightly different motif, with R**RG**SL in place of R**RG**DL. It is possible that the serine residue within this sequence, when phosphorylated, would

substitute for the negatively charged aspartic acid (Seidah et al., 1996c). In non-mammalian members of the convertase family, several variations of the RGD motif are observed. Xenopus prohormone convertases PC2 (Braks et al., 1992) and furin-like Xen-14 and Xen-18 gene products (Korner et al., 1991), as well as amphioxus PC1/PC3 (Oliva, Steiner and Chan, 1995) and the Caenorhabditis elegans bli-4 gene furin-like products (Thacker et al., 1995), comprise the archetypal **RG**DL motif, while the Drosophila Dfur1 gene products (Roebroek et al., 1991, 1993; Hayflick et al., 1992), and Limulus kexin (Kawabata, Saeki and Iwanaga, 1996), display an RRGDI motif. Another Caenorhabditis elegans Kex2-like product exhibits an RRGDT (Gomez-Saladin, Wilson and Dickerson, 1994), while the PC1/PC3 convertase from hydra (Chan et al., 1992), and the PC2-like product of amphioxus feature an RRGDV motif, respectively (Oliva, Steiner and Chan, 1995). However, other non-mammalian convertases show unrelated sequences at the corresponding RGD position: an RGNL sequence is observed in the Dfur2 gene product (Roebroek et al., 1992), while the Lymnaea stagnalis Lfur2 and LPC2 gene products exhibit sequences of RGNV (Smit et al., 1994) and RGCV (Smit, Spijker and Geraerts, 1992) respectively. As for the Aplysia californica convertases, the products of APC1A and APC1B display respectively an QRGS and RRGN motif, while AFUR and APC2 products exhibit sequences of RRGE and YRGC (Chun et al., 1994) (see Table B-III). While some of the aforementioned motifs present conserved amino acid substitutions relative to the mammalian RRGDL motif, the fact that the RGD sequence is not preserved across all species could mean that this motif may be cryptic in convertases, or that the conserved [R-G-charged-aliphatic] amino acids in fact compose the important sequence.

Species	RG D-like motif	References		
Mammals				
Mammalian convertases, excepting PC7	R RG DL			
Human and rat PC7	R RG SL	Bruzzaniti et al., 1996; Meerabux et al., 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c		
Amphibians		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Xenopus lāevis PC2	R RG DL	Braks et al., 1992		
furin-like Xen-14, Xen-18 Cephalochordates	CRGDL	Korner et al., 1992		
Amphioxus				
Branchiostoma californiensis PC1/PC3 PC2-like	R RG DL R RG DV	Oliva, Steiner and Chan, 1995		
Arthropods	IN INCLU V			
Insects				
Drosophila melanogaster Dfur1	R RG DI	Roebroek et al., 1991, 1993; Hayflick et al., 1992		
Dfur2	P RG NL	Roebroek et al., 1992		
Merostomateae				
Limulus Trabandana tridantatua	R RG DI	Komphete Scali and Improve 1006		
Tachypleus tridentatus kexin	RRGDI	Kawabata, Saeki and Iwanaga, 1996		
Annelids				
<i>Caenorhabditis elegans</i> furin-like <i>bli-</i> 4	K RG DL	Thacker et al., 1995		
Kex2-like product	RRGDL	Gomez-Saladin, Wilson and Dickerson, 1994		
Mollusks Gastropods				
Aplysia californica				
APC1A	Q RG SV	Chun et al., 1994		
APC1B	Ř RG NI			
AFUR	R RG EI			
APC2	Y RG CV			
Lymnaea stagnalis		2 1 1 1 2 2		
Lfur2	SRGNV	Smit et al., 1994		
LPC2 Cnidariae	T RG CV	Smit, Spijker and Geraerts, 1992		
Hydrazoae				
Hydra vulgaris		Class et al. 1000		
PC1/PC3	R RG DV	Chan et al., 1992		

Table B-III:Comparison of the RGD motif in convertases of several species.

Downstream of the P domain, each convertases displays a unique COOH-terminal region. This segment exhibits the least homology of structure among the members of the convertase family. Not only do each convertase possess a unique COOH-terminal domain structure, but for some of them, multiple spliced mRNA variants are generated, giving rise to COOH-terminally modified forms of these proteins. This is the case for mammalian PC4 (Seidah et al., 1992; Mbikay et al., 1994), PC5 (Nakagawa, Murakami, and Nakayama, 1993) and PACE4 (Kiefer et al., 1991; Tsuji et al., 1994; Zhong et al., 1996; Mori et al., 1997), but also for the Drosophila products of the Dfur1 gene (Roebroek et al., 1993), as well as the furin-like convertase of C. elegans (Thacker et al., 1995), and the PC1-like products of Hydra (Chan et al., 1992). Each of the multiple splice forms of these convertases exhibit their own unique COOH-terminal features, without any modification of the other structural domains, except for some PACE4 isoforms which display in addition to COOH-terminal modifications, variations or truncations of the P domain sequence (Kiefer et al., 1991; Tsuji et al., 1994; Zhong et al., 1996; Mori et al., 1997). Each of the isoforms of Dfurin1 (Roebroek et al., 1993), PC5 (Nakagawa, Murakami, and Nakayama, 1993; Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; De Bie and Seidah, unpublished results) and PACE4 (Nagamune et al., 1995) exhibit a distinct tissue distribution.

Some of the structural features which can be observed within the COOH-terminal region of convertases are: potential amphipatic helices for PC1 and PC2, transmembrane domains and cytosolic tails for kexin, furin, PC7, the B isoform of PC5 and the E isoform of PACE4, a region of cysteine-rich repeats in furin, PACE4 and PC5, and a serine/threonine/proline rich region in PC7 and kexin (see Figure B-1).

The amphipatic helices of PC1 and PC2 were postulated to serve as membrane-anchors for these convertases, and eventually to assist in the sorting of these two proteins to the secretory granules (Seidah et al.,

1991a; Smeekens and Steiner, 1992), as was established for the COOH-terminal α -helical region of carboxypeptidase E (Fricker, Das, and Angeletti, 1990; Mitra, Song, and Fricker, 1994). However, this sorting function of the COOH-terminal domain of PC1 or PC2 has not yet been conclusively demonstrated, although a role of the COOH-terminal domain in the sorting of these convertases to the regulated secretory pathway has recently been hinted at (Zhou, Paquet, and Mains, 1995; Creemers et al., 1996).

During the biosynthesis of PC1, the formation of a COOH-terminal truncated form is observed. The processing step which generates this 66 kD PC1 product, which lacks most of its COOH-terminal domain, was demonstrated to take place in granules (Vindrola and Lindberg, 1992; Benjannet et al., 1993; Zhou and Lindberg, 1993, 1994). This PC1 COOH-terminal truncation product exhibits a greater potency of cleavage towards fluorogenic substrates than the full length 87 kD zymogen-cleaved PC1. It is, however, chemically less stable, and exhibits a narrower pH optimum (between 5.0 and 5.5). The carboxy-terminal cleavage of PC1 results in several alterations of PC1 enzymatic properties. This processing step may therefore have a significant impact on prohormone processing. It is possible to imagine that the COOH-terminal region of PC1 could act as an intramolecular convertase-specific inhibitor, much like 7B2 does for PC2 in an intermolecular fashion, thus permitting the full delivery of enzymatic activity in the appropriate cellular compartment upon separation of the COOH-terminal domain from the rest of the PC1 endoprotease (Jutras et al., 1997).

All membrane-bound members of the convertase family possess a cytosolic tail adjoining their transmembrane anchor. Certain signals within this region have been demonstrated to play a role in the proper cellular localization of the convertases furin (Bosshart et al., 1994; Chapman and Munro, 1994; Molloy et al., 1994; Jones et al., 1995;

Schäfer et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995a; Voorhees et al., 1995), and kexin (Fuller, Brake and Thorner, 1989; Wilcox et al., 1992).

Both furin (Rehemtulla et al., 1992; Vidricaire, Denault, and Leduc, 1993; Molloy et al., 1994; Vey et al., 1994) and kexin (Germain et al., 1992b; Wilcox et al., 1992) undergo shedding of their transmembrane anchor to release a soluble form of these enzymes in the extracellular space. PC7, on the other hand, does not undergo shedding of its transmembrane anchor (Munzer et al., 1997), and is so far the only membrane-bound convertase to sustain palmytoylation of its cytosolic tail (Van de Loo et al., submitted).

The serine/threonine/proline rich region of kexin is O-glycosylated (Wilcox and Fuller, 1991), but no such posttranslational modification has yet been demonstrated for the related domain of PC7.

All mammalian convertases display several predicted N-glycosylation sites. PC1, PC2 and furin undergo such modification, but while PC1 (Benjannet et al., 1993) and furin (Molloy et al., 1994) attain complex N-glycosylation structures, PC2 remains with hybrid sugars, even as a mature enzyme (Benjannet et al., 1993).

Finally, half of the known mammalian convertases and several convertase-like products from other species possess a cysteine-rich region. This cysteine-rich region is composed of several repetitions of a particular motif which was first identified for the product of the Drosophila *Dfur2* gene (Roebroek et al., 1992), and resembles that found in the tumor necrosis factor receptor (Ward, Hoyne, and Flegg, 1995). While dfurin2 presents 10 cysteine-rich repeats, hfurin (Van Den Ouweland, 1990) and dfurin1-CRR (also called dKLIP-1) (Hayflick et al., 1992; Roebroek et al., 1993) display only 2, PACE4 (Kiefer et al., 1991) and PC5 (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993) both exhibit 5, while the PC5-B isoform (Nakagawa, Murakami, and Nakayama, 1993) displays the longest such region with 22 repeats of the cysteine-rich motif. No function has so far

been assigned to this structural segment. The complete deletion of mfurin COOH-terminal domain, including the cysteine-rich region, had no effect on the cleavage efficiency of this enzyme (Hatsuzawa et al., 1992).

The cysteine-rich motif of the convertases has been found to be most closely related in sequence to that of the laminin family members, especially that of tenascin proteins. The tenascins are molecules with proliferative, adhesive and anti-adhesive properties. Each of these properties are associated with specific domains. It has been demonstrated that the cysteine-rich region of tenascin-R and tenascin-C has antiadhesive properties which are RGD- and β 1 integrin-independent (Pesheva) et al., 1994). Another laminin-related protein which exhibits a cysteine-rich domain with some homology to that of the convertases is dystrophin. The cysteine-rich region of dystrophin has been demonstrated to be responsible for the interaction of this protein with the muscle membrane through association with a glycoprotein complex (Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, 1992; Suzuki, 1992; Blake et al., 1995). It is therefore possible that the cysteine-rich region of convertases has some protein-protein interaction properties, which may regulate the cellular localization of these enzymes or interactions with other molecules of the secretory pathway.

Table B-IV :Structural features observed within the convertases		
COOH-terminal domain		
Amphipatic helix structure		
Cysteine-rich repeats		
N-glycosylation sites		
Serine/threonine/proline-rich segment		
Transmembrane domain and cytosolic tail, with possible phosphorylation		
or palmytoylation		

B.3 Tissue and cellular distribution

Each mammalian member of the convertase family exhibits a distinct tissue and cellular distribution, which, for most convertases, has been determined by Northern blotting and/or *in situ* hybridization.

PC1 and PC2 exhibit a restricted tissue distribution, being detected only in brain and in the neuroendocrine system, or in cells derived from these tissues. PC5 and PACE4, on the other hand, demonstrate a widespread tissue expression pattern. Only furin and PC7 are ubiquitously expressed in all organs, with some regions of notable abundance, such as the liver for furin, and the spleen, colon and thymus for PC7. All cell lines so far examined express furin, PC7, and to some extend PACE4. Most cell lines with a regulated secretory pathway express PC1 and PC2, except the pheochromocytoma PC12 and somatomammotroph GH4C1 cell lines.

Convertase PC4 exhibits the most restricted tissue distribution of all known mammalian convertases, being only detected in germinal tissues, especially in rat and mouse testes (Nakayama et al., 1992a; Seidah et al., 1992; Torii et al., 1993), and more specifically in spermatocytes and round spermatids. No cell line has so far been demonstrated to express PC4.

Recently, PC4 knock-out mice have been generated, which demonstrated a clear phenotype and viable null-homozygous pups (Mbikay et al., 1997). These mice exhibit greatly impaired fertility, especially in males, with lower than expected incidence of null-homozygosity. The exact processing defect generating this phenotype has not yet been determined.

PC2 knock-out mice, like PC4 knock-outs, are viable, but exhibit a reduced growth rate, and are frailer and smaller than wild type mice (Steiner et al., in preparation). These mice present multiple endocrine defects, in particular the absence of glucagon processing, mild hypoglycemia, and proinsulin processing decreased by 60%. The pancreas of PC2 -/- mice exhibits enlarged alpha cells, with a larger number of delta

cells than wild type mice and a reduced number of beta cells. These pancreatic cells also present a greater number of immature granules than those of wild type mice.

Furin knock-out mice are not viable and die during early embryogenesis (Roebroek and Van de Ven, unpublished). This embryonic lethality is also observed in mutants of the furin-like C. elegans *bli-4* gene product (Peters, McDowall, and Rose, 1991). However, some C. elegans furin mutants are viable, and present an interesting phenotype of cuticle blistering (Thacker et al., 1995), which may reflect an important function of the bli-4 furin-like product in the processing and/or assembling of cuticle components.

Although furin is ubiquitously expressed in all cells and tissues and seems to be essential to the growth and development of organisms, two cell lines have been isolated which lack furin activity. The first cell line to be characterized is an endoprotease-deficient Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell line, called RPE.40. These cells display inefficient insulin proreceptor and low-density-lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) processing (Moehring et al., 1993; Robertson, Moehring, and Moehring, 1993; Inocencio, Moehring, and Moehring, 1994; Willnow et al., 1996). Expression of mouse furin in RPE.40 cells restores normal processing of both precursor proteins.

LoVo cells, a human colon carcinoma, also demonstrate a lack of furin activity, even though the furin mRNA is detectable in these cells. However, it was established that in LoVo cells, both furin alleles have undergone a point mutation within the P domain, possibly preventing the processing of the furin zymogen to yield an active enzyme form (Takahashi et al., 1993, 1995b). Even without the presence of an active furin enzyme, LoVo cells do grow and proliferate. These cells express PC5, PACE4 and PC7 (Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; Seidah et al., 1996c). It is thus
possible that functional redundancy among convertase enzymes may account for the survival of this cell line.

The latest mammalian member of the convertase family, PC7, is especially prominent in the lymphoid tissues such as spleen and thymus (Bruzzaniti et al., 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c). In view of this distinctive tissue distribution, it was postulated that PC7 could have a predominant role in the processing of the GP160 viral glycoprotein of the HIV-1 virus into the mature GP120 product. However, in *ex vivo* coexpression studies, furin remains the most efficient convertase to perform this particular maturation step, and further cleaves gp160 to gp77/gp53 (Decroly et al., 1997).

PC5 is most abundant in the adrenal cortex and small intestine, even though it is also detected in a variety of other tissues (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993a; Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; Dong et al., 1995; Mercure et al., 1996). It is solely in the cells of the adrenal cortex and of the small intestine, and at lower levels in lung, that the B isoform of PC5 is detected (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa, et al., 1993a,b; Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; De Bie and Seidah, unpublished results). In these tissues, PC5-B could eventually have a function distinct from that of PC5-A. PC5-A and other PC5 mRNA forms are expressed at low levels in most cell lines, the BSC40 monkey and As4.1 mouse kidney cell lines, the rat insulinoma Rin m5F, mouse adrenal cortex Y1 and human colon adenocarcinoma LoVo cells being the most abundant sources (Nakagawa et al., 1993a; Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; De Bie and Seidah, unpublished results). PC5-B may be present in NB-1 human neuroblastoma and COS-7 African green monkey kidney cells (Nakagawa et al., 1993b), although these cell lines have not been examined with a PC5-B-specific probe. No other cell line were found to express PC5-B (Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; Laframboise et al., 1997; De Bie and Seidah, unpublished results).

In the mammalian central nervous system, PC1 and PC2 are detected solely in neuronal cells. There, PC2 is expressed more abundantly than PC1, especially in neuropeptide-rich regions such as the hippocampus, hypothalamus and cerebral cortex (Schäfer et al., 1993). Furin is found in all brain cell types, with certain areas presenting "hot spots" (Schäfer et al., 1993). PACE4 expression is enriched the cerebellum, while PC5-A is particularly abundant in the hippocampus, cortex and hypothalamus (Dong et al., 1995). The PC5-B isoform is not detected in brain tissues (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993a,b; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994). The distinct distribution of each member of the convertases family in the central nervous system hints at a unique function of each of these endoproteases towards potential neuropeptide products or receptors. PC1 and PACE4 are particularly profuse in the anterior lobe of the pituitary (Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a; Dong et al., 1995; Johnson et al., 1995; Mains et al., 1997), while PC2 is present but much less abundant. In the intermediate lobe, however, the presence of PC2 is prominent over that of the other convertases.

	mPC1	mPC2	rPC4	rPC5-A	rPC5-B	hPACE4	hfurin	rPC7
pituitary					ar an	•		
anterior lobe	++	+	-	+	-	++	(+)	+
intermediate	++	++	-	(+)	-	-	+	(+)
posterior lobe	-	-	-	-	-	(+)	(+)	+
adrenals			-			-	(+)	+
cortex				++	++			
medulla	(+)	(+)						
<u>brain</u>			-					
cerebral	++	++		+	-	(+)	++	÷
cortex								
hippocampus	++	++		+	-	(+)	(+)	+
cerebellum	-	+		(+)	-	++	+	÷
hypothalamus	++	+		+	-	(+)	(+)	+
heart	(+)	(+)	-	+	-	++	+	+
pancreas	+ islets	+ islets	-	+ α-cells	-	+	+	+
liver	-	-	-	÷	-	+	++	+
thymus	(+)	-	-	(+)	-	-	÷	+
spleen	+	-	-	+	-	-	+	++
lung	(+)	-	-	+	(+)	(+)	+	+
kidney	-	-	-	+	-	++	++	+
intestine	(+)	(+)	-	++ ileum	++ ileum	++	++	++ colon
thyroid	++	++	-	+	-	(+)	+	+
testis	-	-	++	+	-	-	(+)	+
ovaries	-	-	(+)	++	-	+	+	+

Table B-V:

Tissue distribution of the known mammalian convertases. Expression levels are shown as high [++], moderate [+], low [(+)], or undetectable [-]. (according to Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a, 1994, 1996; Schäfer et al., 1993; Halban and Irminger, 1994; Seidah, Chrétien and Day, 1994; Beaubien et al., 1995; Dong et al., 1995; Day and Dong, 1996; Seidah et al., 1996c).

B.4 Cleavage specificities

Most polypeptide precursors exhibit multiple potential dibasic cleavage sites. Not all these sites, however, are recognized by convertases or cleaved to yield bioactive peptides. The convertases preferentially recognize and cleave certain basic sequences. These enzymes comply to the following established criteria to select the appropriate cleavage site (Barr, 1991; Bresnahan et al., 1992; Watanabe et al., 1992, 1993):

- Most cleavages take place as dibasic KR or RR sites, although monobasic, tribasic, tetrabasic or multibasic sites can also be utilized.

- Aliphatic residues present at the P_1 ' position are not favored.

- No cysteines are found within the region P_8 to P_3 ' surrounding the cleavage site.

- In the case of monobasic cleavages, another basic amino acid is usually found at position P_4 , P_6 , or P_8 preceding the cleavage site, an arginine being more favorable than a lysine (Nakayama et al., 1992b).

- Aromatic residues are not encountered in position P_2 preceding the cleavage site (Devi, 1991).

The types of cleavage sites recognized by convertases can be subdivided in four classes:

- The simple dibasic site, which is mostly found in prohormones and propeptides, and which so far seems to be more readily recognized by PC1 and/or PC2.

- The P_4 , P_2 - P_1 multibasic site, -R-X-[K/R]-R, which is preferred by furin, and is usually representative of precursors of growth factors, receptors and viral glycoproteins (Hosaka et al., 1991; Oda et al., 1991).

- The monobasic site, which, as discussed above, is preceded by a second basic amino acid at an even number of amino acids away from the cleavage site.

Precursor protein	Cleavage site sequence $P_8 P_7 P_6 P_5 P_4 P_3 P_2 P_1 \downarrow P_1' P_2'$
Type I precursors: <u>von Willebrand factor</u> (human)	-Ser-His-Arg-Ser-Lys-Arg↓ Ser-Leu
<u>Insulin receptor</u> (human)	-Pro-Ser- Arg -Lys- Arg-Arg ↓ Ser-Leu
<u>7B2</u> (human)	-Glu-Arg- Arg -Lys- Arg-Arg ↓ Ser-Val
<u>HIV-1 GP160</u>	-Val-Gln- Arg -Glu- Lys-Arg ↓Ala-Val
Consensus	-X-X- R- X- K/R-R \downarrow X- X
Type II precursors: <u>POMC(</u> mouse) (JP/ACTH) (ACTH/βLPH) (αMSH/CLIP) (γLPH/βEND)	-Pro-Arg-Glu-Gly- Lys-Arg ↓ Ser-Tyr -Pro-Leu-Glu-Phe -Lys-Arg ↓ Glu-Leu -Pro-Val-Gly-Lys- Lys-Arg ↓ Arg-Pro -Pro-Pro -Lys -Asp- Lys-Arg ↓ Tyr-Gly
<u>Proinsulin</u> (human) (B/C chain) (C/A chain)	-Gly-Ser-Leu-Gln- Lys-Arg ↓Gly-Ile -Thr-Pro- Lys- Thr- Arg-Arg ↓Glu-Ala
Consensus	- X - X - X - X - K/R- R ↓ X - X
Type III precursors: <u>Pro-dynorphin</u> (rat) (C-peptide)	- Arg -Gln-Phe-Lys-Val-Val-Thr- Arg ↓Ser-Gln
<u>Pro-Sommatostatin</u> (human) (SS-28)	-Glu-Met- Arg -Leu-Glu-Leu-Gln- Arg ↓ Ser-Ala
Consensus	$- (\mathbf{B}) - X - (\mathbf{B}) - X - (\mathbf{B}) - X - X - \mathbf{R} \downarrow X - X$
Type IV precursors: <u>Müllerian inhibiting</u> <u>substance</u> (rat)	-Gly- Arg -Gly- Arg -Ala-Gly- Arg ↓ Ser- Lys
<u>Protein tyrosine</u> <u>phosphatase μ receptor</u> (human)	-Glu-Glu-Glu-Arg-Pro-Arg-Arg ↓ Thr-Lys
Consensus	$-(\mathbf{B}) - X - (\mathbf{B}) - X - (\mathbf{B}) - X - X - \mathbf{R} \downarrow X - \mathbf{K}$
T-11. D 17.	

Table B-VI:

Examples of polypeptide precursor types cleaved by members of the convertase family $\langle (B) = basic amino acid \rangle$.

- Finally, a fourth type of substrates seems to be favored by the convertase PC5-A. These precursor polypeptides present a monobasic arginine cleavage site, preceded by another basic amino acid in position P4, P6 or P8, in addition to a lysine at position P2' (Campan et al., 1996; Nachtigal and Ingraham, 1996).

Based on their respective cleavage specificity and distinctive tissue distribution, the convertases can be divided in three subclasses of processing enzymes:

- Furin (Bresnahan et al., 1990; Wise et al., 1990; Denault and Leduc, 1996), PACE4 (Creemers et al., 1993a; Rehemtulla et al., 1993; Seidah et al., 1996a,b; Vollenweider et al., 1996; Zhong et al., 1996; Mori et al., 1997), PC5-B (Seidah et al., 1996a,b; Vollenweider et al., 1996) and probably PC7 (Munzer et al., 1997), are involved in the processing of precursor polypeptide being transported through the constitutive secretory pathway, such as growth factors and viral glycoproteins precursors.

- PC1, PC2, and PC5-A (Benjannet et al., 1995a) are responsible for the maturation of several precursor hormones and neuropeptides, and more generally of polypeptide precursors which products end up being accumulated in secretory granules, such as POMC (Benjannet et al., 1991; Thomas et al., 1991; Zhou, Bloomquist, and Mains, 1993; Zhou and Mains, 1994; Schmidt and Moore, 1995), proinsulin (Davidson et al., 1988; Bailyes, Bennett, and Hutton, 1991; Bailyes et al., 1992; Bennett et al., 1992; Rhodes, Lincoln, and Shoelson, 1992; Neerman-Arbez et al., 1994), proglucagon (Rouillé et al., 1994, 1995a,b) and prodynorphin (Dupuy et al., 1994). PC5-A is also capable of processing other types of polypeptide precursors, such as phosphatase receptors (Campan et al., 1996), Müllerian inhibiting substance (Nachtigal and Ingraham, 1996), pro-lactase-phlorizin hydrolase (Keller et al., 1995), and possibly bone morphogenic proteins (Constam, Calfon, and Robertson, 1996), gp160 (Miranda et al., 1996; Vollenweider et al., 1996), or prorenin (Mercure et al., 1996).

- PC4 is in a class of its own, since its processing specificity has not yet been determined. No substrates have yet been identified for this convertase, which is exclusively found in germ cells.

The cleavage specificities of furin, PC1 and PC2 have been extensively studied, and will be discussed in further detail in the following section, taking examples of coexpression studies performed with archetypal polypeptide precursors.

Furin:

The first studies on furin cleavage specificity relied on the coexpression of enzyme and substrate in cultured mammalian cells through transient transfection (Van de Ven et al., 1990; Wise et al., 1990). In COS-1 cells in which human pro-von Willebrand factor and hfurin were cotransfected. the precursor substrate was cleaved at the appropriate Arg-Ser-Lvs-Arg703 site, while a mutated pro-vWF with a glycine in position 763 remained unprocessed (Van de Ven et al., 1990). Subsequent studies took advantage of another coexpression system based on infection of cultured cells with recombinant vaccinia viruses, and demonstrated that hfurin can process pro-βNGF in BSC40 cells (Bresnahan et al., 1990). Since then, more than 30 precursor substrates have been established to be cleaved by furin, including growth factors (Denault et al., 1995; Dubois et al., 1995), prohormones (Hendy et al., 1995), bacterial toxins (Klimpel et al., 1992; Molloy et al., 1992; Tsuneoka et al., 1993; Gordon et al., 1995), viral glycoproteins (Stieneke-Gröber et al., 1992; Garten et al., 1994), coagulation factors (Wasley et al., 1993), protease zymogens (Pei and Weiss, 1995) as well as other types of precursor proteins (Chen et al., 1996) (for review see Denault and Leduc, 1996). Most of these substrates present a typical Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg cleavage motif, or sometimes an Arg-X-X-Arg sequence, which seems to be sufficient for cleavage recognition by furin (Molloy et al., 1992). Various mutagenesis studies were undertaken to demonstrate that the P4 amino acid preceding the cleavage site is important for furin recognition (Yoshimasa et al., 1990;

Hosaka et al., 1991; Oda et al., 1991; Molloy et al., 1992). The following rules were then ascertained as being indispensable for ideal furin cleavage recognition (Watanabe et al., 1992, 1993):

- The presence of the P_1 Arg is essential, as well as that of a basic amino acid at position P_4 or P_6 .

-The presence of a P_2 basic amino acid is dispensable, as long as another basic amino acid is present at the previously mentioned positions.

- An hydrophobic residue in position P1' is particularly unfavorable to furin processing.

However, it has recently been demonstrated that furin (Galanopoulou et al., 1993; Brakch et al., 1995b) can also recognize monobasic cleavage sites in the rat prosomatostatin precursor to yield somatostatin 1-28. This suggests that, even though furin presents a marked preference for the presence of an R-X-K/R-R motif at the cleavage site (Hosaka et al., 1991; Bresnahan et al., 1992), this motif is not absolutely necessary for recognition of a substrate by this enzyme.

Mutagenesis of the furin active site residues was also undertaken (Creemers et al., 1993b). Through these studies, it was demonstrated that the presence of negatively charged residues in or near the substrate binding region of furin is crucial to the cleavage activity and specificity of this enzyme. A model of the active site binding pocket of furin has been proposed based on homology modeling with the subtilisins (Siezen et al., 1991, 1994; Creemers et al., 1993b), since no crystalline structure of the convertase enzymes is yet available. This model is fairly similar to that proposed for PC1 (Lipkind et al., 1995; Rouillé et al., 1995a), with both enzymes presenting negatively charged residues within the S1, S2 and S4 subsites of the active site binding pocket.

One of the most exciting studies pertaining to furin cleavage specificity concerns the precursor of HIV-1 glycoprotein gp120. The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) envelope glycoprotein launches the infection of CD4+ cells by mediating fusion of the viral envelope with the target cell membrane. This fusion requires that the precursor of the HIV-1

cell surface receptor, gp160, is proteolytic cleaved into gp120 and gp41. This cleavage occurs at a site containing several arginine and lysine residues (Hallenberger et al., 1992). The presence of furin has been demonstrated in T-lymphocytes, which are host cells for the HIV virus (Kamoshita et al., 1995; Decroly et al., 1996; Miranda et al., 1996). Since furin is localized in the TGN and presents a neutral pH optimum (Molloy et al., 1992, 1994), it was proposed that this enzyme may be involved in the processing of the HIV-1 glycoprotein, which travels through the constitutive secretory pathway before attaining the cell surface. Indeed, coexpression of HIV-1 gp160 glycoprotein with furin leads to processing of this precursor to gp120. GP120 is then further cleaved by furin within the V3 loop (Decroly et al, 1996; Vollenweider et al., 1996), a region believed to be essential to gp120/CD4+ interaction (Morikawa et al., 1993). The cleavage of gp160 by furin was demonstrated to be inhibited by substances specific to the furin active site, such as chloromethyl ketones (Hallenberger et al., 1992) or a mutated variant of alpha 1-antitrypsin (alpha 1-AT), called anti-trypsin Portland (alpha 1-PDX) (Anderson et al., 1993) engineered to contain within its reactive site the sequence -Arg-X-X-Arg-. These agents also prevented the formation of syncytia in infected cells, an assay used to measure virus infectivity (Hallenberger et al., 1992; Anderson et al., 1993).

However, several studies have since then established that the processing of gp160 can efficiently take place in the absence of furin, and that this protease is therefore not essential to this processing step (Gu et al., 1995; Kamoshita et al., 1995). Other convertases are expressed in CD4+ lymphoid cells (Decroly et al. 1996; Miranda et al., 1996), the most prominent being PC7, which is also the most abundant convertase present in the immune system (Seidah et al., 1996c, 1997). Some convertases other than furin have demonstrated the capacity to cleave gp160 (Ohnishi et al., 1994; Brakch et al., 1995a; Decroly et al., 1996; Miranda et al., 1996; Vollenweider et al., 1996). Therefore, one or more enzymes other than furin may be required for the cleavage of GP160 within CD4+ cells.

PC1 and PC2:

PC1 and PC2, contrary to furin, do not remain in the TGN but can attain the secretory granules of endocrine cells, in which they are stored in their active form. Both PC1 (Zhou and Lindberg, 1993) and PC2 (Shennan et al., 1995) present mildly acidic pH optima and mM requirements for calcium, a fact consistent with the conditions thought to exist within secretory granules. However, it was demonstrated that the pH and calcium conditions within the TGN can also permit PC1 to initiate processing of precursor substrates in this compartment (Schnabel, Mains and Farquhar, 1989; Benjannet et al., 1991; Schmidt and Moore, 1995).

One of the most prominent example of precursor differentially cleaved by PC1 and PC2 is POMC (Benjannet et al., 1991). POMC is a multipeptide precursor protein synthesized in the pituitary and the brain. In the anterior lobe corticotroph cells, POMC is processed into four major products: ACTH, β -LPH, a joining peptide (JP) and an NH₂-terminal glycopeptide (N-POMC) (for review see Chrétien and Seidah, 1981; Bennett, 1985; Eipper et al., 1987; Mains et al., 1990). In the intermediate lobe, however, POMC undergoes a different processing pattern, which yields, through more extensive cleavage of the precursor, smaller peptide products such as α -MSH, CLIP (for corticotropin-like intermediate lobe

Both PC1 and PC2 are present within the pituitary, PC1 being more abundant in the anterior lobe, while PC2 is the dominant convertase in the intermediate lobe. Both proprotein convertases colocalize with POMC in the adult intermediate pituitary lobe, but only PC1 is present in the corticotrophs. During embryonic development, the time and levels of expression of PC1 and PC2 correlate with those of the corticotropin precursor POMC (Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993a). PC1 and PC2 expression levels are coregulated with those of POMC in physiological aging situations (Joshi et al., 1995) as well as following administration of certain substances, such as dopamine (Birch et al., 1991; Day et al., 1992).

Through coexpression studies in cultured pituitary cell lines, PC1 and PC2 were demonstrated to mediate the accurate processing of POMC, yielding processing patterns resembling either those of the anterior pituitary or of the intermediate lobe (Benjannet et al., 1991; Thomas et al., 1991; Zhou, Bloomquist, and Mains, 1993; Zhou and Mains, 1994; Schmidt and Moore, 1995). PC1 cleaves POMC into the larger peptide products such as ACTH and β -LPH, while PC2 processes this precursor into the smaller peptide products such as β -endorphin and α -MSH (see Figure B-3). Thus, coexpression of POMC with PC1 generates a processing pattern similar to that observed in the anterior pituitary, while PC2 coexpression results in the maturation of the POMC precursor into peptides observed in the intermediate lobe. The implication of PC1 in POMC processing was further demonstrated through antisense studies in AtT-20 cells (Bloomquist, Eipper and Mains, 1991). AtT-20 cells, a tumor cell line derived from the adenohypophysis corticotrophs, express high levels of POMC and PC1. When an antisense PC1 RNA is introduced in these cells, the processing of POMC into the larger products is blocked, confirming the role of PC1 in the processing of POMC. On the other hand, when PC2 is introduced into AtT-20 cells, additional cleavages of POMC are observed, which correspond to the processing pattern observed in the intermediate pituitary lobe (Zhou and Mains, 1994). Studies on the cleavage specificity of PC1 and PC2 towards POMC demonstrated that only PC2 was capable of recognizing the Lys-Lys doublet at the COOH-terminal end of β -endorphin (Zhou and Mains, 1994), as well as the Lys-Arg doublets of α -MSH and CLIP (Benjannet et al., 1991), which can presumably be explained by a wider cleavage site selectivity of PC2 towards POMC.

Thus, the unique distribution of PC1 and PC2 in the pituitary results in a cell-specific differential maturation of POMC.



Figure B-3:

Differential processing of POMC by PC1 and PC2 (according to Benjannet et al., 1991; Halban and Irminger, 1994). Another example of a prohormone substrate which is cleaved by both PC1 and PC2 is the proinsulin precursor. The A and B chains of insulin are connected within the polypeptide precursor by a connecting peptide (C-peptide), which is flanked on both NH₂- and COOH-terminal sides by basic amino acid doublets. Mature insulin is obtained after excision of the C-peptide, while the A and B chains remain attached through two interchain disulfide bonds.

Two enzymatic activities isolated from pancreatic β -cells, named Type I and Type II, were demonstrated to cleave respectively the Arg-Arg C-peptide/B chain junction, and the Lys-Arg A chain/C-peptide junction (Davidson, Rhodes, and Hutton, 1988; Docherty et al., 1989). Since then, it has been demonstrated that the Type I proinsulin cleaving activity corresponds to PC1, while Type II corresponds to PC2 (Davidson et al., 1988; Bailyes, Bennett, and Hutton, 1991; Bailyes et al., 1992; Bennett et al., 1992; Rhodes, Lincoln, and Shoelson, 1992; Neerman-Arbez et al., 1994). The two cleavages which liberate the mature insulin occur in a precise order, the C-peptide/B chain junction being processed by PC1 before PC2 cleaves the A chain/C-peptide bond (Rhodes and Alarcón, 1994). Expression of both PC1 and PC2 is correlated with that of proinsulin in pancreatic β -cells (Marcinkiewicz et al., 1994; Malide et al., 1995).

Coexpression studies performed in overexpression systems permitted to establish the exact cleavage specificities of PC1 and PC2 towards proinsulin (Smeekens et al., 1992; Vollenweider et al, 1992; Kaufman, Irminger, and Halban, 1995; Irminger, Meyer, and Halban, 1996). While PC1 can process human proinsulin at both dibasic sites, it exhibits a marked preference for the C-peptide/ B chain junction. PC2 on the other hand, shows specificity for the A chain/C-peptide junction.

In normal rat islets, the synthesis of PC1 but not that of PC2 seems to be glucose-regulated in parallel with that of proinsulin (Alarcón, Lincoln, and Rhodes, 1993). In contrast, in the hyperglycemic (ob/ob)

mouse islets, biosynthesis of PC1, PC2, and proinsulin is up-regulated by glucose (Martin et al., 1994). Since the islets of (ob/ob) mice contain a much greater ratio of β - to α -cells, it has been assessed that the biosynthesis of PC2 is indeed upregulated by glucose in the β -cells of normal islets, but that a concomitant downregulation of PC2 expression in α -cells may mask this effect.

Proglucagon represents another example of pancreatic polypeptide precursor which is differentially processed by PC1 and PC2 (Rouillé et al., 1994, 1995a,b). This precursor is synthesized both in the pancreatic α cells as well as in the intestinal L cells. In these tissues, proglucagon is differentially processed to yield distinct peptides (Mojsov et al., 1986), glucagon being only observed in pancreatic α -cells, while the L-cells produce the larger peptides such as glicentin, GLP-1, GLP-2 and IP-2. While PC2 can process proglucagon into glucagon (Rouillé et al., 1994, 1995a,b), the cleavages yielding the larger glicentin product as well as GLP-1 and GLP-2 can be performed by PC1 (Rouillé et al., 1994; Rothenberg et al., 1995, 1996; Rouillé, Martin and Steiner, 1995b; Dhanvantari, Seidah, and Brubaker, 1996). Other proteases could eventually mediate glicentin production or the mono Arg cleavage yielding the biologically active GLP-1 (7-37) (Rouillé, Martin, and Steiner, 1995b; Dhanvantari, Seidah, and Brubaker, 1996; Rothenberg et al., 1996). Indeed, several proglucagon processing cell lines have been demonstrated to express PC5 (Blache et al., 1994), while in the human colon, a rich source of PC5, fully processed GLP-1 (7-37) peptide is observed (Deacon, Johnsen and Holst, 1995).

B.5 Sorting signals

So far, the subcellular localization of only three of the mammalian convertases has been ascertained. PC1 and PC2 are detected in the Golgi and secretory granules of cells in which they are naturally expressed (Bennett et al., 1992; Guest et al., 1992; Marcinkiewicz et al., 1993, 1994, 1996; Lindberg, Ahn, and Breslin, 1994; Friedman et al., 1995; Malide et al., 1995; Rothenberg et al., 1995; Scopsi et al., 1995; Wetsel et al., 1995; Paquet , Massie, and Mains, 1996; Tanaka et al., 1996), as well as in those cells possessing a regulated secretory pathway in which these convertases are overexpressed (Dittié and Tooze, 1995). Only the mature forms of these enzymes are stored in the regulated secretory granules.

The COOH-terminal regions of PC1 and PC2 were initially presumed be responsible for the sorting of these two proteins to secretory granules. Potential amphipatic helices at the extreme COOH-terminal end of PC1 and PC2 were postulated to mediate the sorting of these two proteins to the secretory granules by acting as membrane-anchors (Smeekens and Steiner, 1992).

Initial studies of PC2 COOH-terminally deleted mutants claimed that the COOH-terminal domain of this convertase was not essential for membrane-association of this protein, an interaction which could potentially mediate the regulated secretory pathway sorting of this convertase (Shennan, Taylor, and Docherty, 1994). This statement was based on the observation that COOH-terminal domain deletion did not prevent the association of pro-PC2 with membranes, whereas a synthetic propeptide segment was capable of competing with pro-PC2 membrane association. However, more recent investigations of furin-PC2 chimeras demonstrate that the P and COOH-terminal domains of PC2 can redirect furin chimeras towards the regulated secretory pathway (Creemers et al., 1996). Similarly, studies of a carboxyl-terminally truncated PC1 mutant (with a stop codon in place of glycine₅₉₂) expressed in PC12 cells demonstrated that the release of this protein could still be increased upon

membrane depolarization with potassium chloride, indicating that this truncated PC1 mutant was stored in secretory granules and that the COOH-terminal domain of PC1 is therefore not required for the sorting of this enzyme to the regulated secretory pathway (Zhou et al., 1995). On the contrary, investigations using a PC1 COOH-terminal mutant truncated at aspartic acid₆₁₆ showed that this protein exhibited a more rapid rate of basal release from transfected AtT-20 cells than wild type PC1. Moreover, the release of this mutant PC1 could barely be augmented in the presence of secretagogues, demonstrating that the majority of this protein never reached mature secretory granules, and thus that the COOH-terminal domain of PC1 is needed for the efficient sorting of this convertase to secretory granules (Zhou, Paquet and Mains, 1995). Indeed, this mutant displayed a decreased cleavage potency towards POMC as compared to wild type PC1. It is worth noting that treatment of cells with potassium chloride will promote the release of proteins stored both in mature and immature secretory granules. Thus, the truncated PC1-Gly₅₉₂ could have been released from immature secretory granules, since the exact subcellular localization of this mutant was not investigated by immunofluorescence microscopy. The potential sorting function of the COOH-terminal domain of PC1 and PC2 remains to be conclusively established.

The membrane-bound convertase furin has been demonstrated to cycle between the TGN, endosomes, and the cell surface (Chapman and Munro, 1994; Bosshart et al., 1994; Molloy et al., 1994; Sariola, Saraste, and Kuismanen, 1995; Schäfer et al., 1995; Voorhees et al., 1995). Membrane-bound kexin exhibits a somewhat similar localization to that of furin, being located within the yeast organelle equivalent to the mammalian Golgi system (Redding, Holcomb and Fuller, 1991).

The subcellular localization of furin is affected by particular signals present within its cytosolic tail (Bosshart et al., 1995; Jones et al., 1995;

Schäfer et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995; Voorhees et al., 1995). The first signal consist of a Tyr-containing tetrapeptide consensus sequence, Y-XX- \emptyset , where \emptyset = an hydrophobic an amino acid, which functions as a retrieval signal from the cell surface for membrane-bound proteins (Trowbridge et al., 1993). Mutation or deletion of this signal results in the loss of furin TGN-localization and in its accretion at the cell surface. The other motives found within the cytosolic tail of furin are a cluster of acidic amino acids. within the where sequence CPSDSEEDEG, the phosphorylation of both serines by a caseine kinase II (CK-II)-like enzyme is essential to the retrieval of furin from the plasma membrane to the TGN (Jones et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995). Two adjacent leucine, termed di-leucine signal, are also present within furin's cytosolic tail, and could act as an internalization motif (Johnson and Kornfeld, 1992). Kexin displays similar motives to those of furin, with the presence of an essential tyrosine-based sequence within its cytosolic tail (Wilcox et al., 1992), as well as an acidic amino acid stretch and a dileucine-motif, the functions of which have not yet been investigated.

Since no antibodies against PACE4 and PC4 have so far been developed, information on the cellular sorting and localization of these two convertases is not available.

In conclusion, convertases PC1 and PC2, which are expressed in neuroendocrine cells, can be sorted to the secretory granules of these cells, where they each proceed to perform the specific cleavage of prohormones and proneuropeptides. Membrane-bound convertase furin is present in all cell types, and is localized within the TGN. This advantageous subcellular location at the last sorting station before constitutive or regulated secretory pathways, or endosomes, gives furin access to a wider yet distinct substrate pool than PC1 and PC2.

REFERENCES

Alarcón, C., B. Lincoln, and C.J. Rhodes. 1993. The biosynthesis of the subtilisin-related proprotein convertase PC3, but not that of the PC2 convertase, is regulated by glucose in parallel to proinsulin biosynthesis in rat pancreatic islets. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:4276-4280.

Anderson, E.D., L. Thomas, J.S. Hayflick, and G. Thomas. 1993. Inhibition of HIV-1 gp160-dependent membrane fusion by a furin-directed alpha 1-antitrypsin variant. J. Biol. Chem. 268:24887-24891.

Anderson, E.D., J.K. VanSlyke, S.S. Molloy, L. Thomas, C.D. Thulin, and G. Thomas. 1995. The multistep activation of furin: the potential role of the proregion as an autoinhibitor. *Mol Biol. Cell. (Suppl.)* 6:290a.

Anderson, E.D., J.K. VanSlyke, C.D. Thulin, F. Jean, and G. Thomas. 1997. Activation of the furin endoprotease is a multiple-step process: requirements for acidification and internal propeptide cleavage. *EMBO J.* 16:1508-1518.

Ayoubi, T.A.Y., J.W.M. Creemers, A.J.M. Roebroek, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1994. Expression of the dibasic proprotein processing enzyme furin is directed by multiple promoters *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:9298-9303.

Bailyes, E.M., D.L. Bennett, and J.C. Hutton. 1991. Proprotein endopeptidases of the insulin secretory granule. *Enzyme*. 45:301-313.

Bailyes, E.M., K.I.J. Shennan, A.J. Seal, S.P. Smeekens, D.F. Steiner, J.C. Hutton, and K. Docherty. 1992. A member of the eukaryotic subtilisin family (PC3) has the enzymatic properties of the type I proinsulin- converting endopeptidase. *Biochem. J.* 285:391-394.

Barr, P.J. 1991. Mammalian subtilisins: the long-sought dibasic processing endoproteases. *Cell.* 66:1-3.

Beaubien, G., M.K.-H. Schäfer, E. Weihe, W. Dong, M. Chrétien, N.G. Seidah, and R. Day. 1995. The distinct gene expression of the pro-hormones convertases in the heart suggests potential substrates. *Cell Tissue Res.* 279:539-549.

Benjannet, S., N. Rondeau, R. Day, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1991. PC1 and PC2 are proprotein convertases capable of cleaving proopiomelanocortin at distinct pairs of basic residues. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:3564-3568.

Benjannet, S., N. Rondeau, L. Paquet, A. Boudreault, C. Lazure, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1993. Comparative biosynthesis, covalent post-translational modifications and efficiency of prosegment cleavage of the prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2: glycosylation, sulphation and identification of the intracellular site of prosegment cleavage of PC1 and PC2. *Biochem. J.* 294:735-743.

Benjannet, S., D. Savaria, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1995a. 7B2 is a specific intracellular binding protein of the prohormone convertase PC2. J. Neurochem. 64:2303-2311.

Benjannet, S., J. Lusson, J. Hamelin, D. Savaria, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1995b. Structure-function studies on the biosynthesis and bioactivity of the precursor convertase PC2 and the formation of the PC2/7B2 complex. *FEBS Lett.* 362:151-155.

Bennett, D.L., E.M. Bailyes, E. Nielsen, P.C. Guest, N.G. Rutherford, A.D. Arden, and J.C. Hutton. 1992. Identification of the type 2 proinsulin processing endopeptidase as PC2, a member of the eukaryote subtilisin family. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:15229-15236.

Bennett, H.P.J. 1985. Peptide hormone biosynthesis---Recent developments. Recent Results in Cancer Research. 99:35-45.

Birch, N.P., H.L. Tracer, D.J. Hakes, and Y.P. Loh. 1991. Coordinate regulation of mRNA levels of proopiomelanocortin and the candidate processing enzymes PC2 and PC3, but not furin, in the rat pituitary intermediate lobe. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 179:1311-1319.

Blache, P., D. Le-Nguyen, C. Boegner-Lemoine, A. Cohen-Solal, D. Bataille, and A. Kervan. 1994. Immunological detection of prohormone convertases in two different proglucagon processing cell lines. *FEBS Lett.* 344:65-68.

Blake, D.J., J.M. Tinsley, K.E. Davies, A.E. Knight, S.J. Winder, and J. Kendrick-Jones. 1995. Coiled-coil regions in the carboxy-terminal domains of dystrophin and related proteins: potentials for protein-protein interactions. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20:133-135.

Blobel, C.P., and J.M. White. 1992. Structure, function and evolutionary relationship of proteins containing a disintegrin domain. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 4:760-765.

Bloomquist, B.T., B.A. Eipper, and R.E. Mains. 1991. Prohormone-converting enzymes: regulation and evaluation of function using antisense RNA. *Mol. Endocrin.* 5:2014-2024.

Bosshart, H., J. Humphrey, E. Designan, J. Davidson, J. Drazba, L. Yuan, V. Oorschot, P.J. Peters, and J. Bonifacino. 1994. The cytoplasmic domain mediates localization of furin to the *trans*-Golgi Network en route to the endosomal/lysosomal system. J. Cell Biol. 126:1157-1172.

Brakch, N., M. Dettin, C. Scarinci, N.G. Seidah, and C. Di Bello. 1995a. Structural investigation and kinetic characterization of potential cleavage sites of HIV GP160 by human furin and PC1. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 213:356-361.

Brakch, N., A.S. Galanopoulou, Y.C. Patel, G. Boileau, and N.G. Seidah. 1995b. Comparative proteolytic processing of rat prosomatostatin by the convertases PC1, PC2, furin, PACE4 and PC5 in constitutive and regulated secretory pathways. *FEBS Lett.* 362:143-146.

Braks, J.A., and G.J. Martens. 1994. 7B2 is a neuroendocrine chaperone that transiently interacts with prohormone convertase PC2 in the secretory pathway. *Cell.* 78:263-273.

Braks, J.A., and G.J. Martens. 1995. The neuroendocrine chaperone 7B2 can enhance in vitro POMC cleavage by prohormone convertase PC2. *FEBS Lett.* 371:154-158.

Braks, J.A., A.M. Van Horssen, and G.J. Martens. 1996. Dissociation of the complex between the neuroendocrine chaperone 7B2 and prohormone convertase PC2 is not associated with proPC2 maturation. *Eur. J. Biochem*. 238:505-510.

Braks, J.A.M., K.C.W. Guldemond, M.C.H.M. van Riel, A.J.M. Coenen, and G.J.M. Martens. 1992. Structure and expression of *Xenopus* prohormone convertase PC2. *FEBS Lett.* 305:45-50.

Brenner, C., A. Bevan, and R.S. Fuller. 1993. One-step-directed mutagenesis of the Kex2 protease oxyanion hole. *Curr. Biol.* 3:498-506.

Bresnahan, P.A., R. Leduc, L Thomas, J. Thorner, H.L. Gibson, A.J. Brake. P.J. Barr, and G. Thomas. 1990. Human *fur* gene encodes a yeast KEX2-like endoprotease that cleaves pro-β-NGF in vivo. *J. Cell Biol.* 111: 2851-2859.

Bresnahan, P.A., J.S. Hayflick, S.S. Molloy, and G. Thomas. 1992. Endoproteolysis of growth factors and other nonendocrine precursor proteins. *In* Mechanisms of intracellular trafficking and processing of proproteins. Y. Peng Loh (ed.), CRC press, Boca Raton, FL., pp. 225-250.

Bruzzaniti, A., K. Goodge, P. Jay, S.A. Taviaux, M.H. Lam, P. Berta, T.J. Martin, J.M. Moseley, and M.T. Gillespie. 1996. C8, a new member of the convertase family. *Biochem. J.* 314:727-731.

Campan, M., M. Yoshizumi, N.G. Seidah, M.-E. Lee, C. Bianchi, and E. Haber. 1996. Increased proteolytic processing of protein tyrosine phosphatase μ in confluent vascular endothelial cells: the role of PC5, a member of the subtilisin family. *Biochemistry*. 35:3797-3802.

Chan, S.J., A.A. Oliva Jr., J. LaMendola, A. Grens, H. Bode, and D.F. Steiner. 1992. Conservation of the prohormone convertase gene family in the metaxoa: analysis of cDNAs encoding a PC3-like protein from hydra. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 89:6678-6682.

Chapman, R.E., and S. Munro. 1994. Retrieval of TGN proteins from the cell surface requires endosomal acidification. *EMBO J.* 13:2305-2312.

Chen, J.-S., and A.S. Raikhel. 1996. Subunit cleavage of mosquito pro-vitellogenin by a subtilisin-like convertase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:6186-6190.

Chrétien, M., and C.H. Li. 1967. Isolation and characterization of γ -lipotropic hormone from sheep pituitary glands. *Can. J. Biochem.* 45:1163-1174.

Chrétien, M., and N.G. Seidah. 1981. Chemistry and biosynthesis of proopiomelanocortin. ACTH, MSH's, endorphins and their related peptides. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 34:101-127.

Chun, J.Y., J. Korner, T. Kreiner, R.H. Scheller, and R. Axel. 1994. The function and differential sorting of a family of *Aplysia* prohormone processing enzymes. *Neuron*. 12:831-844.

Constam, D.B., M. Calfon, and E.J. Robertson. 1996. SPC4, SPC6, and the novel protease SPC7 are coexpressed with bone morphogenetic proteins at distinct sites during embryogenesis. *J. Cell Biol.* 134:181-191.

Creemers, J.W.M., P.J. Kormelink, A.J.M. Roebroek, K. Nakayama, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1993a. Proprotein processing activity and cleavage site selectivity of the Kex2-like endoprotease PACE4. *FEBS Lett.* 336:65-69.

Creemers, J.W.M., R.J. Siezen, A.J.M. Roebroek, T.A.Y. Ayoubi, D. Huylebroek, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1993b. Modulation of furin-mediated proprotein processing activity by site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 268:21826-21834.

Creemers, J.W.M., M. Vey, W. Schafer, T.A. Ayoubi, A.J.M. Roebroek, H.D. Klenk, W. Garten, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1995. Endoproteolytic cleavage of its propeptide is a prerequisite for efficient transport of furin out of the endoplasmic reticulum. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:2695-2702.

Creemers, J.W.M., E.F. Usac, N.A. Bright, J.-W. Van de Loo, E. Jansen, W.J.M. Van de Ven, and J.C. Hutton. 1996. Identification of a transferable sorting domain for the regulated pathway in the prohormone convertase PC2. J. Biol. Chem. 271:25284-25291.

Davidson, H.W., C.J. Rhodes, and J.C. Hutton. 1988. Intraorganellar calcium and pH control proinsulin cleavage in the pancreatic β -cell via two distinct site-specific endopeptidases. *Nature*. 333:93-96.

Day, R., and W. Dong. 1996. Localization of low-abundance mRNA using double-label *in situ* hybridization histochemistry as applied to the mapping of processing enzymes. *Cell Vision*. 3:237-243.

Day, R., M.K.-H. Schäfer, S.J. Watson, and N.G. Seidah. 1992. Distribution and regulation of the prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2 in the rat pituitary. *Mol. Endocrin.* 6:485-497.

Deacon, C.F., A.H. Johnsen, and J.J. Holst. 1995. Human colon produces fully processed glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide. *FEBS Lett.* 372:269-272.

Decroly, E., S. Wouters, C. Di Bello, C. Lazure, J.-M. Ruysschaert, and N.G. Seidah. 1996. Identification of the paired basic convertases implicated in HIV gp160 processing based on *in vitro* assays and expression in CD4+ cell lines. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:30442-30450.

Decroly, E., S. Benjannet, D. Savaria, and N.G. Seidah. 1997. Comparative functional role of PC7 and furin in the processing of the HIV envelope glycoprotein gp160. *FEBS Lett.* 405:68-72.

Denault, J.-B., and R. Leduc. 1996. Furin/PACE/SPC1: a convertase involved in exocytic and endocytic processing of precursor proteins. *FEBS Lett.* 379:113-116.

Denault, J.-B., A. Claing, P. D'Orleans-Juste, T. Sawamura, T. Kido, T. Masaki, and R. Leduc. 1995. Processing of proendothelin-1 by human furin convertase. *FEBS Lett.* 362:276-280.

Devi, L. 1991. Consensus sequence for processing of peptide precursors at monobasic sites. *FEBS Lett.* 280:189-194.

Dhanvantari, S., N.G. Seidah, and P.L. Brubaker. 1996. Role of prohormone convertases in the tissue-specific processing of proglucagon. *Mol. Endocr.* 10:342-355.

Dittié, A.S., and S.A. Tooze. 1995. Characterization of the endopeptidase PC2 activity towards secretogranin II in stably transfected PC12 cells. *Biochem. J.* 310:777-787.

Docherty, K., C.J. Rhodes, N.A. Taylor, K.I. Shennan, and J.C. Hutton. 1989. Proinsulin endopeptidase substrate specificities defined by site-directed mutagenesis of proinsulin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264:118335-118339.

Dong, W., M. Marcinkiewicz, D. Vieau, M. Chrétien, N.G. Seidah, and R. Day. 1995. Distinct mRNA expression of the highly homologous convertases PC5 and PACE4 in the rat brain and pituitary. *J. Neurosci.* 15:1778-1796.

Dubois, C.M., M.H. Laprise, F. Blanchette, L.E. Gentry, and R. Leduc. 1995. Processing of transforming growth factor β 1 precursor by human furin convertase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:10618-10624.

Dupuy, A., I. Lindberg, Y. Zhou, H. Akil, C. Lazure, M. Chrétien, N.G. Seidah, and R. Day. 1994. Processing of prodynorphin by convertase PC1 results in high molecular weight intermediate forms. *FEBS Lett.* 337:60-65.

Eipper, B.A., V. May, E.I. Cullen, S.M. Sato, A.S.N. Murthy, and R.E. Mains. 1987. Cotranslational and posttranslational processing in the production of bioactive peptides. *In* Psychopharmacology: The third generation of progress. H.Y. Meltzer (ed.), Raven Press, N.Y., pp. 385-400.

Fricker, L.D., B. Das, and R.H. Angeletti. 1990. Identification of the pH dependent membrane anchor of carboxypeptidase E (EC 3.4.17.10). J. Biol. Chem. 265:2476-2482.

Fricker, L.D., Y.L. Berman, E.H. Leiter, and L.A. Devi. 1996. Carboxypeptidase E activity is deficient in mice with the FAT mutation - Effect on peptide processing. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:30619-30624.

Friedman, T.C., Y.P., Loh, N.X. Cawley, N.P. Birch, S.S. Huang, I.M.P. Jackson, and E.A. Nillni. 1995. Processing of prothyrotropin-releasing hormone (Pro-TRH) by bovine intermediate lobe secretory vesicle membrane PC1 and PC2 enzymes. *Endocrinology*. 136:4462-4472.

Ftouhi, N., R. Day, M. Mbikay, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1994. Gene organization of the mouse prohormone and pro-protein convertase PC1. DNA Cell Biol. 13:395-407.

Fuller, R.S., R.E. Sterne, and J. Thorner. 1988. Enzymes required for yeast prohormone processing. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 50:345-362.

Fuller, R.S., A. Brake, and J. Thorner. 1989. Yeast prohormone processing enzyme (KEX-2 gene product) is a Ca2+-dependent serine protease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 86:1434-1438.

Fuller, R.S., C. Brenner, P Gluschankof, and C.A Wilcox. 1991. The yeast prohormone processing KEX-2 protease, an enzyme with specificity for paired basic residues. *In* Methods in Protein Sequence Analysis, H. Jörnvall and J.O. Höög (eds.), Birkhäuser Verlag, Berlin, pp. 205-214.

Galanopoulou, A.S., G. Kent, S.N. Rabbani, N.G. Seidah, and Y.C. Patel. 1993. Heterologous processing of prosomatostatin in constitutive and regulated secretory pathways: putative role of the endoproteases furin, PC1, and PC2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:6041-6049.

Gan, Z.-R., Y. Li, T.M. Connolly, M.K. Sardana, P.-K. Tsai, S.D. Lewis, and J.A. Schafer. 1993. Importance of the Arg-Gly-Asp triplet in human thrombin for maintenance of structure and function. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 301:228-236.

Garten, W., S. Hallenberger, D. Ortmann, W. Schäfer, M. Vey, H. Angliker, E. Shaw, and H.D. Klenk. 1994. Processing of viral glycoproteins by the subtilisin-like endoprotease furin and its inhibition by specific peptidylchloroalkylketones. *Biochimie*. 76:217-225.

Germain, D., F. Dumas, T. Vernet, Y. Bourbonnais, D.Y. Thomas, and G. Boileau. 1992a. The pro-region of the Kex2 endoprotease of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is removed by self-processing. *FEBS Lett.* 299:283-286.

Germain, D., T. Vernet, G. Boileau, and D.Y. Thomas. 1992b. Expression of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Kex2p endoprotease in insect cells. Evidence for a carboxy-terminal autoprocessing event. *Eur. J. Biochem*. 204:121-126.

Gluschankof, P., and R.S. Fuller. 1994. A C-terminal domain conserved in precursor processing proteases is required for intramolecular maturation of pro-Kex2 protease. *EMBO J.* 13:2280-2288.

Gomez-Saladin, E., D.L. Wilson, and I.M. Dickerson. 1994. Isolation and in situ localization of a cDNA encoding a Kex2-like prohormone convertase in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 14:9-25.

Goodman, L.J., and C.M. Gorman. 1994. Autoproteolytic activation of the mouse prohormone convertase mPC1. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 201:795-804.

Gordon, V.M., K.R. Klimpel, N. Arora, M.A. Henderson, S.H. Leppla. 1995. Proteolytic activation of bacterial toxins by eukaryotic cells is performed by furin and by additional cellular proteases. *Infection & Immunity*. 63:82-87.

Gu, M., J. Rappaport, and S.H. Leppla. 1995. Furin is important but not essential for the proteolytic maturation of gp160 of HIV-1. *FEBS Lett.* 365:95-97.

Guest, P.C., S.D. Arden, D.L. Bennett, A. Clark, N.G. Rutherford, and J.C. Hutton. 1992. The post-translational processing and intracellular sorting of PC2 in the islets of Langerhans. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:22401-22406.

Halban, P.A., and J.-C. Irminger. 1994. Sorting and processing of secretory proteins. *Biochem. J.* 299:1-18.

Hallenberger, S., V. Bosch, H. Angliker, E. Shaw, H.D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1992. Inhibition of furin-mediated cleavage activation of HIV-1 glycoprotein gp160. *Nature*. 360:358-361.

Hanabusa, T. S. Ohagi, J. Lamendola, S.J. Chan, and D.F. Steiner. 1994. Nucleotide sequence and analysis of the mouse SPC3 promoter region. *FEBS Lett.* 356:339-341.

Hatsuzawa, K., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1992. Molecular and enzymatic properties of furin, a Kex2-like endoprotease involved in precursor cleavage at Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg sites. J. Biochem. 111:296-301.

Hayflick, J.S., W.J. Wolfgang, M.A. Forte, and G. Thomas. 1992. A unique Kex2-like endoprotease from Drosophila melanogaster is expressed in the central nervous system during early embryogenesis. *J. Neurosci.* 12:705-717.

Hendy, G.N., H.P. Bennett, B.F. Gibbs, C. Lazure, R. Day, and N.G. Seidah. 1995. Proparathyroid hormone is preferentially cleaved to parathyroid hormone by the prohormone convertase furin. A mass spectrometric study. J. Biol. Chem. 270:9517-9525. Hornby, P.J., S.D. Rosenthal, J.P. Mathis, O. Vindrola, and I. Lindberg. 1993. Immunocytochemical localization of the neuropeptide-synthesizing enzyme PC1 in AtT-20 cells. *Neuroendocrinology*. 58:555-563.

Hosaka, M., M. Nagahama, W.-S. Kim, T. Watanabe, K. Hatsuzawa, J. Ikemizu, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1991. Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg motif as a signal for precursor cleavage catalyzed by furin within the constitutive secretory pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266:12127-12130.

Hsi, K.L., N.G. Seidah, G. De Serres, and M. Chrétien. 1982. Isolation and NH2-terminal sequence of a novel porcine anterior pituitary polypeptide. Homology to proinsulin, secretin and Rous sarcoma virus transforming protein TVFV60. *FEBS Lett.* 147:261-266.

Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., J.M. Ervasti, C.J. Léveillé, C.A. Slaughter, S.W. Sernett, and K.P. Campbell. 1992. Primary structure of dystrophin-associated glycoproteins linking dystrophin to the extracellular matrix. *Nature*. 355:696-702.

Inocencio, N.M., J.M. Moehring, and T.J. Moehring. 1994. Furin activates Pseudomonas exotoxin A by specific cleavage in vivo and in vitro. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:31831-31835.

Irminger, J.-C., K. Meyer, and P.A. Halban. 1996. Proinsulin processing in the rat insulinoma cell line INS after overexpression of the endoproteases PC2 or PC3 by recombinant adenovirus. *Biochem. J.* 320:11-15.

Jansen, E., T.A.Y. Ayoubi, S.M. Meulemans, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1995. Neuroendocrine-specific expression of the human prohormone convertase 1 gene. Hormonal regulation of transcription through distinct cAMP response elements. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:15391-15397.

Jean, F., A. Basak, N. Rondeau, S. Benjannet, G.N. Hendy, N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and C. Lazure. 1993. Enzymic characterization of murine and human prohormone convertase-1 (mPC1 and hPC1) expressed in mammalian GH4C1 cells. *Biochem. J.* 292:891-900.

Johnson, R.C., D.N. Darlington, T.A. Hand, B.T. Bloomquist, and R.E. Mains. 1995. PACE4: a subtilisin-like endoprotease prevalent in the anterior pituitary and regulated by thyroid status. *Endocrinology*. 135:1178-1184.

Johnson, K.F., and S. Kornfeld. 1992. The cytoplasmic tail of the mannose-6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor-II receptor has two signals for lysosomal enzyme sorting in the Golgi. J. Cell Biol. 119:249-257.

Jones, B.G., L. Thomas, S.S. Molloy, C.D. Thulin, M.D. Fry, K.A. Walsh, and G. Thomas. 1995. Intracellular trafficking of furin is modulated by the phosphorylation state of a casein kinase II site in its cytoplasmic tail. *EMBO J.* 14:5869-5883.

Joshi, D., M.M. Miller, N.G. Seidah, and R. Day. 1995. Age-related alterations in the expression of prohormone convertase messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) levels in hypothalamic proopiomelanocortin mRNA neurons in the female C57BL/6J mouse. *Endocrinology*. 136:2721-2729.

Julius, D., A Brake, L. Blair, R. Kunisawa, and J. Thorner. 1984. Isolation of the putative structural gene for the Lysine-Arginine-cleaving endopeptidase required for the processing of yeast prepro-alpha-factor. *Cell*. 37:1075-1089.

Jutras, I, N.G. Seidah, T.L. Reudelhuber, and V. Brechler. 1997. Two activation states of the prohormone convertase PC1 in the secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem. in press.

Kamoshita, K., M. Shiota, M. Sasaki, Y. Koga, Y. Okumura, and H. Kido. 1995. Calcium requirement and inhibitor spectrum for intracellular HIV type I gp160 processing in cultured HeLa cells and CD4+ lymphocytes: Similarity to those of viral envelope glycoprotein maturase. *J. Biochem.* 117:1244-1253.

Kaufmann, J.E., J.-C. Irminger, and P.A. Halban. 1995. Sequence requirements for proinsulin processing at the B-chain/C-peptide junction. *Biochem. J.* 310:869-874.

Kawabata, S., K. Saeki, and S. Iwanaga. 1996. Limulus kexin: a new type of Kex2-like endoprotease specifically expressed in hemocytes of the horseshoe crab. *FEBS Lett.* 386:201-204.

Keller, P., L. Zecca, R. Boukamel, E. Zwicker, S. Gloor, and G. Semenza. 1995. Furin, PC1/3, and/or PC6A process rabbit, but not human, pro-lactase-phlorizin hydrolase to the 180-kDa intermediate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:25722-25728.

Kiefer, M.C., J.E. Tucker, R. Joh, K.E. Landsberg, D. Saltman, and P.J. Barr. 1991. Identification of a second human subtilisin-like protease gene in the fes/fps region of chromosome 15. DNA Cell Biol. 10:757-769.

Klimpel, K.R., S.S. Molloy, G. Thomas, and S.H. Leppla. 1992. Anthrax toxin protective antigen is activated by a cell surface protease with the sequence specificity and catalytic properties of furin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 89:10277-10281.

Korner, J., J. Chun, L. O'Bryan, and R. Axel. 1991. Prohormone processing in Xenopus oocytes: characterization of cleavage signals and cleavage enzymes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:11393-11397.

Laframboise, M., T.L. Rudelhuber, I. Jutras, V. Brechler, N.G. Seidah, R. Day, K.W. Gross, and C.F. Deschepper. 1997. Prorenin activation and prohormone convertases in the mouse As4.1 cell line. *Kidney Int.* in press.

Leduc, R., S.S. Molloy, B.A. Thorne, and G. Thomas. 1992. Activation of human furin precursor processing endoprotease occurs by an intramolecular autoproteolytic cleavage. J. Biol. Chem. 267:14304-14308.

Lindberg, I., S.C. Ahn, and M.B. Breslin. 1994. Cellular distributions of the prohormone processing enzymes PC1 and PC2. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 5:614-622.

Lipkind, G., Q. Gong, and D.F. Steiner. 1995. Molecular modeling of the substrate specificity of prohormone convertases SPC2 and SPC3. J. Biol. Chem. 270:13277-13284.

Lusson, J., D. Vieau, J. Hamelin, R. Day, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1993. cDNA structure of the mouse and rat subtilisin/kexin-like PC5: a candidate proprotein convertase expressed in endocrine and nonendocrine cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 90:6691-6695.

Mains, R.E., I.M. Dickerson, V. May, D.A. Stoffers, S.N. Perkins, L. Ouafik, E.J. Husten, and B.A. Eipper. 1990. Cellular and molecular aspects of peptide hormone biosynthesis. *Front. Neuroendocr.* 11:52-89.

Mains, R.E., C.A. Berard, J.-P. Denault, A. Zhou, R.C. Johnson, and R. Leduc. 1997. PACE4: a subtilisin-like endoprotease with unique properties. *Biochem. J.* 321:587-593.

Malide, D., N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and M. Bendayan. 1995. Electron microscopic immunocytochemical evidence for the involvement of the convertases PC1 and PC2 in the processing of proinsulin in pancreatic beta-cells. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 43:11-19.

Marcinkiewicz, M., N.G. Seidah, and M. Chrétien. 1996. Implications of the subtilisin/kexin-like precursor convertases in the development and function of nervous tissues. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp.* 56:287-297.

Marcinkiewicz, M., R. Day, N.G. Seidah, and M. Chrétien. 1993a. Ontogeny of the prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2 in the mouse hypophysis and their colocalization with corticotropin and α -melanocyte. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 90:4922-4926.

Marcinkiewicz, M., P. Touraine, M. Mbikay, and M. Chrétien. 1993b. Expression of neuroendocrine secretory protein 7B2 mRNA in the mouse and rat pituitary gland. *Neuroendocrinology*. 58:89-93.

Marcinkiewicz, M., D. Ramla, N.G. Seidah, and M. Chrétien. 1994. Developmental expression of the prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2 in mouse pancreatic islets. *Endocrinology*. 135:1651-1660.

Martens, G.J., J.A. Braks, D.W. Eib, Y. Zhou, and I. Lindberg. 1994. The neuroendocrine polypeptide 7B2 is an endogenous inhibitor of prohormone convertase PC2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 91:5784-5787.

Martin, S.K., R. Carroll, M. Benig, and D.F. Steiner. 1994. Regulation by glucose of the biosynthesis of PC2, PC3 and proinsulin in (ob/ob) mouse islets of Langerhans. *FEBS Lett.* 356:279-282.

Matthews, G., K.I.J. Shennan, A.J. Seal, N.A. Taylor, A. Colman, and K. Docherty. 1994. Autocatalytic maturation of the prohormone convertase PC2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:588-592.

Mbikay, M., S.G.N. Grant, F. Sirois, H. Tadros, J. Skowronski, C. Lazure, N.G. Seidah, D. Hanahan, and M. Chrétien. 1989. cDNA sequence of neuroendocrine protein 7B2 expressed in beta cell tumors of transgenic mice. *Int. J. Peptide Res.* 33:39-45.

Mbikay, M., M.L. Raffin-Sanson, H. Tadros, F. Sirois, N.G. Seidah, and M. Chrétien. 1994. Structure of the gene for the testis-specific proprotein convertase 4 and of its alternate messenger RNA isoforms. *Genomics*. 20:231-237.

Mbikay, M., N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and E.M. Simpson. 1995. Chromosomal assignment of the genes for proprotein convertases PC4, PC5, and PACE4 in mouse and human. *Genomics*. 26:123-129.

Mbikay, M., H. Tadros, C.P. Lerner, A. Chen, M. El-Alfy, Y. Clermont, N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and E.M. Simpson. 1997. Impaired fertility in mice deficient for the testicular germ-cell protease PC4. in press.

Meerabux, J., M.L. Yaspo, A.J.M. Roebroek, W.J.M. Van de Ven, T.A. Lister, and B.D. Young. 1996. A new member of the proprotein convertase gene family (LPC) is located at a chromosome translocation breakpoint in lymphomas. *Cancer Res.* 56:448-451.

Mercure, C., I. Jutras, R. Day, N.G. Seidah, and T.L. Rudelhuber. 1996. Prohormone convertase PC5 is a candidate processing enzyme for prorenin in the human adrenal cortex. *Hypertension*. 28:840-846.

Miranda, L., J. Wolf, S. Pichuantes, R. Duke, and A. Franzusoff. 1996. Isolation of the human PC6 gene encoding the putative host protease for HIV-1 gp160 processing in CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:7695-7700.

Mitra, A., L.X. Song, and L.D. Fricker. 1994. The C-terminal region of Carboxypeptidase E is involved in membrane binding and intracellular routing in AtT-20 cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:19876-19881.

Moehring, J.M., N.M. Inocencio, B.J. Robertson, and T.J. Moehring. 1993. Expression of mouse furin in a Chinese hamster cell resistant to Pseudomonas exotoxin A and viruses complements the genetic lesion. J. Biol. Chem. 268:2590-2594.

Mojsov, S., G. Heinrich, I.B. Wilson, M. Ravazzola, L. Orci, and J.F. Habener. 1986. Preproglucagon gene expression in pancreas and intestine diversifies at the level of post-translational processing. *J. Biol. Chem.* 261:11880-11889. Molloy, S.S., P. A. Bresnahan, S. H. Leppla, K. R. Klimpel, and G. Thomas. 1992. Human furin is a calcium-dependent serine endoprotease that recognizes the sequence Arg-X-X-Arg and efficiently cleaves anthrax toxin protective antigen. J. Biol. Chem. 267:16396-16402.

Molloy, S.S., L. Thomas, J.K. VanSlyke, P.E. Stenberg, and G. Thomas. 1994. Intracellular trafficking and activation of the furin proprotein convertase: localization to the TGN and recycling from the cell surface. *EMBO J.* 13:18-33.

Mori, K., S. Kii, A. Tsujji, M. Nagahama, A. Imamaki, K. Hayashi, T. Akamatsu, H. Nagamune, and Y. Matsuda. 1997. A novel human PACE4 isoform, PACE4E is an active processing protease containing a hydrophobic cluster at the carboxy terminus. *J. Biochem.* 121:941-948.

Morikawa, Y., E. Barsov, and I. Jones. 1993. Legitimate and illegitimate cleavage of human immunodeficiency virus glycoproteins by furin. J. Virol. 67:3601-3604.

Munzer, J.S., A. Bazak, M. Zhong, A. Mamarbachi, J. Hamelin, D. Savaria, C. Lazure, S. Benjannet, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1997. *In vitro* characterization of the novel proprotein convertase PC7. *J. Biol. Chem.* in press.

Nachtigal, M.W., and H.A. Ingraham. 1996. Bioactivation of Müllerian inhibiting substance during gonadal development by a kex2/subtilisin-like endoprotease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:7711-7716.

Nagamune, H., K. Muramatsu, T. Akamatsu, Y. Tamai, K. Izumi, A. Tsuji, and Y. Matsuda. 1995. Distribution of the Kexin family proteases in pancreatic islets: PACE4C is specifically expressed in B cells of pancreatic islets. *Endocrinology*. 136:357-360.

Naggert, J.K., L.D. Fricker, O. Varleimov, P.M. Nishina, Y. Rouillé, D.F. Steiner, R.J. Carroll, B.J. Paigen, and E.H. Leiter. 1995. Hyperproinsulinemia in obese fat/fat mice is associated carboxypeptidase E mutation which reduces enzyme activity. *Nature Genet*. 10:135-142.

Nakagawa, T., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993a. Identification of an isoform with an extremely large Cys-rich region of PC6, a Kex2-like processing endoprotease. *FEBS Lett.* 327:165-171.

Nakagawa, T., M. Hosaka, S. Torii, T. Watanabe, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993b. Identification of a new member of the mammalian Kex2-like processing endoprotease family: its striking structural similarity to PACE4. *J. Biochem.* 113:132-135.

Nakayama, K., W. -S. Kim, S. Torii, M. Hosaka, T. Nakagawa, J. Ikemizu, T. Baba, and K. Murakami. 1992a. Identification of the fourth member of the mammalian endoprotease family homologous to the yeast Kex2 protease. Its testis-specific expression. J. Biol. Chem. 267:5897-5900.

Nakayama, K., T. Watanabe, T. Nakagawa, W.-S. Kim, M. Nagahama, M. Hosaka, K. Hatsuzawa, K. Kondoh-Hashiba, and K. Murakami. 1992b. Consensus sequence for precursor processing at monoarginyl site. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:16335-16340.

Neerman-Arbez, M., S.V. Sizonenko, and P.A. Halban. 1993. Slow cleavage at the proinsulin B-chain/connecting peptide junction associated with low levels of endoprotease PC1/3 in transformed cells. J. Biol. Chem. 268:16098-16100.

Neerman-Arbez, M., V. Cirulli, and P.A. Halban. 1994. Levels of the conversion endoproteases PC1 (PC3) and PC2 distinguish between insulin-producing pancreatic islet β cells and non- β cells. *Biochem. J.* 300:57-61.

Oda, K., M. Ikeda, E. Tsuji, M. Sohda, N. Takami, Y. Misumi, and Y. Ikehara. 1991. Sequence requirements for the proteolytic cleavage of precursors with paired basic amino acids. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 179:1181-1186.

Ohagi, S., J. LaMendola, M.M. LeBeau, R. Espinosa III, J. Takeda, S. Smeekens, S.J. Chan, and D.F. Steiner. 1992. Identification and analysis of the gene encoding human PC2, a prohormone convertase expressed in neuroendocrine tissues. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 89:4977-4981.

Oliva Jr., A.A., D.F. Steiner, and S.J. Chan. 1995. Proprotein convertases in amphioxus: predicted structure and expression of proteases SPC2 and SPC3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 92:3591-3595.

Ohnishi, Y., T. Shioda, K. Nakayama, S. Iwata, B. Gotoh, M. Hamaguchi, and Y. Nagai. 1994. A furin-defective cell line is able to process correctly the gp160 of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J. Virol.* 68:4075-4079.

Paquet, L., B. Massie, and R.E. Mains. 1996. Proneuropeptide Y processing in large dense-core vesicles: manipulation of prohormone convertase expression in sympathetic neurons using adenoviruses. J. Neurosci. 16:964-973.

Pei, D., and S.J. Weiss. 1995. Furin-dependent intracellular activation of the human stromelysin-3 zymogen. *Nature*. 375:244-247.

Pesheva, P., R. Probstmeier, A.P.N. Skubitz, J.B. McCarthy, L.T. Furcht, and M. Schachner. 1994. Tenascin-R (J1 160/180) inhibits fibronectin-mediated cell adhesion — functional relatedness to tenascin-C. J. Cell Sci. 107:2323-2333.

Peters, K., J. McDowall, and A.M. Rose. 1991. Mutations in the bli-4 (I) locus of Caenorhabditis elegans disrupt both adult cuticle and early larval development. *Genetics*. 129:95-102.

Redding, K., C. Holcomb, and R.S. Fuller. 1991. Immunolocalization of Kex2 protease identifies a putative late Golgi compartment in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J. Cell Biol.* 113:527-538.

Rehemtulla, A., A.J. Dorner, and R.J. Kaufman. 1992. Regulation of PACE propeptideprocessing activity: requirement for post-endoplasmic reticulum compartment and proteolytic activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 89:8235-8239.

Rehemtulla, A., P.J. Barr, C.J. Rhodes, and R.J. Kaufman. 1993. PACE4 is a member of the mammalian propeptidase family that has overlapping but not identical substrate specificity to PACE. *Biochemistry*. 32:11586-11590.

Rhodes, C.J., B. Lincoln, and S.E. Shoelson. 1992. Preferential cleavage of des-31,32proinsulin over intact proinsulin by the insulin secretory type II processing endopeptidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:22719-22727.

Rhodes, C.J., and C. Alarcón. 1994. What beta-cell defect could lead to hyperproinsulinemia in NIDDM? Some clues from recent advances made in understanding the proinsulin-processing mechanism. *Diabetes.* 43:511-517.

Robertson, B.J., J.M. Moehring, and T.J. Moehring. 1993. Defective processing of the insulin receptor in an endoprotease-deficient Chinese hamster cell strain is corrected by expression of mouse furin. J. Biol. Chem. 268:24274-24277.

Roebroek, A.J.M., J.A. Schalken, J.A.M. Leunissen, C. Onnekink, H.P.J. Bloemers, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1986. Evolutionary conserved close linkage of the c-fes/fps protooncogene and genetic sequences encoding a receptor-like protein. *EMBO J.* 5:2197-2202.

Roebroek, A.J.M., I.G.L. Pauli, Y. Zhang, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1991. cDNA sequence of a Drosophila melanogaster gene, Dfur1, encoding a protein structurally related to the subtilisin-like proprotein processing enzyme furin. *FEBS Lett.* 289:133-137.

Roebroek, A.J.M., J.W.M. Creemers, I.G.L. Pauli, U. Kurzik-Dumke, M. Rentrop, E.A.F. Gateff, J.A.M. Leunissen, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1992. Cloning and functional expression of Dfurin2, a subtilisin-like proprotein processing enzyme of Drosophila melanogaster with multiple repeats of a cysteine motif. J. Biol. Chem. 267:17208-17215.

Roebroek, A.J.M., J.W.M. Creemers, I.G.L. Pauli, T. Bogaert, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1993. Generation of structural and functional diversity in furin-like proteins in Drosophila melanogaster by alternative splicing of the Dfurl gene. *EMBO J.* 12:1853-1870.

Roebroek, A.J.M., J.W.M. Creemers, T.A. Ayoubi, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1994. Furin-mediated proprotein processing activity: involvement of negatively charged amino acid residues in the substrate binding region. *Biochimie*. 76:210-216.

Rothenberg, M.E., C.D. Eilertson, K. Klein, Y. Zhou, I. Lindberg, J.K. McDonald, R.B. Mackin, and B.D. Noe. 1995. Processing of mouse proglucagon by recombinant prohormone convertase 1 and immunopurified prohormone convertase 2 in vitro. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:10136-10146.

Rothenberg, M.E., C.D. Eilertson, K. Klein, R.B. Mackin, and B.D. Noe. 1996. Evidence for redundancy in propeptide/prohormone convertase activities in processing proglucagon: an antisense study. *Mol. Endocrin.* 10:331-341.

Rouillé, Y, G. Westermark, S.K. Martin, and D.F. Steiner. 1994. Proglucagon is processed to glucagon by prohormone convertase PC2 in alpha TC1-6 cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 91:3242-3246.

Rouillé, Y, S.J. Duguay, K. Lund, M. Furuta, Q.M. Gong, G. Lipkind, A.A. Oliva Jr., S.J. Chan, and D.F. Steiner. 1995a. Proteolytic processing mechanisms in the biosynthesis of neuroendocrine peptides: the subtilisin-like proprotein convertases. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 16:322-361.

Rouillé, Y, S.K. Martin, and D.F. Steiner. 1995b. Differential processing of proglucagon by the subtilisin-like prohormone convertases PC2 and PC3 to generate either glucagon or glucagon-like peptide. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:26488-26496.

Ruoslahti, E., and M.D. Pierschbacher. 1986. Arg-Gly-Asp: a versatile cell recognition signal. Cell. 44:517-518.

Sariola, M., J. Saraste, and E. Kuismanen. 1995. Communication of post-Golgi elements with early endocytic pathway: regulation of endoproteolytic cleavage of Semliki Forest virus p62 precursor. *J. Cell Sci.* 108:2465-2475.

Schäfer, M. K.-H., R. Day, W.E. Cullinan, M. Chrétien, N.G. Seidah, and S.J. Watson. 1993. Gene expression of prohormone and proprotein convertase in the rat CNS: a comparative in situ hybridization analysis. *J. Neurosci.* 13:1258-1279.

Schäfer, W., A. Stroh, S. Berhöfer, J. Seiler, M. Vey, M.-L. Kruse, H.F. Kern, H.-D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1995. Two independent targeting signals in the cytoplasmic domain determine the trans-Golgi network localization and endosomal trafficking of the proprotein convertase furin. *EMBO J.* 14:2424-2435.

Schmidt, W.K., and H.P. Moore. 1995. Ionic milieu controls the compartment-specific activation of proopiomelanocortin processing in AtT-20 cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 6:1271-1285.

Schnabel, E., R.E. Mains, and M.G. Farquhar. 1989. Proteolytic processing of pro-ACTH/endorphin begins in the Golgi complex of pituitary corticotrophes and AtT-20 cells. *Mol. Endocr.* 3:1223-1235.

Scopsi, L., M. Gullo, F. Rilke, S. Martin, and D.F. Steiner. 1995. Proprotein convertases (PC1/PC3 and PC2) in normal and neoplastic human tissues: their use as markers of neuroendocrine differentiation. J. Clin. Endocr. Metab. 80:294-301.

Seidah, N.G., K.L. Hsi, G. De Serres, J. Rochemont, J. Hamelin, T. Antakly, M. Cantin, and M. Chrétien. 1983. Isolation and NH2-terminal sequence of a highly conserved human and porcine pituitary protein belonging to a new superfamily. Immunocytochemical localization in pars distalis and pars nervosa of the pituitary and in the supraoptic nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 225:525-534.

Seidah, N.G., R. Day, and M. Chrétien. 1993. The family of prohormone and proprotein convertases. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 21:685-691.

Seidah, N.G., M. Chrétien, and R. Day. 1994. The family of subtilisin/kexin like proprotein and prohormone convertases: divergent or shared functions. *Biochimie*. 76:197-209.

Seidah, N.G., L. Gaspar, P. Mion, M. Marcinkiewicz, M. Mbikay, and M. Chrétien. 1990. cDNA sequence of two distinct pituitary proteins homologous to Kex2 and furin gene products: tissue-specific mRNAs encoding candidates for pro-hormone processing proteinases. *DNA Cell Biol.* 9:415-424.

Seidah, N.G., M. Marcinkiewicz, S. Benjannet, L. Gaspar, G. Beaubien, M.G. Mattei, C. Lazure, M. Mbikay, and M. and Chrétien. 1991a. cDNA sequence of two distinct pituitary proteins homologous to Kex2 and furin gene products: tissue-specific mRNAs encoding candidates for pro-hormone processing proteinases. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 5:111-122.

Seidah, N.G., M.G. Mattei, L. Gaspar, S. Benjannet, M. Mbikay, and M. Chrétien. 1991b. Chromosomal assignments of the genes for neuroendocrine convertase PC1 (NEC1) to human 5q15-21, neuroendocrine convertase PC2 (NEC2) to human 20p11.1-11.2, and furin (mouse 7[D1-E2] region). *Genomics.* 11:103-107.

Seidah, N.G., R. Day, J. Hamelin, A. Gaspar, M.W. Collard, and M. Chrétien. 1992. Testicular expression of PC4 in the rat: molecular diversity of a novel germ cell-specific Kex2/Subtilisin-like proprotein convertase. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 6:1559-1570.

Seidah, N.G., S. Benjannet, S. Pareek, M. Chrétien, and R.A. Murphy. 1996a. Cellular processing of the neurotrophin precursors of NT3 and BDNF by the mammalian proprotein convertases. *FEBS Lett.* 379:247-250.

Seidah, N.G., S. Benjannet, S. Pareek, D. Savaria, J. Hamelin, B. Goulet, J. Laliberté, C. Lazure, M. Chrétien, and R.A. Murphy. 1996b. Cellular processing of the nerve growth factor precursor by the mammalian pro-protein convertases. *Biochem. J.* 314:951-960.

Seidah, N.G., J. Hamelin, M. Mamarbachi, W. Dong, H. Tadros, M. Mbikay, M. Chrétien, and R. Day. 1996c. cDNA structure, tissue distribution and chromosomal localization of rat PC7: a novel mammalian proprotein convertase closest to yeast kexin-like proteinases. *Proc Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 93:3388-3393.

Seidah, N.G. R. Day, M. Marcinkiewicz, and M. Chrétien. 1997. Precursor convertases: an evolutionary ancient, cell specific, combinatorial mechanism yielding diverse bioactive peptides and proteins. *Ann. NY. Acad. Sci. USA*. in press.

Shen, F.S., N.G. Seidah, and I. Lindberg. 1993. Biosynthesis of the prohormone convertase PC2 in Chinese hamster ovary cells and in rat insulinoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 268:24910-24915.

Shennan, K.I.J., N.A. Taylor, J.L. Jermany, G. Matthews, and K. Docherty. 1995. Differences in pH optima and calcium requirements for maturation of the prohormone convertases PC2 and PC3 indicates different intracellular locations of these events. J. Biol. Chem. 270:18646-1402-1407.

Shennan, K.I.J., N.A. Taylor, and K. Docherty. 1994. Calcium- and pH-dependent aggregation and membrane association of the precursor of the prohormone convertase PC2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:18646-18650.

Siezen, R.J., J.W.M. Creemers, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1994. Homology modeling of the catalytic domain of human furin. A model for the eukaryotic subtilisin-like proprotein convertases. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 222:255-266.

Siezen, R.J., W.M. De Vos, J.A.M. Leunissen, and B.W. Dijkstra. 1991. Homology modeling and protein engineering strategy of subtilases, the family of subtilisin-like serine proteases. *Protein Eng.* 4:719-737.

Smeekens, S.P., and D.F. Steiner. 1992. Processing of peptide precursors. Identification of a new family of mammalian proteases. *Cell Biophys.* 19:45-55.

Smeekens, S.P., and D.F. Steiner. 1990. Identification of a cDNA encoding a second putative prohormone convertase related to PC2 in AtT-20 cells and islets of Langerhans. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265:2997-3000.

Smeekens, S.P., A.S. Avruch, J. LaMendola, S.J. Chan, and D.F. Steiner. 1991. Identification of a cDNA encoding a second putative prohormone convertase related to PC2 in AtT-20 cells and islets of Langerhans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:340-344.

Smeekens, S.P., A.G. Montag, G. Thomas, C. Albiges-Rizo, R. Carroll, M. Benig, L.A. Phillips, S. Martin, S. Ohagi, P. Gardner, H.H. Swift, and D.F. Steiner. 1992. Proinsulin processing by the subtilisin-related proprotein convertases furin, PC2, and PC3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 89:8822-8826.

Smit, A.B., S. Spijker, and W.P.M. Geraerts. 1992. Molluscan putative prohormone convertases: structural diversity in the central nervous system of *Lymnaea stagnalis*. *FEBS Lett.* 312:213-218.

Smit, A.B., S. Spijker, G.T. Nagle, S.L. Knock, A. Kurosky, and W.P.M. Geraerts. 1994. Structural characterization of a *Lymnaea* putative endoprotease related to human furin. *FEBS Lett.* 343:27-31.

Stieneke-Gröber, A., M. Vey, H. Angliker, E. Shaw, G. Thomas, C. Roberts, H.-D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1992. Influenza virus hemagglutinin with multibasic cleavage site is activated by furin, a subtilisin-like serine protease. *EMBO J.* 11:2407-2414.

Steiner, D.F. 1967. Evidence for a precursor in the biosynthesis of insulin. Trans. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 30:60-68.

Steiner, D.F., and P.E. Oyer. 1969. The biosynthesis of insulin and a probable precursor of insulin by human islet cell adenoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 57:473-480.

Steiner, D.F., D. Cunnigham, L. Spigelman, and B. Aten. 1967. Insulin biosynthesis: evidence for a precursor. *Science*. 157:697-700.

Suzuki, A., M. Yoshida, H. Yamamoto, and E. Ozawa. 1992. Glycoprotein-binding site of dystrophin is confined to the cysteine-rich domain and the first half of the carboxy-terminal domain. *FEBS Lett.* 308:154-160.

Takahashi, S., K. Kasai, K. Hatsuzawa, N. Kitamura, Y. Misumi, Y. Ikehara, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993. A mutation of furin causes the lack of precursor-processing activity in human colon carcinoma LoVo cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* 195:1019-1026.

Takahashi, S., T. Nakagawa, T. Banno, T. Watanabe, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1995a. Localization of furin to the *trans*-Golgi Network and recycling from the cell surface involves Ser and Tyr residues within the cytoplasmic domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:28397-28401.

Takahashi, S., T. Nakagawa, K. Kasai, T. Banno, S.J. Duguay, W.J.M. Van de Ven, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1995b. A second mutant allele of furin in the processingincompetent cell line, LoVo. Evidence for involvement of the homo B domain in autocatalytic activation. J. Biol. Chem. 270:26565-26569.

Tanaka, S., S. Kurabuchi, H. Mochida, T. Kato, S. Takahashi, T. Watanabe, and K. Nakayama. 1996. Immunocytochemical localization of prohormone convertases PC1/PC3 and PC2 in rat pancreatic islets. *Arch. Hist. Cyt.* 59:261-271.

Thacker, C., K. Peters, M. Srayko, and A. Rose. 1995. The *bli-4* locus of *Caenorhabditis elegans* encodes structurally distinct Kex2/subtilisin-like endoproteases essential for early development and adult morphology. *Genes Develop.* 9:956-971.

Thomas, L., R. Leduc, B.A. Thorne, S.P. Smeekens, D.F. Steiner, and G. Thomas. 1991. Kex2-like endoproteases PC2 and PC3 accurately cleave a model prohormone in mammalian cells: evidence for a common core of neuroendocrine processing enzymes. *Proc Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:5297-5301.

Torii, S., T. Yamagishi, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993. Localization of Kex2-like processing endoproteases, furin and PC4, within mouse testis by *in situ* hybridization. *FEBS Lett.* 316:12-16.

Trowbridge, I.S. 1991. Endocytosis and signals for internalization. Curr. Op. Cell Biol. 3:634-641.

Tsuji, A., K. Higashine, C. Hine, K. Mori, Y. Tamai, H. Nagamune, and Y. Matsuda. 1994. Identification of novel cDNAs encoding human kexin-like protease, PACE4 isoforms. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 200:943-950.

Tsuneoka, M., K. Nakayama, K. Hatsuzawa, M. Komada, N. Kitamura, and E. Mekada. 1993. Evidence for involvement of furin in cleavage and activation of diphtheria toxin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:26461-26465.

Van De Ven, W.J.M., J. Voorberg, R. Fontijn, H. Pannekoek, A.M.W. Van Den Ouweland, J.L.P. Van Duijnhoven, A.J.M. Roebroek, and R.J. Siezen. 1990. Furin is a subtilisin-like proprotein processing enzyme in higher eucaryotes. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 14:265-275.

Van Den Ouweland, A.M.W., H.L.P. Van Duijnhoven, G.D. Keizer, L.C.J. Dorssers, W.J.M. Van De Ven. 1990. Structural homology between the human fur gene product and the subtilisin-like protease encoded by yeast KEX2. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18:664.

van Horssen, A.M., W.H. van den Hurk, E.M. Bailyes, J.C. Hutton, G.J. Martens, and I. Lindberg. 1995. Identification of the region within the neuroendocrine polypeptide 7B2 responsible for the inhibition of prohormone convertase PC2. J. Biol. Chem. 270:14292-14296.

Vey, M., W. Schäfer, S. Berghofer, H.D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1994. Maturation of the *trans*-Golgi network protease furin: compartmentalization of propeptide removal, substrate cleavage, and COOH-terminal truncation. J. Cell Biol. 127:1829-1842.

Vidricaire, G., J-B. Denault, and R. Leduc. 1993. Characterization of a secreted form of human furin endoprotease. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 195:1011-1018.

Vindrola, O., and I. Lindberg. 1992. Biosynthesis of the prohormone convertase mPC1 in AtT-20 cells. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 6:1088-1094.

Vollenweider, F., J.-C. Irminger, D.J. Gross, L. Villa-Komaroff, and P.A. Halban. 1992. Processing of proinsulin by transfected hepatoma (FAO) cells. J. Biol. Chem. 267:14629-14636. Vollenweider, F., S. Benjannet, E. Decroly, D. Savaria, C. Lazure, G. Thomas, M. Chrétien and S.G. Seidah. 1996. Comparative cellular processing of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) envelope glycoprotein gp160 by the mammalian subtilisin/kexin-like convertases. *Biochem. J.* 314:521-532.

Voorhees, P., E. Deignan, E. van Donselaar, J. Humphrey, M.S. Marks, P.J. Peters, and J.S. Bonifacino. 1995. An acidic sequence within the cytoplasmic domain of furin functions as a determinant of *trans*-Golgi Network localization and internalization from the cell surface. *EMBO J.* 14:4961-4975.

Ward, C.W., P.A. Hoyne, and R.H. Flegg. 1995. Insulin and epidermal growth factor receptors contain the cysteine repeat motif found in the tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Proteins: Structure, Function and Genetics.* 22:141-153.

Wasley, L.C., A. Rehemtulla, J.A. Bristol, and R.J. Kaufman. 1993. PACE/furin can process the vitamin K-dependent pro-factor IX precursor within the secretory pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:8458-8465.

Watanabe, T., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993. Positional and additive effects of basic amino acids on processing of precursor proteins within the constitutive secretory pathway. *FEBS Lett.* 320:215-218.

Watanabe, T., T. Nakagawa, J. Ikemizu, M. Nagahama, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1992. Sequence requirements for precursor cleavage within the constitutive secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 267:8270-8274.

Wetsel, W.C., Z. Liposits, N.G. Seidah, and S. Collins. 1995. Expression of candidate pro-GnRH processing enzymes in rat hypothalamus and an immortalized hypothalamic neuronal cell line. *Neuroendocrinology*. 62:166-177.

Wilcox, C.A., and R.S. Fuller. 1991. Post-translational processing of the prohormonecleaving Kex2 protease in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* secretory pathway. *J. Cell Biol.* 115:297-307.

Wilcox, C.A., K. Redding, R. Wright, and R.S. Fuller. 1992. Mutation of a tyrosine localization signal in the cytosolic tail of yeast Kex2 protease disrupts Golgi retention and results in default transport to the vacuole. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 3:1353-1371.

Willnow, T.E., J.M. Moehring, N.M. Inocencio, T.J. Moehring, and J. Herz. 1996. The low-density-lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) is processed by furin in vivo and in vitro. *Biochem. J.* 313:71-76.
Wise, R.J., P.J. Barr, P.A. Wong, M.C. Kiefer, A.J. Brake, and R.J. Kaufman. 1990. Expression of a proprotein processing enzyme: correct cleavage of the von Willebrand factor precursor at a paired basic amino acid site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 87:9378-9382.

Yoshimasa, Y., J.I. Paul, J. Whittaker, and D.F. Steiner. 1990. Effects of amino acid replacements within the tetrabasic cleavage site on the processing of the human insulin receptor precursor expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Biol. Chem. 265:17230-17237.

Zhong, M., S. Benjannet, C. Lazure, S. Munzer, and N.G. Seidah. 1996. Functional analysis of human PACE4-A and PACE4-C isoforms: identification of a new PACE4-CS isoform. *FEBS Lett.* 396:31-36.

Zhou, A., and R.E. Mains. 1994. Endoproteolytic processing of proopiomelanocortin and prohormone convertases 1 and 2 in neuroendocrine cells overexpressing prohormone convertases 1 or 2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:17440-17447.

Zhou, A., B.T. Bloomquist, and R.E. Mains. 1993. The prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2 mediate distinct endoproteolytic cleavages in a strict temporal order during proopiomelanocortin biosynthetic processing. J. Biol. Chem. 268:1763-1769.

Zhou, A., L. Paquet, and R.E. Mains. 1995. Structural elements which direct specific processing of different mammalian subtilisin-like prohormone convertases. J. Biol. Chem. 270:21509-21516.

Zhou, Y., and I. Lindberg. 1993. Purification and characterization of the prohormone convertase PC1 (PC3). J. Biol. Chem. 268:5615-5623.

Zhou, Y., and I. Lindberg. 1994. Enzymatic properties of carboxyl-terminally truncated prohormone convertase 1 (PC1/SPC3) and evidence for autocatalytic conversion. J. Biol. Chem. 269:18408-18413.

Zhou, Y., C. Rovere, P. Kitabgi, and I. Lindberg. 1995. Mutational analysis of PC1 (SPC3) in PC12 cells. 66-kDa PC1 is fully functional. J. Biol. Chem. 270:24702-24706.

Zhu, X.R., Y. Rouillé, N.S. Lamango, D.F. Steiner, and I. Lindberg. 1996. Internal cleavage of the inhibitory 7B2 carboxy-terminal peptide by PC2: A potential mechanism for its inactivation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:4919-4924.

Zhu, X., and I. Lindberg. 1995. 7B2 facilitates the maturation of proPC2 in neuroendocrine cells and is required for the expression of enzymatic activity. *J. Cell Biol.* 129:1641-1650.

Chapter C

Processing specificity and biosynthesis of the Drosophila melanogaster convertases dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X and dfurin2.

Isabelle De Bie, Diane Savaria, Anton J.M. Roebroek, Robert Day, Claude Lazure, Wim J.M. Van de Ven and Nabil G. Seidah

Reproduced from the Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1995; 270:1020-1028, by copyright permission of The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Inc.

Processing Specificity and Biosynthesis of the Drosophila melanogaster Convertases dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X, and dfurin2*

(Received for publication, August 30, 1994, and in revised form, October 24, 1994)

Isabelle De Bie‡, Diane Savaria‡, Anton J. M. Roebroek§, Robert Day‡, Claude Lazure¶, Wim J. M. Van de Ven§, and Nabil G. Seidah‡

From the J. A. DeSève Laboratories of ‡Biochemical Neuroendocrinology and WNeuropeptides Structure and Metabolism, Clinical Research Institute of Montreal, Montreal, Quebec H2W 1R7, Canada and the §Laboratory for Molecular Oncology, Center for Human Genetics, University of Leuven, Herestraat 49, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium

Pro-protein and pro-hormone convertases are subtilisin/kexin-like enzymes implicated in the activation of numerous precursors by cleavage at sites mostly composed of pairs of basic amino acids. Six members of this family of enzymes have been identified in mammals and named furin (also called PACE), PC1 (also called PC3), PC2, PACE4, PC4, and PC5 (also called PC6). Multiple transcripts are produced for all the mammalian convertases, but only in the cases of PC4, PACE4, and PC5 does differential splicing result in the modification of the C-terminal sequence of these enzymes. A similar molecular diversity is also observed for the convertases of Hydra vulgaris, Caenorhabditis elegans, and Drosophila melanogaster. In the third species, two genes homologous to human furin called Dfur1 and Dfur2 have been identified. The Dfur1 gene undergoes differential splicing to generate three type I membrane-bound proteins called dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin1-X, which differ only in their C-terminal sequence. By using recombinant vaccinia viruses that express each of the dfurin proteins, we investigated the potential effect of the C-terminal domain on their catalytic specificities. For this purpose, these enzymes were coexpressed with the precursors pro-7B2, pro-opiomelanocortin, and pro-dynorphin in a number of cell lines, and the processed products obtained were characterized. Our studies demonstrate that these proteases display cleavage specificities similar to that of mammalian furin but not to that of PC2. In contrast, we noted significant differences in the biosynthetic fates of these convertases. All dfurins undergo rapid removal of their transmembrane domain within the endoplasmic reticulum, resulting in the release of several truncated soluble forms. However, in the media of cells containing secretory granules, such as GH4C1 and AtT-20, dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2 predominate over dfurinl, whereas dfurin1-X is never detected. While pro-segment removal occurs predominantly in the trans-Golgi network for all the dfurins, in the presence of brefeldin A, only dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2 can undergo partial zymogen cleavage. The conclusions drawn from the results of this study may well be applicable to the mammalian convertases PC4, PACE4, and PC5, which also display C-terminal sequence heterogeneity.

Post-translational endoproteolysis of precursor proteins is one of the mechanisms by which cells increase the diversity of their biologically active products. Initial cleavage of pro-proteins usually occurs at well defined sites consisting generally of pairs of basic amino acids, frequently Lys-Arg or Arg-Arg, but also at specific monobasic sites usually occupied by a single Arg (1-3). Recently, a number of mammalian genes and cDNAs encoding subtilisin-like enzymes have been identified, and these candidate processing enzymes were proposed to be responsible for the cleavage at dibasic and monobasic sites of precursor proteins (for reviews see Refs. 3-6). The substrate precursors include those of polypeptide hormones, neuropeptides, growth factors, growth factor receptors, certain plasma proteins, and viral envelope glycoproteins. Human furin, which is encoded by the fur gene, is ubiquitously expressed in all tissues and represents the first identified mammalian member of this family of convertases (7, 8). The other mammalian convertases are the neural and endocrine-specific PC1 (Refs. 9 and 10; also called PC3 in Ref. 11), PC2 (9, 12), the widely distributed PACE4 (13), PC5 (Ref. 14, also called PC6 in Ref. 15), and the testis-specific PC4 (16, 17). Several of these mammalian enzymes were found to have counterparts in other species, such as the PC1-like (or PC3-like) protein from Hydra vulgaris (18) and anglerfish (19), the PC1, PC2, and furin-like cDNAs of Aplysia californica (20, 21), the PC2 and furin-like structures of Lymnaea stagnalis (22), the furin-like bli-4 gene product of Caenorhabditis elegans (23), Xen-14 and Xen-18 of Xenopus laevis (24), and the furin-like enzymes of Drosophila melanogaster (25-28).

The process of alternative splicing with the consequent production of several mRNA transcripts has been demonstrated for several members of the pro-protein convertase family, including human (h)¹ PACE4 (13, 29), rat (r) and mouse (m) PC4 (16), mPC5 (also called PC6) (14, 30), Hydra PC1 (also called PC3) (18), and Drosophila (d) dfurin1 (28). In D. melanogaster, the fur-like sequences dfurin1 and dfurin2 were reported to originate from two distinct genes (27, 28). In addition, Northern blot analysis of Drosophila embryos revealed that expression of the Dfur1 gene generated four different sizes of transcripts encoding three proteins differing in their C-terminal sequence, which were called dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin1-X (28). The predicted structural characteristics of the dfurin1-related enzymes are shown in Fig. 1, where they are compared to those of dfurin2, hfurin, mPC5 (also called PC6),

^{*} This work was supported by the Medical Research Council of Canada Grant PG11474 (to N. G. S. and M. C.) The costs of publication of this article were defrayed in part by the payment of page charges. This article must therefore be hereby marked "advertisement" in accordance with 18 U.S.C. Section 1734 solely to indicate this fact.

To whom correspondence should be addressed: J. A. DeSève Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, Clinical Research Inst. of Montreal, 110 Pine Ave. West, Montreal, Quebec H2W 1R7, Canada. Tel.: 514-987-5609; Fax: 514-987-5542.

¹ The abbreviations used are: h, human; POMC, pro-opiomelanocortin; r, rat; m, mouse; d, *Drosophila*; pfu, plaque-forming unit; PAGE, polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; TMD, transmembrane domain; ER, endcplasmic reticulum; TGN, *trans*-Golgi network; β -LPH, β -lipotropin hormone; β -END, β -endorphin.



FIG. 1. Alignment of Drosophila and mammalian pro-hormone convertases. Legend to protein domains is depicted at the *bottom*, and the amino acid length of each convertase is given at the *right* of the picture.

and hPACE4. The dfurin1 isoforms are identical in structure from their N terminus up to their catalytic region but exhibit different structural domains in their C-terminal segments. Notably, the dfurin1-CRR isoform possesses a cysteine-rich domain that is also seen in dfurin2, hfurin, hPACE4, and mPC5 (also called PC6) (Fig. 1). Conservation of the Cys-rich motif in these various convertases suggests an important function for this segment of the molecule. However, complete deletion of this domain in mfurin did not seem to affect the capacity of this enzyme to intracellularly cleave coexpressed mutated ($M2R^{-4}$) mouse pro-renin (31). In an attempt to understand the functional importance of the C-terminal diversity of dfurin1-related enzymes, Roebroek et al. (28) coexpressed each of these convertases with either pro-von Willebrand factor or $pro-\beta_A$ -activin as substrates. In that study, no significant differences with regard to the cleavage specificity of dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin1-X were observed. In contrast, although dfurin2 was able to efficiently process pro-von Willebrand factor, it was highly limited in its capacity to cleave pro- β_{A} -activin (28). So far, aside from dfurin1 and dfurin2, no other convertases have been reported in Drosophila. In addition, the dfurin1 isoforms revealed non-overlapping tissue distribution during the various stages of embryonic development (28) and were found to be expressed within various organs, including the central nervous system and hindgut (26, 28). This suggests widespread but distinct functions and/or cellular localization for each gene product and its isoforms. However, the endogenous Drosophila substrates are not yet known.

In this study, in order to define the cleavage selectivity of each convertase and its isoforms, we compared their catalytic properties to those of the mammalian enzymes PC1, PC2, and furin by cellular coexpression of vaccinia virus recombinants of dfurins with selected precursor substrates. This allowed us to probe whether the C-terminal variable segments of the dfurin1 isoforms can affect their cellular cleavage selectivity. Our selection of representative substrates was based on the classification proposed by Bresnahan *et al.* (32), where precursors are subdivided into three categories: Type I precursors contain the consensus Arg-Xaa-(Lys/Arg)-Arg \downarrow sequence at their cleavage site. These pro-proteins include growth factors and proteins usually processed within cells expressing furin and possibly PACE4 and/or PC5 (7). Type II precursors exhibit a pair of basic residues at the site of cleavage but no Arg residue at the P4 position. Representative examples include most pro-hormones, such as pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), which is found in cells containing secretory granules and is now known to be processed *in vivo* by PC1 and PC2 (33). Finally, type III precursors are cleaved at a monobasic site usually represented by a single Arg \downarrow such as the C-peptide cleavage site of prodynorphin (34). Aside from defining the cleavage selectivity of each enzyme, we also characterized the biosynthetic products of each dfurin and defined their kinetics of synthesis and post-translational modifications.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Construction of Recombinant Vaccinia Viruses—The dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin1-X cDNA inserts were excised from the plasmid pGEM11Zf(+) by initial XbaI digestion. The dfurin2 cDNA was excised from pGEM-3Zf(+) by digestion with RcaI. All of these linearized digestion products were blunted and subsequently digested with HindIII. These inserts were then ligated into a vaccinia virus transfer vector pMJ601 (35) linearized with SmaI/HindIII. The Dfur1-X cDNA insert was also excised from a pSVL vector and cloned into a pVV3derived transfer vector (36). Expression of dfurin1-X-PVV and the expression of dfurin1-X-PMJ are driven by a vaccinia late promoter (36) and a synthetic promoter (35), respectively. The vectors containing the dfurin inserts were then used to generate recombinant vaccinia viruses (VV:dfur1, VV:dfur1-CRR, VV:dfur1-X, VV:dfur1-X.PVV, and VV:dfur2) as previously reported (33).

Cellular Infections by Vaccinia Virus Recombinants—In this work we have used four types of cells, two of which do not have secretory granules and two of which contain dense core secretory granules: LoVo human colon carcinoma cells (American Type Tissue Collection), which do not express a functional furin (37) and do not contain secretory granules; BSC40 African green monkey kidney cells, which also do not contain secretory granules; and GH4C1 rat somatomamotroph cells and AtT-20 mouse anterior pituitary cells, both of which contain dense core secretory granules. Aside from the VV:dfurins, the other vaccinia viruses used in the present studies consisted of either the wild type virus (VV:wt) or the recombinants VV:mPC1, VV:mPC2 (33), VV:hfur (38, 39), VV:mPOMC, VV:pro-m7B2 (40), and VV:rdynorphin (41). All infections and coinfections were performed at a multiplicity of infection of 1 plaque forming unit (pfu/cell for each virus used as described previously (33).

Cellular Expression and Radiolabeling Studies—Biosynthetic analyses were performed as described previously (33, 38, 39). Briefly, 17 h postinfection, cells were washed and then switched for 1 h to a methionine-free medium (RPMI 1640, Life Technologies, Inc.) supplemented with 0.5% fetal calf serum. Subsequently, cells were either pulselabeled with [35S]methionine (100 µCi/ml) for 1 or 2 h or for 8 or 15 min and then chased for 45 or 60 min or for 120 min, respectively, in the presence of excess unlabeled methionine. In temperature block experiments, the cells were preincubated without methionine at 37 °C and then pulse-labeled with [35S]methionine for 2 h at either 37 or 20 °C. In experiments using brefeldin A or tunicamycin, cells were preincubated and incubated with either brefeldin A or tunicamycin as described before (39). In experiments with ionophore A23187, infected cells were preincubated in RPMI 1640 medium lacking methionine for 1 h and subsequently incubated in calcium-free medium containing 1 μ l/ml of 5 mM A23187 dissolved in ethanol. At the end of the incubation period, the media were removed and cells were disrupted in lysis buffer (10 mm Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 1 mM EDTA, and 20 $\mu g/ml$ phenyimethylsulfonyl fluoride) by incubation on ice for 20 min. The media and cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with various antisera, and the precipitates were analyzed by electrophoresis on SDS-polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE) followed by autoradiography.

Immunoprecipitations and SDS-PAGE Analyses-All immunoprecipitations were performed as described before (33). For dfurin1 and dfurin2 (28), 10 μ l of the corresponding antibodies were used per ml of either medium or cell lysate. For POMC-derived peptides, the polyclonal antibodies used recognize either adenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) (AT-1) or β -endorphin (β -END) (AT-2) containing peptides (33). The N-terminal human furin polyclonal antibody was obtained by immunization of rabbits using an octopus-branched synthetic peptide approach already used for the PCI N-terminal antibody (38, 39). The peptide chosen consisted of the sequence Pro-Asp-Val-Tyr-Gln-Glu-Pro-Thr-Asp-Pro-Lys-Phe-Gln, representing residues 108-120 of rat furin (42). The 7B2 polyclonal antibody used was directed against the conserved 23-39 sequence of human 7B2 (43). For each coexpression experiment, the levels of convertases synthesized as well as the secreted products of either POMC or pro-7B2 were evaluated in parallel by specific immunoprecipitations followed by analysis by SDS-PAGE. The immunoprecipitation products were resolved by SDS-PAGE on either 6% gels, for dfurins, or 15% gels, for mPOMC and m7B2 products, followed by autoradiography. For preparative purposes, immunoprecipitated dfurin1 proteins were resolved on 6% SDS-PAGE gels, which were sliced (1 mm). The eluted radiolabeled proteins were subjected to microsequence analysis on an Applied Biosystems model 470A sequenator as described (39, 40).

Chromatography and Radioimmunoassays—Chromatography and radioimmunoassays were performed as described previously (34, 41). Briefly, 17 h postinfection, LoVo cells coinfected with VV:rdynorphin, and each of the VV:dfurins were incubated in Ham's F-12 medium (Life Technologies, Inc.) for 3 h. The media (1.5 ml) were deposited on a Sephadex G-50 (Pharmacia) column (1.5 \times 90 cm) equilibrated with 1% formic acid and 0.1% bovine serum albumin, as reported earlier (34). The collected fractions (2 ml) were dried, resuspended in 1 ml of 1:1 methanol: HCl (v/v), and assayed for C-peptide immunoreactivity by a specific radioimmunoassay using a C-terminally directed antiserum (34). Using trypsin-digested pro-dynorphin, which releases the C-peptide quantitatively, we estimated that this antiserum recognizes the free C-peptide about 35-fold better than when it is attached to pro-dynorphin.

RESULTS

Comparative Cleavage Specificity of dfurin Convertases-In order to compare the cleavage selectivity of the three dfurin1 isoforms with each other and with dfurin2, we selected three representative precursor substrates, pro-7B2 (type I), POMC (type II), and pro-dynorphin (type III), which were coexpressed with the dfurins using vaccinia virus as a cellular expression system. For pro-7B2 and pro-dynorphin, coinfection studies were performed in a constitutively secreting human colon carcinoma LoVo cell line (37). This cell line, which is devoid of endogenous active furin, was chosen because we have recently shown that pro-7B2 is rapidly cleaved into 7B2 by furin (44) and that pro-dynorphin is synthesized and processed in adrenal cortex cells, which lack secretory granules (45). For POMC, a precursor exclusively synthesized in regulated cells, we chose the rat somatomammotroph cell line GH4C1, in which we previously demonstrated the capacity of PC1, PC2, and furin to process POMC (39). For each coexpression experiment, the amounts of convertases synthesized were evaluated by specific immunoprecipitations (see Figs. 5 and 8).



FIG. 2. Analysis of proteolytic processing of pro-m7B2 by the dfurins. LoVo cells were coinfected with 1 pfu of VV:pro-m7B2 and 1 pfu of VV:wt (*wt*), VV:mPC1 (*mpc1*), VV:mPC2 (*mPC2*), VV:hfurin (*hfur*), VV:dfurin1 (*dfur1*), VV:dfurin1-CRR (*1-CRR*), VV:dfurin1-X (*1-X*), or VV:dfurin2 (*dfur2*). Cells were pulsed for 15 min with [³⁵S]methionine and chased for 45 min in the presence of excess unlabeled methionine. Media were then immunoprecipitated and resolved by electrophoresis as described under "Materials and Methods." Molecular mass markers and the relative positions of pro- and mature m7B2 are indicated.

Coexpression of pro-m7B2 and dfurins in LoVo Cells—The cleavage site of pro-m7B2 contains a pentabasic sequence Arg-Arg-Lys-Arg-Arg¹⁵⁵ \downarrow (40, 46) and fits the Arg⁻⁴-Xaa-(Lys/Arg)-Arg⁻¹ \downarrow consensus type I precursor cleavage site (32). As shown in Fig. 2, although PC2 is not capable of processing pro-m7B2 (30 kDa) into its mature form m7B2 (23 kDa), furin, and to a much lesser extent PC1, is able to do so as reported earlier (44). In turn, each dfurin was as efficient as hfurin in completely converting pro-m7B2 into m7B2 (Fig. 2). These data demonstrate that the recombinant vaccinia virus of each dfurin in its activity more than either PC1 or PC2. However, the overexpression of each dfurin with pro-m7B2 did not reveal a difference in their cleavage preference toward this typical type I precursor.

Coexpression of mPOMC and dfurins in GH4C1 Cells-To further evaluate potential differences in cleavage site specificity of the dfurins, we coexpressed each of these enzymes with mPOMC as a representative type II precursor substrate. In this type of precursor, the known in vivo cleavage sites contain simple pairs of basic residues such as Lys-Arg⁻¹ and Arg-Arg⁻¹ without an Arg⁻⁴. As previously demonstrated, mPOMC is cleaved into distinct peptide products by PC1 as compared with PC2 (33). ACTH and β -lipotropin (β -LPH) are produced by PC1 cleavage, whereas PC2 is needed to generate β -END and α -melanotropin from the same precursor (33), together with the trimming enzymes carboxypeptidase E (47) and peptidylglycine α -amidating monooxygenase (48). In addition, overexpression of furin and mPOMC in GH4C1 cells generated products similar to those obtained with PC1 (39). Thus, mPOMC was a useful model for discriminating activities among the dfurins that are similar to either PC1/furin or PC2. GH4C1 cells were coinfected with recombinant vaccinia viruses expressing mPOMC and each of the dfurins (Fig. 3). Following infection, the cells were pulse-labeled with [35S]methionine for 2 h. The media were then immunoprecipitated with anti- β -END and anti-ACTH antibodies, and the products were separated by SDS-PAGE. The autoradiograms showed that, similar to hfurin and mPC1, the three dfurin1 isoforms and dfurin2 were capable of cleaving mPOMC into β -LPH (Fig. 3A) and ACTH (Fig. 3B), albeit with varying efficiencies. As was established with pro-von Willebrand factor and pro- β_A -activin by Roebroek et al. (28), dfurin1 seems to be the most efficient of the Drosophila convertases at cleaving mPOMC, followed by dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2, whereas dfurin1-X demonstrated a very weak POMC processing capability. The low activity of dfurin1-X can be explained in part by its lower expression levels under the infection conditions used, even with the PMJ construct, which



FIG. 3. Analysis of proteolytic processing of mPOMC by the dfurins. GH4C1 cells were coinfected with 1 pfu of VV:mPOMC and 1 pfu of VV:mPC1 (mPC1), VV:mPC2 (mPC2), VV:hfurin (hfur), VV: dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (1-CRR), VV:dfurin1-X-PVV (1-X-PVV), VV:dfurin1-X-PMJ (1-X-PMJ), or VV:dfurin2 (dfur2). Cells were pulsed for 2 h with [35S]methionine. Media were then immunoprecipitated with either anti-\beta-END antibody (AT-1) (A) or anti-ACTH antibody (AT-2) (B) and resolved by electrophoresis as described under "Materials and Methods." Molecular mass markers and the relative positions of POMC, B-LPH, and B-END (A), and ACTH, glycosylated ACTH (ACTH*), joining peptide-ACTH intermediary processing product (JP-ACTH*), and α -melanotropin-like peptide (α -MSH) (B) are indicated. Wt/mPOMC negative control coinfection was also performed and immunoprecipitated with both anti-\beta-END antibody (AT-1) and anti-ACTH antibody (AT-2). Only the anti-ACTH immunoprecipitation is shown here.

expresses about 3-4-fold higher amounts of enzyme activity (Fig. 3, A and B) and protein (data not shown) versus the dfurin1-X-PVV construct. Our results show that dfurin2 is equivalent to dfurin1-CRR in its cleavage selectivity and ability to produce β -LPH (Fig. 3A) and ACTH (Fig. 3B). Quantitation of the various products was obtained by scanning the relative band intensities and normalizing the values with respect to the known number of methionines in each product (e.g. 3 for mPOMC and 1 for both β -LPH and β -END). The results showed that β -LPH represented 38, 22, 7, and 25% of the total immu-

noprecipitated POMC-related molecules produced by dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X-PMJ, and dfurin2, respectively. These values are lower than those obtained with mPC1 and hfurin, where β -LPH represented 79 and 75% of the total immunoprecipitated proteins, respectively (Fig. 3A). Similarly, quantitation of the data in Fig. 3B revealed that glycosylated ACTH migrating as an 11-kDa peptide (33) represents 51, 32, 12, 4, 2, and 8% of the total ACTH immunoreactivity produced by mPC1, hfurin, dfurin1. dfurin1-CRR. dfurin1-X-PMJ, and dfurin2, respectively. This order of cleavage efficiency is similar to that deduced from the β -LPH immunoprecipitations (Fig. 3A). In contrast to PC2, which produced 37% β -END and an 11% α -melanotropin-like peptide, none of the dfurins produced either of these typical PC2-generated peptides (Fig. 3). Taken together, these data demonstrate that dfurins exhibit similarities to furin/PC1, but not to PC2, in their cleavage selectivity of POMC. As shown in Fig. 8, a semi-quantitative evaluation of the protein levels of the convertases by specific immunoprecipitation suggests that the degree of cleavage observed correlates with the levels of the convertases in which the pro-segment has been excised.

Coexpression of Rat Pro-dynorphin and dfurins in LoVo Cells-Finally, the potential discriminative cleavage specificities of the dfurins toward monobasic (type III) sites were investigated using rat pro-dynorphin as a substrate and a C-terminally directed antibody that recognizes preferentially the free C-peptide. The latter peptide, which represents the last 15 amino acids of pro-dynorphin, is generated by cleavage post of a single $Arg \downarrow$ residue from the C terminus of pro-dynorphin in the sequence Val-Val-Thr-Arg²⁴¹ | Ser (34, 41). Media of LoVo cells in which rat pro-dynorphin was coexpressed with each of the dfurins were separated on Sephadex G-50 and assayed for C-peptide immunoreactivity (Fig. 4A). Quantitation of the results (Fig. 4B) revealed that the relative efficiency of C-peptide cleavage by the various convertases as compared with mPC1 is 1, 1.8, 1.6, 1.9, 0.6, and 0.6 for mPC1, hfurin, dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X, and dfurin2, respectively. These data showed that dfurin1 and dfurin1-CRR exhibited similar efficiencies as compared with hfurin toward cleavage at the monobasic site of pro-dynorphin, whereas dfurin1-X and dfurin2 were about 3-fold less efficient.

Biosynthesis and Molecular Forms of the dfurins

Biosynthesis of dfurins in Constitutive LoVo and BSC40 Cells-Both LoVo and BSC40 cells were infected with VV: dfurin1, VV:dfurin1-CRR, VV:dfurin1-X, or VV:dfurin2, with VV:wt as control, and metabolically labeled with [³⁵S]methionine 17 h postinfection. The cell extracts and media were immunoprecipitated with either dfurin1- or dfurin2-specific antibodies (28). The precipitates were then resolved by SDS-PAGE on a 6% polyacrylamide gel (Fig. 5). Except for dfurin1-X, all dfurins exhibited the presence of more than one immunoprecipitable protein both intracellularly (Fig. 5A) and in the medium (Fig. 5B). The estimated apparent molecular masses of the major bands vary slightly between both cell types and are 119 and 95 kDa for dfurin1, 153, 140, and 117 kDa for dfurin1-CRR, 163 kDa for dfurin1-X, and 200 and 178 kDa for dfurin2 in LoVo cells, while in BSC40 cells the molecular masses calculated were of 110 and 90 kDa for dfurin1, 147, 130, and 110 kDa for dfurin1-CRR, 155 kDa for dfurin1-X, and 191 and 162 kDa for dfurin2. The molecular masses given were calculated as averages of the values deduced following linear regression analysis of at least two immunoprecipitation SDS-PAGE analyses. It is important to note that the apparent molecular masses are similar in both the media and the cells and that all forms observed intracellularly are secreted. This suggests that, in LoVo and BSC40 cells, these proteins are not anchored to membranes and represent C-terminally processed products of the various dfurins.

FIG. 4. Analysis of proteolytic processing of rat pro-dynorphin by the dfurins. As shown in B, LoVo cells were coinfected with 1 pfu of VV:pro-rdynorphin and 1 pfu of VV:mPOMC (mPOMC), VV:mPC1 (mPC1), VV:hfurin (hfur), VV: dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (dfur1-CRR), VV:dfurin1-X (dfur1-X), or VV: dfurin2 (dfur2). 17 h postinfection, cells were incubated for 3 h with unsupplemented Ham's F-12 medium. Media were collected and resolved by chromatography on Sephadex G-50, and fractions were assayed by radioimmunoassay for C-peptide immunoreactivity as described under "Materials and Methods." An example of the G-50 elution profile assayed by radioimmunoassay is depicted in A, where fractions of the coinfection medium of VV: pro-rdynorphin and VV:dfurin1-CRR separated on G50 were assayed for C-peptide immunoreactivity. Arrows indicate the elution positions of rat pro-dynorphin (1) and C-peptide (2). In B, quantitation of the percent processing into C-peptide for each rat pro-dynorphin coinfection was determined by dividing the sum of the picograms/fraction immunoreactivity found in the C-peptide peak by the total immunoreactivity due to both pro-dynorphin and C-peptide. These percentages were then divided by the mPC1 percent of cleavage value, yielding relative cleavage efficiency values for the dfurin convertases with respect to mPC1.



In order to further define some of the protein forms observed in LoVo cells, we undertook pulse-chase experiments using short pulse periods to determine potential precursor-product relationships for dfurin1- and dfurin1-CRR-immunoprecipitated proteins (Fig. 6). As shown in Fig. 6A, after a pulse of either 1 or 8 min, we saw the formation of at least two forms of dfurin1, migrating with apparent molecular masses of 123 and 119 kDa. As shown in the upper panel of Fig. 6A, the immunoprecipitation of the dfurin-1 products is specific, because no bands were observed when we used a normal rabbit serum. Also, after only 1 min of pulse, we saw the formation of both the 123- and the 119-kDa forms, with the former disappearing within 30 min of chase. In the bottom panel, this 123 kDa form, which is absent after a 1-h chase, could represent the precursor of dfurin1 still containing a transmembrane domain (TMD), because it is never detected in the medium (data not shown). Similarly, the 119-kDa form would represent the precursor form lacking its TMD, because it is secreted into the medium (see Fig. 5B). Furthermore, the difference of 4 kDa observed between the 123- and 119-kDa forms cannot be due to an N-terminal truncation of the pro-segment, because we should

have expected a variance of about 17 kDa between the calculated masses of pro-dfurin1 (88 kDa) and dfurin1 (71 kDa), assuming about 1.5 kDa/N-glycosylation site (25). We note the slow migration of the putative TMD-containing pro-dfurin1, which travels with an apparent molecular mass overestimated by about 35 kDa (123 versus 88 kDa). Such abnormal migration on SDS-PAGE has previously been observed with a number of proteins, including human pro-furin and furin, which migrate with apparent molecular masses about 20 kDa higher than expected from their amino acid sequence (8, 49). The microsequence of 2×10^6 cpm of the 119-kDa form of dfurin1 (in LoVo cells) labeled in [³⁵S]methionine did not reveal the presence of methionine residues within the first 20 cycles, in agreement with its tentative assignment as pro-dfurin1 (starting at residue 152). However, microsequencing of the protein equivalent to the 95-kDa form of dfurin1 (obtained from AtT20 cells; see Fig. 8) revealed methionines at positions 5, 15, and 17 in agreement with a protein sequence starting at residue 310 of dfurin1. This result demonstrates that the smallest dfurin1 form detected represents the mature enzyme obtained following the removal of its TMD and cleavage of the pro-segment at



FIG. 5. Biosynthesis of Dfur1- and Dfur2-encoded proteins in LoVo and BSC40 cells. LoVo and BSC40 cells were infected with either VV:wt (wt), VV:dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (I-CRR), VV: dfurin1-X (I-X), or VV:dfurin2 (dfur2). Cells were pulse-labeled with [³⁶S]methionine and immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-dfurin1 (the first wt lane, dfur1, I-CRR, and I-X) or anti-dfurin2 (the second wt lane and dfur2) antisera as described under "Materials and Methods." Both cells (A) and media (B) were immunoprecipitated. Molecular mass markers and the positions of the highest molecular forms detected of the dfurins are indicated.

the Arg-Ser-Lys-Arg³⁰⁹ \downarrow site.

When dfurin1-CRR was pulse-labeled for 8 min followed by a chase of 1 and 2 h (Fig. 6A), we observed the formation of a major 153-kDa form and the transient production of a minor 162-kDa protein that disappears after a chase of 1 h. Using similar arguments to those used for dfurin1, the 162-kDa form likely represents the pro-dfurin1-CRR with its TMD, whereas pro-dfurin1-CRR lacking the TMD may be represented by the 153-kDa form. Here also, the 11-kDa difference in masses between these forms (average of four separate experiments) is smaller than that expected from the loss of the N-terminal pro-segment, for which a shift of about 17 kDa would be expected (113 and 96 kDa for pro-dfurin1-CRR and dfurin1-CRR, respectively) (28).

As shown in Fig. 6B, treatment of VV:dfurin-infected BSC40 cells with tunicamycin reveals that all dfurins are N-glycosylated. The apparent molecular masses of the major forms are 105, 139, 145, and 178 kDa for dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X, and dfurin2, respectively. Accordingly, in the presence (Fig. 6B) and the absence (Fig. 5A) of tunicamycin, the observed molecular masses of the major intracellular forms differ by about 5, 8, 10, and 13 kDa for dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X, and dfurin2, respectively. It is interesting to note that in the presence of tunicamycin, we also detected small amounts of larger molecular forms migrating at 118, 150, and 157 kDa for dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin1-X, respectively. These may represent the pro-forms still containing the TMD. In addition, we note that prevention of N-glycosylation causes the appearance of excessive degradation products, as was originally reported for PC1 and PC2, for which such degradation was shown to occur within the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (39).

Finally as shown in Fig. 6C, in BSC40 cells infected with VV:dfurins in the presence of the Ca^{2+} ionophore A23187, only the putative pro-dfurins lacking the TMD are detectable by immunoprecipitation, because the molecular masses of the major forms are virtually the same as those seen in a similar 1-h



FIG. 6. A, pulse-chase analysis of dfurin1 and dfurin1-CRR. In the top panel, LoVo cells were infected with VV:dfurin1 (all lanes), and some cells were pulse-labeled with [35S]methionine for 1 min (p1, p1 c10, and p1 c30) and then chased for 10 (p1 c10) or 30 min (p1 c30). Other cells were pulsed for 8 min (p8 ādf1 and p8 āNRS). In p1, p1 c10, p1~c30, and $p8~\bar{a}df1$, cells were immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-dfurin1 antiserum, whereas in $p8~\bar{a}NRS$, VV:dfurin1-infected cells were immunoprecipitated with normal rabbit serum. In the bottom panel, LoVo cells were infected with VV:wt (wt), VV:dfurin1 (dfurin1), or VV:dfurin1-CRR (dfurin1-CRR). Cells were pulse-labeled with [³⁵S]methionine for 8 min. Some cells were chased for 1 (p 8 min. c Ih) or 2 h (p 8 min. c 2h). All cells were then immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-dfurin1 antiserum as described under "Materials and Methods." Molecular mass markers are indicated. B, biosynthesis of dfurins in the presence of tunicamycin. BSC40 cells were infected with VV:dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (1-CRR), VV:dfurin1-X (1-X), or VV:dfurin2 (dfur2). Cells were pulse-labeled with [35S]methionine in the presence of tunicamycin for 1 h and immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-dfurin1 antiserum (dfur1, 1-CRR, and 1-X) or rabbit anti-dfurin2 antiserum (dfur2) as described under "Materials and Methods." Molecular mass markers are indicated. C, biosynthesis of dfurins in the presence of ionophore A23187. BSC40 cells were infected with VV:dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (1-CRR), VV:dfurin1-X (1-X), or VV:dfurin2 (dfur2). Cells were pulse-labeled with [³⁶S]methionine in a calcium-free medium containing A23187 for 1 h and immunoprecipitated with rabbit antidfurin1 antiserum (dfur1, 1-CRR, and 1-X) or rabbit anti-dfurin2 antiserum (dfur2) as described under "Materials and Methods." Molecular mass markers are indicated.



FIG. 7. A, comparative biosynthesis of Dfur1- and Dfur2-encoded proteins at 37 and 20 °C. LoVo cells were infected with VV:hfurin (hfur), VV:dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (I-CRR), or VV:dfurin2 (dfur2). Cells were pulse-labeled with [³⁵S]methionine for 2 h at either 37 or 20 °C as indicated and immunoprecipitated with anti-hfurin (hfur), anti-dfurin1 (dfur1 and I-CRR), or anti-dfurin2 (dfur2) antisera as described under "Materials and Methods." Molecular mass markers are indicated. B, bio synthesis of dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin2 in the presence of brefeldin A. LoVo cells were infected with VV:dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (I-CRR), or VV:dfurin2 (dfur2). Cells were pulse-labeled with [³⁵S]methionine in the presence of brefeldin A for 1 h and immunoprecipitated with anti-dfurin2 (dfur2) antisera as described under "Materials and Methods." Both cells and media were immunoprecipitated. Molecular mass markers are indicated.

pulse in the absence of this Ca^{2+} -depleting agent (compare Figs. 5A and 6C). Because we could not detect the forms that presumably lack their pro-segment in the presence of A23187, this suggests that the cleavage of the pro-sequence is largely inhibited under conditions of low Ca^{2+} concentrations. In contrast, because we did not observe the higher molecular mass forms still containing the TMD, this implies that A23187 does not significantly affect the removal of this C-terminal domain.

In order to define whether the shorter forms of the dfurins are produced within the ER/Golgi stacks, we repeated the pulse labeling of LoVo cells infected with the various vaccinia virus recombinants of dfurins both at the permissive 37 °C and restrictive 20 °C temperature, as well as in the presence of the fungal metabolite brefeldin A. It is well known that at 20 °C, the transport of membrane glycoproteins from the trans-Golgi network (TGN) to the cell surface is severely retarded (50), whereas brefeldin A causes the redistribution of the cis- and medial Golgi stacks to the ER (51), thus preventing traffic from this compartment to the TGN. The data in Fig. 7A demonstrates that after a 2-h pulse with [35S]methionine performed at 37 or 20 °C, the processing pattern of the dfurin1 isoforms and dfurin2 is very similar at both temperatures. No immunoreactive dfurin1- or dfurin2-related proteins are detected in the medium at 20 °C, confirming that secretion is blocked at this temperature (data not shown). This suggests that all observed processing events occur while the proteins transit from the ER



FIG. 8. Biosynthesis of Dfur1- and Dfur2-encoded proteins in GH4C1 and AtT-20 cells. GH4C1 and AtT-20 cells were infected with VV:wt (wt), VV:dfurin1 (dfur1), VV:dfurin1-CRR (1-CRR), VV:dfurin1-X (1-X), or VV:dfurin2 (dfur2). 17 h postinfection, cells were preincubated in medium lacking methionine and then pulse-labeled with [³⁵S]methionine for 2 h and immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-dfurin1 (the first wt lane, dfur1, 1-CRR, 1-X) or anti-dfurin2 (the second wt lane and dfur2) antisera as described under "Materials and Methods." Both cells (A) and media (B) were immunoprecipitated. Molecular mass markers and the positions of the highest forms of dfurins detected are indicated.

up to the TGN and not during or after secretion. However, in the presence of brefeldin A (Fig. 7B), the protein forms detected are mostly the high molecular mass pro-forms lacking the TMD with small amounts of shorter forms of dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2 detectable, suggesting that the removal of the prosegment of the dfurins occurs in the TGN but can also happen earlier for dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2.

Biosynthesis of dfurins in GH4C1 and AtT-20 Cells-In order to also define the molecular forms of dfurins obtained in regulated cells and compare them with those previously observed in constitutive cells, GH4C1 and AtT-20 cells infected with either VV:dfurins or VV:wt were pulse-labeled for 2 h with [35S]methionine. Fig. 8 depicts the autoradiogram of the SDS-PAGE separation of the immunoprecipitated products obtained from the cell extracts (Fig. 8A) and media (Fig. 8B). The results show that in GH4C1 and AtT-20 cell extracts, the processed products of each dfurin are similar in size to those detected in BSC40 and LoVo cells (compare Figs. 8A and 5A). In AtT-20 and GH4C1 cells, we detect several molecular forms of respective masses: (105, 115) and (90, 94) kDa for dfurin1, (147, 150), (130, 133), and (110, 113) kDa for dfurin1-CRR, 155 kDa for dfurin1-X, and (191, 195) and 160 kDa for dfurin2. In the media of GH4C1 cells, only the 94-, 113-, and 160-kDa forms of dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin2 are observed, respectively, whereas no dfurin-X products were detected. Similarly, in AtT-20 media, the proteins detected are: the 90-kDa form of dfurin1, the 110-kDa form of dfurin1-CRR (with smaller amounts of the 147- and 130-kDa forms), no dfurin1-X, and mostly the 160-kDa form of dfurin2 with very small amounts of the 191-kDa form. Therefore, in contrast to the results obtained with constitutive cells (Fig. 5B), in the media of GH4C1 and AtT-20 cells we observed only the smaller forms of the dfurins (Fig. 8B).

DISCUSSION

Although it has been established that multiple mRNA forms exist for each one of the six known mammalian convertases

belonging to the kexin/subtilisin family (3-6, 52, 53), so far only the predicted protein sequences of PACE4 (13, 29), PC4 (16, 54), and PC5 (also called PC6) (30) have been reported to be affected by this diversity. The physiological advantage provided by this C-terminal diversity is not yet known, especially because the complete deletion of the C-terminal Cys-rich segments of mfurin (31) does not seem to affect the intracellular cleavage capability of this enzyme in the TGN. Conceivably, the different C-terminal sequences present in the various isoforms may impart a specific cellular address, as is the case for the amidation enzyme isoforms (55). Alternatively, the rate of processing of potential substrates or the cleavage selectivity of the various isoforms for different precursors may be affected by their C-terminal diversity. The availability of three different dfurin1 isoforms (28) allowed us to address this question in the context of mammalian cells. The identification of a second furin-like enzyme in Drosophila, dfurin2 (27), gave us the opportunity to compare the cleavage selectivity of dfurin1 and dfurin2 convertases with three types of precursors, each exhibiting a different processing motif. Our results using pro-7B2 and those of Roebroek et al. (28) using pro-von Willebrand factor, both of which contain the consensus cleavage motif Arg^{-4} -Xaa-(Lys/Arg)- $Arg^{-1}\downarrow$, show that all diurins are able to process type I precursors. Our data extend the characterization of the dfurins to show that these convertases exhibit cleavage selectivities closer to those of mammalian furin or PC1, but not PC2, toward either type II (POMC) or type III (pro-dynorphin) precursors. Although quantitative differences in the amounts of generated products were noted between each dfurin1 isoform, we cannot exclude the fact that some of these variations are not due to the expression of different levels of these enzymes, especially in the case of dfurin1-X. Indeed, as shown in Figs. 3 and 8 as well as in the microsequencing results, it appears that the degree of processing of POMC can be directly correlated with the levels of immunoprecipitated convertases in which the pro-segment has been excised. In addition, coexpression studies with pro-7B2 (Fig. 2) and pro-dynorphin (Fig. 4) show that dfurin1 and dfurin1-CRR are closer to mammalian furin rather than to PC1 in their substrate cleavage efficacy. Our data with pro-7B2 (Fig. 2) and POMC (Fig. 3) demonstrated that dfurin2 exhibits similar cleavage efficiency and selectivity to dfurin1 and dfurin1-CRR. In contrast, the extent of cleavage of pro-dynorphin by dfurin2 is similar to that of dfurin1-X and about 40% of that observed for dfurin1 and dfurin1-CRR (Fig. 4). This difference in cleavage efficiency of dfurin1-X and dfurin2 toward rat pro-dynorphin compared with pro-m7B2 is substrate-determined and not cell typedetermined, because both studies were conducted in LoVo cells. A similar lower efficiency of cleavage of pro- β_A -activin by dfurin1-X as compared with the two other dfurin1 isoforms was reported earlier (28), whereas dfurin2 did not cleave this substrate but processed pro-von Willebrand factor (28).² Thus, the C-terminal domain of the dfurin1 isoforms does not affect their cleavage selectivity. In no case did these convertases exhibit a PC2-like processing pattern. It is therefore unlikely that the protein diversity generated by the differential splicing of the Dfur1 gene can generate an enzyme with a similar cleavage preference as that of PC2, suggesting that the true Drosophila PC2-like convertase has yet to be identified. In this regard, a PC2-like convertase was recently cloned from C. elegans, an organism more evolutionarily ancient than D. melanogaster (56).

Because the C-terminal variability of the dfurin1 proteins does not affect their cleavage specificity, is it possible that this

domain influences the biosynthetic transformations undergone by the dfurins? To answer this question, we examined the fate of these proteins in several cell types. Originally, Roebroek et al. (28) reported two forms of dfurin1 of approximate molecular masses of 115 and 110 kDa in COS cells transfected with a dfurin1 cDNA. In the two constitutive cells used in this vaccinia virus infection study, LoVo and BSC40, using the same antibodies as Roebroek et al. (28), we were able to detect up to three forms of dfurin1 with molecular masses of 123 (Fig. 6A), 119 and 95 kDa (Fig. 5B), with the longest form only observed when short pulse periods were used (Fig. 6A). It is likely that the two shorter forms are equivalent to those reported in the COS cells study (28). Because our data show that these smaller two forms are secreted into the medium and that microsequencing confirmed their assignment as pro-dfurin1 and dfurin1, the 123-kDa form should represent pro-dfurin1 with its TMD, a form that rapidly disappears during the chase (Fig. 6A). The proposed cleavage of the 123-kDa form of dfurin1 generating the soluble smaller proteins and occurring N-terminal to the TMD seems to be unaffected by the presence of either the Ca^{2+} ionophore A23187 (Fig. 6C) or brefeldin A (Fig. 7B). This suggests that the C-terminal TMD cleavage occurs early along the biosynthetic pathway, most probably within the ER. Because treatment with A23187 inhibits the formation of dfurin1, the Ca²⁺ dependence of the TMD cleavage reaction is not the same as that of the pro-dfurin1 to dfurin1 processing. The same conclusion was drawn for the other dfurins.

Similar to the results with dfurin1, our results with dfurin1-CRR demonstrate the production of a transient cellular 162kDa form (Fig. 6A), which we believe represents pro-dfurin1-CRR with its TMD, whereas the other soluble forms represent pro-dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-CRR, and a shorter C-terminally truncated form, respectively, all lacking the TMD because they can be detected extracellularly. Both the dfurin1-X and dfurin2 proteins that immunoprecipitated were likewise found in the media of infected cells. This implies that the TMD of all dfurins is rapidly removed, yielding a pro-dfurin form that is then further processed to dfurin. Only in the case of dfurin1-CRR did we observe a third smaller form in both cells and media. Although the processing sites that result in TMD cleavage of the dfurins are difficult to define in view of their abnormal migration on SDS-PAGE, we observed that this shortening of the dfurins is not Ca²⁺-dependent and can occur in LoVo cells, which are devoid of endogenous hfurin activity (37). When hfurin and mPC6-B (30) are overexpressed in cell lines, soluble forms are also observed arising from the partial loss of their TMD. However, this shedding event occurs after the exit of hfurin and mPC6-B from the ER, possibly within the TGN or at the cell surface (49, 57).³

The brefeldin A and temperature block experiments demonstrate that the processing of pro-dfurins to dfurins occurs in the TGN, whereas the zymogen cleavage of mammalian pro-furin to furin has been demonstrated to occur in the ER (49). Only in the case of dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2 did we observe some processing in the presence of brefeldin A (Fig. 7B). Could it be that the furin-like convertases endowed with Cys-rich motifs can undergo an earlier pro-segment removal, as is the case with dfurin1-CRR, dfurin2, and mammalian furin, whereas those lacking this structural characteristic, such as dfurin1, dfurin1-X, and PACE4C, undergo later processing? Future work on the definition of the functional role of the Cys-rich motif in convertases will undoubtedly shed more light on this question.

In regulated cells, such as AtT-20 and GH4C1, we observed an intracellular pattern of immunoprecipitated proteins (Fig.

² Roebroek, A. J. M., Ayoubi, T. A. Y., Creemers, J. W. M., Pauli, I. G. L., and Van de Ven, W. V. M. (1995) *DNA Cell Biol.*, in press.

³ S. Benjannet and N. G. Seidah, unpublished data.

8A) similar to that seen in the constitutive cells. In contrast, in the media of AtT-20 and GH4C1 cells, the smaller forms of dfurins are predominantly secreted (Fig. 8B), especially for dfurin1-CRR and dfurin2 (26-28). Thus, the presence of the Cys-rich motif may not only confer to dfurin-CRR and dfurin2 the ability to undergo earlier zymogen processing along the secretory pathway but also an increased probability of C-terminal cleavage and secretion in regulated cells.

In conclusion, the data presented in this work showed that the three isoforms of dfurin1 and dfurin2 have similar characteristics to mammalian furin in terms of both catalytic activity and loss of their TMD. The differences in the C-terminal structure of the dfurin1 isoforms do not seem to influence their catalytic activity but may affect the rate and cellular site of processing of their pro-segment and ultimately influence their residence in different organelles. It is therefore possible that each isoform that is expressed in a tissue-specific manner at different stages of the Drosophila embryonic development (26, 28) may exert actions on specific substrates, which are coordinately expressed. Some of the possible Drosophila precursor substrates that are cleaved at paired basic residues include those related to the transforming growth factor- β family, such as the decapentaplegic protein (58), the integrin α -chain (59), and insulin-like pro-receptor (60). The conclusions drawn from the results of this work may well be applicable to the mammalian PC5 (also called PC6) (14, 30), PACE4 (29), and PC4 (16), because these proteins also exhibit several isoforms, some of which contain the same Cys-rich motif as that found in dfurin1-CRR (26, 28) and dfurin2 (27). The results obtained from this study should help to broaden our understanding of the role of differentially spliced forms of pro-protein convertases both in mammalian and non-mammalian systems, where such diversity has also been reported (for reviews see Refs. 4, 5, and 52). Future work will undoubtedly lead to a more detailed definition of the roles of the C-terminal domains of these varied proprotein and pro-hormone convertases.

Acknowledgments-We thank Dr. Gary Thomas (Vollum Institute, Portland, OR) for his generous gift of the VV:mPOMC recombinant vaccinia virus construct and Dr. Ajoy Basak (Clinical Research Institute of Montréal, Canada) for synthesizing the peptide used to procure the hfurin antibody. Many thanks to Suzanne Benjannet for sharing her PC5 data and her expertise of the vaccinia expression system, to Drs. Florence Vollenweider and Didier Vieau for helpful comments and friendly discussions, as well as to Normand Rondeau for preparation of some of the dfurin vaccinia viruses. The technical assistance of Aida Mammarbachi, Odette Theberge, and Danielle Sorel is appreciated. The secretarial assistance of Lucie Houle is acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- 1. Lazure, C., Seidah, N. G., Pélaprat, D., and Chrétien, M. (1983) Can. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 61, 501-515
- Mains, R. E., Dickerson, I. M., May, V., Stoffers, D. A., Perkins, S. N., Ouafik, L., Husten, E. J., and Eipper, B. (1990) Front. Neuroendocrinol. 11, 52-89
 Seide N. G. and Christian M. (2000) The state of the sta
- 3. Seidah, N. G., and Chrétien, M. (1992) Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 3, 133-140
- 4. Van de Ven, W. J. M., and Roebroek, A. J. M. (1993) Crit. Rev. Oncog. 4,
- 115-136 5. Steiner, D. F., Smeekens, S. P., Ohagi, S., and Chan, S. J. (1992) J. Biol. Chem.
- 267. 23435-23438 6. Seidah, N. G., Day, R., Marcinkiewicz, M., Benjannet, S., and Chrétien, M.
- (1991) Enzyme (Basel) 45, 271-284 7. Roebroek, A. J. M., Schalken, J. A., Leunissen, J. A. M., Onnekink, C.
- Bloemers, H. P. J., and van de Ven, W. J. M. (1986) *EBBO J.* 5, 2197-2202
 8. Van Den Ouweland, A. M. W., Van Duijnhoven, H. L. P., Keizer, G. D., Dorssers, L. C. J., and Van De Ven, W. J. M. (1990) *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18, 2007.
- 664 9. Seidah, N. G., Gaspar, L., Mion, P., Marcinkiewicz, M., Mbikay, M., and
- Chrétien, M. (1990) DNA Cell Biol. 9, 415-424 10. Seidah, N. G., Marcinkiewicz, M., Benjannet, S., Gaspar, L., Beaubien, G.
- Mattei, M. G., Lazure, C., Mbikay, M., and Chrétien, M. (1991) Mol. Endocrinol. 5, 111-122
- 11. Smeekens, S. P., Avruch, A. S., LaMendola, J., Chan, S. J., and Steiner, D. F. (1991) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88, 340-344
- 12. Smeekens, S. P., and Steiner, D. F. (1990) J. Biol. Chem. 265, 2997-3000 Kiefer, M. C., Tucker, J. E., Joh, R., Landsberg, K. E., Saltman, D., and Barr, P. J. (1991) DNA Cell Biol. 10, 757-769
- 14. Lusson, J., Vieau, D., Hamelin, J., Day, R., Chrétien, M., and Seidah, N. G.

(1993) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90, 6691-6695

- 15. Nakagawa, T., Hosaka, M., Torii, S., Watanabe, T., Murakami, K., and
- Nakayama, K. (1993) J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 113, 132-135 16. Seidah, N. G., Day, R., Hamelin, J., Gaspar, A., Collard, M. W., and Chrétien,
- M. (1992) Mol. Endocrinol. 6, 1559-1570 17. Nakayama, K., Kim, W., Torii, S., Hosaka, M., Nakagawa, T., Ikemizu, J., Baba, T., and Murakami, K. (1992) J. Biol. Chem. 287, 5897-5900
- 18. Chan, S. J., Oliva, A. A., Jr., LaMendola, J., Grens, A., Bode, H., and Steiner, D. F. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 89, 6678-6682
- 19. Roth, W. W., Mackin, R. B., and Noe, B. D. (1993) Endocr. J. 1, 131-140
- 20. Ouimet, T., Mammarbachi, A., Cloutier, T., Seidah, N. G., and Castellucci, V. F. (1993) FEBS Lett. 330, 343-346
- 21. Chun, J. Y., Korner, J., Kreiner, T., Scheller, R. H., and Axel, R. (1994) Neuron 12.831-844
- 22. Smit, A. B., Spijker, S., and Geraerts, W. P. M. (1992) FEBS Lett. 312, 213-218
- 23. Peters, K., and Rose, A. (1991) Worm Breeders Gazette 11, 28 24. Korner, J., Chun, J., O'Bryan, L., and Axel, R. (1991) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 88, 11393-11397
- 25. Roebroek, A. J. M., Pauli, I. G. L., Zhang, Y., and Van de Ven, W. J. M. (1991) FEBS Lett. 289, 133-137
- 26. Hayflick, J. S., Wolfgang, W. J., Forte, M. A., and Thomas, G. (1992) J. Neurosci. 12, 705-717
- 27. Roebroek, A. J. M., Creemers, J. W. M., Pauli, I. G. L., Kurzik-Dumke, U., Rentrop, M., Gateff, E. A. F., Leunissen, J. A. M., and Van de Ven, W. J. M. (1992) J. Biol. Chem. 267, 17208-17215
- 28. Roebroek, A. J. M., Creemers, J. W. M., Pauli, I. G. L., Bogaert, T., and Van de Ven, W. J. M. (1993) EMBO J. 12, 1853-1870
- 29. Tsuji, A., Higashine, K., Hine, C., Mori, K., Tamai, Y., Nagamune, H., and Matsuda, Y. (1994) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 200, 943-950
- 30. Nakagawa, T., Murakami, K., and Nakayama, K. (1993) FEBS Lett. 327, 165 - 171
- 31. Hatsuzawa, K., Murakami, K., and Nakayama, K. (1992) J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 111, 296-301
- 32. Bresnahan, P. A., Hayflick, J. S., Molloy, S. S., and Thomas, G. (1992) in Mechanisms of Intracellular Trafficking and Processing of Proproteins (Peng Loh, Y., ed) pp. 225-250, CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, FL
- 33. Benjannet, S., Rondeau, N., Day, R., Chrétien, M., and Seidah, N. G. (1991) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88, 3564-3568
- 34. Day, R., and Akil, H. (1989) Endocrinology 124, 2392-2405
- 35. Davison, A. J., and Moss, B. (1990) Nucleic Acids Res. 18, 4285-4286
- 36. Hruby, D. E., Thomas, G., Herbert, E., and Franke, C. A. (1986) Methods Enzymol. 124, 295-309
- 37. Takahashi, S., Kasai, K., Hatsuzawa, K., Kitamura, N., Ikehara, Y., Murakami, K., and Nakayama, K. (1993) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 195. 1019-1026
- 38. Benjannet, S., Reudelhuber, T., Mercure, C., Rondeau, N., Chrétien, M., and Seidah, N. G. (1992) J. Biol. Chem. 287, 11417-11423
- 39. Benjannet, S., Rondeau, N., Paquet, L., Boudreault, A., Lazure, C., Chrétien, M., and Seidah, N. G. (1993) Biochem. J. 294, 735-743
- 40. Paquet, L., Rondeau, N., Seidah, N. G., Lazure, C., Chrétien, M., and Mbikay, M. (1991) FEBS Lett. 294, 23-26
- 41. Dupuy, A., Lindberg, I., Zhou, Y., Akil, H., Lazure, C., Chrétien, M., Seidah, N. G., and Day, R. (1994) FEBS Lett. 337, 60-65
- 42. Misumi, Y., Sohda, M., and Ikehara, Y. (1990) Nucleic Acids Res. 18, 6719-6720
- 43. Seidah, N. G., Hsi, K. L., De Serres, G., Rochemont, J., Hamelin, J., Antakly, T., Cantin, M., and Chretien, M. (1983) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 225, 525-534
- 44. Paquet, L., Bergeron, F., Boudreault, A., Seidah, N. G., Chrétien, M., Mbikay, M., and Lazure, C. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 19279-19285
- 45. Day, R., Schäfer, M. K.-H., Collard, M. W., Watson, S. J., and Akil, H. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88, 1320-1324 46. Mbikay, M., Grant, S. G. N., Sirois, F., Tadros, H., Skowronski, J., Lazure, C.,
- Seidah, N. G., Hanahan, D., and Chrétien, M. (1989) Int. J. Pept. Prot. Res. 38. 39-45
- 47. Fricker, L. D., Evans, C. J., Esch, F. S., and Herbert, E. (1986) Nature 323, 461-464
- 48. Eipper, B. A., Park, L. P., Dickerson, I. M., Keutmann, H. T., Thiele, E. A., Rodriquez, H., Schofields, P. R., and Mains, R. E. (1987) Mol. Endocrinol. 1, 777-790
- 49. Molloy, S. S., Thomas, L., VanSlyke, J. K., Stenberg, P. E., and Thomas, G. (1994) EMBO J. 13, 18-33
- 50. Matlin, K. S., and Simons, K. (1983) Cell 34, 233-243
- 51. Klausner, R. D., Donaldson, J. G., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1992) J. Cell Biol. 116, 1071-1080
- 52. Seidah, N. G., Day, R., and Chrétien, M. (1993) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 21, 685-691
- 53. Seidah, N. G., Chrétien, M., and Day, R. (1994) Biochimie (Paris) 76, 197-209 54. Mbikay, M., Raffin-Sanson, M. L., Tadros, H., Sirois, F., Seidah, N. G., and Chrétien, M. (1994) Genomics 20, 231-237
- 55. Milgram, S. L., Eipper, B. A., and Mains, R. E. (1994) J. Cell Biol. 124, 33-56. Gomezsaladin, E., Wilson, D. L., and Dickerson, I. M. (1994) Cell. Mol.
- Neurobiol. 14, 9-25 57. Vidricaire, G., Denault, J.-B., and Leduc, R.(1993) Biochem. Biophys. Res.
- Commun. 195, 1011-1018 58. Padgett, R. W., Johnston, D. S., and Gelbart, W. M. (1987) Nature 325, 81-84
- 59. Wehrli, M., DiAntonio, A., Fearnley, I. M., Smith, R. J., and Wilcox, M. (1993) Mech. Dev. 43, 21-36
- 60. Nishida, Y., Hata, M., Nishizuka, Y., Ruter, W. J., and Ebina, Y. (1986) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 141, 474-481

The three type-I membrane-bound proteins called dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin1-X arising from differential splicing (Roebroek et al., 1993) exhibit identical structural features from their NH₂-terminal to their catalytic region, but each possess distinct COOH-terminal domains.

Study of the multiple isoforms of the *Dfur1* gene was aimed at answering several questions:

- What is the physiological advantage conferred to convertases by generating multiple isoforms through alternative splicing, a process observed for several members of this family, including mammalian PACE4, PC4, PC5/6, hydra PC1/3 and *C. elegans* furin-like bli-4.

- What is the possible influence of the variable COOH-terminal domain on the cleavage selectivity or cleavage site recognition of the convertases.

To answer these questions, the cleavage selectivity of each dfurin protein was defined, by comparing their catalytic properties to those of the mammalian enzymes PC1, PC2 and furin. This was achieved by cellular coexpression of recombinant vaccinia viruses each expressing one of the dfurin proteins with the precursors pro7B2, proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and prodynorphin, since no endogenous Drosophila substrates have yet been determined.

Substrates were selected based on the classification proposed by Bresnahan et al. (1992), where precursors are subdivided into three categories (see Table B-VI):

- Type I precursors comprise the consensus $Arg-X-(Lys/Arg)-Arg\Psi$ sequence at their cleavage site, as observed in the precursor of 7B2.

- Type II precursors present a pair of basic residues at the cleavage site, but no Arg residue at the P4 position, such as POMC.

- Type III precursors are processed at a monobasic site, usually a single Arg, such as the C-peptide cleavage site of pro-dynorphin.

Apart from the cleavage selectivity of each enzyme, the biosynthetic products of each dfurin as well as their post-translational modifications were also characterized.

In coexpression studies, all dfurins were capable to process the three types of precursor substrates, and demonstrated an identical cleavage specificity towards the three categories of substrates investigated. The dfurins exhibited cleavage selectivities resembling those of mammalian furin or PC1, but not that PC2, towards either type II (POMC) or type III (prodynorphin) precursors. However, these enzymes did not display the same efficacy of cleavage towards these three different substrates. Differences in the amounts of products generated from POMC and prodynorphin were noted between the dfurin proteins. The range of cleavage efficacy among the dfurins seemed to correlate the extent of proregion removal, although this was not invariably the case for each enzyme. These variations may also have been due to potential differences in expression levels of these enzymes.

Although differences in cleavage specificity were not observed among the dfurins, these enzymes displayed differences in their biosynthetic fates.

The membrane-bound dfurins underwent shedding of their transmembrane domain in all cell types tested. In the furin-deficient LoVo cells, this shedding was an early event and was not due to the action of a highly calcium-dependent protease. Mammalian furin also undergoes shedding of its transmembrane domain to release a soluble

form of the enzyme. In this case, however, the process occurs in the TGN and is thought to be autocatalytic (Vey et al., 1994).

In constitutive cell types, both pro- and zymogen-cleaved forms of the dfurins were released in the media. In regulated cells, only zymogen-cleaved dfurin forms were detected extracellularly. Protein forms possessing cysteine-rich repeats seemed to accumulate in the media of these previous cells, while no notable difference could be observed in constitutively secreting cells.

Although no PC1 or PC2-like convertases have so far been isolated from Drosophila, the furin-like isoforms of this species could not replace these other convertases in their specific processing functions. The biosynthetic and processing studies of the dfurin isoforms model clearly demonstrated that no differences among the cleavage specificities of the dfurin convertases could be observed. All dfurin1 isoforms, as well as dfurin2, presented furin-like processing specificities. However, differences in compartment of proregion cleavage were observed between dfurin1 and its cysteine-rich isoform, as well as with dfurin2, which also possesses a cysteine-rich region. It appears that dfurin proteases endowed with a cysteine-rich region, a motif also observed in mammalian furin, PACE4 and PC5, are capable of undergoing proregion cleavage in early secretory compartments, while dfurin1 undergoes this processing step only after reaching the TGN. The Cys-rich motif may thus confer to dfurin-CRR and dfurin2 the ability to undergo earlier zymogen processing along the secretory pathway, as well as a greater probability to undergo COOH-terminal cleavage and secretion in regulated cells.

Structural modifications of the COOH-terminal region of the dfurin lisoforms do not seem to influence their catalytic specificity, and thus the

protein diversity generated by differential splicing does not generate enzymes with different cleavage specificities. It may, however, affect the rate and cellular site of prosegment processing of these enzymes and at last influence their residence in different organelles.

Since no physiological Drosophila substrates were available to test the cleavage specificity of these endoproteases, we had to rely on an artificial system of overexpression in mammalian cells, through recombinant vaccinia virus infection. These mammalian cells may not have had the appropriate cofactors necessary for the Drosophila enzymes proper function, because of species differences. The presence of a mammalian enzyme with no counterpart in Drosophila could eventually explain the very precocious cleavage of the transmembrane domain observed for all dfurin proteins, while mammalian convertases only undergo shedding after reaching the TGN.

If the Dfurin1 isoforms do not display different cleavage specificities, they do, however, display distinct tissue distributions (Roebroek et al., 1993). For the two isoforms for which specific probes could be obtained, dfurin1-CRR and dfurin1-X, Northern blot and *in situ* analyses demonstrated that these two products exhibit specific expression at distinct developmental stages, as well as different tissue expression patterns. This isoform-specific tissue distribution is also observed for mouse and rat PC5 (Seidah, Chrétien, and Day, 1994; Nakagawa et al., 1993; De Bie and Seidah, unpublished results) and rat PACE4 isoforms (Nagamune et al., 1995). It is therefore possible that convertase isoforms could mediate distinct substrate cleavages, not because of distinct processing specificity, but because of distinct tissue and/or cellular or subcellular distribution.

The possible influence of COOH-terminal domain on the cellular localization of convertase was therefore investigated through the study of two mouse PC5 isoforms, which also displayed structural differences solely in their COOH-terminal domain (see Figure D-1). One of these isoforms is predicted to be membrane-bound, while the other should be soluble. The possibility that these two proteases could be directed to distinct subcellular compartments trough COOH-terminal structural modifications imparted by splicing was therefore investigated. The respective subcellular distribution and biosynthesis of these two PC5 isoforms in stably transfected AtT-20 cells was examined. AtT-20 cells were chosen for they have been extensively characterized in multiple sorting studies, and because their endogenous PC5 levels are almost undetectable. AtT-20 cells present two paths through which proteins can attain the cell surface, which are the constitutive and regulated pathways. The sorting and biosynthesis of COOH-terminally modified PC5 isoforms in a stable transfection model could thus be compared to establish if COOH-terminal structures can affect the sorting and/ or biosynthesis of convertases.

Chapter D

The isoforms of proprotein convertase PC5 are sorted to different subcellular compartments.

Isabelle De Bie, Mieczyslaw Marcinkiewicz, Daniela Malide, Claude Lazure, Kazuhisa Nakayama, Moïse Bendayan, and Nabil G. Seidah

Reproduced from the Journal of Cell Biology 1996; 135:1261-1275, by copyright permission of The Rockfeller University Press.

The Isoforms of Proprotein Convertase PC5 Are Sorted to Different Subcellular Compartments

Isabelle De Bie,* Mieczyslaw Marcinkiewicz,[‡] Daniela Malide,[¶] Claude Lazure,[§] Kazuhisa Nakayama,[¶] Moïse Bendayan,[¶] and Nabil G. Seidah*

J.A. De Sève *Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, [‡]Laboratory of Molecular Neuroendocrinology, and [§]Laboratory of Neuropeptides Structure and Metabolism, Clinical Research Institute of Montréal, Montréal, QC H2W 1R7 Canada (affiliated with Université de Montréal and Protein Engineering Network of Centres of Excellence); [§]Department of Anatomy, Université de Montréal, Succ. Centre-Ville, Montreal, QC H3C 3J7, Canada; and [§]Institute of Biological Sciences and Gene Experiment Center, University of Tsukuba, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305, Japan

Abstract. The proprotein convertase PC5 is encoded by multiple mRNAs, two of which give rise to the COOH-terminal variant isoforms PC5-A (915 amino acids [aa]) and PC5-B (1877 aa). To investigate the differences in biosynthesis and sorting between these two proteins, we generated stably transfected AtT-20 cell lines expressing each enzyme individually and examined their respective processing pattern and subcellular localization. Biosynthetic analyses coupled to immunofluorescence studies demonstrated that the shorter and soluble PC5-A is sorted to regulated secretory granules. In contrast, the COOH-terminally extended and membrane-bound PC5-B is located in the Golgi. The presence of a sorting signal in the COOH-terminal 38 amino acids unique to PC5-A was demonstrated by the inefficient entry into the regulated secretory pathway of a mutant lacking this segment. EM of pancreatic cells established the presence of immunoreactive PC5 in glucagon-containing granules, demonstrating the sorting of this protein to dense core secretory granules in endocrine cells. Thus, a single PC5 gene generates COOHterminally modified isoforms with different sorting signals directing these proteins to distinct subcellular localization, thereby allowing them to process their appropriate substrates.

THE mammalian subtilisin/kexin-like convertases are proprotein and prohormone proteinases implicated in the processing of numerous precursors. Seven members of this family of enzymes have so far been identified in mammals (for reviews see Seidah et al., 1994, 1996; Van de Ven et al., 1993). These proteins share a conserved catalytic domain, containing the typical Asp/His/Ser triad of subtilisin-like serine proteinases. They also exhibit the presence of a prosegment and a P domain (also called homo B). Apart from these conserved regions, each convertase possesses a distinct COOH-terminal domain exhibiting diverse structural motifs, such as a transmembrane anchor and cytosolic tail, cysteine-rich repeats, or potential amphipathic structures. Furthermore, for three of the mammalian convertases, a differential splicing mechanism leads to the production of COOH-terminally modified isoforms (Seidah et al., 1992; Kiefer et al., 1991; Tsuji et al., 1994; Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993a,b; Mbikay et al., 1995). Multiple molecular forms of the convertases are also observed in Aplysia californica (Chun et al., 1994), Hydra vulgaris (Chan et al., 1992), Lymnaea stagnalis (Smit et al., 1992), Caenorhabditis elegans (Thacker et al., 1995), and Drosophila melanogaster (Roebroek et al., 1993).

While functions have been proposed for the pro, catalytic, and P domains of the convertases, the role of the COOH-terminal segment is less understood. It was postulated that the latter could be involved in cellular sorting, or that it could modulate the enzymatic activity of the adjoined catalytic domain. In this respect, ex vivo coexpression studies demonstrated that the COOH-terminal truncation of furin did not affect the cellular enzymatic activity of this convertase on renin or its mutants (Hatsuzawa et al., 1992). It was also reported that the three isoforms of *Drosophila* furin1 (dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, and dfurin1-X) did not display significant differences in either their catalytic activity or cleavage specificity (De Bie et al., 1995). Thus, the proposed involvement of the COOH-terminal segment in cellular sorting remains open to investigations.

To test the hypothesis that the COOH-terminal domain influences the cellular transport of some convertases, we compared the cellular traffic of soluble PC5-A and membrane-bound PC5-B (Lusson et al., 1993; also called PC6-A

Address all correspondence to Nabil G. Seidah, Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, Clinical Research Institute of Montreal, 110 Pine Avenue West, Montreal, QC H2W 1R7, Canada. Tel.: (514) 987-5609. Fax: (514) 987-5542. e-mail: seidahn@ircm.umontreal.ca

and PC6-B, Nakagawa et al., 1993a,b) (see Fig. 1). These COOH-terminal variant isoforms of the mouse convertase PC5 exhibit distinct tissue distributions: while expression of PC5-A is widespread, being especially abundant in intestine and adrenals, that of PC5-B is only detected in these two tissues and lung (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993a,b; Seidah et al., 1994). These isoforms were used as models to determine if both would be sorted to the same organelle, or would reside in different compartments of the secretory pathway. To answer this question, stable AtT-20 cell lines expressing either PC5-A or PC5-B were established. This allowed both the comparison of the respective biosynthesis and subcellular localization of each isoform and the demonstration of the critical role of the COOH-terminal domain on the cellular traffic of these proteins.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture and Transfection

AtT-20 cells were grown in DME supplemented with 10% FCS. Stable cell lines overexpressing both A and B isoforms of mouse PCS (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993b) were established using 40–60 μ g of RcCMV constructs in which these cDNAs were inserted downstream of the human cytomegalovirus promoter. Cells were transfected using lipofectin (GIBCO BRL, Gaithersburg, MD) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After transfection, cells were selected with 0.5 mg/ml G418(neomycin)containing medium for 2–3 wk. Drug-resistant cells lines were isolated and characterized by Western blotting and immunoprecipitation of radiolabeled PCS. For both A and B isoforms, at least six positive clones were selected and analyzed. Initial experiments were performed using several clones for each cell line. Eventually, single clones were used for all experiments (clones AS for PCS-A and B1 for PCS-B). Cell lines were maintained in 0.2 mg/ml G418-containing medium, passaged weekly, and were stable for several months.

A PC5-A Δ construct obtained by PCR (sense primer from bp 2,326-2,348 containing a unique DraIII site, and antisense primer introducing a stop codon and XbaI site at base 2,700 [Lusson et al., 1993]), in which the COOH-terminal 38 amino acids unique to PC5-A were removed, was similarly transferred to AtT-20 cells to compare its sorting with that of the wild-type PC5-A.

Antibodies

The NH₂- and COOH-terminal mouse PCS polyclonal antibodies were obtained by immunization of rabbits using an octopus branched synthetic peptide approach already used for the PC1 NH₂-terminal antibody (Basak et al., 1995; Benjannet et al., 1993). The peptides chosen consisted of the sequences Asp-Tyr-Asp-Leu-Ser-His-Ala-Gln-Ser-Thr-Tyr-Phe-Asn-Asp-Pro-Lys, representing residues 116–132 consisting of the PC5 NH₂-terminal sequence after the potential activation site Arg-Thr-Lys-Arg, and Pro-Pro-Gly-His-Tyr-His-Ala-Asp-Lys-Lys-Arg-Cys-Arg-Lys, representing residues 677–690 of mouse PC5.

Other antibodies used were as follows: anti-TGN38 raised in guinea pig (Schäfer et al., 1995), guinea pig anti-ACTH (Peninsula Laboratories, Inc., Belmont, CA), rabbit anti-cathepsin B (Lee et al., 1995), rabbit anti-PC2 (Basak et al., 1995; Benjannet et al., 1993), and rabbit anti-glucagon (Incstar Co., Stillwater, MN).

Biosynthetic Labeling, Immunoprecipitations, and SDS-PAGE Analyses

Biosynthetic analyses were performed as previously described (Benjannet et al., 1993). Briefly, cells that had reached 80% confluence were washed with PBS, and then switched for 1 h to a methionine- or sulfate-free medium (RPMI 1640) (GIBCO BRL) supplemented with 0.5% FCS. Subsequently, cells were either labeled with [³⁵S]methionine (100 μ Ci/ml) or [³⁵S]Na₂SO₄ (sodium sulfate) (200 μ Ci/ml) (Mandel Scientific Co., Ontario, Canada). In temperature-blocking experiments, cells were preincubated in absence of methionine a 37°C, and then labeled with [³⁵S]methionine (100 μ Ci/ml) (³⁵S]methionine (100 μ Ci/m

thionine for 2 h at either 37°C or 20°C. In experiments performed with brefeldin A (Cedarlane Laboratories, Ltd., Ontario, Canada), the drug was used throughout the preincubation and labeling period at a final concentration of 5 µg/ml, as described before (Benjannet et al., 1993). Stimulation of secretion was performed by adding 8Br-cAMP (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) at a final concentration of 5 mM to the incubation medium. At the end of the incubation period, the media were removed and cells were disrupted in lysis buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 1 mM EDTA, and 20 µg/ml PMSF) by incubation on ice for 20 min. The media and cell lysates were precleared in two steps using normal rabbit serum and protein A-agarose, and then immunoprecipitated. All immunoprecipitations were performed as described before (Benjannet et al., 1993). Endoglycosidase H (Oxford Glycosystems, Ltd., Rosedale, NY) digestions were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. The immunoprecipitation products were resolved by electrophoresis on 8% polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE) followed by treatment with Entensify (Dupont-New England Nuclear, Wilmington, DE) and autoradiography. For preparative purposes, immunoprecipitated proteins were resolved on 6% SDS-PAGE gels, which were sliced (1 mm). The eluted radiolabeled proteins were subjected to microsequence analysis on a sequenator (model 470A: Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) as described (Benjannet et al., 1993).

Quantification of Bands in Autoradiograms

Gels were exposed to XAR-5 film (Eastman Kodak Co., Rochester, NY) at -80° C for multiple time periods. Films were then read by flatbed scanning and analyzed with the Macintosh NIH Image 1.55f program (Apple Computer Inc., Cupertino, CA) by measuring the intensity of each band above background. This measurement permitted the calculation of the amount of labeled proteins secreted in the presence or absence of 8BrcAMP and to establish the release kinetics of PCS.

Immunofluorescence

Localization of PCS proteins in transfected cells was determined by indirect immunofluorescence. Typically, cells were grown on polylysine-coated (Sigma Chemical Co.) chamber slides (Nunc, Inc., Roskilde, Denmark) for 72 h, rinsed once in PBS, and fixed in 4% formaldehyde/0.1% picric acid in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.2, for 1 h at 15°C. Cells were then washed several times over 48 h with PBS containing 0.01% Triton X-100 at 4°C and subsequently reacted overnight with the primary antibody diluted in 10% normal goat serum. The PCS COOH-terminal antiserum was used at a dilution of 1:250. Guinea pig anti-TGN38 antibody was used at a 1:50 dilution, and the guinea pig anti-ACTH was used at 1:75, while the rabbit anti-cathepsin B antibody was diluted at 1:2,000. After rinsing with PBS, cells were incubated for 30 min at 37°C with TRITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG diluted 1:15 in 10% normal goat serum (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., West Grove, PA). When primary antibodies were from guinea pig species, the immunoreaction was revealed using a FITC-labeled secondary antibody raised in goat (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc.) diluted 1:10 in 10% normal goat serum. The combination of antibodies raised in rabbit with those raised in guinea pig led to a double green and red labeling that permitted us to perform colocalization studies. Displacement of PC5 immunoreaction was performed by blocking antibodies with an excess (>5 \times 10⁻⁶ M) of the multiple antigenic peptides used for immunization, which was done by preincubation overnight at 4°C with 100 µl of the 1:100 diluted antibody. Samples were examined using a microscope with standard epifluorescence attachment (Carl Zeiss, Inc., Thornwood, NY), equipped with a Plan-Neofluor ×40/ 0.75 objective.

Electron Microscopy

Pancreatic tissue from five normal Sprague-Dawley rats was fixed by immersion in 1% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, for 2 h at room temperature, dehydrated in graded methanol, and embedded in either Lowicryl K4M at -20° C, as previously described (Bendayan, 1984), or in Unicryl (British Biocell Int., Cardiff, UK) at -20° C (Scala et al., 1992; Malide et al., 1995). Thin-sections were cut, mounted on nickel grids with or without Parlodion-coating, and processed for postembedding colloidal gold immunocytochemistry. For immunolabeling, tissue sections were first transferred for 30 min on a drop of 0.15 M PBS, pH 7.2, containing 0.1% ovalbumin, and then incubated overnight at 4°C with the following antibodies at a dilution of 1:100: rabbit anti-PC2, rabbit anti-PC5, and rabbit anti-glucagon (Incstar Co.). Sections were then rinsed with PBS and incubated for 30 min at room temperature with the protein A-gold complex prepared with 10 nm gold particles ($OD_{520} = 0.5$), as previously described (Bendayan, 1989; Park and Bendayan, 1992). The grids were then washed with PBS and distilled water, dried, and stained with uranyl acetate before examination. For double immunogold labeling, both sides of the tissue sections were used, according to Bendayan (1982). Combinations of anti-PC2/anti-PC5, anti-PC2/anti-glucagon, and anti-PC5/anti-glucagon antibodies were performed on different faces of the grids in conjunction with protein A-gold complexes formed with 5, 10, or 15 nm gold particles. Several control experiments were carried out to assess the specificity of the labeling obtained. For these controls, incubation was performed with normal serum or specific antibodies preadsorbed overnight with an excess of their corresponding antigens.

Results

Expression of PC5-A and PC5-B in Stably Transfected AtT-20 Cells

To test the hypothesis that the PCS isoforms (Fig. 1) could be sorted to different compartments of the secretory pathway, stable transfectants of PC5-A or PC5-B were established in the mouse corticotroph AtT-20 cell line. This cell line was chosen since it has been extensively studied in multiple investigations on the sorting of proteins within the constitutive and regulated pathways (Burgess and Kelly, 1987; Matsuuchi and Kelly, 1991).

The PC5 forms in transfected AtT-20 cells were initially examined by labeling for 2 h with [35 S]sulfate followed by immunoprecipitation. As shown in Fig. 2, PC5-A–expressing cells produce a major immunoreactive 117-kD protein detected in cell extracts and medium. Immunoprecipitates of the PC5-B–expressing cells revealed the presence in the cell lysate of two PC5-B–specific proteins migrating with an apparent M_r of 210 and 170 kD, the latter form also being detected in the medium (Fig. 2). A similar result was obtained after a 4-h pulse in which the 210-kD form of PC5-B was more evident in the cell extracts and was not detected in the medium (data not shown). These data suggest that the sulfated 210-kD form that reached the TGN (Hart, 1992; Baeuerle and Huttner, 1987) is not secretable, indicating that it represents membrane-bound PC5-B. The presence of a shed 170-kD immunoreactive form of PC5-B is reminiscent of the fate of another type I membranebound convertase, furin (Rehemtulla et al., 1992), suggesting that COOH-terminal cleavage of the membraneanchored PC5-B occurs along the secretory pathway. The two bands detected in the cell extracts of an M_r of ~95– 105 kD are considered nonspecific, as they are also detected in control AtT-20 cells transfected with the RcCMV expression vector alone.

Precursor-Product Analysis of PC5-A

The proprotein convertases are initially synthesized as zymogens and must undergo excision of their prosegment before they can be activated (see Fig. 1). To define the organelle in which prosegment cleavage of pro-PC5-A to PC5-A occurs, pulse-chase analysis of the biosynthetic fate of PC5-A in AtT-20 cells labeled with [35S]methionine was undertaken. As shown in Fig. 3, after a 1-min pulse, two immunoreactive PC5 products migrating with an apparent Mr of 126 and 117 kD are detected intracellularly. Progressively upon chase, both bands diminish in intensity with the appearance of a 65-kD form 60 min later. At the same time, the secretion of a major 117-kD protein is observed in the medium, as well as that of a relatively minor 65-kD product that becomes more visible after a 120-min chase. Since an NH₂-terminally directed PC5 antibody is used to perform immunoprecipitations, the 65-kD form represents a COOH-terminally shortened fragment of PC5-A. Quantitative scanning of the autoradiogram revealed that in the medium, the ratio of 65 to 117 kD progressively increases from 0.30 to 0.45 during 2-4-h chase periods, respectively (data not shown).

Protein sequencing was then performed to unequivocally establish the identity of the PC5-A protein forms. As shown in Fig. 4, [³H]Tyr³ and [³H]Tyr^{2,11} protein sequences were deduced for the 126-kD and the 117-kD forms, respectively. Based on the reported cDNA sequence and the predicted PC5 primary structure (Lusson et al., 1993), it can be concluded that the 126-kD form is



Figure I. Schematic representation of mammalian proprotein convertase isoforms PC5-A and PC5-B. Legend to protein domains is depicted at the bottom. Amino acid length is given for each convertase. The sequence at the end of the COOH-terminal region common to PC5-A and PC5-B and the one unique to each isoform is given at the top. A schematic representation of the mutant PC5-A Δ construct used in this work is also shown.



cells



media

[³⁵S]sulfate

Figure 2. Sulfate-labeling of PC5-A- and PC5-B-encoded proteins. PC5-A- or PC5-B-transfected cells were labeled for 2 h with [35 S]sulfate, followed by immunoprecipitation of both cells and media with an anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum and resolution on 8% SDS-PAGE gels. Control cells transfected with the RcCMV vector alone were similarly treated. Molecular masses are given in kD.

pro-PC5-A, the sequence of which begins after the predicted signal peptidase cleavage site CysArgThr↓ArgVal-<u>Tyr</u>ThrAsnHis. The 117-kD protein represents PC5-A, which is produced after cleavage of the 82-amino acid prosegment at the sequence ValValLysLysArgThrLys-Arg₈₂↓Asp<u>Tyr</u>AspLeuSerHisAlaGlnSerThr<u>Tyr</u>PheAsnAsp-ProLys. Sufficient amounts of the 65-kD form could not be accumulated to obtain an unambiguous sequence. However, since this fragment is immunoreactive to the NH₂terminal antibody that was raised against the above 15amino acid peptide starting at the -AspTyrAsp . . . - sequence, it likely represents a COOH-terminally truncated product of the 117-kD PC5-A form.

To define whether intracellular zymogen cleavage of the 126-kD pro-PC5-A is an early event, the protein was blocked in anterior secretory pathway compartments using the fungal metabolite brefeldin A (BFA)¹. This agent



[³⁵S] methionine

Figure 3. Endoproteolytic transformations of PC5-A. PC5-Atransfected cells were pulse labeled with [35 S]methionine for 1 min (*p1*), and then chased (*c*) for 30, 60, or 120 min, followed by immunoprecipitation with a polyclonal rabbit anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum and resolution on 8% SDS-PAGE gels. A more contrasted exposure is given to show the intracellular production of the 65-kD fragment. Molecular masses are given in kD.

causes the disassembly of the Golgi complex and fusion of the cis-, medial-, and trans-Golgi (but not the TGN) with the ER (Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1989, 1991). In the presence of BFA, the conversion of the 126-kD pro-PC5-A into the 117-kD PC5-A is still observed (Fig. 5 a), but COOH-terminal truncation generating the 65-kD product is no longer detected. Thus, NH₂-terminal prosegment processing can occur in early compartments of the secretory pathway, but not COOH-terminal truncation. Furthermore, the absence of sulfation of the 126-kD form (Fig. 2) is taken as evidence that pro-PC5-A does not reach the TGN, where sulfation is known to take place (Hart, 1992; Bauerle and Huttner, 1987). Endoglycosidase H digestions were also performed and demonstrated that the 126-kD pro-PC5-A was digested by endoglycosidase H during chase times of up to 4 h, while the intracellular and

^{1.} Abbreviations used in this paper: BFA, brefeldin A; POMC, pro-opiomelanocortin; TMD, transmembrane domain.



Figure 4. Microsequencing of PC5-A 126- and 117-kD products. The deduced sequence positions of released tritiated residues are indicated, clearly establishing the identity of the 126-kD product as pro-PC5-A and the 117-kD product as zymogen-cleaved PC5-A.

secreted 117- and 65-kD forms were resistant to this treatment after a 1-h chase (data not shown).

Since the COOH-terminal truncation generating the 65-kD product does not occur in the presence of BFA (Fig. 5 *a*), this cleavage must occur in a late compartment of the secretory pathway. To further substantiate this hypothesis, an experiment at a restrictive temperature of 20°C, which traps secretory proteins at the level of the TGN (Matlin and Simons, 1983), was performed. The formation of the 65-kD product was not observed at 20°C (Fig. 5 *b*). Therefore, COOH-terminal truncation of PC5-A occurs after egress of the 117-kD form out of the TGN.

Cellular Processing of PC5-B

As already shown in Fig. 2, in AtT-20 cells stably transfected with PC5-B, the sulfated protein forms that reach the TGN have an apparent M_r of 210 and 170 kD. Since only the 170-kD form is secreted in the medium, this suggests that the 210-kD sulfated protein is retained intracellularly via the transmembrane domain (TMD). In a similar time course to PC5-A (Fig. 3), pulse labeling of these cells with [³⁵S]methionine for 1 min followed by chase times of up to 2 h demonstrated that the 170-kD COOH-terminally truncated form is first detected in the cell extracts and medium after a 60-min chase period (Fig. 6 *a*). Since the 170-kD product is detected in the cell extracts, COOH-terminal truncation of PC5-B therefore occurs intracellularly. To determine whether the production of the 170-kD form is an early or late event along the secretory pathway,





Figure 5. (a) Biosynthesis of PC5-A in the presence of brefeldin A. PC5-A-transfected AtT-20 cells were labeled with [35 S]methionine for 2 h in the presence or absence of brefeldin A and immunoprecipitated with an anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum, followed by resolution on 8% SDS-PAGE gels. Molecular masses are given in kD. (b) Effect of 20°C temperature blockade on PC5-A processing. PC5-A-transfected AtT-20 cells were labeled with [35 S]methionine at either 20° or 37°C for 2 h and immunoprecipitated with an anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum. A more contrasted exposure is given to clearly establish that the intracellular production of the 65-kD fragment is absent at 20°C. Molecular

AtT-20 cells expressing PC5-B were labeled with $[^{35}S]$ methionine for 2 h in the presence or absence of BFA. Results shown in Fig. 6 b demonstrate that the 170-kD form is not detected in the presence of BFA, suggesting that loss of the TMD occurs in a late secretory pathway compartment.

PC5-A Enters Secretory Granules While PC5-B Is Localized in the Golgi

Biosynthetic studies. Since both 117- and 65-kD PC5-A (Fig. 3) and the 170-kD PC5-B (Fig. 6) are secreted in the medium, it was essential to determine whether each of these forms was released through the same secretory pathway. The basal and stimulated release of PC5-A and PC5-B in several of our clonal cell lines was thus compared by labeling of the cells for 2 h with [³⁵S]sulfate in the presence (+) or absence (-) of 8Br-cAMP. In Fig. 7 *a*, the release of the 117-kD PC5-A is seen to increase up to threefold in the presence of the secretagogue. Since the 65-kD PC5-A product is not sulfated, the experiment was



65

Figure 6. (a) Analysis of PC5-B transformations by pulse-chase experiments. PC5-B-transfected cells were pulse labeled with $[^{35}S]$ methionine for 1 min (pI), and then chased (c) for 30, 60, or 120 min, followed by immunoprecipitation. Molecular masses are

[²⁵S]methionine for 1 min (p_1), and then chased (c) for 30, 60, or 120 min, followed by immunoprecipitation. Molecular masses are given in kD. (b) Biosynthesis of PCS-B in the presence of brefeldin A. PC5-B-transfected AtT-20 cells were labeled with [³⁵S]methionine in the presence or absence of brefeldin A for 2 h and immunoprecipitated. Molecular masses are given in kD.

repeated using [35 S]methionine labeling. Results shown in Fig. 7 *b* demonstrate that the release of the 65-kD PC5-A form is also stimulated in presence of 8Br-cAMP. In contrast, the level of the secreted 170-kD PC5-B remains virtually unchanged upon this treatment (Fig. 7 *a*). The ratio of stimulated over nonstimulated bands was calculated by scanning and quantification of the autoradiograms, and it was found to be 0.90 for PC5-B and 2.5 for PC5-A (average values, see Table I). This suggests that while the 117and 65-kD forms of PC5-A can enter secretory granules, the shed form of PC5-B (170 kD) exits from the cell via the constitutive secretory pathway (Burgess and Kelly, 1987).

To provide further evidence that the PC5-A sorting signal to secretory granules resides in its COOH-terminal region, a mutant PC5-A construct was produced, in which the last 38 amino acids unique to PC5-A were deleted (see Fig. 1). This mutant PC5-A Δ exhibits a biosynthetic pattern similar to that of PC5-A in pulse-chase experiments, with the presence of 122- and 113-kD forms in the cell extracts (Fig. 8). A notable exception is the production of the 65-kD fragment that, at the 2-h chase period in the me-

Figure 7. (a) Comparative basal and cAMP-stimulated release of sulfate-labeled PC5-A- and PC5-B-encoded proteins: PC5-A is stored in secretory granules, while PC5-B shed form is released through the constitutive pathway. PC5-A- or B-transfected cells were labeled for 2 h with [35 S]sulfate and treated with (+) or without (-) 8Br-cAMP. Media were immunoprecipitated with an anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum and resolved by SDS-PAGE. Molecular masses are given in kD. (b) Comparative basal and cAMP-stimulated release of methionine-labeled PC5-A-encoded proteins: both intact and COOH-terminally truncated products are stored in secretory granules. PC5-A-transfected cells were labeled for 2 h with [35 S]methionine and treated with (+) or without (-) 8Br-cAMP. Media were immunoprecipitated with an anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum and resolved by SDS-PAGE. Molecular masses are given in kD.

[³⁵S]methionine

dium, is reduced by half as compared with wild-type PC5-A (compare Figs. 3 and 8 *a*). The release of this PC5-A Δ mutant was not stimulated by 8Br-cAMP to the same extent as that of the wild-type PC5-A, showing only a 1.2-fold increase, while PC5-A release could be augmented by up to threefold in the presence of this secretagogue (Fig. 8 *b* and Table I).

To clarify the type of release of each PC5 protein, secretion kinetics experiments were performed (Fig. 9). PC5-A-, PC5-A Δ -, and PC5-B-expressing cells were pulsed for Table I. Ratio of 8Br-cAMP-stimulated Secretion to Basal Release for PC5 Proteins

	Ratio of stimulated secretion to basal release (Band intensity + 8Br-cAMP/ Band intensity - 8Br-cAMP)	SD
PC5-A	2.50	± 0.17
PC5-B	0.90	± 0.11
PC5-AA	1.21	± 0.19

Autoradiographs were quantified as described in Materials and Methods. The average ratio of stimulated release over basal release for 2-h labeling periods was calculated for each PCS protein, taking values of five such experiments.

30 min with $[^{35}S]$ methionine and chased for the times indicated. Their respective accumulation in the medium was calculated for each chase time by scanning and quantification of the autoradiograms as described in Materials and Methods (Fig. 9). While PC5-A demonstrates secretion kinetics representative of a protein released through the reg-



PC5-A PC5-AA PC5-B Clone A5 $\Delta 2 \quad \Delta 4 \quad B1$ cAMP: - + - + - + - + - + 117 \Rightarrow \leftarrow 170

[35S]sulfate

Figure 8. (a) Analysis of PC5-A Δ transformations by pulse-chase experiments. PC5-A Δ -transfected cells were pulse labeled with [³⁵S]methionine for 1 min (*p1*), and then chased (*c*) for 30. 60, or 120 min, followed by immunoprecipitation with a polyclonal rabbit anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum. A more contrasted exposure is given to show the intracellular production of the 65-kD fragment. Molecular masses are given in kD. (*b*) Comparative basal and cAMP-stimulated release of sulfate-labeled PC5-A-, PC5-B-, and PC5-A Δ -encoded proteins. PC5-transfected cells were labeled for 2 h with [³⁵S]sulfate and treated with (+) or without (-) 8Br-cAMP. Media were immunoprecipitated with an anti-NH₂-terminal PC5 antiserum and resolved by SDS-PAGE. Molecular masses are given in kD. ulated pathway (Grimes and Kelly, 1992; Arvan and Castle, 1987; Chavez et al., 1996), PC5-B and PC5-A Δ exhibit notably distinct basal secretion patterns.

Immunofluorescence Analysis. To define more precisely the subcellular localization of PC5 proteins, AtT-20 transfected cells were analyzed by immunofluorescence microscopy (Marcinkiewicz et al., 1996). The data in Fig. 10 a show that PC5-A immunoreactivity exhibits a pattern of punctate staining observed in the cytoplasm and at the tips of cellular extensions, known to contain secretory granules (Matsuuchi et al., 1988), and immunostaining at paranuclear positions, which correspond to the Golgi apparatus. Weak immunoreaction could also be seen in the presumptive perinuclear ER. By double immunofluorescence, PC5-A is demonstrated to colocalize with ACTH in secretory granules and Golgi apparatus (Fig. 10, a and b). The PC5-B labeling pattern (Fig. 10 c) is quite different from that observed for either PC5-A or ACTH (Fig. 10, a and b). Immunofluorescence staining of PC5-B (Fig. 10 c) overlaps with that of TGN38 (Fig. 10 d), a TGN-resident protein (Luzio et al., 1990). A mutant PC5-A Δ , lacking the PC5-A-specific COOH-terminal segment (PC5-Adelta; Fig. 10 e) also colocalizes with TGN38 by double immunofluorescence (Fig. 10, e and f), showing that this mutant PC5-A seems to reside primarily in compartments anterior to the secretory granules. The specificity of immunolabeling is confirmed by the absence of PC5 immunoreactivity in AtT-20 cells transfected with the RcCMV expression vector alone (Fig. 10 g), and by the displacement of the labeling reaction with excess antigen (data not shown). We note that the labeling pattern of cathepsin B (CB; Fig. 10 h), a marker of lysosomal compartments, is distinct from that observed for PC5 in all our transfected cell lines, although in this case colabeling could not be achieved since both antibodies are from rabbit species.

Immunocytochemical Evidence of PC5 Localization in Pancreatic Glucagon-secreting Cells by EM

To demonstrate that the sorting of PC5-A into secretory granules is not fortuitous or the result of overexpression in AtT-20 cells, the cellular localization of PC5 in pancreas was examined by EM. In single-labeling experiments, glucagon immunogold labeling was present over the electrondense structure of secretory granules, in cells displaying the characteristics of the A cells (Park and Bendayan, 1992) (Fig. 11 a). Using antibodies against the convertases PC2 and PC5 in conjunction with protein A-gold complexes, the gold particles were shown to be associated with the secretory granules of the A cells (Fig. 11, b and c). Double-labeling experiments revealed the colocalization of both PC2 and PC5 within the same granules of the A cells (Fig. 11 d). Double labeling using antibodies to PC2 or PC5 together with a glucagon-specific antibody demonstrated that the majority of glucagon-rich granules also display PC2 or PC5 immunoreactivity (Fig. 11, e and f).

Discussion

In this work, the biosynthesis and transport of PC5-A and PC5-B, two isoforms generated from a single gene (Mbikay et al., 1995), were investigated. Specifically, their respec-



Figure 9. AtT-20-transfected cells were labeled for 30 min with [35S]methionine and chased for the times indicated. Media were immunoprecipitated and resolved by SDS-PAGE. Autoradiographs of these gels were analyzed as described in Materials and Methods to permit quantification of the accumulation of released proteins in the medium at each time point. The calculated band intensities are given in arbitrary units.

tive biosynthetic pattern, sorting, and subcellular localization in stably transfected AtT-20 cells were compared. This work revealed that each isoform resides in a different intracellular compartment, suggesting their distinct functional destinations and the presence within their individual COOH-terminal domains of specific sorting signals.

Biosynthetic Fates of PC5-A and PC5-B

Initially, since data were not available on the biosynthesis of PC5, analysis in cells that endogenously express relatively high levels of its mRNA, namely BSC40 cells (Nakagawa et al., 1993a), was attempted. However, detection of sufficient amounts of [³⁵S]methionine-labeled PC5-A above background was unsuccessful. This approach was thus unsuitable to undertake extensive biosynthetic studies on PC5. Hence, the isolation of stable transfectants overexpressing PC5 was preferred, allowing in addition the comparison of the biosynthetic fate and transport of the isoforms PC5-A and PC5-B.

Pulse-chase analysis performed in transfected cells demonstrated that PC5-A is initially produced as pro-PC5-A, and rapidly processed to PC5-A (within a 1-min pulse) in

early compartments of the secretory pathway, in a fashion similar to that of the granule-associated convertase PC1 (Benjannet et al., 1993). Pro-PC5-A predominates intracellularly, even after chase periods of up to 2 h (Fig. 3). It is possible that the intracellular predominance of pro-PC5-A over PC5-A at all chase times may be due to its relatively high expression levels in transfectant clones. As assessed by its persistent sensitivity to endoglycosidase H digestion, pro-PC5-A remains in a compartment where transformation and trimming to complex sugar types does not occur (data not shown). With the added observation that pro-PC5-A is not sulfated (Fig. 2), whereas PC5-A is, this suggests that the zymogen remains in the ER, and only the NH₂-terminally processed PC5-A is allowed to exit from this compartment. This is in contrast to PC2, which is processed in the TGN/granules (Benjannet et al., 1993). PC5-A also undergoes COOH-terminal truncation into a 65-kD product, presumably within immature secretory granules. This is again similar to the fate of PC1 (87 kD), which is COOH-terminally cleaved into a 66-kD form, also within granules (Vindrola and Lindberg, 1992; Benjannet et al., 1993). Based on its size and the PC5-A sequence (Lusson et al., 1993), and by homology to the re-

Figure 10. PC5-A colocalizes with the secretory granules and Golgi apparatus marker ACTH, while PC5-B colocalizes with the TGN marker TGN38. (a) Immunofluorescence analysis of PC5-A intracellular distribution shows density throughout the cytoplasm and at the tips of cellular extensions containing secretory granules (*thin arrows*) and in paranuclear position, corresponding to a presumptive Golgi apparatus (*thick arrow*). The pattern of PC5 pancellular distribution much resembles that of ACTH shown in *b*. Here, as typically seen in AtT-20 cells, ACTH immunoreactivity is found to be spread out over the cell and at the tips of cellular extensions (*thin arrows*). (c) Intracellular distribution of PC5-B (*thick arrows*), as detected by immunofluorescence, is comparable to that of the TGN marker TGN38 (*d*) (*thick arrows*). The empty arrow depicts lack of PC5 immunoreaction at the tip of the cellular extensions of PC5-B-transfected cells. PC5-AA immunofluorescence (*e*) (*thick arrows*) is also found to colocalize with TGN38 (*f*) (*thick arrows*). (*g*) Lack of PC5 immunostaining in control AtT-20 cells transfected with the RcCMV vector is depicted by the empty arrows. (*h*) Cathepsin B (*CB*) labeling (*curved arrows*) is markedly different from PC5 labeling observed in PC5-A-, PC5-B-, or PC5-AA-transfected cells. Bar, 20 µm.











De Bie et al

cently described COOH-terminal cleavage site of PC1 (Zhou and Lindberg, 1994), the probable cleavage site generating this 65-kD fragment is at the sequence His_{646} TyrHisAla-AspLysLysArg₆₅₃ \downarrow Cys.

Pulse-chase analysis of the isoform PC5-B was then undertaken to compare its biosynthetic fate to that of PC5-A. This protein is present in transfected AtT-20 cells as a membrane-bound 210-kD form and a shed 170-kD product (Figs. 2 and 6, a and b). The truncated 170-kD product is detected after a 1-h chase both in the cell extracts and medium (Fig. 6 a), which suggests that COOH-terminal cleavage takes place in an intracellular compartment. Production of the PC5-B 170-kD truncation product is prevented in the presence of BFA, pointing to a late Golgi compartment as the location where COOH-terminal processing takes place. Similarly, the COOH-terminal truncation of membrane-bound furin was demonstrated to take place in the TGN (Vey et al., 1994). It should be mentioned that the extent of cleavage of the 210-kD form into the 170-kD PC5-B is somewhat dependent on protein expression levels. For example, in clones where expression levels are high, the ratio of the intracellular 210-kD to 170-kD form is in favor of the latter species, whereas this ratio is reversed in moderately expressing clones. This observation may be relevant to the different tissues that express this isoform. For example, in the ileum in which PC5-B mRNA is abundant, production of the 170-kD form would be expected to be more substantial than in lower expressing tissues, such as lung. The membranebound convertases furin (Molloy et al., 1994; Rehemtulla et al., 1992), the Drosophila furins (De Bie et al., 1995), and kexin (Germain et al., 1992) also exhibit shedding of their TMD, allowing the secretion of active enzymes. This is not only observed in conditions of overexpression (Rehemtulla et al., 1992), but also for the endogenous furin of Madin-Darby bovine kidney (MDBK) cells (Vey et al., 1994). Secretion of truncated PC5-B may therefore be physiologically important for the processing of extracellular substrates. A smaller truncation product of 65 kD, such as the one detected for PC5-A, is never observed for PC5-B, even though the cleavage site is present within the region common to both isoforms. Since it was demonstrated that this PC5-A COOH-terminal truncation segment is produced in immature granules, it can be concluded that PC5-B does not enter this compartment.

Although sequencing of the 170-kD form of PC5-B labeled with [³H]tyrosine was attempted several times, it was not possible to obtain unambiguous sequence data, probably as a result of the difficulty of directly sequencing such a large protein (data not shown). The 170-kD protein could be derived from the 210-kD PC5-B by an NH₂- and/ or COOH-terminal truncation. Since the loss of 40 kD is much greater than that expected for the 9 kD prosegment, it is likely that the 170-kD form is generated by COOHterminal truncation of the 210-kD PC5-B. Also, the 170-kD product is not retained intracellularly, as would be expected of a form having lost its transmembrane anchor. However, the secreted 170-kD form is presumed to lack the NH₂-terminal prosegment as well, since zymogen forms of either PC1, PC2, or furin are not released from AtT-20 cells (Benjannet et al., 1993). Also, PC5-B activity obtained from recombinant vaccinia virus-infected cells

could be detected in vitro in culture media using the fluorogenic substrate pGlu-Arg-Thr-Lys-Arg-methylcoumarin amide (Jean et al., 1993), concomitant with the observation of a 170-kD protein (Seidah, N.G., unpublished results).

Differential Intracellular Sorting of PC5-A and PC5-B

When expressed in AtT-20 cells, the two PC5 isoforms were sorted to distinct compartments of the secretory pathway. While the short and soluble PC5-A isoform entered the secretory granules, the membrane-bound PC5-B remained in the Golgi. Immunofluorescence images (Fig. 10 a) agree with the results obtained by biosynthetic labeling (Fig. 7), both of which demonstrate the presence of PC5-A in secretory granules. PC5-A (Fig. 10 a), like ACTH (Fig. 10 b) and PC1 (Marcinkiewicz et al., 1996), exhibits a dual Golgi/granule localization. Since cAMP stimulates the release of both 117-kD and 65-kD forms of PC5-A (Fig. 7 b), the punctate immunofluorescence found throughout the cytoplasm (Fig. 10 a) is presumed to correspond with granules carrying both products. In contrast, immunofluorescence data demonstrate that PC5-B resides in a compartment where it colocalizes with the TGN marker TGN38 (Luzio et al., 1990) (Fig 10, c and d).

To further demonstrate that the sorting of PC5-A to secretory granules is neither an artifact nor the result of overexpression in AtT-20 cells, we performed EM studies to demonstrate the presence of PC5 in the granules of an endocrine tissue. The data (Fig. 11) clearly demonstrate that PC5 colocalizes with both glucagon and PC2 within the granules of the pancreatic A cells. The presence of PC5 in the Golgi could not be established, as a result of the scarcity of this organelle in these cells. Further undertakings are needed to demonstrate the presence of PC5 in the Golgi of pancreatic A cells at the EM level and to determine which form of PC5 prevails in this cellular compartment.

The pancreatic A cells provide a physiological model for the sorting of PC5 in an endocrine tissue. In agreement, in two glucagon-expressing cell lines, the 65-kD PC5-A product has been detected by Western blotting (Blache et al., 1994). One of these cell lines, namely α TC1-6, is derived from the pancreatic A cells (Hamaguchi and Leiter, 1990). This strongly suggests that PC5-A, and not PC5-B, is the species detected in the A cells of the pancreas.

The principal sorting signal that permits PC5-A to enter secretory granules seems to reside within its unique COOH-terminal 38 amino acids. Indeed, a truncation mutant of PC5-A in which this segment was removed was no longer detected in the secretory granules of AtT-20 cells by immunofluorescence microscopy (Fig. 10 e). Moreover, 8Br-cAMP stimulation of the release of this protein only resulted in a 1.2-fold increase of secretion in the medium, while that of wild-type PC5-A could be augmented by up to three times (Table I). Therefore, PC5-AA seems to have lost its capacity to efficiently enter secretory granules.

The secretion kinetics of PC5-A Δ are also quite distinct from those of PC5-A. In Fig. 9, where the basal releases of PC5-A, PC5-A Δ , and soluble PC5-B are compared, PC5-A demonstrates a secretion pattern typical of proteins released through the regulated secretory pathway of trans-



Figure 11. EM immunocytochemical detection of PC5 and PC2 in pancreatic glucagon-secreting cells. Pancreatic A cells were immunolabeled with the following antibodies complexed to protein A-gold: anti-glucagon (a, e, and f), anti-PC2 (b, d, and e), and anti-PC5 (c, d)d, and f). In a, the gold particles complexed to the glucagon antibody are detected over the secretory granules (g). (b) The secretory granules (g) of the A cell are labeled with the PC2 antibody complexed to protein A-gold. (c) Labeling of the A cell with the PCS antibody complexed to protein Agold is seen over the majority of secretory granules (g). (d-f) Sections of glucagon-secreting cells were then processed by double immunogold labeling: (d) PC2 (5-nm particles) and PC5 (10nm particles) are colocalized in the secretory granules (g). (e) PC2 (5-nm particles) is colocalized with glucagon (15 nm particles) in many of the secretory granules. (f) PC5 (5-nm particles) colocalizes with glucagon (15-nm particles) in many granules of the A cell. Bars: $(a \text{ and } b) 0.2 \ \mu\text{m}; (c-f) 0.1 \ \mu\text{m}.$

formed cell lines, while PC5-A Δ and soluble PC5-B exhibit linear constitutive releases. Tumor-derived endocrine cell lines have been demonstrated to have a high rate of basal, unstimulated release of granule contents. This is especially true of AtT-20 cells (Matsuuchi and Kelly, 1991; Milgram et al., 1994), which release about half of their granule content of ACTH in an unstimulated fashion (Moore et al., 1983). Therefore, Fig. 9 depicts this unstimulated granule exocytosis of PC5-A, which is initially rapid and thought to occur through immature granules, and then reaches a plateau as the protein accumulates in the mature secretory granules.

The basal release of PC5-A Δ and the soluble form of PC5-B, on the other hand, is believed to occur through constitutive vesicles, as their content increases linearly with time in the extracellular medium. The observed rate of release of PC5-B is the lowest of the three PC5 forms, probably because this protein must first undergo excision of its transmembrane domain before being released into the extracellular medium. The fact that the initial rate of release of PC5-A is higher than that of the mutant PC5- $A\Delta$ may be due (a) to the fact that the expression levels of PC5-A in the cell lines analyzed are higher than those of PC5-A Δ , and therefore the PC5-A overflow from granules is more important than the constitutive release of the mutant; or (b) to the release of PC5-A Δ from the cell being delayed by the slower rate of exit of this protein out of the ER, as the mutation introduced in the COOH-terminal domain could affect the proper folding of this protein.

The small increase of PC5-A Δ release in the presence of 8Br-cAMP (Fig. 8 b; Table I) could be explained by the entry of this protein in immature secretory granules, as these organelles can release their content upon stimula-

M

С

С

С

tion (Tooze et al., 1991). This is further supported by the production of a 65-kD truncation product at 37°C, but not at 20°C, by both PC5-A (Fig. 5 b) and PC5-A Δ (data not shown). In comparison, PC5-B is never processed into this smaller truncation product, even though the cleavage site is present within the region common to both isoforms. The differential sorting of PC5-A and PC5-A Δ could therefore occur in immature granules (Arvan and Castle, 1992; Bauerfeind and Huttner, 1993), from which PC5-A Δ could be released through the constitutive-like pathway (Kuliawat and Arvan, 1994). Alternatively, PC5-AA could enter the immature granules, but then be recycled from this compartment back to the TGN to be released through constitutive vesicles.

Sequence-specific Sorting Signals of PC5-A and PC5-B

PC5-A. In an attempt to uncover a potential granule-sorting signal, the sequence unique to PC5-A was tentatively aligned with those of other proteins known to enter the secretory granules, namely chromogranin B and pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC). A consensus sequence emerged that conformed to the signals already defined for chromogranin B (Chanat et al., 1993) and POMC (Cool et al., 1995). This consensus sequence consists of two cysteines. which in the cases of chromogranin B (Chanat et al., 1993) and POMC (Bennett et al., 1986) have been demonstrated to form a disulfide bond, and conserved hydrophobic residues, especially a central leucine (Fig. 12 a). This motif is also observed in chromogranin A (Benedum et al., 1987) and in the convertase PACE4-A (Kiefer et al., 1991). We may therefore have identified a potential granule-sorting signal for PC5-A, which could also be functional in the

a

mPC5-A hPACE4-A hCg B hCa A hPOMC

VKKNNLCQRKVLQQLCCKTC EM.VKSNRLCERKLFIQFCCRTC IIIEVLSNALSKSSVPT...TPEC IVEVIYDTLSKPSPMP...VSKEC ESSOCODLTTESNLLE.CIRAC

b

mPC5-B	(TMD) - 1222 - 25 - 622 - 527 RSS YLOEDOUIEYRDROYDEDDEDDIU - 822 - 284 - 284 - 284 - 284 - 284 - 284 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582 - 582		
hfurin	СТМО] -28aa-LI 52 KG1 PPEAUQ EECE - 1 Saa-COOH		
rPC7	(TMD) -6233 - LL -333 - LL GEROWSLSQNSKS OLD - 1533 - COOH		
ykexin	[TMD]-13aa-22_EF0]11-18aa-EPEEVEDFDF0LSDED -62aa-C00H		
mTGN38 [TMD] -4aa-11-19aa-2008			

Figure 12. (a) Alignment of amino acid sequences showing homology between PC5-A, PACE4-A, chromogranin B, chromogranin A, and POMC. Conserved amino acid sequences of mouse mPC5-A, human hPACE4-A, human chromogranin B (hCg B), human chromogranin A (hCgA), and human hPOMC are aligned. Conserved residues are boxed, and the important cysteines and central leucine printed in bold. (b) Alignment of PC5-B cytosolic tail sequence with those of furin, kexin, TGN38, and PC7. Known and potential TGNlocalization motives are emphasized. The motif Y-X-X-(hydrophobic) is boxed. Acidic stretches are topped with a bar. Potential casein kinase II phosphorylation sites are outlined. Dileucine motives are topped with an asterisk (*). m, mouse; h, human; y, yeast; r, rat.

convertase PACE4-A. Further studies are needed to demonstrate whether this signal is a true sorting domain and can act on constitutively secreted proteins, as was accomplished with chimeras of the prosegment of anglerfish somatostatin-1 and α -globin (Stoller and Shields, 1989). We conclude that the COOH-terminal 38-amino acid sequence is involved in the sorting of PC5-A to the regulated pathway. This segment may be necessary for the presumed calcium-induced aggregation of PC5-A, allowing its entry into mature secretory granules (Burgess and Kelly, 1987; Tooze et al., 1993). This does not exclude the possibility that additional sorting signals are present in other PC5 domains. Studies with both POMC (Chevrier et al., 1993) and somatostatin (Sevarino and Stork, 1991) demonstrated that multiple sorting signals to the regulated secretory pathway exist in these molecules.

PC5-B. Potential signals permitting the retention of PC5-B in Golgi compartments were likewise investigated, by comparing its COOH-terminal-specific sequence to those of other membrane-bound proprotein processing enzymes.

Several trafficking signals governing TGN localization have been recently defined to reside within the cytoplasmic tail of the convertase furin (Molloy et al., 1994; Chapman and Munro, 1994; Voorhees et al., 1995; Schäfer et al., 1995; Jones et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995; Bosshart et al., 1995). These include (a) a cluster of acidic amino acids in the sequence CPSDSEEDEG, where the phosphorylation of both serines by a caseine kinase II-like enzyme plays an important modulatory role in the retrieval of furin to the TGN (Jones et al., 1995; Takahashi et al., 1995); (b) a Tyr-containing motif, where the tetrapeptide consensus sequence Y-XX-(hydrophobic) is a necessary and sufficient cytoplasmic domain signal to retrieve integral membrane proteins from the cell surface to the TGN (Trowbridge et al., 1993); and (c) adjacent leucine and/or isoleucine residues, termed dileucine signal, which has been described as an internalization motif (Johnson and Kornfeld, 1992).

All three signals are present in the cytosolic tail of PC5-B (Fig. 12 b). Two acidic clusters are seen in mouse PC5-B, within the sequence (Nakagawa et al., 1993b): TMD-28aa-SYLDEDQVIEYRDRDYDEDDEDD-19aa-DETEDDE-LEYDDE-5aa-COOH, with two potential (Ser and Thr) casein kinase II phosphorylation sites. Both acidic clusters and the casein kinase II phosphorylation site at the serine residue are conserved in rat PC5-B (GenBank accession number: Pcsk5 V47014). The cytosolic sequence of PC5-B also exhibits four Tyr-containing motifs: TMD-12aa-YEKL-6aa-YSSY-35aa-YRKF-1aa-YGLL-18aa-COOH, which could be potentially functional. Interestingly, PC5-B (LeuLeu, at two positions), furin (LeuIle), and PC7 (LeuLeu, at two positions) all contain a dileucine motif within their cytoplasmic tail. Future internalization studies aimed specifically at detecting PC5-B at the cell surface and its predicted retrieval to intracellular compartments should assess the implication of the Tyr-containing and/or dileucine signals in this process. Alignment of the known cytosolic tail localization motives of furin, PC7, kexin (Wilcox et al., 1992), and TGN38 (Humphrey et al., 1993; Bos et al., 1993; Wong and Hong, 1993; Ponnambalam et al., 1994; Wilde et al., 1994), all membrane-bound protein residents of the

Golgi or TGN, with the motives seen in PC5-B, is shown in Fig. 12 b.

In conclusion, PCS-A and PCS-B constitute the first example for the convertase family of processing enzymes, in which two active forms originating from a single gene exhibit distinct cellular localization. This may represent a mechanism to regulate bioactive enzymes by directing them to different subcellular destinations to process unique sets of precursor substrates. Since the convertases exhibit overlapping tissue distributions as well as in vitro or ex vivo cleavage specificities, the formation of the appropriate convertase/substrate combinations could ultimately be regulated by their particular intracellular localization.

We are grateful to Drs. G. Banting and W. Garten for their gifts of TGN38 antisera, and to Dr. J. Mort for his gift of cathepsin B antiserum. Synthesis of MAP peptides by Dr. Ajoy Basak is much appreciated, as well as the technical assistance of Edwige Marcinkiewicz, Diane Savaria, Annie Lemieux, Suzanne Benjannet, Andrew Chen, Jim Rochemont, Maya Mamarbachi, Josée Hamelin, Xue-Wen Yuen, Dr. Robert Day, Diane Gingras, Jean Godbout, and Jean Leveillé. Many thanks to Dr. Andrea Laslop for critical reading of the manuscript, to Dr. J. Scott Munzer for countless encouragments, and to Christian Charbonneau for expert handling of photographic material. The secretarial assistance of Mrs. Sylvie Emond and Sandra Gauthier is greatly appreciated.

This work was supported by Medical Research Council of Canada program grants (PG11471, PG11474, MT-12686, and MT-7284), a Protein Engineering Network of Centres of Excellence (PENCE) grant, and J.A. De Sève Succession. I. De Bie received support in part from funds of the PENCE Program and from a scholarship from Fonds pour la Formation de Chercheurs et l'Aide à la Recherche (Québec, Canada).

Received for publication 7 March 1996 and in revised form 10 September 1996.

References

- Arvan, P., and J.D. Castle. 1987. Phasic release of newly synthesized secretory proteins in the unstimulated rat exocrine pancreas. J. Cell Biol. 104:243-252.
- Arvan, P., and J.D. Castle. 1992. Protein sorting and secretion granule formation in regulated secretory cells. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2:327-331.
- Baeuerle, P.A., and W.B. Huttner. 1987. Tyrosine sulfation is a trans-Golgi-specific protein modification. J. Cell Biol. 105:2655-2664.
- Basak, A., A. Boudreault, A. Chen, M. Chrétien, N.G. Seidah, and C. Lazure. 1995. Application of the multiple antigenic peptides (MAP) strategy to the production of prohormone convertases antibodies: synthesis, characterization and use of 8-branched immunogenic peptides. J. Pept. Sci. 1:385-395.
- Bauerfeind, R., and W.B. Huttner. 1993. Biogenesis of constitutive secretory vesicles, secretory granules and synaptic vesicles. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5: 628-635.
- Bendayan, M. 1982. Double immunocytochemical labeling applying the protein A-gold technique. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 30:81-85.
- Bendayan, M. 1984. Protein A-gold electron microscopic immunocytochemistry: methods, applications and limitations. J. Electron Microsc. Techn. 1:243–270.
- Bendayan, M. 1989. Protein A-gold and protein G-gold postembedding immunoelectron microscopy. In Colloidal Gold: Principles, Methods and Applications. Vol. 1. M.A. Hayat, editor. Academic Press, San Diego, CA. 33–94.
- Benedum, U.M., A. Lamouroux, D.S. Konecki, P. Rosa, A. Hille, P.A. Baeuerle, R. Frank, F. Lottspeich, J. Mallet, and W.B. Huttner. 1987. The primary structure of human secretogranin I (chromogranin B): comparison with chromogranin A reveals homologous terminal domains and a large intervening variable region. *EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J.* 6:1203-1211. Benjannet, S., N. Rondeau, L. Paquet, A. Boudreault, C. Lazure, M. Chrétien,
- Benjannet, S., N. Rondeau, L. Paquet, A. Boudreault, C. Lazure, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1993. Comparative biosynthesis, covalent post-translational modifications and efficiency of pro-segment cleavage of the prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2: glycosylation, sulphation and identification of the intracellular site of pro-segment cleavage of PC1 and PC2. Biochem. J. 294:735-743.
- Bennett, H.P.J., N.G. Seidah, S. Benjannet, S. Solomon, and M. Chrétien. 1986. Reinvestigation of the disulfide bridge arrangement in human pro-opiomelanocortin N-terminal segment (hNT 1-76). Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 27: 306-313.
- Blache, P., D. Le-Nguyen, C. Boegner-Lemoine, A. Cohen-Solal, D. Bataille, and A. Kervan. 1994. Immunological detection of prohormone convertases in two different proglucagon processing cell lines. *FEBS Lett.* 344:65-68.

- Bos, K., C. Wraight, and K.K. Stanley. 1993. TGN38 is maintained in the trans-Golgi network by a tyrosine-containing motif in the cytoplasmic domain. EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J. 12:2219-2228.
- Bosshart, H., J. Humphrey, E. Designan, J. Davidson, J. Drazba, L. Yuan, V. Oorschot, P.J. Peters, and J. Bonifacino. 1995. The cytoplasmic domain mediates localization of furin to the *trans*-Golgi network en route to the endosomal/lysosomal system. J. Cell Biol. 126:1157-1172.
- Burgess, T.L., and R.B. Kelly. 1987. Constitutive and regulated secretion of proteins. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 3:243-293.
- Chan, S.J., A.A. Oliva, Jr., J. LaMendola, A. Grens, H. Bode, and D.F. Steiner. 1992. Conservation of the prohormone convertase gene family in the metaxoa: analysis of cDNAs encoding a PC3-like protein from hydra. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 89:6678-6682.
- Chanat, E., U. Weiß, W.B. Huttner, and S.A. Tooze. 1993. Reduction of the disulfide bond of chromogranin B (secretogranin I) in the trans-Golgi network causes its missorting to the constitutive secretory pathway. EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J. 12:2159-2168.
- Chapman, R.E., and S. Munro. 1994. Retrieval of TGN proteins from the cell surface requires endosomal acidification. EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J. 13:2305-2312.
- Chavez, R.A., S.G. Miller, and H.-P. Moore. 1996. A biosynthetic regulated secretory pathway in constitutive secretory cells. J. Cell Biol. 133:1177-1191.
- Chevrier, D., H. Fournier, C. Nault, M. Zollinger, P. Crine, and G. Boileau. 1993. Targeting of pro-opiomelanocortin to the regulated secretory pathway may involve cooperation between different protein domains. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 12:831-844.
- Chun, J.Y., J. Korner, T. Kreiner, R.H. Scheller, and R. Axel. 1994. The function and differential sorting of a family of *Aplysia* prohormone processing enzymes. *Neuron*. 12:831-844.
- Cool, D.R., M. Fenger, C.R. Snell, and Y.P. Loh. 1994. Identification of the sorting signal motif within pro-opiomelanocortin for the regulated secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 270:8723–8729.
- De Bie, I., D. Savaria, A.J.M. Roebroek, R. Day, C. Lazure, W.J.M. Van de Ven, and N.G. Seidah. 1995. Processing specificity and biosynthesis of the Drosophila melanogaster convertases dfurin1, dfurin1-CRR, dfurin1-X and dfurin2. J. Biol. Chem. 270:1020-1028.
- Germain, D., T. Vernet, G. Boileau, and D.Y. Thomas. 1992. Expression of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Kex2p endoprotease in insect cells. Evidence for a carboxy-terminal autoprocessing event. Eur. J. Biochem. 204:121-126.
- Grimes, M., and R.B. Kelly. 1992. Intermediates in the constitutive and regulated secretory pathways released in vitro from semi-intact cells. J. Cell Biol. 117:539–549.
- Hamaguchi, K., and E.H. Leiter. 1990. Comparison of cytokine effects on mouse pancreatic α-cell and β-cell lines. Viability. secretory function, and MHC antigen expression. *Diabetes*. 39:415-425.
- Hart, G.W. 1992. Glycosylation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 4:1017-1023.
- Hatsuzawa, K., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1992. Molecular and enzymatic properties of furin, a Kex2-like endoprotease involved in precursor cleavage at Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg sites. J. Biochem. 11:296-301.
- cleavage at Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg sites. J. Biochem. 11:296-301. Humphrey, J.S., P.J. Peters, L.C. Yuan, and J.S. Bonifacino. 1993. Localization of TGN38 to the trans-Golgi Network: involvement of a cytoplasmic Tyrosine-containing sequence. J. Cell Biol. 120:1123-1135.
- Jean, F., A. Basak, N. Rondeau, S. Benjannet, G.N. Hendy, N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and C. Lazure. 1993. Enzymic characterization of murine and human prohormone convertase-1 (mPC1 and hPC1) expressed in mammalian GH₄C₁ cells. *Biochem. J.* 292:891-900.
- Johnson, K.F., and S. Kornfeld. 1992. The cytoplasmic tail of the mannose 6-phosphate/insulin-like growth factor-II receptor has two signals for lysosomal enzyme sorting in the Golgi. J. Cell Biol. 119:249-257.
- Jones, B.G., L. Thomas, S.S. Molloy, C.D. Thulin, M.D. Fry, K.A. Walsh, and G. Thomas. 1995. Intracellular trafficking of furin is modulated by the phosphorylation state of a casein kinase II site in its cytoplasmic tail. EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J. 14:5869-5883.
- Kiefer, M.C., J.E. Tucker, R. Joh, K.E. Landsberg, D. Saltman, and P.J. Barr. 1991. Identification of a second human subtilisin-like protease gene in the *fes/fps* region of chromosome 15. DNA Cell Biol. 10:757-769.
- Kuliawat, R., and P. Arvan. 1994. Protein targeting via the "constitutivelike"secretory pathway in isolated pancreatic islets: passive sorting in the immature granule compartment. J. Cell Biol. 118:521-529.
- Lee, E.R., L. Lamplugh, N.L. Shepard, and J.S. Mort. 1995. The septoclast, a cathepsin β-rich cell involved in the resorption of growth plate cartilage. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 43:525-536.
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., L.C. Youan, J.S. Bonifacino, and R.D. Klausner. 1989. Rapid redistribution of Golgi proteins into the ER in cells treated with brefeldin A: evidence for membrane cycling from Golgi to ER. Cell. 56: 801-813.
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., L. Yuan, C. Tipper, M. Amherdt, L. Orci, and R.D. Klausner. 1991. Brefeldin A's effects on endosomes, lysosomes, and the TGN suggest a general mechanism for regulating organelle structure and membrane traffic. Cell. 67:601-616.
- Lusson, J., D. Vicau, J. Hamelin, R. Day, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1993. cDNA structure of the mouse and rat subtilisin/kexin-like PCS: a candidate proprotein convertase expressed in endocrine and nonendocrine cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 90:6691-6695.
- Luzio, J.P., B. Brake, G. Banting, K.E. Howell, P. Braghetta, and K.K. Stanley.

1990. Identification, sequencing and expression of an integral membrane protein of the *trans*-Golgi Network (TGN38). Biochem. J. 270:97-102.

- Malide, D., N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and M. Bendayan. 1995. Electron microscopy immunocytochemical evidence for the involvement of the convertases PC1 and PC2 in the processing of proinsulin in pancreatic β-cells. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 43:11-19.
- Marcinkiewicz, M., N.G. Seidah, and M. Chrétien. 1996. Implications of the subtilisin/kexin-like precursor convertases in the development and function of nervous tissues. Acta Neurobiol. Exp. (Wars.). 56:287-297.
- Matlin, K.S., and K. Simons. 1983. Reduced temperature prevents transfer of a membrane glycoprotein to the cell surface but does not prevent terminal glycosylation. *Cell*. 34:233-243.
- Matsuuchi, L., and R.B. Kelly. 1991. Constitutive and regulated secretion from the endocrine cell line AtT-20. J. Cell Biol. 112:843-852.
- Matsuuchi, L., K.M. Buckley, A.W. Lowe, and R.B. Kelly. 1988. Targeting of secretory vesicles to cytoplasmic domains in AtT-20 and PC12 cells. J. Cell Biol. 106:239-251.
- Mbikay, M., N.G. Seidah, M. Chrétien, and E.M. Simpson. 1995. Chromosomal assignment of the genes for proprotein convertases PC4, PC5, and PACE4 in mouse and human. *Genomics*. 26:123–129.
- Milgram, S., B.A. Eipper, and R.E. Mains. 1994. Differential trafficking of soluble and integral membrane secretory granule-associated proteins. J. Cell Biol. 124:33-41.
 Molloy, S.S., L. Thomas, J.K. VanSlyke, P.E. Stenberg, and G. Thomas. 1994.
- Molloy, S.S., L. Thomas, J.K. VanSlyke, P.E. Stenberg, and G. Thomas. 1994. Intracellular trafficking and activation of the furin proprotein convertase: localization to the TGN and recycling from the cell surface. *EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.)* J. 13:18–33.
- Moore, H.-P., B. Gumbiner, and R.B. Kelly. 1983. Chloroquine diverts ACTH from a regulated to a constitutive pathway in AtT-20 cells. *Nature (Lond.)*. 302:434-436.
- Nakagawa, T., M. Hosaka, S. Torii, T. Watanabe, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993a. Identification of a new member of the mammalian Kex2-like processing endoprotease family: its striking structural similarity to PACE4. J. Biochem. 113:132-135.
- Nakagawa, T., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1993b. Identification of an isoform with an extremely large Cys-rich region of PC6, a Kex2-like processing endoprotease. FEBS Lett. 327:165-171.
- Park, I.S., and M. Bendayan. 1992. Coexistence of glucagon and pancreatic polypeptide in human and rat pancreatic endocrine cells. *Endocr. Pathol.* 3: 134-143.
- Ponnambalam, S., C. Rabouille, J.P. Luzio, T. Nilsson, and G. Warren. 1994. The TGN38 glycoprotein contains two non-overlapping signals that mediate localization to the *trans*-Golgi network. J. Cell Biol. 125:253-268.
- Rehemtuila, A., A.J. Dorner, and R.J. Kaufman. 1992. Regulation of PACE propeptide-processing activity: requirement for post-endoplasmic reticulum compartment and proteolytic activation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 89: 8235-8239.
- Roebroek, A.J.M., J.W.M. Creemers, I.G.L. Pauli, T. Bogaert, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1993. Generation of structural and functional diversity in furin-like proteins in *Drosophila melanogaster* by alternative splicing of the *Dfurl* gene. *EMBO* (*Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.*) J. 12:1853-1870.
- Scala, C., G. Cenacchi, C. Ferrari, G. Pasquinelli, P. Preda, and G.C. Manara. 1992. A new acrylic resin formulation: a useful tool for histological, ultrastructural and immunocytochemical investigations. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 40:1799–1804.
 Schäfer, W., A. Stroh, S. Berghöfer, J. Seiler, M. Vey, M.-L. Kruse, H.F. Kern,
- Schäfer, W., A. Stroh, S. Berghöfer, J. Seiler, M. Vey, M.-L. Kruse, H.F. Kern, H.-D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1995. Two independent targeting signals in the cytoplasmic domain determine the *trans*-Golgi network localization and endosomal trafficking of the proprotein convertase furin. *EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J.* 14:2424–2435.
- Seidah, N.G., R. Day, J. Hamelin, A. Gaspar, M.W. Collard, and M. Chrétien. 1992. Testicular expression of PC4 in the rat: molecular diversity of a novel germ cell-specific Kex2/Subtilisin-like proprotein convertase. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 6:1559-1570.
- Seidah, N.G., M. Chrétien, and R. Day. 1994. The family of subtilisin/kexin-like proprotein and pro-hormone convertases: divergent or shared functions. *Biochimie (Paris)*. 76:197-209.
- Seidah, N.G., J. Hamelin, M. Mamarbachi, W. Dong, H. Tadros, M. Mbikay, M. Chrétien, and R. Day. 1996. cDNA structure, tissue distribution and chromosomal localization of rat PC7: a novel mammalian proprotein convertase closest to yeast kexin-like proteinases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:3388– 3393.
- Sevarino, K., and P. Stork. 1991. Multiple preprosomatostatin sorting signals mediate secretion via discrete cAMP- and tetradecanoylphorbolacetateresponsive pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 266:18507-18513.
- Smit, A.B., S. Spijker, and W.P.M. Geraerts. 1992. Molluscan putative prohormone convertases: structural diversity in the central nervous system of Lymnaea stagnalis. FEBS Lett. 312:213-218.
- Stoller, T.J., and D. Shields. 1989. The propeptide of preprosomatostatin mediates intracellular transport and secretion of alpha-globin from mammalian cells. J. Cell Biol. 108:1647-1655.
- Takahashi, S., T. Nakagawa, T. Banno, T. Watanabe, K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1995. Localization of furin to the *trans*-Golgi network and recycling from the cell surface involves Ser and Tyr residues within the cytoplasmic domain. J. Biol. Chem. 270:28397-28401.

- Thacker, C., K. Peters, M. Srayko, and A. Rose. 1995. The bli-4 locus of Caenorhabditis elegans encodes structurally distinct Kex2/subtilisin-like endoproteases essential for early development and adult morphology. Genes & Dev. 9:956-971.
- Tooze, S.A., T. Flatmark, J. Tooze, and W.B. Huttner. 1991. Characterization of the immature secretory granule, an intermediate in granule biogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 115:1491–1503.
- Tooze, S.A., E. Chanat, J. Tooze, and W.B. Huttner. 1993. Proteolytic processing of prohormones and proneuropeptides. *In Mechanism of Intracellular* Trafficking and Processing of Proproteins. Y. Peng Loh, editor. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. 157-177.
- Trowbridge, I.S., J.F. Collawn, and C.R. Hopkins. 1993. Signal-dependent membrane protein trafficking in the endocytic pathway. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 9:129-161.
- Tsuji, A., K. Higashine, C. Hine, K. Mori, Y. Tamai, H. Nagamune, and Y. Matsuda. 1994. Identification of novel cDNAs encoding human kexin-like protease, PACE4 isoforms. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 200:943-950.
- Van de Ven, W.J.M., A.J.M. Roebroek, and H.J.P. Van Duijnhoven. 1993. Structure and function of eukaryotic proprotein processing enzymes of the subtilisin family of serine proteases. Crit. Rev. Oncog. 4:115–136.
- Vey, M., W. Schäfer, S. Berghöfer, H.-D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1994. Maturation of the trans-Golgi network protease furin: compartmentalization of

propeptide removal, substrate cleavage, and COOH-terminal truncation. J. Cell Biol. 127:1829–1842.

- Vindrola, O., and I. Lindberg. 1992. Biosynthesis of the prohormone convertase mPC1 in AtT-20 cells. Mol. Endocrinol. 6:1088-1094.
- Voorhees, P., E. Deignan, E. van Donselaar, J. Humphrey, M.S. Marks, P.J. Peters, and J.S. Bonifacino. 1995. An acidic sequence within the cytoplasmic domain of furin functions as a determinant of *trans*-Golgi network localization and internalization from the cell surface. *EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J.* 14:4961-4975.
- Wilcox, C.A., K. Redding, R. Wright, and R.S. Fuller. 1992. Mutation of a tyrosine localization signal in the cytosolic tail of yeast Kex2 protease disrupts Golgi retention and results in default transport to the vacuole. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 3:1353-1371.
- Wilde, A., C. Dempsey, and G. Banting. 1994. The tyrosine-containing internalization motif in the cytoplasmic domain of TGN38/41 lies within a nascent helix. J. Biol. Chem. 269:7131-7136.
- Wong, S.H., and W. Hong. 1993. The SXYQRL sequence in the cytoplasmic domain of TGN38 plays a major role in the *trans*-Golgi network localization. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:22853–22862.
- Zhou, Y., and I. Lindberg. 1994. Enzymatic properties of carboxyl-terminally truncated prohormone convertase 1 (PCI/SPC3) and evidence for autocatalytic conversion. J. Biol. Chem. 269:18408-18413.

Proprotein convertase PC5 is encoded by multiple mRNAs, two of which give rise to the COOH-terminal variant isoforms PC5-A (915 aa) and PC5-B (1877 aa).

Study of these PC5 isoforms was conducted to determine the potential influence of COOH-terminal structure variations on the cellular traffic and biosynthesis of these proteins.

The differences in biosynthesis and sorting between two mouse PC5 isoforms named PC5-A and PC5-B, which differ exclusively by the composition of their COOH-terminal structural region (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993a,b), and a truncated form of PC5-A lacking the COOH-terminal segment unique to this isoform (see figure D-1), were investigated. The three convertases were overexpressed by stable transfection in AtT-20 cells, a cell type possessing both constitutive and regulated secretory pathways. The respective processing pattern and subcellular localization of each PC5 protein was examined by biosynthetic analyses coupled to immunofluorescence studies, to determine if all PC5 proteins would be sorted to the same organelle, or if each would reside in different compartments of the secretory pathway. Additionally, electron microscopic studies of pancreatic A cells were performed to determine the compartment of residence of PC5 in a physiological model.

Several molecular forms of PC5-A and PC5-B expressed in AtT-20 cells are observed, three for PC5-A, which were determined to be proPC5-A, zymogen-cleaved PC5-A and a COOH-terminally truncated form of PC5-A, and two for PC5-B, one membrane-bound and one soluble, this last form probably resulting from a cleavage NH₂-terminal to the

transmembrane domain. Both PC5-B forms are sulfated and thus reach the TGN, while only PC5-A and not proPC5-A is sulfated.

Soluble forms of PC5-A and PC5-B exit the cell through different secretory pathways. Stimulated protein release demonstrated that PC5-A was stored in the secretory granules of AtT-20 cells and could be liberated upon stimulation with cAMP, while secretion of the soluble form of PC5-B did not change upon this treatment.

Double immunofluorescence studies permitted to determine the subcellular localization of PC5-A and PC5-B in transfected AtT-20 cells. PC5-A was found to reside in the secretory granules and Golgi of AtT-20 cells, while PC5-B colocalized with TGN38, a marker of the TGN.

The mutant PC5-A Δ lacking the COOH-terminal region unique to PC5-A, contrary to wild type PC5-A, could only be detected throughout the Golgi region, and not in secretory granules of At-T20 cells. The release of PC5-A Δ was not significantly increased in the presence of cAMP, indicating that this protein does not accumulated in the secretory granules of AtT-20 cells.

Electron microscopic studies of pancreatic A cells established that PC5 immunoreactivity is detected within the granules of these cells. PC5 colocalizes with both glucagon and PC2 within this organelle, demonstrating the sorting of this protein to dense core secretory granules in endocrine cells.

The studies of the PC5 isoforms demonstrated the critical role of the COOH-terminal domain on the cellular traffic of convertases. Each isoform was found to reside in a different intracellular compartment, suggesting the presence of specific sorting signals within their individual COOH-terminal domains. This model established that structural modifications of the COOH-terminal region of some convertases are

implicated in the determination of the subcellular localization and traffic along the secretory pathway. The presence of a sorting signal in the COOH-terminal 38 amino acids unique to PC5-A was demonstrated by the inefficient entry into the regulated secretory pathway of a mutant lacking this segment, while other signals are probably responsible for the Golgi localization of PC5-B. Thus, from a single PC5 gene, several COOH-terminally modified isoforms are generated, each with different sorting signals directing these proteins to distinct subcellular localization. Chapter E

General Conclusion and claims to original research
CONCLUSIONS

The mammalian subtilisin/kexin-like proprotein convertases, which cleave protein precursors intracellularly within specific subcellular secretory pathway compartments, possess additional carboxy-terminal structures as compared to the related bacterial subtilases, which function in the extracellular space. What is the advantage conferred to convertases over subtilisins by the presence of these additional domains?

The first of these two structural domains, which immediately follows the catalytic region, is the P domain (Gluschankof and Fuller, 1994). This region is indispensable to the proper maturation of convertases. Kexin (Gluschankof and Fuller, 1994) and furin (Hatsuzawa et al., 1992; Creemers et al., 1993) in which this region has been deleted or truncated past a critical Gly which marks the end of the structural homology between kexin and the mammalian convertases, do not undergo proregion cleavage and are retained intracellularly. Similarly, isoforms of the convertase PACE4 in which this region has been modified by splicing do not undergo proregion cleavage, are retained in the ER and are processing-deficient (Zhong et al., 1996). It has been suggested that the P domain of convertases could act as a scaffold to assist in the proper folding of the adjoined catalytic domain and in the positioning of the proregion for autocatalytic removal (Sinde and Inouye, 1995). However, despite numerous efforts, the exact functional purpose of the P domain has not yet been elucidated.

The other region which immediately follows the P domain is the COOH-terminal domain, where the most structural diversity is observed among the members of the convertase family. In mammalian convertases, this region is dispensable to the catalytic activity of these enzymes. COOH-terminally truncated forms of kexin (Fuller, Brake and Thorner, 1989; Germain et al., 1992; Gluschankof and Fuller, 1994) or

furin (Hatsuzawa et al., 1992; Creemers et al., 1993) are still capable of cleaving the appropriate substrates, while the multiple COOH-terminally variant dfurin1 isoforms do not display differences in cleavage specificity (this work). However, certain regions within the COOH-terminal domain of convertases were recently demonstrated to be involved in the determination of the intracellular residence of these enzymes.

The lumenal COOH-terminal domains of PC1 (Zhou, Paquet, and Mains, 1996), PC2 (Creemers et al., 1996), and now PC5-A (this work), are involved in directing these convertases to the regulated secretory pathway. Certain structural motifs within PC5-A affect the sorting of this protein to regulated secretory granules, although the exact signal has not been unequivocally characterized. Gene-transfer studies, in which the putative COOH-terminal sorting segment would be attached to a constitutively secreted protein, such as albumin or α -antitrypsin, are needed to demonstrate that this region can divert a protein from the constitutive to the regulated pathway. It is possible that this COOH-terminal signal requires the additional presence of the P domain, as furin-PC2 chimeras were recently demonstrated to be more efficiently targeted to the regulated secretory pathway when both P and COOH-terminal domains of PC2 were attached to the furin catalytic domain (Creemers et al., 1996). We have suggested that the signal within PC5-A COOH-terminal segment, which is also found in convertase PACE4, may also affect the sorting of this latter convertase to secretory granules. Indeed, a recent report demonstrated that PACE4 resides in the secretory granules of transfected AtT-20 cells (Mains et al., 1997). A truncated form of this convertase was generated to yield a product similar to the 66 kDa truncated from of PC1, which is only found in granules. While both PC1 (NDRR₅₉₁ \downarrow GV, Zhou et al., 1995) and PC5-A (RFRYSR₅₈₇ \downarrow VE, this work), exhibit potential autocatalytic cleavage sites at about 100 amino acids downstream of the RRGD motif, no such site is found in PACE4 (Kiefer et al., 1991). Thus, no natural 66 kDa PACE4 product is observed in biosynthetic studies (Zhong et al., 1996; Mains et

al., 1997), and the truncated 66 kDa product generated by mutagenesis does not accumulate in secretory granules (Mains et al., 1997). While full-length PACE4 still enters immature granules, the fact that its COOH-terminal domain is not processed as those of PC1 and PC5-A may prevent PACE4 from maintaining itself in the regulated secretory pathway. Since the COOH-terminal sorting signal remains attached to the rest of the molecule, PACE4 could be continually cycling between the immature granules and Golgi through the interaction of its COOH-terminal domain with a putative sorting receptor.

For membrane-bound convertases, signals within the cytosolic tails of furin (reviewed in Rouillé et al., 1995), kexin (Wilcox et al., 1992), and possibly PC5-B (this work), are involved in maintaining these convertases in the constitutive secretory pathway. The presence of a tyrosine-based signal for both kexin and furin, and casein kinase II phosphorylation sites for furin, are needed for the proper localization of these proteins in the Golgi-endosomal system. Although the transmembrane domain of furin was not found to contribute to the TGN localization of this enzyme (Voorhees et al., 1995), it was suggested that additional localization signals towards the lysosomal/endosomal system may reside within its lumenal domain (Bosshart et al., 1994).

The potential TGN-localization signals within the cytosolic tail of PC5-B require additional investigation by mutagenesis, to demonstrate that these amino acid sequences, which are equivalent to those of furin, are indeed functional.

All membrane-bound convertases so far discovered, except PC7, (Munzer et al., 1997; Seidah et al., 1997) undergo shedding of their transmembrane domain to release a soluble form of the enzyme in the extracellular medium. What is the reason of this shedding, and what protease mediates this cleavage, which so far has not been demonstrated to be autocatalytic?

It has been suggested that generation of soluble counterparts of membrane-bound proteins could be a common way for cells to multiply protein functions with a minimum of energy and structural complexity involvement (Ehlers and Riordan, 1991). Multiple forms of the same protein can be obtained either through alternative splicing of pre-mRNA (PC5), transcription of closely related but distinct genes (furin and posttranslational PACE4). or hydrolysis of the extracellular membrane-bound domain (furin. kexin, and PC5-B). Several membrane-bound proteins, including angiotensin converting enzyme (Soubrier et al., 1988; Ehlers, Chen and Riordan, 1991) and TNF- α (Arribas et al., 1996; Black et al., 1997; Moss et al., 1997), undergo shedding of their transmembrane domain. Recently, a metalloproteinase belonging to the ADAMS family was demonstrated to mediate the shedding of several membrane-bound surface proteins (Arribas et al., 1996; Black et al., 1997; Moss et al., 1997). This protease, called TACE, for TNF- α converting enzyme, recognizes the motif P-XXX-A \downarrow . Incidentally, this motif is present within the lumenal domain of all three shed convertases. Furin presents two such sites at positions Pro₇₁₄-XXX-Ala₇₁₈ and Pro₅₉₈-XXX-Ala₇₀₀. Cleavage at the second proposed site would yield a product with the molecular mass of furin $\Delta 704$ (Hatsuzawa et al., 1992), which is closest in molecular weight to shed furin. Furin $\Delta 713$ (Vidricaire, Denault and Leduc, 1993) exhibits a slightly higher molecular mass than shed furin. The P-XXX-A motif is also present at four different positions in PC5-B: Pro1756-XXX-Ala1760; Pro1478-XXX-Ala1482; Pro1340-XXX-Ala1345; and Pro1294-XXX-Ala1299, the underlined site being the most likely to yield the observed 170 kDa shed PC5-B product. A slightly different motif is observed in kexin, with Pro₆₇₃-XX-Ala₆₇₆, or Pro₆₅₁-XXXX-Ala₆₅₆, the second site being the most likely to yield shed kexin, since the Kex2Ap 666 construct closely resembles this kexin product (Germain et al., 1992). Another proposed

candidate shedding enzyme is the signal peptidase (Ehlers and Riordan, 1991), which could promote the early shedding of dfurin proteins in ER.

It is interesting to note that the cytosolic tails of membrane-bound dfurin1-CRR and dfurin1-X do not display the same motives (Roebroek et al., 1993). If these proteins had kept their transmembrane domain beyond the ER in biosynthetic studies, would they have been localized to different compartments? Are there other signals within the lumenal domain which affect the cellular localization of the convertases, since we did observe differences in efficiency of proregion cleavage and substrate processing among the dfurins?

One of the motives which is found in the lumenal COOH-terminal region of several convertases is the cysteine-rich repeat. No function has yet been assigned to this region in convertases. It is possible that the CRR region could be involved in mediating protein-protein interactions. These interactions could be homophilic, and mediate the formation of enzyme multimers. This type of homophilic clustering has been observed for the TGN protein TGN38 (Anderson, Sullivan, and Stow, 1995), although in this case, cysteine-rich regions are not involved. Alternatively, the CRR region could mediate heterophilic interactions with other secretory pathway proteins interacting with the convertases. Incidentally, the shedding metalloprotease TACE also possesses a cysteine-rich region.

Finally, the physiological substrates of PC5-A, PC5-B and the Drosophila furins still remain to be determined. While the Drosophila furins and PC5-B may cleave substrates related to growth factors and receptors, a role for PC5-A in the cleavage of a regulated secretory protein remains to be established. This may well be accomplished with the demonstration of the cleavage of pro-neurotensin by PC5-A, a protein stored in chromaffin cells granules of the adrenal medulla (Barbero et al., submitted).

REFERENCES

Anderson T.J., B.M. Sullivan, and J.L. Stow. 1995. Relative distribution of TGN38 and p200 on vesicles budding from the trans-Golgi Network. *Mol. Biol. Cell*. 6:293a

Arribas, J., L. Coodly, P. Vollmer, T.K. Kishimoto, S. Rose-John, and J. Massagué. 1996. Diverse cell surface protein ectodomains are shed by a system sensitive to metalloprotease inhibitors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:11376-11382.

Barbero, P., C. Rovère, I. De Bie, N.G. Seidah, Alain Beaudet, and P. Kitabgi. 1997. PC5-A-mediated processing of pro-neurotensin in the regulated secretory pathway in PC5-transfected PC12 cells. submitted.

Black, R.A., C.T. Rauch, C.J. Kozlosky, J.J. Peschon, J.L. Slack, M.F. Wolfson, B.J. Castner, K.L. Stocking, P. Reddy, S. Srinivasan, N. Nelson, N. Boiani, K.A. Schooley, M. Gerhart, R. Davis, J.N. Fitzner, R.S. Johnson, R.J. Paxon, C.J. March, and D.P. Cerretti. 1997. A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumor-necrosis factor alpha from cells. *Nature*. 385:729-733.

Creemers, J.W.M., R.J. Siezen, A.J.M. Roebroek, T.A.Y. Ayoubi, D. Huylebroek, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1993. Modulation of furin-mediated proprotein processing activity by site-directed mutagenesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:21826-21834.

Creemers, J.W.M., E.F. Usac, N.A. Bright, J.-W. Van de Loo, E. Jansen. W.J.M. Van de Ven, and J.C. Hutton. 1996. Identification of a transferable sorting domain for the regulated pathway in the prohormone convertase PC2. J. Biol. Chem. 271:25284-25291.

Ehlers, M.R.W., and J.F. Riordan. 1991. Membrane proteins with soluble counterparts: role of proteolysis in the release of transmembrane proteins. *Biochemistry*. 30:10065-10074.

Ehlers, M.R., Y.N. Chen, and J.F. Riordan. 1991. Spontaneous solubilization of membrane-bound human testis angiotensin-converting enzyme expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:1009-1013.

Fuller, R.S., A. Brake, and J. Thorner. 1989. Intracellular targeting and structural conservation of a prohormone-processing endoprotease. *Science*. 246:482-486.

Germain, D., T. Vernet, G. Boileau, and D.Y. Thomas. 1992. Expression of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Kex2p endoprotease in insect cells. Evidence for a carboxy-terminal autoprocessing event. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 204:121-126.

Gluschankof, P., and R.S. Fuller. 1994. A C-terminal domain conserved in precursor processing proteases is required for intramolecular maturation of pro-Kex2 protease. *EMBO J.* 13:2280-2288.

Hatsuzawa, K., K. Murakami, and K. Nakayama. 1992. Molecular and enzymatic properties of furin, a Kex2-like endoprotease involved in precursor cleavage at Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg sites. J. Biochem. 111:296-301.

Kiefer, M.C., J.E. Tucker, R. Joh, K.E. Landsberg, D. Saltman, and P.J. Barr. 1991. Identification of a second human subtilisin-like protease gene in the *fes/fps* region of chromosome 15. *DNA Cell Biol*. 10:757-769.

Mains, R.E., C.A. Berard, J.-P. Denault, A. Zhou, R.C. Johnson, and R. Leduc. 1997. PACE4: a subtilisin-like endoprotease with unique properties. *Biochem. J.* 321:587-593.

Moss, M.L., S.-L. Jin, M.E. Milla, W. Burkhart, H.L. Carter, W.-J. Chen, W.C. Clay, J.R. Didsbury, D. Hassler, C.R. Hoffman, T.A. Kost, M.H. Lambert, M.A. Leesnitzer, P. McCauley, G. McGeehan, J. Mitchell, M. Moyer, G. Pahel, W. Rocque, L.K. Overton, F. Schoenen, T. Seaton, J.-L. Su, J. Warner, D. Willard, and J.D. Becherer. 1997. Cloning of a disintegrin metalloproteinase that processes precursor tumor-necrosis factor-alpha. *Nature*. 385-733-736.

Munzer, J.S., A. Bazak, M. Zhong, A. Mamarbachi, J. Hamelin, D. Savaria, C. Lazure, S. Benjannet, M. Chrétien, and N.G. Seidah. 1997. *In vitro* characterization of the novel proprotein convertase PC7. *J. Biol. Chem.* in press.

Roebroek, A.J.M., J.W.M. Creemers, I.G.L. Pauli, T. Bogaert, and W.J.M. Van de Ven. 1993. Generation of structural and functional diversity in furin-like proteins in Drosophila melanogaster by alternative splicing of the Dfur1 gene. *EMBO J.* 12:1853-1870.

Rouillé, Y, S.J. Duguay, K. Lund, M. Furuta, Q.M. Gong, G. Lipkind, A.A. Oliva Jr., S.J. Chan, and D.F. Steiner. 1995. Proteolytic processing mechanisms in the biosynthesis of neuroendocrine peptides: the subtilisin-like proprotein convertases. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 16:322-361.

Seidah, N.G. R. Day, M. Marcinkiewicz, and M. Chrétien. 1997. Precursor convertases: an evolutionary ancient, cell specific, combinatorial mechanism yielding diverse bioactive peptides and proteins. *Ann. NY. Acad. Sci. USA*. in press.

Sinde, U., and M. Inouye (eds.). 1995. Propeptide mediated protein folding. R.G. Landes, Georgetown, Austin, TX.

Soubrier, F., F. Alhenc-Gelas, C. Hubert, J. Allegrini, M. John, G. Tregear, and P. Corvol. 1988. Two putative active centers in human angiotensin I-converting enzyme revealed by molecular cloning. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 85:9386-9390.

Vidricaire, G., J-B. Denault, and R. Leduc. 1993. Characterization of a secreted form of human furin endoprotease. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 195:1011-1018.

Wilcox, C.A., K. Redding, R. Wright, and R.S. Fuller. 1992. Mutation of a tyrosine localization signal in the cytosolic tail of yeast Kex2 protease disrupts Golgi retention and results in default transport to the vacuole. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 3:1353-1371.

Zhong, M., S. Benjannet, C. Lazure, S. Munzer, and N.G. Seidah. 1996. Functional analysis of human PACE4-A and PACE4-C isoforms: identification of a new PACE4-CS isoform. *FEBS Lett.* 396:31-36.

Zhou, A., L. Paquet, and R.E. Mains. 1995. Structural elements which direct specific processing of different mammalian subtilisin-like prohormone convertases. J. Biol. Chem. 270:21509-21516.

Zhou, Y., C. Rovere, P. Kitabgi, and I. Lindberg. 1995. Mutational analysis of PC1 (SPC3) in PC12 cells. 66-kDa PC1 is fully functional. J. Biol. Chem. 270:24702-24706.

CLAIMS TO ORIGINAL RESEARCH

In the present work, we have taken advantage of the existence of multiple COOH-terminally variant isoforms of two convertases, dfurin1 and PC5, to assess the potential influence of different COOH-terminal structures on the cleavage specificity and subcellular localization of these proteinases. Through two distinct overexpression systems, one by recombinant vaccinia virus infection of cultured cells for the dfurin isoforms, and one by stable transfection of PC5 proteins in the cell line AtT-20, we established the cleavage specificity, biosynthetic transformations, and subcellular localization of these different proteins.

Claims pertaining to research presented in Chapter C:

- We are the first to demonstrate that structural changes within the COOH-terminal region of the dfurin1 convertase isoforms do not affect the cleavage specificity of these enzymes.
- All three possible cleavage site recognition motives were examined, through the coexpression of the dfurin enzymes with three different precursor substrates to unequivocally establish that Drosophila furins indeed exhibit furin-like activity and not PC1-like or PC2-like activity.
- The Drosophila furins undergo biosynthetic transformations similar to those of the mammalian furin, including proregion cleavage, glycosylation, and shedding of the transmembrane domain. This event, however, occurs in early secretory compartment for the Dfurins, contrary to mammalian furin for which this event requires a slightly acidic milieu.

Claims pertaining to research presented in Chapter D:

- Our studies are the first to establish the biosynthetic transformations of both cloned PC5 isoforms. Both PC5-A and PC5-B undergo rapid removal of their NH₂-terminal proregion. Both protein forms are then further cleaved within their COOH-terminal domain. PC5-B undergoes a truncation of its transmembrane domain which permits the release of a soluble form of the enzyme. PC5-A is also cleaved to yield a COOH-terminally shortened form which is only present in regulated secretory granules.
- We are the first to establish the subcellular localization of both PC5-A and PC5-B isoforms in transfected AtT-20 cells. While PC5-A can enter regulated secretory granules, where, like PC1, it undergoes COOH-terminal truncation to yield a shortened form, PC5-B is found to colocalize intracellularly with the TGN marker TGN38. The soluble PC5-B form does not enter regulated secretory granules, as its release cannot be stimulated by cAMP. Thus PC5-B remains excluded from the regulated secretory pathway while PC5-A can follow this route.
- Our studies are the first to establish with a model of natural isoforms and a deletion mutant, that some structures present within the COOH-terminal domain of the isoforms of convertase PC5 are implicated in their subcellular localization. While both natural isoforms exhibit distinct cellular localization, the mutant PC5-AΔ lacking the COOH-terminal region unique to this convertase can no longer access the regulated secretory pathway. PC5-AΔ, like PC5-B, colocalizes with TGN38, and its release is not significantly influenced by cAMP. We therefore may have identified a secretory granule sorting

signal within the COOH-terminal region unique to PC5-A through the comparison of PC5-A wild type versus PC5-A Δ localization and biosynthesis.

• For the first time, the presence of PC5 in the glucagon-producing cells is established, providing a physiological model for the expression of this protein.

Claims pertaining to both Chapters C and D:

Our studies have permitted for the first time to establish the functional significance of the presence of multiple spliced forms for the same convertase. While these multiple spliced forms display identical catalytic specificities, by targeting them to different subcellular compartments, cells can access a more diverse array of precursor substrates.







IMAGE EVALUATION TEST TARGET (QA-3)









© 1993, Applied Image, Inc., All Rights Reserved